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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION
ROBERT S. BENNETT, NACHAEL
FOSTER, ANDREW BAYLEY, and others
similarly situated,
Civil Action No. 4:21-cv-02829

Plaintiffs,
v.
STATE BAR OF TEXAS,
Defendant.

DEFENDANT STATE BAR OF TEXAS’ MOTION TO DISMISS
Pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6), Defendant State Bar
of Texas respectfully moves to dismiss this action. As “an administrative agency of the judicial
department of [the Texas] government,” Tex. Gov’t Code Ann. § 81.011(a), the Texas State Bar
is an arm of the State of Texas. The Court thus lacks subject-matter jurisdiction over this action
because the Texas State Bar is entitled to sovereign immunity under binding Fifth Circuit
precedent. Plaintiffs also fail to state a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 because, as a state agency,
the Texas State Bar is not a “person” subject to suit under § 1983.
BACKGROUND
I.

The State Bar Of Texas
In 1939, the Texas legislature created the State Bar of Texas as “an administrative agency

of the Judicial Department of the State.” State Bar Act § 2, 1939 Tex. Gen. Laws 64. Today, the
State Bar Act (Tex. Gov’t Code Ann. ch. 81) provides that the Texas State Bar “is a public
corporation and an administrative agency of the judicial department of [the Texas] government,”
subject to the Supreme Court of Texas’ “administrative control.”

Tex. Gov’t Code Ann.

§ 81.011(a), (c); see also id. § 81.011(b) (State Bar Act “is in aid of the judicial department’s
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powers under the constitution to regulate the practice of law”). The Bar’s legislatively defined
“purposes” include “advanc[ing] the quality of legal services,” “aid[ing] the courts in carrying on
and improving the administration of justice,” and “foster[ing] and maintain[ing]” among lawyers
“high ideals and integrity, learning, competence in public service, and high standards of conduct.”
Id. § 81.012.
The Texas Supreme Court has delegated “the responsibility for administering and
supervising lawyer discipline and disability . . . to the Board of Directors of the State Bar of
Texas.” Tex. Rules Disciplinary P. preamble. The State Bar’s President appoints the attorney
members of the Commission for Lawyer Discipline, which selects Texas’ Chief Disciplinary
Counsel “with the advice and consent” of the State Bar’s Board of Directors. Tex. Gov’t Code
Ann. § 81.076(b), (g). Bar directors nominate, and the Bar’s President appoints, the members of
local grievance committees, which preside over disciplinary proceedings. Tex. Rules Disciplinary
P. R. 2.02, 2.07, 2.11-.15, 2.17. The President also appoints four of the members of the Committee
on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda, which is charged with proposing amendments to Texas’
disciplinary rules. Tex. Gov’t Code Ann. §§ 81.0872-.0873, .0875. In addition, the State Bar’s
Board of Directors must approve any disciplinary-rule amendments proposed by the Committee
before they can take effect. Id. §§ 81.0877, .08792.
Consistent with the approach of the majority of states, the Texas State Bar is a “mandatory”
or “integrated” bar. McDonald v. Longley, 4 F.4th 229, 237 (5th Cir. 2021), petitions for cert.
filed, No. 21-800 (U.S. Nov. 24, 2021), and No. 21-974 (U.S. Dec. 30, 2021). That means
attorneys must enroll in the Bar and pay annual membership fees to practice law in Texas. See
Tex. Gov’t Code Ann. §§ 81.051, .054, .102. As of December 2020, the Bar had 106,591 active
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members.

See State Bar of Texas Membership: Attorney Statistical Profile (2020-21),

https://bit.ly/3k6MFGl; see also Tex. Gov’t Code Ann. § 81.052 (membership classes).
Approximately half of the Bar’s annual revenue comes from membership fees.1 See
McDonald, 4 F.4th at 237-38; State Bar of Texas Financial Report May 31, 2020, at 7, 9,
https://bit.ly/3z6INcR (Ex. 1).2 The annual membership fees are currently $68 for active members
licensed less than 3 years; $148 for active members licensed between 3 and 5 years; $235 for active
members licensed for at least 5 years; and $50 for inactive members. State Bar of Texas Board of
Directors Policy Manual § 3.01.01 (Sept. 2021), https://bit.ly/3fbf1vQ (Ex. 2) (“Policy Manual”).
Those fees may not be increased without the Texas Supreme Court’s approval. See Tex. Gov’t
Code Ann. § 81.054(a) (“The supreme court shall set membership fees and other fees for members
of the state bar during the court’s annual budget process under Section 81.022.”).
The Texas Supreme Court also has ultimate authority over how the Bar’s membership fees
are spent. Members pay their fees to the Clerk of the Texas Supreme Court, not to the Bar itself.
Id. § 81.054(c). The Bar’s budget must be approved by the Texas Supreme Court. Id. § 81.022(d).
Moreover, the Texas Supreme Court Clerk will distribute membership fees to cover Bar
expenditures only “under the direction of the supreme court.” Id. § 81.054(c); see also id.
§ 81.0151 (Bar “[p]urchases are subject to the ultimate review of the supreme court.”).
Reflecting the Bar’s statutorily defined status as a state “agency,” id. § 81.011(a); see also
supra p. 1, the Texas legislature has imposed additional restrictions on the Bar’s use of Bar funds.
The Bar’s Board must “adopt guidelines and procedures for purchasing that are consistent with the
guidelines and procedures” applicable to other state agencies. Tex. Gov’t Code Ann. § 81.0151.

1

The Bar’s second largest revenue source is fees from continuing legal education programs. See
McDonald, 4 F.4th at 238 n.3; State Bar of Texas Financial Report May 31, 2020, at 9.
2

“Ex.” refers to exhibits attached to the Declaration of Patrick W. Mizell in support of this motion.
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The Bar may not use membership fees to purchase alcohol. Id. § 81.0221. The Bar also may not
use its funds to influence “the passage or defeat of any legislative measure unless the measure
relates to the regulation of the legal profession, improving the quality of legal services, or the
administration of justice.” Id. § 81.034. In addition, the Bar must maintain reports regarding its
purchases and “make those reports available for review by the state auditor” upon request. Id.
§ 81.0151; see also id. § 81.023 (State Bar is “subject to audit by the state auditor” and must file
its annual financial reports “with the supreme court, the governor, and the presiding officer of each
house of the legislature”).
The Bar’s budget is also used to fund entities not subject to the Bar Board’s direct control,
including the Commission for Lawyer Discipline, the Office of Chief Disciplinary Counsel, the
Board of Disciplinary Appeals, the Ombudsman for the Attorney Discipline System, the
Committee on Professional Ethics, the Unauthorized Practice of Law Committee, and the Texas
Access to Justice Commission. Id. §§ 81.076(f), .0882(a), .095, .103(f); Tex. Rules Disciplinary
P. R. 4.08, 5.01; Order Establishing Texas Access to Justice Commission ¶ 12, Misc. Docket No.
01-9065 (Tex. Apr. 26, 2001), https://bit.ly/2YJ3DSY (Ex. 3). More generally, the Bar is required
to “allocate funds to pay all . . . reasonable and necessary expenses to administer the disciplinary
and disability system effectively and efficiently.” Tex. Rules Disciplinary P. R. 4.08.
In addition to Bar membership fees, most active Bar members must pay a $65 annual legal
services fee. Tex. Gov’t Code Ann. § 81.054(j)-(k). The Texas State Bar does not receive or
control that fee. Id. § 81.054(c)-(d). Instead, the Texas Supreme Court distributes it to the
Comptroller, who allocates half to the Supreme Court Judicial Fund for civil legal services for the
indigent, and the remainder to the Fair Defense Account of the state’s general revenue fund for
indigent criminal defense programs. Id. § 81.054(c).
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Further confirming its status as a state agency, the Bar is subject to numerous other
legislatively imposed restrictions and requirements. Like other state agencies in Texas, the Bar is
subject to periodic “sunset” reviews by the legislature to determine “whether a public need exists”
for the Bar’s continued existence.3 Id. §§ 81.003, 325.011. Bar records are subject to the Texas
Public Information Act, and Bar Board meetings are subject to the same open meetings laws that
apply to other state agencies. See id. §§ 81.021, .033. The State Bar Act reserves a role for both
the Texas governor and the Texas Senate in appointing the Bar Board’s non-attorney members.
See id. § 81.020(b)(4) (Board’s six non-attorney members are “appointed by the supreme court
and confirmed by the senate”); id. § 81.020(c) (“The supreme court shall annually appoint two
nonattorney members, with at least one of the two from a list of at least five names submitted by
the governor.”). The Act also contains numerous provisions governing the selection and ethical
obligations of the Bar’s officers, directors, Executive Director, and General Counsel. See id.
§§ 81.019-.020, .0241, .025, .027-.031. The Act further requires Bar Board members to complete
a training program covering eight specific topics. Id. § 81.0201. In addition, the Bar must develop
a long-range strategic plan and report its performance measures to the Texas Supreme Court and
in the Texas Bar Journal. Id. § 81.0215. Other legislatively imposed requirements include that
the Bar establish a standard fee dispute resolution procedure, id. § 81.112; provide a course on
guardianship, id. § 81.114; create and maintain online attorney profiles, id. § 81.115; and refrain
from creating new standing or special committees of the Bar unless certain conditions are satisfied,
id. § 81.123.

3

The Bar has undergone sunset review four times, the last in 2017, when the legislature voted to
continue the Bar’s existence until the next review in 2029. See McDonald v. Sorrels, No. 1:19cv-219-LY, 2020 WL 3261061, at *2 (W.D. Tex. May 29, 2020), vacated in part sub nom.
McDonald v. Longley, 4 F.4th 229 (5th Cir. 2021).
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The Bar is also subject to rules promulgated by the Texas Supreme Court. See id. § 81.024.
Those rules impose detailed requirements regarding numerous aspects of the Bar’s activities, from
the location of the Bar’s principal office to procedures for Bar meetings and the election of Bar
directors and officers. See Tex. State Bar R. art. II, §§ 5, 14 (Nov. 2021), https://bit.ly/3pshwPc
(Ex. 4); id. art. IV, §§ 6-7, 11. The rules require all State Bar officers and directors to take the oath
of office required for state officials under the Texas Constitution. See id. art. II, § 9 (citing Tex.
Const. art. XVI, § 1).
II.

McDonald And The Bar’s Response
In March 2019, three Texas State Bar members filed suit in the U.S. District Court for the

Western District of Texas against the members of the Bar’s Board of Directors in their official
capacities. In Counts I and II of their complaint, the plaintiffs in that case—McDonald v. Sorrels,
No. 1:19-cv-00219-LY (W.D. Tex.)—claimed that the requirements that they enroll in, and pay
annual membership fees to, the Bar violated their First Amendment rights to freedom of
association and speech. Pls. 1st Am. Compl. ¶¶ 51-66, McDonald v. Sorrels, No. 1:19-cv-00219LY (W.D. Tex. May 31, 2019), ECF No. 59 (“McDonald Am. Compl.”). In Count III, the plaintiffs
claimed that the “Bar’s procedures are inadequate to ensure that members are not coerced into
funding” expenditures that are not germane to the permissible purposes of a mandatory bar under
Keller v. State Bar of California, 496 U.S. 1 (1990). McDonald Am. Compl. ¶ 73. The plaintiffs
sought declaratory and injunctive relief. Id. at 18.
In May 2020, the district court granted summary judgment to the Bar defendants on all of
the McDonald plaintiffs’ claims and dismissed the plaintiffs’ motion for a preliminary injunction.
See McDonald v. Sorrels, No. 1:19-cv-219-LY, 2020 WL 3261061, at *8-9 & n.4 (W.D. Tex. May
29, 2020). The McDonald plaintiffs appealed to the Fifth Circuit. On July 2, 2021, the Fifth
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Circuit issued a decision that vacated the grant of summary judgment to the Bar defendants,
rendered partial summary judgment for the plaintiffs on liability, rendered a “preliminary
injunction preventing the Bar from requiring the plaintiffs to join or pay dues pending completion
of the remedies phase” before the district court, and remanded to the district court for further
proceedings on remedies. McDonald, 4 F.4th at 255.
The Fifth Circuit recognized that the Supreme Court held in Keller that state bars “may
constitutionally charge mandatory dues to ‘fund activities germane’ to ‘the purpose[s] for which
compelled association [is] justified,’ i.e., ‘regulating the legal profession and improving the quality
of legal services.’” Id. at 244 (quoting Keller, 496 U.S. at 13-14). The Fifth Circuit, however,
held that “[c]ompelled membership in a bar association that engages in non-germane activities”
violates objecting members’ right to freedom of association, and compelling objecting members
“to subsidize . . . non-germane activities violates their freedom of speech.” Id. at 246-47, 252.
The court concluded that nearly all of the Bar’s challenged activities were germane—including its
support of pro bono and legal-aid efforts, annual meeting, continuing legal education programs,
publication of the Texas Bar Journal, and diversity initiatives. Id. at 247-52. The court, however,
held that certain components of “the Bar’s 2019 legislative program,” as well as certain prior
legislative activities of the Bar-funded Access to Justice Commission, were non-germane. Id. at
247-49, 251.
Based on those non-germane legislative activities, the court held that requiring the
McDonald plaintiffs to enroll in the Bar violates their right to freedom of association, and the Bar’s
use of the McDonald plaintiffs’ mandatory membership fees to fund non-germane activities
violates their right to free speech. Id. at 252. In addition, on the McDonald plaintiffs’ Count III
claim, the court held that “the Bar’s procedures for separating chargeable from non-chargeable
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expenses” were “constitutionally inadequate.” Id. at 252-54. The Fifth Circuit, however, noted
that the Bar could remedy the constitutional violations by not “engaging in non-germane
activities,” and by amending its procedures to ensure that Bar members receive adequate notice
of, and opportunity to object to, potentially non-germane expenditures. Id. Because the plaintiffs
had only sought “partial summary judgment on liability,” the Fifth Circuit remanded for further
proceedings in the district court on remedies. Id. at 241, 255.
At its September 24, 2021 meeting, the Bar’s Board of Directors approved amendments to
the Board’s Policy Manual to ensure compliance with the Fifth Circuit’s decision. The Bar
defendants summarized those changes in a September 30 filing with the McDonald district court,
a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 5. Acting on a petition from the Bar, the Texas Supreme
Court also amended the Texas State Bar Rules in response to the Fifth Circuit’s decision. See
Ex. 5, ¶ 9; Order Amending Articles I and II of the State Bar Rules, Misc. Docket No. 21-9122
(Tex. Oct. 12, 2021), https://www.txcourts.gov/media/1452997/219122.pdf.
On remand from the Fifth Circuit, the parties in McDonald agreed to a proposed final
judgment, which the district court entered on December 2, 2021. See Ex. 6. In the judgment, the
district court noted that the McDonald plaintiffs had requested restitution of membership fees they
paid under protest while the action was pending. Id. ¶ 5. The district court denied that request
based on the Bar defendants’ “sovereign immunity.” Id. (citing Liedtke v. State Bar of Tex., 18
F.3d 315, 318 n.12 (5th Cir. 1994)).

8
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III.

This Lawsuit
Plaintiffs in this case are three active members of the Texas State Bar who reside in Harris

and Tarrant Counties. Compl. ¶¶ 10-12 (Aug. 30, 2021), ECF No. 2. Plaintiffs filed their
complaint on August 30, 2021. The only named defendant in the complaint is the “State Bar of
Texas.” Id. ¶ 13. Although the complaint’s caption and first paragraph also refer to “culpable
officials” within the Bar, id. at 1, the complaint does not specifically name any such officials as
defendants. The docket in this case also does not indicate that Plaintiffs have served a summons
and copy of their complaint on any persons or entities other than the Bar (which agreed to waive
service). Therefore, the Bar is the only defendant properly in this case.4
Plaintiffs purport to represent a putative class consisting of “all Texas-licensed attorneys,
past or present, and on either active or inactive status, who have endured First Amendment
violations because of the Texas Bar’s relevant unlawful conduct.” Id. ¶ 21. They assert causes of
action under the First Amendment and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, as well as state-law claims of money had
and received and unjust enrichment. Id. ¶¶ 25-37. Among other things, they seek “compensatory
and/or punitive damages”; injunctive relief, including an order requiring the Bar to refund
previously paid membership fees; and “equitable monetary relief.” Id. at 14-15; see also id. ¶ 5
(seeking “a refund of the full amount paid in membership dues to the [Bar] during recent years,
plus court costs, damages and expenses including attorney’s fees”). As the basis for their
complaint, Plaintiffs exclusively rely on the Fifth Circuit’s decision in McDonald. See id. ¶¶ 2,
18; see also Notice of a Related Case ¶ 2 (Dec. 3, 2021), ECF No. 7 (“Notice”) (stating that
Plaintiffs’ action “is based on” McDonald). Aside from discussing the Fifth Circuit’s McDonald

4

This case thus differs from McDonald, in which the plaintiffs filed suit against the members of
the Texas State Bar Board of Directors in their official capacities. See McDonald, 2020 WL
3261061, at *3.
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decision, Plaintiffs’ complaint does not contain any additional factual allegations of Bar activities
that Plaintiffs allege violate their First Amendment rights or are otherwise unlawful.
ARGUMENT
Plaintiffs’ action must be dismissed for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction under Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) because the State Bar of Texas is entitled to sovereign immunity
from suit in federal court. See Warnock v. Pecos Cty., 88 F.3d 341, 343 (5th Cir. 1996) (explaining
that claims barred by sovereign immunity should be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(1) because
“sovereign immunity deprives the court of jurisdiction”); see also, e.g., Pennhurst State Sch. &
Hosp. v. Halderman, 465 U.S. 89, 100 (1984) (explaining that, “in the absence of consent,”
sovereign immunity bars “a suit in which the State or one of its agencies or departments is named
as the defendant,” “regardless of the nature of the relief sought”). For similar reasons, Plaintiffs’
claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 must also be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) because the Texas State
Bar—as “an administrative agency of the judicial department of [the Texas] government,” Tex.
Gov’t Code Ann. § 81.011(a)—is not a “person” subject to suit under § 1983. Will v. Mich. Dep’t
of State Police, 491 U.S. 58, 64, 71 (1989); accord Cronen v. Tex. Dep’t of Human Servs., 977
F.2d 934, 936 (5th Cir. 1992) (holding that a Texas state agency was not a “‘person[]’ for purposes
of liability under 42 U.S.C. § 1983”); see also 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (creating a cause of action against
a “person” who violates constitutional rights under color of state law); Vermont Agency of Nat.
Res. v. United States ex rel. Stevens, 529 U.S. 765, 779-80 (2000) (holding that courts may address
“the question whether the statute itself permits the cause of action it creates to be asserted against
States” before addressing the jurisdictional question of sovereign immunity). In ruling on this
motion, the Court may consider facts beyond the complaint, see Clark v. Tarrant Cty., 798 F.2d
736, 741 (5th Cir. 1986), including—at minimum—facts regarding the Bar of which the Court
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may take judicial notice because they are not subject to reasonable dispute, see Basic Cap. Mgmt.,
Inc. v. Dynex Cap., Inc., 976 F.3d 585, 588-89 (5th Cir. 2020).
Under controlling Fifth Circuit precedent, the State Bar of Texas qualifies as an arm of the
State of Texas; therefore, it is immune from suit in federal court and does not qualify as a “person”
subject to suit under § 1983. In Krempp v. Dobbs, 775 F.2d 1319 (5th Cir. 1985), the Fifth Circuit
squarely held that “claims for damages” and “injunctive relief” “against the [Texas] State Bar,”
including a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, were “barred by the eleventh amendment” principle of
sovereign immunity. Id. at 1320-21; see also Alden v. Maine, 527 U.S. 706, 713 (1999) (explaining
that “Eleventh Amendment immunity” is “convenient shorthand” for “the States’ immunity from
suit”). The Fifth Circuit reiterated that holding in Bishop v. State Bar of Texas, 791 F.2d 435 (5th
Cir. 1986), again concluding that “the State Bar of Texas is a state agency such that an action for
damages” under § 1983 “is barred by the eleventh amendment.” Id. at 437-38. The Fifth Circuit
did the same in Liedtke v. State Bar of Texas, 18 F.3d 315 (5th Cir. 1994), noting that a plaintiff’s
“section 1983 suit for damages” against the Texas State Bar “necessarily founder[ed] on eleventh
amendment immunity.” Id. at 318 n.12; see also Harper v. State Bar of Tex., 636 F. App’x 805,
806 (D.C. Cir. 2016) (per curiam) (following Fifth Circuit precedent in holding that “suit against
the State Bar of Texas, an agency of the state judiciary, is barred by the Eleventh Amendment”).
Citing its earlier decision regarding the Texas State Bar in Krempp, the Fifth Circuit has similarly
held that the Louisiana State Bar Association can claim sovereign immunity. See Lewis v. La.
State Bar Ass’n, 792 F.2d 493, 497-98 (5th Cir. 1986).
In sum, binding Fifth Circuit precedent firmly establishes that mandatory state bars—
including, specifically, the Texas State Bar—are arms of the state immune from suit and not
subject to § 1983 claims. The district court’s judgment in McDonald properly applied that binding

11
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case law, denying the McDonald plaintiffs’ request for restitution of membership fees based on
the Bar defendants’ “sovereign immunity.” Ex. 6, ¶ 5. Especially considering that Plaintiffs’
claims here are expressly “based on” McDonald, Notice ¶ 2, no reason exists for a different result
in this case.
The Fifth Circuit decisions expressly holding that the Texas State Bar can claim sovereign
immunity accord with the Fifth Circuit’s general sovereign immunity case law. The Fifth Circuit
has established a six-factor test for determining whether an entity qualifies as an “arm of the state”
entitled to sovereign immunity. Daniel v. Univ. of Tex. Sw. Med. Ctr., 960 F.3d 253, 256-57 (5th
Cir. 2020). Those six factors are:
(1) Whether the state statutes and case law view the agency as an arm of the state;
(2) The source of the entity’s funding;
(3) The entity’s degree of local autonomy;
(4) Whether the entity is concerned primarily with local as opposed to statewide[]
problems;
(5) Whether the entity has the authority to sue and be sued in its own name; and
(6) Whether the entity has the right to hold and use property.
Id. Not all of the factors need to favor sovereign immunity for such immunity to apply. Hudson
v. City of New Orleans, 174 F.3d 677, 681-82 (5th Cir. 1999). “Rather than forming a precise test,
the[] factors help [the court] balance the equities and determine as a general matter ‘whether the
suit is in reality a suit against the state itself.’” Id. at 682 (quoting Laje v. R.E. Thomason Gen.
Hosp., 665 F.2d 724, 727 (5th Cir. 1982)).
The six-factor test strongly weighs in favor of treating the Texas State Bar as an arm of the
State of Texas. The first factor favors that determination because the Bar is considered an arm of
the state under state law. The State Bar Act expressly provides that the Bar is “an administrative
12
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agency of the judicial department of government.” Tex. Gov’t Code Ann. § 81.011(a). The Bar
acts as a statewide regulatory agency: The Texas Supreme Court has delegated to the Bar Board
“the responsibility for administering and supervising lawyer discipline and disability.” Tex. Rules
Disciplinary P. preamble; see also supra p. 2. As the U.S. Supreme Court has recognized,
regulating the practice of law is a “core” sovereign function. Hoover v. Ronwin, 466 U.S. 558,
569 n.18 (1984) (citation omitted).
Similar to other state agencies, the Bar is subject to “sunset” reviews, open meetings and
records laws, state audits, reporting requirements, ethics mandates, and other legislatively imposed
requirements and restrictions regarding its internal organization, operations, and use of funds. See
Tex. Gov’t Code Ann. §§ 81.003, .0151, .019-.0215, .0221-.023, .0241, .025, .027-.031, .033-.034,
.112, .114-.115, .123; see also supra pp. 3-5. Furthermore, both Texas’ governor and Senate play
a role in the appointment of certain members of the Bar’s Board of Directors. See Tex. Gov’t
Code Ann. § 81.020(b)(4), (c); see also supra p. 5. The Bar is also subject to detailed rules
imposed by the Texas Supreme Court. See Tex. Gov’t Code Ann. § 81.024; see also supra p. 6.
Further confirming the Bar’s status as an arm of the state, all State Bar officers and directors must
take the oath of office required for state officials under the Texas Constitution. See State Bar R.
art. II, § 9 (citing Tex. Const. art. XVI, § 1).
Moreover, Texas case law treats the Bar as an arm of the state. Numerous Texas cases
have recognized that the Bar “is a governmental agency that is entitled to the protection afforded
by sovereign immunity” under Texas state law. State Bar of Tex. v. Wilson, No. 03-18-00649-CV,
2019 WL 1272616, at *2 (Tex. App.—Austin Mar. 20, 2019, pet. denied); accord Doe v. Bd. of
Dirs. of State Bar of Tex., No. 03-15-00007-CV, 2015 WL 6656216, at *2 (Tex. App.—Austin
Oct. 27, 2015, pet. denied); Laubach v. State Bar of Tex., No. 03-00-00282-CV, 2000 WL
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1675701, at *2 (Tex. App.—Austin Nov. 9, 2000, no pet.) (not designated for publication);
Favaloro v. State Bar of Tex., No. 05-96-01461-CV, 1998 WL 721281, at *4 (Tex. App.—Dallas
Oct. 16, 1998, no pet.) (not designated for publication). Factor 1 thus definitively favors treating
the Bar as an arm of the state.
Factor 2—the Bar’s funding source, Daniel, 960 F.3d at 256—does so as well. Although
the Bar does not receive funds from the legislative appropriations process and is responsible for
its own financial obligations, see Tex. Gov’t Code Ann. § 81.017, it does not have full autonomy
with respect to its funds. The Texas Supreme Court must approve the Bar’s budget. Id.
§ 81.022(d). Bar membership fees are paid to the Clerk of the Texas Supreme Court, not to the
Bar itself, and the Clerk will distribute membership fees to cover State Bar expenditures only
“under the direction of the supreme court.”

Id. § 81.054(c); see also id. § 81.0151 (Bar

“[p]urchases are subject to the ultimate review of the supreme court.”). Most significantly, the
Bar’s funds are effectively used as a multi-purpose revenue fund within the judicial department.
The Bar’s revenues are used to fund numerous entities not subject to the Bar Board’s direct control,
including the Commission for Lawyer Discipline, the Office of Chief Disciplinary Counsel, the
Board of Disciplinary Appeals, the Ombudsman for the Attorney Discipline System, the
Committee on Professional Ethics, the Unauthorized Practice of Law Committee, and the Texas
Access to Justice Commission. Id. §§ 81.076(f), .0882(a), .095, .103(f); Tex. Rules Disciplinary
P. R. 4.08, 5.01; Ex. 3, ¶ 12; see also Thiel v. State Bar of Wis., 94 F.3d 399, 402 (7th Cir. 1996)
(emphasizing, in holding that Wisconsin State Bar was entitled to sovereign immunity, that
Wisconsin Bar’s dues were used to fund other entities), overruled on other grounds by Kingstad
v. State Bar of Wis., 622 F.3d 708 (7th Cir. 2010); United Carolina Bank v. Bd. of Regents of
Stephen F. Austin State Univ., 665 F.2d 553, 560-61 (5th Cir. Unit A 1982) (sovereign immunity
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applies where paying a judgment “would interfere with the [state’s] fiscal autonomy and political
sovereignty”). Indeed, the Bar must “allocate funds to pay all . . . reasonable and necessary
expenses to administer the disciplinary and disability system” in Texas.5 Tex. Rules Disciplinary
P. R. 4.08.
Factors 3 and 4—“[t]he entity’s degree of local autonomy” and “[w]hether the entity is
concerned primarily with local as opposed to statewide[] problems,” Daniel, 960 F.3d at 256—
strongly favor treating the Bar as an arm of the state. The Bar operates, and addresses issues,
statewide, and its autonomy is constrained both by the State Bar Act and by the fact that it is subject
to the “administrative control” of the Texas Supreme Court. Tex. Gov’t Code Ann. § 81.011(c).
Although factors 5 and 6 weigh against treating the Bar as an arm of the state because the Bar may
sue and be sued in its own name and may hold and use property, see id. §§ 81.014, .016,6 those
factors receive “significantly less” weight than the others, Cozzo v. Tangipahoa Parish Council—
President Gov’t, 279 F.3d 273, 281 (5th Cir. 2002). Therefore, on balance, the six-factor test
confirms the result required by binding Fifth Circuit precedent: The Texas State Bar is an arm of

5

In any event, the principle of sovereign immunity “does not exist solely in order to ‘preven[t]
federal-court judgments that must be paid out of a State’s treasury.’” Seminole Tribe of Fla. v.
Florida, 517 U.S. 44, 58 (1996) (quoting Hess v. Port Auth. Trans-Hudson Corp., 513 U.S. 30, 48
(1994)). “[I]t also serves to avoid ‘the indignity of subjecting a State to the coercive process of
judicial tribunals at the instance of private parties.’” Id. (quoting Puerto Rico Aqueduct & Sewer
Auth. v. Metcalf & Eddy, Inc., 506 U.S. 139, 146 (1993)); see also Fed. Mar. Comm’n v. S.C. State
Ports Auth., 535 U.S. 743, 760 (2002) (“The preeminent purpose of state sovereign immunity is
to accord States the dignity that is consistent with their status as sovereign entities.”).
6

The State Bar Act’s “sue and be sued” provision, Tex. Gov’t Code Ann. § 81.014, does not waive
the Bar’s sovereign immunity. See Delahoussaye v. City of New Iberia, 937 F.2d 144, 148 n.6
(5th Cir. 1991) (state’s grant of authority for entity to “sue and be sued in its own name” does “not
amount to a waiver of Eleventh Amendment immunity”); United Carolina Bank, 665 F.2d at 559
(same); see also Tooke v. City of Mexia, 197 S.W.3d 325, 328-29, 342 (Tex. 2006) (“sue and be
sued” provisions “do not, in and of themselves, waive” sovereign immunity under state law from
suit in state court).
15
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the State of Texas, and thus it is entitled to sovereign immunity and does not qualify as a “person”
subject to suit under § 1983.
That result is consistent with precedent from other circuits. Nearly every court of appeals
decision to consider the question has held that mandatory bars are entitled to sovereign immunity.
See Nichols v. Ala. State Bar, 815 F.3d 726, 732 (11th Cir. 2016) (per curiam) (“[T]he Alabama
State Bar is an arm of the state of Alabama and thus enjoys Eleventh Amendment immunity . . . .”);
Dubuc v. Mich. Bd. of Law Examiners, 342 F.3d 610, 615-16 (6th Cir. 2003) (holding that State
Bar of Michigan was entitled to sovereign immunity); Strojnik v. State Bar of Ariz., 829 F. App’x
776, 776 (9th Cir. 2020) (per curiam) (holding that claims against the State Bar of Arizona were
“barred by the Eleventh Amendment”); Thiel, 94 F.3d at 405 (holding that Wisconsin State Bar
“is immune from suit under the Eleventh Amendment”); Hirsh v. Justice of Supreme Ct. of Cal.,
67 F.3d 708, 715 (9th Cir. 1995) (per curiam) (“The Eleventh Amendment’s grant of sovereign
immunity bars monetary relief from state agencies such as California’s Bar Association . . . .”);
Kaimowitz v. Fla. Bar, 996 F.2d 1151, 1153, 1155 (11th Cir. 1993) (per curiam) (adopting district
court’s holding that the “Eleventh Amendment prohibits actions against” the Florida Bar); Lupert
v. Cal. State Bar, 761 F.2d 1325, 1327 (9th Cir. 1985) (holding that “Eleventh Amendment
bar[red]” suit against California State Bar Board of Governors); O’Connor v. Nevada, 686 F.2d
749, 750 (9th Cir. 1982) (per curiam) (holding that State Bar of Nevada “is immune from suit in
federal court under the eleventh amendment”); Ginter v. State Bar of Nev., 625 F.2d 829, 830 (9th
Cir. 1980) (per curiam) (same as O’Connor); see also Crosetto v. State Bar of Wis., 12 F.3d 1396,
1401 (7th Cir. 1993) (explaining that, at time of court’s decision, “the lower federal courts that
have addressed this issue unanimously have found particular state bars entitled to the sovereign
immunity defense”); cf. Clark v. Washington, 366 F.2d 678, 681 (9th Cir. 1966) (holding that
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Washington State Bar Association is not “a ‘person’ within the meaning” of § 1983 because it “is
an agency of the state”).
Although the Ninth Circuit recently rejected the Oregon State Bar’s claim of sovereign
immunity, see Crowe v. Or. State Bar, 989 F.3d 714, 730-33 (9th Cir.) (per curiam), cert. denied,
142 S. Ct. 79 (2021), that decision provides no basis for this Court to deviate from the controlling
Fifth Circuit precedent holding that the Texas State Bar is an arm of the state. See Campbell v.
Sonat Offshore Drilling, Inc., 979 F.2d 1115, 1121 n.8 (5th Cir. 1992) (district courts must follow
“legally indistinguishable” Fifth Circuit decisions). In any event, sovereign-immunity analysis
requires “a careful examination of the particular entity at issue,” and the Oregon State Bar appears
to be distinguishable from the Texas State Bar. McDonald v. Bd. of Miss. Levee Comm’rs, 832
F.2d 901, 908 (5th Cir. 1987). The Texas State Bar’s status as an arm of the state entitled to
sovereign immunity is well established under Texas state law. See supra pp. 13-14. The same
does not appear to be true of the Oregon State Bar. To the contrary, Or. Rev. Stat. § 9.010(4)
provides that, subject to certain expressly delineated exceptions, the Oregon State Bar “is not
subject to any statute applicable to a state agency, department, board or commission or public
body.” Cf. Crowe, 989 F.3d at 730 (noting that the Oregon Supreme Court has held that the Oregon
State Bar “is a state agency,” but only in the context of Oregon’s “public records law”). Crowe
provides no support for Plaintiffs’ suit against the Texas State Bar.
CONCLUSION
The Court should dismiss this action.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of Directors
State Bar of Texas
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the State Bar of Texas (the
State Bar), a component unit of the State of Texas, as of and for the year ended May 31, 2020, and the related
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the State Bar’s basic financial statements, as
listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.
Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the State Bar as of May 31, 2020, and the respective changes in
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof, for the year then ended, in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Weaver and Tidwell, L.L.P.
1601 South MoPac Expressway, Suite D250 | Austin, Texas 78746
Main: 512.609.1900
1
CPAs AND ADVISORS | WEAVER.COM
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The Board of Directors
State Bar of Texas
Emphasis Other Matters
As described in Note 14 to the basic financial statements, the State Bar restated beginning net position of the
governmental and business-type activities to correct a misstatement of deferred outflows related to
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB). Other adjustments to beginning net position and
beginning fund balances were made as well to recognize prior year audit adjustments that were not previously
recorded. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter.
Other Matters
Required Supplemental Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis, statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance – budget (GAAP
basis) and actual – general fund, schedule of changes in State Bar’s proportionate share of net pension liability
and related ratios, schedule of employer contributions – net pension liability, schedule of changes in State Bar’s
proportionate share of total OPEB liability and related ratios, schedule of employer contributions – total OPEB
liability and related notes to required supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by GASB, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic or historical context. We have
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplemental information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements and other knowledge we obtained
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on
the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an
opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Supplemental Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the State Bar’s basic financial statements. The combining balance sheet – nonmajor governmental
funds, combining statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – nonmajor
governmental funds and the combining statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances –
governmental funds, as listed in the table of contents, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and
are not a required part of the basic financial statements.
The combining balance sheet – nonmajor governmental funds, combining statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances – nonmajor governmental funds and the combining statement of
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds are the responsibility of
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
basic financial statements, or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
other supplemental information, as listed in the table of contents, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation
to the basic financial statements as a whole.

WEAVER AND TIDWELL, L.L.P.
Austin, Texas
November 20, 2020
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State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2020
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis is provided by management of the State Bar of Texas (State
Bar) to offer readers an overview and analysis of the financial activities of the State Bar for the fiscal year
ended May 31, 2020. This section is only an introduction and should be read in conjunction with the State
Bar’s financial statements, which immediately follow this section.
Financial Highlights


The State Bar is in a strong financial position with no debt carried on the balance sheet, consistent
revenues and controlled expenses. Despite the pandemic, the State Bar General Fund’s activities for
the year ended May 31, 2020 increased the fund balance by $2,730,547, leaving $14,881,726 for the
Board to commit to further the mission of the State Bar.



The State Bar complies with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board’s (GASB)
pronouncements, and has implemented GASB Statement 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions during fiscal year 2019. In fiscal year 2016, the State Bar
implemented GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions. As a result,
the State Bar’s Government-wide financial statements disclose a pension liability of ($87,292,720) and
a liability for Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) of ($42,155,749) on its balance sheet for the fiscal
year ended May 31, 2020. The total net position of the State Bar is ($69,305,243) even with these
liabilities recorded. The amount of liability for both plans represents the State Bar’s proportionate share
of the total State of Texas plan’s net liability based on the State Bar’s total contributions made for its
current and former employees. The amount of unfunded liability is not controlled or established by the
State Bar of Texas. The plan is administered by the Employees’ Retirement System of Texas (ERS). The
liability does not affect the governmental funds or the budget of the State Bar, unless ERS requires a
higher premium payment per employee. Historically, the premiums for employees and retirees have
increased gradually and the State Bar does not anticipate significant changes to operating budget
of the State Bar as a result of this GASB requirement. See note 9 and note 11 for further disclosures on
the defined benefit pension and OPEB plan.



The assets of the State Bar were below its liabilities for fiscal year ended May 31, 2020 by ($69,305,243).
This amount includes all State Bar-related assets, including the reserves, all capital assets, all assets
related to TexasBarBooks, the Sections and Division and all special revenue funds and capital project
funds.



The State Bar’s total net position decreased by ($7,546,457) from the end of fiscal year 2019 to the
end of fiscal year 2020. The decrease in net position is due to adjusting entries to the net pension
liability and OPEB liability as a result of actuarial changes in plan assumptions.



As of the close of the current fiscal year, the State Bar’s governmental funds reported combined
ending fund balances of $39,701,398 an increase of $3,709,671 in comparison with the prior year
adjusted fund balance. This increase in fund balance is primarily due to the strong performance of
TexasBarCLE, membership dues, and MCLE revenues. Of this amount, $14,881,726 is reserved for
ongoing expenses. The amount consists primarily of the General Fund.



At the end of the current fiscal year, the fund balance for the General Fund was $20,390,297 or
51 percent of the total General Fund expenditures for the year ended May 31, 2020. Of this amount,
$19,575,792 is subject to the Board of Director’s (the Board) approval on how the funds may be used,
and $814,505 is nonspendable.
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State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2020
Overview of the Financial Statements
The State Bar’s basic financial statements are comprised of the following components: (1) the
government-wide financial statements, (2) the fund financial statements and (3) notes to the basic
financial statements. This report also contains required supplementary information in addition to the basic
financial statements themselves. Each one is described below.
Government-wide statements: The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide
readers with a broad overview of the State Bar’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.
The statements include all assets and liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting. The governmentwide financial statements are made up of the statement of net position and the statement of activities.
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 16 through 18 of this report.
The statement of net position presents information on all the State Bar’s assets, liabilities and deferred
inflows/outflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position. Over time, increases or
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of the financial position of the State Bar is
improving and deteriorating.
The statement of activities presents information showing how the State Bar’s net position changed during
the most recent fiscal year. The statement of activities is presented on the full accrual basis. This means
that all changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change
occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Therefore, revenues and expenses are reported in
this statement for some items that will result in cash flows only in future fiscal periods (e.g., earned, but
unused vacation leave).
Both government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the State Bar that are principally
supported by dues and intergovernmental revenues (government activities) from other functions that are
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type
activities). The governmental activities of the State Bar include general government, public services,
member services and public protection. The business-type activities of the State Bar include Texas Bar
Books.
Fund financial statements: A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The State Bar, like other state
and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with financerelated legal requirements. The fund financial statements are made up of a balance sheet and a
statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances. The basic governmental fund
financial statements can be found on pages 19 through 27 of this report. All the funds of the State Bar can
be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.
The State Bar has three types of funds:


Governmental funds—Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike
the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on
near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable
resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a
government’s near-term financing requirements.
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May 31, 2020


Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.
By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term
financing decision. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund
statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to
facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.



The State Bar maintains 12 individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in
the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances for the General Fund, the Client Security Fund and
Sections, all of which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other nine governmental
funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. These nine funds are: Texas Board of
Legal Specialization Fund, Texas Bar College, Annual Meeting, Texas Law Center, Technology
Fund, Project Grants Fund, Hatton W. Sumners Grants Fund, Law Focused Education and
Department of Public Service. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental
funds is provided in the form of combining statements in the other supplemental section of this
report.

The State Bar adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund. A budgetary comparison
statement has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget.
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 19 through 27 of this report.


Proprietary funds—Texas Bar Books is the State Bar’s only proprietary fund. It is an enterprise fund. An
enterprise fund is used to report an entity’s business-type activities in the government-wide financial
statements. The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 23 through 25 of
this report.



Fiduciary funds—Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties
outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial
statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support the State Bar’s own
programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. The
fiduciary funds the State Bar has is an agency fund used to hold monies for donations received for
access to justice and the State Bar of Texas Insurance Trust, included as a blended component unit.
The basic fiduciary fund financial statement can be found on pages 26 through 27 of this report.

Notes to the financial statements: The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to
the basic financial statements can be found on pages 28 through 60 of this report.
Required supplemental information: In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying
notes, this report also presents certain required supplemental information. The State Bar adopts an annual
budget for its general fund. A budgetary comparison statement has been provided for the general fund
to demonstrate compliance with this budget. In addition, includes required supplemental information
regarding the State Bar’s changes in their proportionate share of net pension liability and related ratios
and schedules of employer’s contributions. Required supplemental information can be found on pages
61 through 74 of this report.
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State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2020
Other supplemental information: In addition to the basic financial statements, accompanying notes and
required supplemental information this report also presents certain other supplemental information. The
combining balance sheet—non-major governmental funds, combining statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances—non-major governmental funds are provided to give
additional information for each non-major fund. The combining statement of revenues, expenditures and
changes in fund balances—governmental funds is provided to give additional information by expenditure
type. Other supplemental information is provided on pages 75 through 78.
Government-Wide Financial Analysis
Net position: The following table presents a summary of the State Bar’s net position for the year ended
May 31, 2020, with comparison totals as of May 31, 2019 as originally stated:
Table A-1
The State Bar’s Net Position
Governmental Activities
2020
Current and other assets

$

54,403,142

$

6,266,438

Capital assets, net

Business-Type Activities
2020

2019
55,407,484

$

1,536,067

$

215,505

6,305,122

Total
2020

2019
1,698,538

$

55,939,209

2019
$

57,106,022

6,481,943

35,322

6,340,444

$

60,669,580

$

61,712,606

$

1,751,572

$

1,733,860

$

62,421,152

$

63,446,466

Deferred outflows of resources

$

28,483,837

$

7,350,376

$

1,818,118

$

469,173

$

30,301,955

$

7,819,549

Current liabilities

$

16,359,728

$

20,944,131

$

204,976

$

157,967

$

16,564,704

$

Total assets

122,975,401

Noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows of resources

7,821,613

89,240,459

130,797,014

5,698,645

21,102,098
94,939,104

$

139,335,129

$

110,184,590

$

8,026,589

$

5,856,612

$

147,361,718

$

116,041,202

$

13,786,634

$

18,149,073

$

879,998

$

1,158,446

$

14,666,632

$

19,307,519

6,090,842

$

6,267,138

$

215,505

$

35,322

$

6,306,347

$

Net position:
Net inv estment in capital
assets

$

Unrestricted (deficit)
Total net position

$

(70,059,188)

(65,537,819)

(5,552,402)

(63,968,346) $

(59,270,681) $

(5,336,897)

$

6,302,460

(4,847,347)

(75,611,590)

(70,385,166)

(4,812,025) $

(69,305,243) $

(64,082,706)

The State Bar’s net position invested in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation (e.g., land,
buildings, furniture, and equipment), less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still
outstanding reflects $6,306,347 of total net position. The State Bar uses these capital assets to provide
services to members; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the State
Bar’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources
needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves
cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2020
Changes in net position: The following schedule shows the changes in net position for the year ended
May 31, 2020 with comparison totals for the year ended May 31, 2019 as originally stated. The difference
between revenues and expenditures represents the change in net position.
Table A-2
Changes in the State Bar’s Net Position
Governmental Activities
2020

Business-Type Activities

2019

2020

Total

2019

2020

2019

Rev enues:
Program rev enues:
Charges for serv ices

$

20,872,152

$

21,238,451

$

2,341,355

$

2,288,252

$

23,213,507

$

23,526,703

Operating grants and
contributions

1,678,145

2,052,850

-

-

1,678,145

2,052,850

General rev enues:
Membership dues

24,872,966

24,804,055

-

-

24,872,966

24,804,055

Inv estment income

1,427,944

1,018,343

9,366

8,993

1,437,310

1,027,336

Royalty rev enue

1,591,507

1,525,878

1,227,197

1,138,780

2,818,704

2,664,658

448,977

538,501

448,977

538,501

Other income

-

-

Loss on disposal of capital
assets

-

Total rev enues

(1,288)

-

50,891,691

51,176,790

3,577,918

11,531,101

10,597,640

-

5,027,902

4,979,973

-

Member serv ices

25,078,524

24,876,303

-

Public protection

16,122,685

14,207,787

3,436,025

-

(1,288)

54,469,609

54,612,815

-

11,531,101

10,597,640

-

5,027,902

4,979,973

-

25,078,524

24,876,303

-

16,122,685

14,207,787

Expenses:
General gov ernment
Public serv ices

Books

Total expenses

-

4,255,854

3,975,696

4,255,854

3,975,696

4,255,854

3,975,696

62,016,066

58,637,399

(539,671)

(7,546,457)

(4,024,584)

(1,240,531)

(64,082,706)

(10,264,896)

(3,031,823)

2,323,920

(49,793,226)

57,760,212

54,661,703

(6,868,521)

(3,484,913)

(677,936)

(59,270,681)

(9,024,365)

(4,812,025)

2,170,856

(46,761,403)

Increase (decrease)
in net position

Net position at beginning of year,
Prior Period Adjustment
Net position at end of year

$

(63,968,346) $

(59,270,681) $

7

153,064
(5,336,897) $

(4,812,025) $

(69,305,243) $

(64,082,706)
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State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2020
Expense and Program Revenues—Governmental Activities
$30,000,000

$25,078,524

$25,000,000

$20,092,986

$20,000,000

$16,122,685

$15,000,000
$11,531,101

$10,000,000
$5,027,902

$5,000,000
$1,135,617

$715,593

$606,101

$0
General
Governmental

Public Services
Expenses

Member Services

Public Protection

Revenues

This chart depicts the program revenues and expenses as presented in the statement of activities on
page 18 of the financial statements. These represent the revenues and related expenses for these
programs. The State Bar also collects membership dues, investment income, royalty revenue and other
income that totaled $28,341,394 for the year ended May 31, 2020.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
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Revenues by Source—Governmental Activities

Investment and
Other Income
4%

Charges for
Services
41%

Operating
Grants and
Contributions
3%
Royalty Revenue
3%

Membership
Dues
49%

Membership dues continues to be the primary source of revenue for the State Bar. Total membership dues
collections for fiscal year 2020 were $24,872,966 compared to $24,804,055 in the prior fiscal year. The State
Bar anticipates a slowing growth in the revenue from dues because the projected number of licensed
attorneys will likely stabilize over the next five years.
TexasBarCLE charges for services remain strong at $14,227,389 for fiscal year 2020 compared to
$15,165,102 in revenue from fiscal year 2019, despite the economic impact of the pandemic. The
continuing legal education offered by TexasBarCLE has continued to provide stable income for the Bar
to supplement other strategic goals that may not generate revenue, but provide a valuable service to
lawyers and the public of the State of Texas. Other charges for services include Minimum Continuing Legal
Education (MCLE) fees, Texas Board of Legal Specialization fees and Bar Journal fees.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2020
Business-type activities: Business-type activities decreased the State Bar’s net position by ($677,936) due
to the impact of the pension and OPEB adjustments. The TexasBarBooks Fund, shows steady income and
expenses. The revenue and expenses will fluctuate from year to year based on the number of projects
that are completed during the year. A breakdown of expenses and program revenues and revenues by
source type follows:
Expenses and Program Revenues—Business-Type Activities
$4,400,000
$4,255,854
$4,200,000

$4,000,000

$3,800,000
$3,577,918

$3,600,000

$3,400,000

$3,200,000
Expenses

Revenues
Book…
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2020
Revenues by Source—Business Activities
Charges for
Services
65%

Royalty and
Investment
Revenue
35%

The types of revenue for the State Bar’s business activities continues to be charges for the sale of Texas
Bar books, both online subscriptions and hard copies of practice manuals. Additionally, TexasBarBooks
receives royalties from Thompson Reuters on the sale of Texas Bar books. These revenues are anticipated
to remain stable.
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State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2020
Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds
As noted earlier, the State Bar uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with financerelated legal requirements.
Governmental funds: The focus of the State Bar’s governmental funds is to provide information on nearterm inflows, outflows and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the
State Bar’s financing requirements. In particular, undesignated fund balance may serve as a useful
measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.
At the end of the current fiscal year, the State Bar’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund
balances of $39,701,398 an increase of $3,709,671 in comparison with the prior year. Of this amount,
$1,195,013 is nonspendable for inventories and prepaid items and $23,624,569 is committed for specific
uses by the Board.
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the State Bar. At the end of the current fiscal year, the
total fund balance of the General Fund was $20,390,297, which is 73 percent unassigned. As a measure
of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare the unassigned fund balance to total fund
expenditures. Unassigned fund balance represents 38 percent of total General Fund expenditures. During
the current fiscal year, the fund balance of the State Bar’s General Fund increased by $2,730,547.
Proprietary funds: The State Bar’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the
government-wide financial statements, but in more detail.
At the end of the current fiscal year, net position of TexasBarBooks totaled ($5,336,897). The total decrease
in net position was ($677,936). Other factors concerning the finances of this fund have already been
addressed in the discussion of the State Bar’s business-type activities.
General Fund budgetary highlights: The State Bar’s actual revenue for the General Fund was $1,013,552
above budgeted amounts. The most significant positive variances resulted from investment income and
membership dues income, which were offset by a negative variance from TexasBarCLE revenue as a
result of the pandemic closing live classes from March-May. The State Bar’s actual expenditures for the
General Fund were $2,715,585 below budgeted amounts. The most significant positive variance resulted
in travel and meeting costs from holding several meetings remotely.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2020
Capital asset administration:
Capital assets: The State Bar’s investment in capital assets for its governmental activities and businesstype activities as of May 31, 2020, amounts to $6,306,347 (net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization). This investment in capital assets includes land; buildings and systems; and furniture,
equipment, digital publication, and other assets.
Table A-3
State Bar’s Capital Assets
Governmental Activities
2020
$

Land

154,074

Business-Type Activities
2020

2019
$

$

154,074

Construction in progress

604,551

200,534

Building and systems, net

780,927

824,028

Total
2020

2019
-

$

$

-

180,183
-

2019

154,074

$

154,074

-

784,734

200,534

-

780,927

824,028

Furniture, equipment, digital
publication and other,
4,726,886

net
$

6,266,438

35,322

5,126,486
$

$

6,305,122

215,505

4,762,208

35,322
$

35,322

$

6,481,943

5,161,808
$

6,340,444

Additional information on the State Bar’s capital assets can be found in Note 2 on page 39 of this report.
Long-term liabilities: At the end of the current fiscal year, the State Bar had capital leases of $175,596 and
accrued compensated absences of $1,029,403. The current portion of liabilities, or liabilities that are due
within one year include capital lease payments and estimated payouts of vacation leave to employees.
The following table presents a summary of the State Bar’s Long-term liabilities for the year ended May 31,
2020, with comparative information as of May 31, 2019:
Table A-4
State Bar’s Noncurrent Liabilities
Governmental Activities
2020
Capital lease payable
Deferred Rent
Accrued compensated absences

$

175,596

Business-Type Activities
2020

2019
$

220,908

37,984

$

1,605,679

-

$

-

1,521,492

Total
2020

2019
-

101,516

97,422

$

175,596

2019
$

220,908

37,984
-

1,707,195

1,618,914

Net pension liability

82,055,157

54,916,885

5,237,563

3,505,333

87,292,720

58,422,218

Total OPEB Liability

40,576,045

34,376,046

2,589,960

2,194,216

43,166,005

36,570,262

124,633,385

90,852,407

7,929,039

5,796,971

132,562,424

96,649,378

Total liabilities
Less current portion

(1,657,984)

(107,426)

(1,611,948)

(98,326)

(1,765,410)

(1,710,274)

Total noncurrent
liabilities

$ 122,975,401

$

89,240,459

$

7,821,613

$

5,698,645

$ 130,797,014

$

94,939,104

Additional information on the State Bar’s noncurrent liabilities can be found in Note 5 on page 44 of this
report.
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State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2020
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget
For the General Fund, estimated revenues for fiscal year 2021 are $44,391,553 and estimated expenditures
and other uses are $42,902,753. If these estimates are realized, and the General Fund transfers $1,488,800
to other funds as budgeted, the State Bar’s budgetary General Fund balance is expected to decrease
slightly due to the expenditures related to Board commitments of excess fund balance. With the impact
of the coronavirus pandemic, it is anticipated that the State Bar will not collect all revenues budgeted;
however, the savings in travel and meetings and conference expenses from holding meetings remotely
will more than offset the decrease in actual revenue collected.
Contacting the State Bar’s Financial Management
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the State Bar’s finances for all those with
an interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this
report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Finance Division Director,
State Bar of Texas, and P.O. Box 12487, Austin, Texas 78711.
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State Bar of Texas
Statement of Net Position
May 31, 2020
Governmental

Business-Type

Activities

Activities

Total

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equiv alents – cash in bank

$

Inv estments

20,016,432

$

30,673,108

-

$

-

20,016,432
30,673,108

Receiv ables
Sales, net of an allowance for uncollectibles
of $4,797 and $93,101, respectiv ely

91,152

Interest receiv able
Other accounts receiv able
Internal balances

761,902

121,540

-

121,540

2,675,671

-

2,675,671

(369,774)

Inv entories, net of obsolescence

369,774

-

11,572

402,646

414,218

1,183,441

1,745

1,185,186

54,403,142

1,536,067

55,939,209

Prepaid expenses
Total current assets

853,054

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets
Land

154,074

Construction in progress

604,551

Buildings, net

780,927

-

154,074

180,183

784,734

-

780,927

Furniture, fixtures, computer equipment, software and
other equipment, net

4,726,886

35,322

4,762,208

6,266,438

215,505

6,481,943

60,669,580

1,751,572

62,421,152

Total noncurrent assets
Total assets
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
OPEB related amounts
Pension related amounts
Total deferred outflows of resources

$

7,769,115

495,901

8,265,016

20,714,722

1,322,217

22,036,939

28,483,837

The Notes to the Financial Statement are an integral part of this statement.
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$

1,818,118

$

30,301,955

Case 4:21-cv-02829 Document 12-1 Filed on 01/24/22 in TXSD Page 20 of 81
State Bar of Texas
Statement of Net Position – Continued
May 31, 2020
Governmental

Business-Type

Activities

Activities

Total

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable

$

Accrued liabilities

903,187

$

473,390

Due to agency funds
Unearned rev enue
Current portion capital lease obligations

97,550

$

903,187
570,940

651,380

-

651,380

12,673,787

-

12,673,787

77,362

-

Current portion OPEB liability

949,641

60,615

1,010,256

Current portion compensated absences

630,981

46,811

677,792

16,359,728

204,976

16,564,704

Total current liabilities

77,362

Noncurrent liabilities
Capital lease obligations

98,234

Deferred rent

-

220,908

OPEB liability

-

39,626,404

Compensated absences

2,529,345

98,234
220,908
42,155,749

974,698

54,705

1,029,403

82,055,157

5,237,563

87,292,720

Total nocurrent liabilities

122,975,401

7,821,613

130,797,014

Total liabilities

139,335,129

8,026,589

147,361,718

10,123,032

646,151

10,769,183

3,663,602

233,847

3,897,449

13,786,634

879,998

14,666,632

6,090,842

215,505

6,306,347

Net pension liability

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
OPEB related amounts
Pension related amounts
Total deferred inflows of resources
NET POSITION (DEFICIT)
Net inv estment in capital assets
Unrestricted (deficit)

(70,059,188)
$ (63,968,346)

TOTAL NET POSITION (DEFICIT)
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$

(5,552,402)

(75,611,590)

(5,336,897)

$ (69,305,243)
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State Bar of Texas
Statement of Activities
Year Ended May 31, 2020
Program Revenues

Net (Expenses) Revenues and Changes in Net Position

Operating
Functions/Programs

Expenses

Charges for

Grants and

Governmental

Business-Type

Services

Contributions

Activities

Activities

Total

Primary gov ernment
Gov ernmental activ ities
General gov ernment

$

11,531,101

Public serv ices

$

1,135,617

$

-

$ (10,395,484)

$

$ (10,395,484)

-

(4,312,309)

439,487

276,106

Member serv ices

25,078,524

18,729,866

1,363,120

(4,985,538)

-

(4,985,538)

Public protection

16,122,685

567,182

38,919

(15,516,584)

-

(15,516,584)

57,760,212

20,872,152

1,678,145

(35,209,915)

-

(35,209,915)

4,255,854

2,341,355

-

-

(1,914,499)

(1,914,499)

4,255,854

2,341,355

-

-

(1,914,499)

(1,914,499)

(1,914,499)

(37,124,414)

Total gov ernmental activ ities

(4,312,309)

-

5,027,902

Business type activ ities
Books
Total business-type activ ities
Total primary government activities

$

62,016,066

$

23,213,507

$

1,678,145

(35,209,915)

General rev enues
24,872,966

-

24,872,966

Inv estment income

Membership dues

1,427,944

9,366

1,437,310

Royalty rev enue

1,591,507

1,227,197

2,818,704

Other income

448,977

-

Total general rev enues

28,341,394

Change in net position

(6,868,521)

(677,936)

(7,546,457)

(57,099,825)

(4,658,961)

(61,758,786)

(5,336,897)

$ (69,305,243)

Net position (deficit) beginning of year, as restated
Net position (deficit), end of year

$ (63,968,346)

The Notes to the Financial Statement are an integral part of this statement.
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1,236,563

448,977

$

29,577,957
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State Bar of Texas
Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds
May 31, 2020
Nonmajor

Total

General

Sections and

Governmental

Governmental

Fund

Divisions

Funds

Funds

ASSETS
Cash and cash equiv alents, cash in bank

$

Inv estments

8,258,304

$

21,933,831

7,887,095

$

1,163,668

3,871,033

$

7,575,609

20,016,432
30,673,108

Receiv ables
Sales to members and other, net of an allowance for
uncollectibles of $4,797
Interest receiv able

91,152

-

84,637

162

-

91,152

36,741

121,540

Other accounts receiv able

2,428,491

240,202

6,978

2,675,671

Due from other gov ernmental funds

1,115,863

1,048,500

97,803

2,262,166

Inv entories
Prepaid items
TOTAL ASSETS

$

11,572

-

802,933

74,018

-

11,572

306,490

34,726,783

$

10,413,645

$

817,114

$

86,073

$

11,894,654

1,183,441
$

57,035,082

$

903,187

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable

$

Accrued liabilities
Due to other gov ernmental funds

-

472,556

16

818

473,390

1,146,303

198,828

917,035

2,262,166

Due to enterprise fund

369,774

-

-

Due to agency fund

651,380

-

-

Unearned rev enue
Total current liabilities

369,774
651,380

10,879,359

1,193,329

601,099

12,673,787

14,336,486

1,478,246

1,518,952

17,333,684

Fund balances:
Nonspendable

814,505

74,018

306,490

1,195,013

Committed

4,694,066

8,861,381

10,069,212

23,624,659

Unassigned

14,881,726

Total fund balances
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

-

20,390,297
$

34,726,783

The Notes to the Financial Statement are an integral part of this statement.
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-

8,935,399
$

10,413,645

14,881,726

10,375,702
$

11,894,654

39,701,398
$

57,035,082
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State Bar of Texas
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to the
Statement of Net Position
May 31, 2020
Total fund balance - governmental funds

$

39,701,398

Amounts reported for gov ernmental activ ities in the statement of net position
are different because:
Capital assets, including accumulated depreciation, used in gov ernmental activ ities
are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

6,266,438

Employee benefit related liabilities, and related accounts, are not due and payable in the
current period and are not included in the fund financial statements, but are reported
in the gov ernmental activ ities in the statement of net positions. These items include:
Net pension liability

(82,055,157)

OPEB liability

(40,576,045)

Deferred outflows related to net OPEB liability

7,769,115

Deferred inflows related to net OPEB liability

(10,123,032)

Deferred outflows related to net pension liability

20,714,722

Deferred inflows related to net pension liability

(3,663,602)

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not
reported in the funds. These items include:
Capital Lease Payable

(175,596)

Deferred Rent

(220,908)

Compensated Absences

(1,605,679)

Net position of governmental activities

$

The Notes to the Financial Statement are an integral part of this statement.
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(63,968,346)
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State Bar of Texas
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance –
Governmental Funds
Year Ended May 31, 2020
Nonmajor

Total

General

Sections and

Governmental

Governmental

Fund

Divisions

Funds

Funds

REVENUES
Membership dues

$

21,109,358

$

2,557,623

$

1,205,985

$

24,872,966

Accounting and management fees

650,351

-

-

650,351

Texas Bar Journal

632,032

-

-

632,032

MCLE fees

3,376,884

Professional dev elopment

-

13,628,029

599,360

-

3,376,884

-

14,227,389

Minority affairs

482,478

-

Inv estment income

939,126

49,873

438,945

1,427,944

-

363,606

363,606

Grant rev enue

-

-

482,478

Member benefits

872,804

-

-

872,804

W ebsite

586,256

-

-

586,256

Adv ertising rev iew

329,300

-

-

329,300

CDC disciplinary fees

567,182

-

-

567,182

Other income

948,966

790,862

877,474

2,617,302

44,122,766

3,997,718

2,886,010

51,006,494

Total rev enues
EXPENDITURES
Executiv e

2,882,528

-

-

2,882,528

Member and public serv ice

2,707,219

-

-

2,707,219

Professional dev elopment

9,312,703

-

-

9,312,703

Legal and attorney serv ices

1,981,183

-

-

1,981,183

Access to justice commission

626,729

-

-

626,729

Member benefits and research

203,771

-

-

203,771

Attorney compliance

1,856,243

-

-

1,856,243

Operations and security div ision

1,263,683

-

72,011

1,335,694

Finance and information technology

5,063,957

-

540,402

5,604,359

Communications

2,360,465

-

Public protection

10,646,348

-

Special serv ices

-

Expenditures related to Board commitments

3,293,221

748,590

Capital outlay

-

-

-

2,360,465

719,211

11,365,559

2,300,915

5,594,136

-

748,590

-

706,334

706,334

Debt serv ice
Principal

-

-

169,540

169,540

Interest

-

-

5,753

5,753

4,514,166

47,460,806

(1,628,156)

3,545,688

Total expenditures

39,653,419

3,293,221

4,469,347

704,497

Excess (deficiency) of rev enues ov er (under)
expenditures
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from capital leases

-

-

163,983

163,983

Transfers in

-

-

1,738,800

1,738,800

Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balances
FUND BALANCES, beginning of year, as restated
FUND BALANCES, end of year

$

(1,738,800)

-

(1,738,800)

-

-

(1,738,800)

1,902,783

163,983

2,730,547

704,497

274,627

3,709,671

17,659,750

8,230,902

10,101,075

35,991,727

20,390,297

The Notes to the Financial Statement are an integral part of this statement.
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$

8,935,399

$

10,375,702

$

39,701,398
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State Bar of Texas
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balance of the Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
Year Ended May 31, 2020
Net change in fund balance - total governmental funds

$

3,709,671

Amounts reported for gov ernmental activ ities in t he statement of activ ities
are different because:
Rev enues in the statement of activ ities that do not prov ide current financial
resources are not reported as rev enues in the funds
Gov ernmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures; howev er, in
the statement of activ ities, the cost of those assets is allocated ov er their
estimated useful liv es as depreciation and amortization expense:
Capital outlay

849,504

Depreciation and amortization expense

(888,188)

Proceeds from capital leases prov ide current financial resources to
gov ernmental funds, but issuing debt increases noncurrent liabilities in the
statement of net position; repayment of capital leases is an expenditure in the
gov ernmental funds, but the repayment reduces noncurrent liabilities in the
statement of net position:
Proceeds from capital leases

(163,983)

Repayment of capital leases

119,471

Some expenses reported in the statement of activ ities do not require the use
of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures
in gov ernmental funds:
Change in pension liability and related deferred inflows and outflows

(14,731,469)

Change in OPEB liability and related deferred inflows and outflows

4,385,628

Change in deferred rent

(64,968)

Change in compensated absences

(84,187)

Change in net position of governmental activities

$

The Notes to the Financial Statement are an integral part of this statement.
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State Bar of Texas
Statement of Net Position – Proprietary Funds
May 31, 2020
Texas
Bar Books
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Accounts receiv able, net of allowance for uncollectibles of $93,101

$

761,902

Due from other funds

369,774

Inv entories, net of obsolescence

402,646

Prepaid expenses

1,745

Total current assets

1,536,067

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation of $318,315

215,505

TOTAL ASSETS

1,751,572

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
OPEB related amounts

495,901

Pension related amounts

1,322,217

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

1,818,118
LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrued liabilities

97,550

OPEB Liability

60,615

Accrued compensated absences

46,811

Total current liabilities

204,976

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrued compensated absences

54,705

OPEB Liability

2,529,345

Net pension liability

5,237,563

Total noncurrent liabilities

7,821,613

TOTAL LIABILITIES

8,026,589

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
OPEB related amounts

646,151

Pension related amounts

233,847

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

879,998

NET POSITION (DEFICIT)
Inv estment in capital assets

215,505

Unrestricted (deficit)

(5,552,402)

TOTAL NET POSITION (DEFICIT)

$

The Notes to the Financial Statement are an integral part of this statement.
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State Bar of Texas
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position –
Proprietary Funds
Year Ended May 31, 2020
Texas
Bar Books
OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for sale and serv ices
Book sales

$

Total operating rev enues

2,341,355
2,341,355

OPERATING EXPENSES
Costs of good sold

657,379

Salaries and benefits

2,470,462

Professional serv ices

45,578

Administrativ e fee

542,548

Office, equipment, storage rentals

162,186

Postage and freight

144,971

Other administrativ e expenses

232,730

Total operating expenses

4,255,854

Operating loss

(1,914,499)

NONOPERATING REVENUES
Inv estment income

9,366

Royalty rev enue

1,227,197

Total nonoperating rev enues

1,236,563

Change in net position

(677,936)

NET POSITION (DEFICIT), beginning of year, as restated

(4,658,961)

NET POSITION (DEFICIT), end of year

$

The Notes to the Financial Statement are an integral part of this statement.
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State Bar of Texas
Statement of Cash Flows –
Proprietary Funds
Year Ended May 31, 2020
Texas
Bar Books
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers

$

1,980,946

Payments to suppliers for goods and serv ices

(1,595,857)

Payments to employees

(1,805,996)

Net cash used in operating activ ities

(1,420,907)

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING
Interfund transactions

371,259

Net cash prov ided by noncapital financing

371,259

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition and construction of capital assets

(180,183)

Net cash flows used in capital and related financing activ ities

(180,183)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest receiv ed

9,366

Royalties receiv ed

1,227,197

Net cash prov ided by inv esting activ ities

1,236,563

Net change in cash and cash equiv alents

6,732

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year

-

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year

$

6,732

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH USED IN
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating loss

$

(1,914,499)

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in operating activ ities
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receiv able

(360,409)

Inv entories, net of obsolescence

152,868

Prepaid expenses

(1,247)

Accrued liabilities

46,949

Unearned rev enue

(9,035)

Accrued compensated absences

4,094

OPEB liability

(120,138)

Net pension liability

780,510

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

$

The Notes to the Financial Statement are an integral part of this statement.
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State Bar of Texas
Statement of Net Position –
Fiduciary Funds
May 31, 2020
State Bar of
Texas
Insurance Trust
Private-Purpose
Agency Funds

Trust Fund

ASSETS
Cash in bank

$

Accounts receiv able

150,663

$

-

Due from general fund

4,775

762,136

TOTAL ASSETS

$

912,799

652,612
-

$

657,387

$

110,756

LIABILITIES
Due to general fund

$

Due to other organizations
TOTAL LIABILITIES

$

NET POSITION, held in trust for member group insurance benefits

The Notes to the Financial Statement are an integral part of this statement.
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912,799

73,578

912,799

184,334
$

473,053
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State Bar of Texas
Statement of Changes in Net Position –
Fiduciary Funds
Year Ended May 31, 2020
State Bar of
Texas
Insurance Trust
Private-Purpose
Trust Fund
ADDITIONS
Contributions of subscribers

$

Royalties

7,123,277
71,278

Serv ice agreement rev enue

750,000

Total additions

7,944,555

DEDUCTIONS
Premiums to insurance carrier

7,123,277

Accounting fees

17,976

Insurance

454,417

Rent

12

Serv ice agreement fee

250,000

Utilities

165

Total deductions

7,845,847

Income before income tax benefit

98,708

INCOME TAX BENEFIT

12,000

Change in net position

86,708

NET POSITION, beginning of year

386,345

NET POSITION, end of year

$

The Notes to the Financial Statement are an integral part of this statement.
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State Bar of Texas
Notes to the Financial Statements
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The State Bar of Texas’ (the State Bar) enabling legislation, Texas Rev. Civ. Stat. Ann. Art. 320a-l
(Vernon Supp. 1986), provides the authority for operations of the State Bar. In 1939, the State Bar was
created by the State of Texas legislature. Located in the judicial branch of the State government, its
primary responsibility is to cooperate in the regulation of the practice of law in the State of Texas. The
State Bar is an administrative branch or department of the Supreme Court of Texas. This report includes
the funds and account groups required to account for those activities, organizations and functions which
are related to the State Bar and are controlled by the State Bar. The State Bar is included in the financial
statements of the State of Texas as a component unit.
The State Bar’s major activities or functions include the collection and monitoring of membership dues,
discipline of attorneys, development and accreditation of professional development courses, publishing
and printing of legal text for sale to members, preparation and distribution of the Bar Journal and
providing access to a database of legal information for member use. These activities are included in the
accompanying financial statements.
Component Units
Component units are legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the primary
government are financially accountable. Component units can also be other organizations for which the
nature and significance of their relationship with a primary government is such that exclusion would cause
the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. In addition, component units
can be organizations that raise and hold economic resources for the direct benefit of a government unit.
Because of the closeness of their relationships with the primary government, some component units are
blended as though they are part of the primary government.
The State Bar appoints a majority of members to the Texas Bar Foundation’s (the Foundation), the Texas
Center for Legal Ethics’ (the Center) and the Texas Legal Protection Plan, Inc.’s. (the Plan) governing
body; however, because the State Bar is not in a position to impose its will on or significantly influence the
programs, projects, activities or level of service performed by the Foundation, the Center or the Plan, and
because no financial burden or benefit exists between the State Bar and the Foundation, the Center or
the Plan, they are not considered a component unit of the State Bar.
Blended Component Units
The relationship among the following component units and the State Bar is such that it meets the criteria,
as set forth in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, The Financial
Reporting Entity: Omnibus – an Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34, for inclusion in the
reporting entity and are such that the financial statements are blended with those of the State Bar.
The Texas Bar College (the College) is an honor society designed to recognize attorneys who accumulate
at least twice as many continuing legal education credit hours each year than the minimum required.
The College was created in 1981 by order of the Texas Supreme Court. The College is governed by an
18-member board of directors, of which, 12 members are appointed by the State Bar’s President, and six
members are appointed by the State Bar’s President based on nominations submitted by the College’s
board. The College is a section 501(c)(3) corporation and is funded through membership dues, investment
income and merchandise sales. The College is reported as a Special Revenue Fund because the services
it provides, exclusively benefits the State Bar.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Law Focused Education, Inc. was created in 1975 as a section 501(c)(3) corporation to plan, promote
and support law-related education programs aimed at preparing elementary, middle and high school
students for effective, responsible citizenship and who are committed to liberty, justice and the Rule of
Law. Law Focused Education, Inc. is governed by a 16-member board of directors, all of which are
appointed by the State Bar’s President. Law Focused Education, Inc. is made up of two funds: Hatton W.
Sumners Grants Fund and Law Focused Education, both of which are reported as Special Revenue Funds
because the services it provides, exclusively benefits the State Bar. Contact the Finance Division of the
State Bar to obtain financial statements of the blended component units.
The State Bar of Texas Insurance Trust and Affiliate, which consists of the State Bar of Texas Insurance Trust
(the Trust) and the SBIT Insurance Agency, LLC (the Agency). The State Bar of Texas Insurance Trust and
Affiliate is custodial in nature and is reported with the fiduciary fund financial statements as a private
purpose trust fund.
The State Bar evaluated GASB No. 61 and determined the Trust meets the criteria for inclusion in the
reporting entity as a bended component unit.
The Trust was formed in 1973 to provide group insurance benefits to members of the State Bar, including
their employees, employees of the State Bar and the Trust and families of all eligible participants.
Premiums for the group policies are collected by the Trust and are remitted to the insurance company,
Prudential Insurance Company of America (Prudential), who underwrites the State Bar of Texas Insurance
Program (the Program). Prudential is responsible for all claims.
The Agency was formed on January 11, 2005, as a general lines insurance agency. The Agency was
formed to assist employees of the State Bar, the Trust and the families of eligible participants in acquiring
insurance from companies other than those currently provided by the Trust. The Trust owns 100% of the
membership interest of the Agency and is, therefore, consolidated in its financial statements. All
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
Government-Wide Financial Statements
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of
activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the State Bar and are reported on a full
accrual basis of accounting, using the economic resource measurement focus, which recognizes all longterm assets and receivables, as well as long-term debt and obligations. The effect of interfund activity has
been removed from these statements. However, interfund services provided and used are not eliminated
in process of consolidation. Governmental activities, which are supported by dues, fees, grants and other
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees
and charges for support.
The statement of net position presents the State Bar’s nonfiduciary assets and deferred outflows of
resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position.
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The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a
specific function or segment. All capital asset depreciation is reported as a direct expense of the financial
program that benefits from the use of the capital assets. Program revenues include (1) charges to
customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided
by a given function or segment and (2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Membership dues and other
items not required to be included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.
Membership dues are reported as general revenues as they are the primary revenue source of the
State Bar and attorneys are required to pay this membership due in order to practice law in the State of
Texas.
Fund Financial Statements
The fund financial statements provide information about the State Bar’s funds, including its fiduciary funds
and blended component units. Separate financial statements for each fund category – governmental,
proprietary and fiduciary are presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major
governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental
and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds.
Fund Accounting
The accounts of the State Bar are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered to be a
separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for by providing a separate set
of self-balancing accounts which comprise its assets, liabilities, deferred inflows/outflows, fund
balance/net position, revenues and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate.
Fund Structure
Governmental Fund Types
The State Bar reports the following major governmental funds:
General Fund: The General Fund is the State Bar’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial
resources of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.
Special Revenue Funds: The special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of
specific revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditures for specified purposes other
than debt service or capital projects. The Sections and Divisions are a special revenue fund reported as
a major governmental fund. The Sections and Divisions are created by the State Bar’s Board and serve
the individual members of the State Bar in certain legal specialization areas. The Sections and Divisions’
officers are elected by the members of the individual sections and divisions and are responsible for
maintaining and administering their operations. Although the Sections and Divisions collect a portion of
their revenues and pay expenditures for administration and operations individually, the State Bar
administers the collection of dues for the Sections and Divisions. The State Bar believes it is unlikely that it
will be required to use its assets to satisfy future claims of the Sections and Divisions; however, the
State Bar is liable for any claims should they occur.
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Proprietary Fund: Proprietary fund types are used to account for the State Bar’s ongoing activities, which
are operated similar to those often found in the private sector. The measurement focus is upon income
determination, financial position and cash flows.
Enterprise Fund: Enterprise funds are used to account for those operations that are financed and
operated in a manner similar to private business or where the State Bar has decided that the
determination of revenues earned, costs incurred and/or net income is necessary for management
accounting.
The State Bar reports its Book Enterprise Fund, known as Texas Bar Books, as a major enterprise fund. The
Book Enterprise Fund accounts for the activities relating to the sales of books. The principal operating
revenues of the State Bar’s Book Enterprise Fund are charges for the sales of books and royalty income.
Operating expenses include the cost of sales and services, and administrative expenses.
Additionally, the State Bar reports the following nonmajor fund types:
Special Revenue Funds: The special revenue funds include: Texas Board of Legal Specialization Fund,
Texas Bar College, Annual Meeting, Client Security Fund, Project Grants Fund, Hatton W. Sumners Grants
Fund, Law Focused Education and Department of Public Service.
Capital Projects Funds: The capital projects funds are used to account for and report financial resources
that are restricted, committed or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or
construction of capital facilities and other capital assets, other than those financed by proprietary funds.
The capital projects funds include the Texas Law Center and the Technology Fund.
Fiduciary Funds: Fiduciary funds account for assets held by the State Bar in a trustee or agency capacity
for the benefit of others and cannot be used to support the State Bar’s activities. The State Bar has the
following fiduciary fund types:
Agency Fund – The agency fund is custodial in nature and is used to account for reporting voluntary
access to justice contributions.
Private-Purpose Trust Fund: Component Unit – Additional information about the blended presented
component unit, the State Bar of Texas Insurance Trust and Affiliate, a private purpose trust fund, can
be found on pages 25-26.
The government-wide financial statements and the proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements
are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
The agency funds do not have a measurement focus, but are reported using the accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred,
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Internal activity between funds is eliminated in the
government-wide financial statements.
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Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. This measurement focus means that only current
assets and current liabilities are included on the balance sheet. Operating statements of these funds
present resources (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (i.e., expenditures and other
financing uses) in net current assets. Revenues earned are recognized as soon as they are both
measurable and available. For this purpose, State Bar considers revenues to be available when they are
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For
this purpose, the State Bar considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days after
year-end.
Expenditures are generally recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However,
expenditures related to compensated absences, other postemployment benefits, pension- related
amounts and claims and judgments are recognized as expenditures only when the liability has matured
and payment is due. Capital acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Proceeds
of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital financing and capital leases are reported as
other financing sources.
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of
the State Bar’s proprietary funds are charges for services. Operating expenses for proprietary funds
include the costs of sales, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.
Budget and budgetary accounting: The State Bar’s budget is prepared annually by the Executive Director
for the General Fund and is reviewed by the budget committee of the Board and adopted by the Board.
The Sections and Divisions major fund and other special revenue funds do not have appropriated budgets
since other means control the use of these resources. The budget passes several stages of review,
including a public hearing, adoption by the Board and approval by the Supreme Court of Texas. The
budget may be amended at any meeting of the Board, but the amendments made are subject to the
approval of the Supreme Court of Texas. Variances from budgeted revenues and expenditures are
analyzed by management, the audit and finance committee, the executive committee and the Board.
Regulations do not prohibit the State Bar from having unfavorable variances.
Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balances/
Net Position
Cash and Cash Equivalents: The State Bar’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be demand
deposits, petty cash and money market accounts. Short-term highly liquid investments with an original
maturity of three months or less are considered cash equivalents.
Investments: Investments consist primarily of United States treasury securities, government agency
securities, commercial paper and money market mutual funds, which are stated at fair value. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. Investments are reported at fair value based upon quoted market prices, or
when quoted market prices are not readily determinable, estimated fair values using observable inputs
including quoted prices for similar securities, interest rates, net asset values (NAV) of underlying securities
and a fixed income pricing model which uses available market rates. Investments in nonnegotiable
certificates of deposit are reported at amortized costs.
Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on a trade-date basis. Interest income is recorded on the
accrual basis.
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Chapter 2256 of the Texas Governmental Code (Public Funds Investment Act) authorizes the State Bar to
invest in funds under a written investment policy. The State Bar’s deposits and investments are invested
pursuant to the investment policy, which is approved annually by the Board. The primary objectives of
the State Bar’s investment strategy, in order of priority, are preservation and safety of principal, liquidity
and return on investment.
Receivables
Receivables represents amounts due from sales to members and others. All receivables are shown net of
an allowance for uncollectibles, if applicable. The allowance for doubtful accounts is established as losses
are estimated to have occurred through a provision for bad debts charged to net position. Losses are
charged against the allowance when management believes the uncollectibility of a receivable is
probable. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is evaluated on a regular basis on historical experience and specifically identified questionable
receivables. The evaluation is inherently subjective, as it requires estimates that are susceptible to
significant revision as more information becomes available. At May 31, 2020, the State Bar governmental
activities and business-type activities reported an allowance of $4,797 and $93,101 respectively.
Inventories
Inventories consists of merchandise such as books and other publications held for sale by the State Bar,
which are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined for inventories on the first-in, first-out
method. Merchandise inventories reported in the General Fund are offset in the fund level financial
statements by a nonspendable fund balance to indicate they do not represent available spendable
resources.
Prepaid Items
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as
prepaid items in both the government-wide and fund financial statements. The cost of prepaid items are
recorded as expenditures/expenses when consumed rather than when purchased.
Capital Assets
Capital assets, consisting of land, buildings, furniture and fixtures, computer equipment, software and
other equipment, are reported in the governmental activities and business-type activities columns of the
government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund financial statements. Capital assets are
defined by the State Bar as assets with an initial cost of at least $5,000 and an estimated useful life in
excess of one year. Capital assets are recorded at historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated
capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of the donation. The costs of normal
maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the assets or materially extend the assets lives
are not capitalized.
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Land and construction in progress are not depreciated. The other capital assets are depreciated using
the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:
Asset Description

Asset Life

Buildings

30 years

Furniture and fixtures

10 to 20 years

Computer equipment

3 to 5 years

Software

3 to 5 years

Other equipment

5 to 10 years

Accounts Payable
Accounts payable represent the liability for the value of assets or services received at the balance sheet
date for which payment is pending.
Unearned Revenue
The State Bar collects certain dues, fees and subscription revenue in advance for future events or for
license, fees and memberships with periods beginning subsequent to year-end.
These receipts are accounted for as unearned revenue, which will be earned and recognized in the
subsequent fiscal year, as the events occur and the licenses and memberships commence.
Capital Lease
Capital lease obligations represent the liability for future lease payments under capital lease. Liabilities
are reported separately as either current or noncurrent in the statement of net position.
Compensated Absences
The State Bar grants paid annual leave to its employees. The amount of annual leave that employees
accrue depends on the length of State of Texas service as of the employee’s anniversary date and
accrued days and allowable carryover hours increases with the length of service. Subject to certain
limitations and requirements, employees’ accrued annual leave may be used while employed, through
the transfer to another State of Texas agency, at the termination of employment, at death or retirement.
The current and long-term liabilities for accumulated vacation are accrued when incurred in the
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in
governmental funds upon the occurrence of relevant events such as resignations, retirements and other
uses of leave balances by covered employees. These obligations are normally paid from the same
funding source from which each employee’s salary or wage compensation was paid. Accrued annual
leave of $1,605,679 and $101,516 was recorded as accrued compensated absences for governmental
activities and business-type activities, respectively, for the year ended May 31, 2020.
Pensions
The fiduciary net position of the Employees Retirement System of Texas Plan (ERS) has been determined
using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. This
includes for purposes of measuring the State Bar’s net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, pension expense and information about assets, liabilities
and additions and deductions from ERS’s fiduciary net position.
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Benefit payments by ERS (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the terms of the plan. Investments of ERS are reported at fair value.
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources,
represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and will not be recognized as
an outflow of resources (expenses/expenditures) until then.
Deferred outflows of resources consists of items not yet charged to pension and OPEB expense and
contributions from the State Bar after the measurement date but before the end of the State Bar’s
reporting period.
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred
inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents
an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow
of resources (revenue) until that time. Deferred inflows of resources consist of items including difference
between expected and actual experience, changes in assumptions and the change in proportion and
contribution differences for pension and OPEB amounts.
Net Position
Net position represents the difference between assets plus deferred outflows of resources and liabilities
plus deferred inflows of resources on the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund
financial statements. Net position consists of the following:
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, reduced by
outstanding capital lease obligations attributed to the acquisition of those assets.
Restricted Net Position
Net position is reported as restricted when there are external limitations imposed on its use by
creditors, grantors, contributors and the like or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation.
Unrestricted Net Position
Represents the remaining portion of net position.
Fund Balance
Fund balance is the difference between assets plus deferred outflows of resources and liabilities plus
deferred inflows of resources on the governmental fund financial statements. Fund balances for
governmental funds are classified as nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned or unassigned in the
fund statements.
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Nonspendable
The nonspendable fund balance category includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are
not in spendable form, such as inventories and prepaid items, or amounts that are legally or
contractually required to be maintained intact. The nonspendable form criterion includes items that
are not expected to be converted to cash.
Restricted
Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of resources are either
externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors or laws or
regulations of other governments or are imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation. Legal enforceability means that the State Bar can be compelled by an external party,
such as citizens, public interest groups or the judiciary, to use resources created by enabling legislation
only for the purposes specified by the legislation.
Committed
The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the specific
purposes imposed by formal action (resolution) of the Board. Those committed amounts cannot be
used for any other purpose unless the Board removes or changes the specified use by taking the same
type of action (resolution) it employed to previously commit those amounts. In contrast to a fund
balance that is restricted by enabling legislation, the committed fund balance classification may be
redeployed for other purposes with appropriate due process. Constraints imposed on the use of
committed amounts are imposed by the Board, separate from the authorization to raise the
underlying revenue; therefore, compliance with these constraints is not considered to be legally
enforceable. The committed fund balance also incorporates contractual obligations to the extent
that existing resources in the fund have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those
contractual requirements.
Assigned
Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the State Bar for
specific purposes, but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. In
Governmental Funds other than the General Fund, assigned fund balance represents the remaining
amount that is not restricted or committed. In the General Fund, assigned amounts represent intended
uses established by the Board or a State Bar official delegated by the Board or by resolution.
Unassigned
Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund and includes all spendable
amounts not contained in the other classifications. In other Governmental Funds, the unassigned
classification is used only to report a deficit balance resulting from overspending for specific purposes
for which amounts had been restricted, committed or assigned.
When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund
balance/net position are available, the State Bar considers amounts to have been spent first out of
restricted funds, then committed funds, then assigned funds, and finally unassigned/unrestricted
funds, as needed, unless the Board or its delegated official has provided otherwise in its commitment
or assignment actions.
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The following table details fund balances between the various categories as of May 31, 2020:
Nonmajor
General

Sections and

Gov ernmental

Fund

Div isions

Funds

Total

Fund balances
Nonspendable
Inv entories
Prepaid items
Total nonspendable

$

11,572

$

-

$

-

$

11,572

802,933

74,018

306,490

1,183,441

814,505

74,018

306,490

1,195,013

4,493,150

4,493,150

Committed to
Texas Law Center projects

-

-

Access to Justice (ATJ) student loan
repayment program
Run-off Election Reserv e
Law Related Education Program

515,000

-

-

515,000

70,000

-

-

70,000

6,179

-

-

6,179

186,776

-

-

186,776

141,975

-

-

141,975

11,495

-

-

11,495

Incubator Program

489,141

-

-

489,141

Referendum reserv e

150,000

-

-

150,000

63,500

-

-

63,500

Presidential initiativ es
Statewide Pro Bono Recruitment
Campaign
Ethics initiativ es
Texas Opportunity and Justice

Archiv es Digitzation Project
Client Security Fund
Sections
Information Technology

333,333

-

-

2,817,369

8,861,381

3,150,702

-

8,861,381
1,273,286

1,240,000

-

33,286

Future Board Commitments

866,667

-

-

866,667

Legal Counsel

100,000

-

-

100,000

Sheeran Crowley Trust

225,000

-

-

225,000

Southern Conference Bar President

75,000

-

-

75,000

Law Practice Management Project

200,000

-

-

200,000

20,000

-

-

20,000

-

-

Public Information Project
Special Rev enue Funds
Total committed
Unassigned
Total fund balances

4,694,066

8,861,381

14,881,726
$ 20,390,297

$

8,935,399

2,725,407

2,725,407

10,069,212

23,624,659

$

10,375,702

14,881,726
$ 39,701,398

At the September 2005 Board meeting, the Board adopted a financial policy to maintain a minimum level
of unrestricted fund balance. The minimum level for the year ended May 31, 2020, is approximately
$11.1 million of the unassigned fund balance. The target level is based on 3.0 months of budgeted
operating expenditures.
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Transfers
Legally required transfers that are reported when incurred as transfers in by the recipient fund and as
transfers out by the disbursing fund. Interfund transfers are reported as other financing sources/uses in the
governmental funds and after nonoperating revenues/expenses in the proprietary funds.
Reimbursements
Reimbursements are repayments from funds responsible for expenditures or expenses to funds that made
the actual payment. Reimbursements of expenditures made by one fund for another are recorded as
expenditures in the reimbursing fund and as a reduction of expenditures in the reimbursed fund.
Reimbursements are not displayed in the financial statements.
Interfund Receivables and Payables
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements at the end of the
fiscal year are shown in the financial statements as, due to/from other funds. Any residual balances
outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the
government-wide financial statements as internal balances. These balances will be repaid within the next
year and, therefore, are classified as current.
Interfund Sales and Purchases
Charges or collections for services rendered by one fund to another that are recorded as revenues of
the recipient fund and expenditures or expenses of the disbursing fund.
The composition of the State Bar’s interfund activities and balances are presented in Note 12.
Significant Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Note 2. Capital Assets
Capital asset activity for the year ended May 31, 2020, was as follows:
Beginning
Balance

Additions

CIP Transfers and

Ending

Adjustments

Balance

Deletions

Gov ernmental activ ities
Capital assets not being depreciated
Land

$

Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated

154,074

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

154,074

200,534

404,017

-

-

604,551

354,608

404,017

-

-

758,625

-

-

6,489,602

Capital assets being depreciated and amortized
Buildings

6,489,602

-

Furniture, fixtures, computer equipment, software
and other equipment

15,498,499

445,487

(248,886)

-

15,695,100

21,988,101

445,487

(248,886)

-

22,184,702

(5,665,574)

(10,844)

(32,257)

(5,708,675)

(10,372,013)

(877,344)

248,886

32,257

(10,968,214)

(16,037,587)

(888,188)

248,886

-

(16,676,889)

-

5,507,813

Total capital assets being depreciated and
amortized
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization for
Buildings

-

Furniture, fixtures, computer equipment, software
and other equipment
Total accumulated depreciation and
amortization
Total capital assets being depreciated and
amortized, net

5,950,514

Governmental activities capital assets, net

$

6,305,122

(442,701)

-

$

(38,684)

$

-

$

-

$

6,266,438

$

180,183

$

-

$

-

$

180,183

Business-type activ ities
Construction in progress

$

-

Furniture, fixtures, computer equipment, software
and other equipment
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Business-type activities capital assets, net

$

353,637

-

-

-

353,637

(318,315)

-

-

-

(318,315)

35,322

$

180,183

$

-

$

-

$

215,505

Depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended May 31, 2020, was allocated in the following
manner:
Gov ernmental Activ ities
General gov ernment

$

Member serv ices

834,654
53,534

Total depreciation expense governmental activities

$

888,188

There was no depreciation and amortization expense for business-type activities for the year ended
May 31, 2020, because assets were fully depreciated. The remaining balance is considered salvage value.
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Note 3. Deposits, Investments and Repurchase Agreements
Deposits of Cash in Bank
As of May 31, 2020, the carrying amount of deposits totaled $20,819,707 as presented below:
Carrying

Bank

Amount

Balance

Gov ernmental, business-type and fiduciary activ ities
Cash in bank - carrying amount

$

13,214,747

$

13,018,405

Money market mutual funds - carrying amount at
net asset v alue

7,604,960

Total cash in bank

$

20,819,707

7,604,960
$

20,623,365

These amounts are included on the statement of net position and statement of net position – fiduciary
funds as cash and cash equivalents.
Custodial Credit Risk
In the case of deposits, the risk is that in the event of a bank failure, the State Bar will not be able to
recover deposits or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The State Bar has a
deposit policy for custodial credit risk, which requires bank deposit accounts to be collateralized with
pledge securities. There is no limit on the amount the State Bar may deposit in any one institution. As of
May 31, 2020, the State Bar’s deposits are not exposed to deposit custodial credit risk because they are
collateralized with securities held by the Federal Reserve in the State Bar’s name in the amount of
approximately $14.2 million. The State Bar does not have funds that are held in foreign currency.
Investments
The State Bar uses various methods to measure the fair value of investments on a recurring basis.
GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, established a hierarchy that prioritizes
inputs to valuation methods. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value
of the asset.
Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that the
State Bar has the ability to access at the measurement date.
Level 2 inputs are observable inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These inputs may include quoted prices for the
identical instrument in an inactive market, prices for similar instruments, interest rates, prepayment
speeds, credit risk, yield curves, default rates and similar data.
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, to the extent relevant observable inputs
are not available, representing the State Bar’s own assumptions about the assumptions a market
participant would use in valuing the asset or liability, and would be based on the best information
available.
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The availability of observable inputs can vary from security to security and is affected by a wide variety
of factors, including, for example, the type of security, whether the security is new and not yet established
in the marketplace, the liquidity of markets and other characteristics particular to the security. To the
extent that valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market,
the determination of fair value requires more judgment. Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised
in determining fair value is greatest for instruments categorized in Level 3.
The inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases,
for disclosure purposes, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement falls
in its entirety, is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
in its entirety.
Investments measured at fair value using NAV per share (or equivalent) as a practical expedient to fair value
are not classified in the fair value hierarchy.
As of May 31, 2020, the fair value of investments were as follows:
Governmental Activities
Fair Value Measurements Using
Quoted Prices in

Other

Significant

Activ e Markets for

Observ able

Unobserv able

Identical Assets

Inputs

Inputs

Amortized

(Lev el 1)

(Lev el 2)

(Lev el 3)

Cost

Carrying Value
Fixed income securities
US Treasury securities

$

10,258,531

$

10,258,531

$

-

$

-

$

-

US gov ernment agency
obligations

16,359,355

-

16,359,355

-

Commercial paper

2,998,202

-

2,998,202

-

Certificates of deposit

1,057,020

-

Total investments at fair value

$

30,673,108

$

10,258,531

$

19,357,557

-

$

-

1,057,020
$

1,057,020

U.S. Treasury securities are valued using closing bid quoted market prices as of the last business day of the
month (Level 1 inputs). U.S. government agency obligations and commercial paper are valued using a
yield-based matrix pricing model (Level 2 inputs). Certificates of deposits are valued at amortized cost.
Custodial Credit Risk
In the case of investments, there is a risk that in the event of the failure of a counterparty, the State Bar
will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of
an outside party. The State Bar’s investment policy requires that all deposits are fully insured or
collateralized, as required by the Public Funds Collateral Act, 2257, of the Texas Government Code. The
State Bar had no exposure to investment custodial credit risk at May 31, 2020, because all certificates of
deposit were fully covered by Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and all other investments are held
in the State Bar’s name.
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Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. The
State Bar’s investment policy allows for various types of investments including: United States government
agency obligations, United States Treasury securities, certificates of deposit, Banker’s acceptances,
repurchase agreements, money market mutual funds and commercial paper. Investments in United
States government agency obligations are not guaranteed by the United States government, but are
government-sponsored enterprises. As of May 31, 2020, State Bar’s credit quality distribution for securities
was as follows:
Standard and Poor's Ratings
Inv estment Type
US Treasury securities

AAA
$

US gov ernment agency obligations
Money market mutual funds

AA+
-

$ 10,258,531

-

16,252,706

7,604,960

Commercial paper

$

-

$

A-1

-

7,604,960

$ 26,511,237

$

Total
-

$ 10,258,531

-

16,252,706

-

7,604,960

2,998,202

2,998,202

2,998,202

37,114,399

GNMA Pool - not applicable

106,649

Certificates of deposit - not rated

1,057,020

Less: cash and cash equiv alents (money market mutual funds)

(7,604,960)
$ 30,673,108

Concentration of credit risk: Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributable to the magnitude of
investment in a single issuer. The State Bar is authorized to invest funds in accordance with its investment
policy and the Texas Public Funds Investment Act. Authorized investments include, but are not limited to:
1. U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities – up to 100% of the investment portfolio (IP)
2. Mortgage-backed securities – guaranteed by U.S. government–sponsored agencies up to
30% of the IP
3. Certificates of deposit – up to 30% of the IP, but no more than 5% with any single issuer
4. Banker’s acceptance – up to 15% of the IP, but no more than 5% with any single issuer
5. Repurchase agreements – up to 30% of the IP, but no more than 10% with any single issuer
6. Money market mutual funds – up to 100% of the IP
7. Commercial paper – up to 30% of the IP, but no more than 5% with any single issuer
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As of May 31, 2020, the State Bar’s investments consist of the following:
Issuer

Fair Value

US Treasury securities

$

Percentage

10,258,531

33%

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp

2,833,166

9%

Fannie Mae

6,613,183

22%

Freddie Mac

6,806,357

22%

106,649

1%

Commercial paper

2,998,202

10%

Certificates of deposit

1,057,020

3%

30,673,108

100%

GNMA Pool

Total investments

$

Interest rate risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value
of an investment. In accordance with its investment policy, the State Bar manages its exposure to declines
in fair values by limiting the types of investment it allows and by limiting the average maturity to five years.
As of May 31, 2020, the State Bar’s investments exposure to interest rate risk was as follows:
W eightedAv erage
Description

Fair Value

US Treasury securities

$

US gov ernment agency obligations

Maturity (In Days)

10,258,531

204

16,359,355

451

Commercial paper

2,998,202

9

Certificates of deposit

1,057,020

15

Total investments

$

30,673,108

Note 4. Short-Term Debt
The State Bar has no short-term debt to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020.
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Note 5. Long-Term Liabilities
A summary of changes in long-term liabilities during the year ended May 31, 2020, is shown below:
Amounts
Beginning
Balance

Additions

Reductions

Amounts

Ending

Due W ithin

Due

Balance

One Year

Thereafter

Gov ernmental activ ities
Capital lease obligations

$

37,984

Deferred rent

$

-

Accrued compensated absences

307,152

$

220,908

(169,540)

$

-

175,596

$

220,908

77,362

$

-

98,234
220,908

1,521,492

662,308

(578,121)

1,605,679

630,981

974,698

Total OPEB liability

34,376,046

7,161,246

(961,247)

40,576,045

949,641

39,626,404

Net pension liability

54,916,885

29,050,242

(1,911,970)

82,055,157
$ 124,633,385

$

$

$

Total governmental activities

$

90,852,407

$

97,422

$

37,401,856

$

(3,620,878)

64,759

$

(60,665)

1,657,984

82,055,157
$ 122,975,401

Business-type activ ities
Accrued compensated absences

$

101,516

46,811

$

54,705

Total OPEB liability

2,194,216

457,100

(61,356)

2,589,960

60,615

2,529,345

Net pension liability

3,505,333

1,854,271

(122,041)

5,237,563

-

5,237,563

Total business-type activities

$

5,796,971

$

2,376,130

$

(244,062)

$

7,929,039

$

107,426

$

7,821,613

The liabilities for pension-related and OPEB debt and compensated absences are liquidated by the
General Fund and the Texas Bar Books fund.

Note 6. Bonded Indebtedness
The State Bar has no bonded indebtedness to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020.

Note 7. Derivatives
The State Bar has no derivatives to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020.
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Note 8. Leases
Capital Lease Obligations
The State Bar entered into long-term leases for financing the purchase of certain capital assets and are
recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease.
A summary of original capitalized costs of all such property under lease in addition to the accumulated
depreciation as of May 31, 2020, is presented below.
Gov ernmental Activ ities
Accumulated
Assets

Depreciation

Total

Other equipment

$

307,153

$

(81,565)

$

225,588

Total

$

307,153

$

(81,565)

$

225,588

Future minimum lease payments under the capital leases, together with the net present value of all
minimum lease payments as of May 31, 2020, were as follows:
Gov ernmental Activ ities
Total Future
Minimum Lease
Year ending May 31:
2021

Total

Principal
$

77,362

Interest
$

8,779

Payments
$

86,141

2022

31,161

4,912

36,073

2023

32,719

3,354

36,073

2024

34,354

1,718

36,072

$

175,596

$

18,763

$

194,359

Operating Leases
Rent expense incurred under all third-party office space and equipment-operating leases for the year
ended May 31, 2020, totaled $564,643 for governmental activities.
At May 31, 2020, the State Bar was obligated under operating leases for the regional Chief Disciplinary
Counsel Department’s and the Texas Board of Legal Specialization’s office space, expiring through 2027.
In addition, the State Bar has some short-term leases during the year May 31, 2020.
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Future minimum lease payments on these operating leases are as follows:
Years Ending

Governmental

May 31,

Activities

2021

$

592,798

2022

577,292

2023

578,933

2024

476,061

2025

442,395

2026-2031

1,134,490
$

3,801,969

Note 9. Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Plan Description
The State Bar contributes to Employees Retirement System of Texas (ERS), a public employee retirement
system. It is a single employer defined benefit pension plan, since the plan is for all state employees. For
financial reporting purposes, ERS is treated as a cost-sharing plan, since each participating employer has
an obligation to contribute. ERS provides service retirement, death and disability benefits to plan
members and beneficiaries. ERS operates under the authority of provisions contained primarily in Texas
Government Code, Title 8, Public Retirement Systems, Subtitle B, Employees Retirement System of Texas,
which is subject to amendment by the Texas Legislature. The ERS’ annual financial report and other
required disclosure information are available by writing the Employees Retirement System of Texas,
P.O. Box 13207, Austin, Texas, 78711-3207 or by calling (512) 476-6431.
Plan Benefits
ERS plan covers members in employee and elected classes. The State Bar participates in the employee
class. The benefit and contribution provisions of the ERS plan are authorized by state law and may be
amended by the Legislature. The monthly benefit may vary by membership class:


The monthly standard annuity of the employee class is determined by a statutory percentage of
2.3 percent of a member’s average monthly compensation multiplied by number of years of
service credit. The average monthly compensation of the employee class may vary depending
on the hire date. For members hired on or before Aug. 31, 2009, the average monthly
compensation is the average of the highest 36 months of compensation. For members hired on
or after September 1, 2009 and before September 1, 2013, the average monthly compensation is
the average of the highest 48 months of compensation. For members hired on or after Sept. 1,
2013, the average monthly compensation is the average of highest 60 months of compensation.



The monthly standard annuity of the elected class equals the statutory percentage of 2.3 percent
of the current state salary of a district judge multiplied by the number of years of service credit.
Retirement benefits are automatically adjusted as state judicial salaries change.
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Contributions: The contribution rates for the state and the members for the ERS plan for the measurement
date of August 31, 2019, are presented in the table below:
Required Contribution Rates - ERS Plan
Employer

Members

Employee

Elected Class -

Elected Class -

Employee

Elected Class -

Elected Class -

Class

Legislators

Other

Class

Legislators

Other

10.00%

10.00%

10.00%

9.50%

9.50%

9.50%

The amount of State Bar’s contributions recognized by the ERS plan during the 2019 measurement period
was $2,074,658.
Net Pension Liability
The State Bar’s net pension liability was measured as of August 31, 2019, and the total pension liability is
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.
Actuarial Assumptions
The methods and assumptions applied, except discount rate, in the actuarial valuation were based on
an experience study covering the five-year period from September 1, 2011 through August 31, 2016.
The table below presents the actuarial methods and assumptions used to measure the total pension
liability as of the August 31, 2019:
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions
Actuarial cost method

Entry age normal

Actuarial assumptions:
Discount rate

4.42%

Inv estment rate of return

7.50%

Inflation

2.50%

Salary increase

0.0 to 9.5%

Mortality:
State agency members:
Serv ice retirees, surv iv ors and
other inactiv e members

2017 State Retirees of Texas Mortality table with mortality improv ements
based on full generational projection using Ultimate MP projections sale.
Tables were dev eloped based on the experience in the 2016 actuarial
study.

Disabled retirees

RP-2014 Disabled Retiree mortality with Ultimate MP Projection Scale
projected from the year 2014.

Activ e members

RP-2014 Employee Mortality tables for male and female with Ultimate MP
projection scale projected from the year 2014.

Cost-of-liv ing adjustments

None - Employee
2.75% - Elected
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Long-Term Expected Rate of Return on Assets
The long-term expected rate of return on plan investments was developed using a building-block method
with assumptions including asset class of investment portfolio, target allocation, real rate of return on
investments and inflation factor. Under this method, best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of
return (net of investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the expected future real
rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.
The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class for
the plan’s investment portfolio are presented below:
Long-Term
Expected
Asset Class

Target

Arithmetic Real

Allocation

Rate of Return

Global equity

50.00%

3.91%

Global credit

11.00%

0.57%

3.00%

0.20%

Intermediate treasuries

11.00%

0.29%

Real estate

12.00%

0.90%

7.00%

0.49%

Opportunistic credit

Infrastructure
Hedge funds

5.00%

0.31%

Cash

1.00%

0.02%

Total

100.00%

6.69%

Inflation

2.50%

Expected arithmetic nominal rate of return

9.19%

Discount Rate
A single discount rate of 4.42% was applied to measure the total pension liability. The 4.42% discount rate
incorporated a 7.5% long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments and 2.63% 20-year
municipal bond rate based on the rate for Fixed Income Market Data/Yield Curve/Data Municipal bonds
with 20 years to maturity that include only federally tax-exempt municipal bonds as reported in
Fidelity Index’s “20-Year Municipal GO AA Index”. The long-term expected investment rate of return was
applied to projected benefit payments through fiscal 2047 and the municipal bond rate was applied to
all benefit payments thereafter.
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The projections of cash flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member and
employer contributions will be made at the current statutory levels and remain a level percentage of
payroll. The projected cash flows from the employers are based on contributions for the most recent
five-year period as of the measurement date, adjusted on consideration of subsequent events. The
Legislature passed House Bill No. 9 in the 84th legislative session during fiscal 2015 to increase the state
contributions for fiscal 2016 and 2017 and maintained the changes made by the 83rd legislative session
in Senate Bill 1459, which established proportional decreases to the employee contribution if the state
contribution was decreased. The passage of this bill is an indicator that the Legislature is committed to
increase the funding levels for the pension funds. Projected employer contributions are based on fiscal
year 2019 funding levels.
Sensitivity Analysis
The following presents the net pension liability of the State Bar, calculated using the discount rate of 4.42%,
as well as what the State Bar’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate
that is 1 percentage point lower (3.42%) or 1 percentage point higher (5.42%) than the current rate:
1% Decrease

Rate

1% Increase

3.42%

4.42%

5.42%

State Bar's proportionate share of net
pension liability

$ 111,772,050

$

87,292,720

$

67,347,365

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position
The pension plan’s fiduciary net position is determined using economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting, which is the same basis used by ERS. Benefits and refunds of
contributions are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan.
Investments of the pension trust fund are reported at fair value. The fair value of investments is based on
published market prices and quotations from major investment brokers at available current exchange
rates. However, corporate bonds in general are valued based on currently available yields of
comparable securities by issuers with similar credit ratings. ERS issues stand-alone audited Comprehensive
Annual Financial Report (CAFR).
More detailed information on the plan’s investment valuation, investment policy, assets and fiduciary net
position may be obtained from ERS’ fiscal 2019 CAFR:
Employees Retirement System of Texas
P.O. Box 13207
Austin, Texas 78711-3207
www.ers.texas.gov
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related To Pension
At May 31, 2020, the State Bar reported a liability of $87,292,720 for its proportionate share of the net
pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of August 31, 2019, and the total pension liability
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The
State Bar’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the State Bar’s long-term
share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating
governments, actuarially determined.
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There have been no changes to the benefit terms of the plan since the prior measurement date. The
State Bar’s proportion of the entire ERS plan was 0.29111975% in fiscal year 2020, as compared to the
0.28934813% in the prior fiscal year.
For the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020, the State Bar recognized pension expense of $6,255,587. At
May 31, 2020, State Bar reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related
to pensions from the following sources:

Difference between expected and actual experience

Deferred

Deferred

Inflows of

Outflows of

Resources

Resources

$

Changes of assumptions

136,839

$

17,821,648

(1,185,240)
(2,435,860)

Net difference between projected and actual
inv estment return

1,416,104

Change in proportion and contribution differences

1,138,702

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date

1,523,646

Total

$

22,036,939

(276,349)
$

(3,897,449)

Contributions made subsequent to the measurement date are eligible employer contributions made from
September 1, 2019 through May 31, 2020, totaling $1,523,646, which is reported as deferred outflows of
resources and will be recognized as a reduction in the net pension liability for the year ending May 31,
2021.
Amounts currently reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions, excluding
contributions made subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized in pension expense in the
following years:
Years Ending
May 31,
2021

$

6,772,466

2022

6,087,661

2023

3,010,733

2024

744,984
$

16,615,844

Note 10. Deferred Compensation
The State Bar has no deferred compensation to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020.
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Note 11. Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions
In addition to the pension benefits described in Note 9, ERS provides postemployment health care, life
and dental insurance benefits through the Group Benefits Program in accordance with Chapter 1551,
Texas Insurance Code. This program is governed by the same Board of Trustees who are also responsible
for the defined benefit pension plans.
The State Bar employees participate in the State Retiree Health Plan (SRHP) administered by ERS. SRHP is
a cost-sharing multiple-employer postemployment health care plan with a special funding situation. This
plan covers retired employees of the State and other entities as specified by the State legislature. Benefit
and contribution provisions of SRHP are authorized by state law and may be amended by the Texas
Legislature. Retirees must meet certain age and service requirements and have at least ten years of
service at retirement to participate in the plan. The principal participating employer is the State of Texas.
State agencies and universities employ 188,156, or 80.4%, or the employees covered by the SRHP.
Participating entities are as follows:
State agencies

116

Univ ersities

27

Junior and community colleges

50

Other entities

8

Total participating entities

201

The maximum monthly employer contributions toward eligible retirees’ health and basic life premium are
summarized as follows:
Retiree only

625

Retiree and spouse

1,341

Retiree and children

1,104

Retiree and family

1,820

Retirees pay any premium over and above the employer contribution. The employer does not contribute
toward dental or optional life insurance. Surviving spouses and their dependents do not receive any
employer contribution. As the nonemployer contributing entity, the State of Texas pays part of the
premiums for the junior and community college.
For the measurement period ending August 31, 2019, the amount of the State Bar’s contributions
recognized by SHRP was $3,700,842. Fiscal year 2020 contributions were $3,767,155.
The total OPEB liability is determined by an actuarial valuation. The methods and assumptions applied in
the actuarial valuation were based on an experience study covering the five-year period from
September 1, 2011 through August 31, 2016, for state agency members and for the period September 1,
2010 through August 31, 2014, for higher education members.
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The table below presents the actuarial methods and assumptions used to measure the total OPEB liability
as of the August 31, 2019:
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions
ERS Plan
Actuarial v aluation date

August 31, 2019

Actuarial cost method

Entry age

Actuarial assumptions:
Discount rate

2.97%

Inflation

2.50%

Salary increase

2.50% to 9.05%, including inflation

Annual health care trend rate

7.30% for FY2021, 7.40% for FY2022, 7.00% for FY2023, decreasing 0.50%
per year to an ultimate rate of 4.50% for FY2028 and later years

Retirement age

Experience based tables of rates that are specific to employee class

Mortality:
State agency members:
Serv ice retirees, surv iv ors and
other inactiv e members

2017 State Retirees of Texas Mortality table with a one year set forward
for male CPO/CO members and Ultimate MP Projection Scale
projected from the year 2017

Disabled retirees

RP-2014 Disabled Retiree mortality with Ultimate MP Projection Scale
projected from the year 2014

Activ e members

RP-2014 Activ e Member Mortality tables for male and female with
Ultimate MP Projection Scale projected from the year 2014

Ad hoc postemployment benefit changes

None

The following benefit revision has been adopted effective January 1, 2019, since the prior valuation for
retirees and dependents for whom Medicare is not the primary, an increase in the out-of-pocket
maximum for both HealthSelect and Consumer Directed HealthSelect for individuals and families in order
to remain consistent with Internal Revenue Service maximums.
Calculations are based on the benefit provided under the terms of the substantive plan in effect at the
time of each valuation, and on the pattern of sharing of cost between the employer and plan members
to that point. The projection of benefits for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly incorporate the
potential effect of legal or contractual funding limitations on the pattern of cost sharing between the
employer and plan members in the future.
The discount rate that was used to measure the total OPEB liability is the municipal bond rate of 2.97% for
the measurement date ending August 31, 2019, as compared to a discount rate of 3.69% as of the
beginning of the measurement period. The source of the municipal bond rate is the Bond Buyer Index of
general obligation bonds with 20 years to maturity and mixed credit quality. The bonds’ average credit
quality is roughly equivalent to Moody’s Investors Service’s Aa2 rating and Standard & Poor’s AA.
Projected cash flows into the plan are equal to projected benefit payments out of the plan. As the plan
operates on a pay-as-you-go basis and is not intended to accumulate assets, there is no long-term
expected rate of return.
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Sensitivity analysis was performed on the impact of changes in the discount rate on the proportionate
share of State Bar’s net OPEB liability. The result of the analysis is presented in the table below:
1% Decrease

Rate

1% Increase

1.97%

2.97%

3.97%

State Bar's proportionate share of net
OPEB liability

$

51,510,470

$

43,166,005

$

36,745,242

The initial healthcare trend rate is 7.3% and the ultimate rate is 4.5%. The sensitivity of the net OPEB liability
to changes in the discount rate and health care trend rate is summarized below:
Current Health
1% Decrease

Care Cost Trend

1% Increase

(6.3%, Decreasing Rates Decreasing (8.3%, Decreasing
to 3.5%)

to 4.5%)

to 5.5%)

State Bar's proportionate share of the
net OPEB liability

$

36,246,113

$

43,166,005

$

52,208,720

The SHRP is a pay-as-you-go plan and does not accumulate funds in advance of retirement. The ERS’
board of trustees adopted the amendment to the investment policy in August 2017 to require that all
funds in this plan be invested in short-term fixed income securities and specify that the expected rate of
return on these investments is 2.4%.
More detailed information on SHRP may be obtained from ERS’ fiscal 2019 CAFR:
Employees Retirement System of Texas
P.O. Box 13207
Austin, Texas 78711-3207
www.ers.texas.gov
At May 31, 2020, the State Bar’s recognized a total OPEB liability of $43,166,005 for its proportionate share
of the collective total OPEB liability. The State Bar’s proportionate share of the total OPEB liability was
0.12489197% in fiscal year 2020, as compared to the 0.12339085% in the prior fiscal year, and was based
on contributions to the OPEB plan relative to the contributions of all employers and the nonemployer
contributing entity for the period.
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At August 31, 2019, the State Bar’s reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources from the following sources:
Deferred

Difference between expected and actual experience

Deferred

Outflows of

Inflows of

Resources

Resources

$

-

Change in proportionate share and contribution difference

2,341,445

Changes of assumptions

3,071,895

Net difference between projected and actual inv estment return
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Total

$

$

(1,123,218)
(9,645,965)

17,747

-

2,833,929

-

8,265,016

$

(10,769,183)

Contributions made subsequent to the measurement date are eligible employer contributions made from
September 1, 2019 through May 31, 2020, totaling $2,833,929, which is reported as deferred outflows of
resources and will be recognized as a reduction in the total OPEB liability for the year ending
May 31, 2021.
Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in
OPEB expense in the following years:
Years Ended
May 31,
2021

$

(2,445,571)

2022

(2,445,571)

2023

(1,262,001)

2024

252,008

2025

563,039
$

54
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Note 12. Interfund Balances/Activities
During the course of operations, numerous transactions occurred between individual funds for goods
provided or services rendered. These receivables and payables are classified as due from other funds or
due to other funds. The composition of interfund balances as of May 31, 2020, is as follows:
Receiv able Fund

Payable Fund

Amount

General Fund

Nonmajor gov ernmental funds

$

917,035

General Fund

Sections and Div ision

198,828

General Fund

Fiduciary Fund - SBOTIT Priv ate-Purpose Trust Fund

110,756

Sections and Div isions

General Fund

1,048,500

Nonmajor gov ernmental funds

General Fund

97,803

Texas Bar Books

General Fund

369,774

Agency Fund

General Fund

762,136

Total

$

3,504,832

During the year, the General Fund transferred $1,738,800 to nonmajor governmental funds to supplement
operations and to fund claims, technology projects and future renovations to the Texas Law Center.

Note 13. Continuance Subject to Review
The State Bar is subject to the Texas Sunset Act (Chapter 325). Subsequent to May 31, 2016, the revised
State Bar Act was approved (Texas Gov. Code section 81.001 et. seq.), which recreated the State Bar
until September 1, 2029, and thereafter, contingent upon the State of Texas legislature and the Supreme
Court of Texas.
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Note 14. Adjustments to Net Position
During the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020, an error reported in OPEB related contributions made after
the measurement date was identified in the previously issued May 31, 2019 audited financial statements,
which caused an understatement of deferred outflows – OPEB related, for governmental and businesstype activities. As a result, governmental and business-type activities beginning net positions increased
by $2,503,470 and $159,796, respectively.
Additionally, there were other miscellaneous misstatements in the previously issued May 31, 2019 audited
financial statements that were not previously recorded that are included in the restatement of beginning
fund balances and not positions as well, as noted below.

Beginning balance, as prev iously reported

$

Sections and

Gov ernmental

General

Div isions

Activ ities

Activ ities

Fund Balance

Fund Balance

Net Position

Net Position

(Deficit)

(Deficit)

(Deficit)

(Deficit)

17,749,877

$

8,224,349

$

(59,270,681)

Business-Type

$

(4,812,025)

Misstatement of deferred outflows OPEB related amounts
Misstatement of accounts receiv able
Misstatement of prepaid expenses

-

-

-

6,553

2,503,470

159,796

6,553

(6,732)
-

(54,625)

-

(54,625)

Misstatement of capital lease liabilities

-

-

(93,100)

-

Misstatement of deferred rent

-

-

(155,940)

-

(35,502)

-

(35,502)

-

(90,127)

6,553

Misstatement of deferred rev enue
Total prior period adjustment
Beginning balance, as restated

$

17,659,750

$

8,230,902

2,170,856
$

(57,099,825)

153,064
$

(4,658,961)

Note 15. Contingencies and Commitments
The State Bar has no contingencies or commitments to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020.

Note 16. Subsequent Events
Management evaluated the need for disclosures and/or adjustments resulting from subsequent events
through November 20, 2020, the date the financial statements were available to be issued.
There are no subsequent events that necessitate disclosure and/or adjustments.

Note 17. Risk Management
The State Bar is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees and natural disasters. The State Bar purchases
commercial insurance to cover risks associated with potential claims. For the fiscal year ended May 31,
2020, there were no significant reductions in coverage in the past fiscal year, and there were no
settlements exceeding insurance coverage.
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Health, Life and Dental
Insurance coverage is provided to active state employees and their dependents by one of three health
plan administrators. State Bar employees are included in the Texas Employees Group Benefits Program
(GBP) administered by the ERS, whose risk of loss is retained with self-insured plans or transferred to the
insurance carrier with health maintenance organization (HMO) plans.
Texas Employees Group Benefits Program
Claims for health, life, accidental death and dismemberment, disability and dental insurance coverages
are established under the GBP. These coverages are provided through a combination of insurance
contracts, a self-funded health plan, a self- funded dental indemnity plan, HMO contracts and dental
health maintenance organizations contracts.

Note 18. Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)
See pages 3-14 for MD&A.

Note 19. The Financial Reporting Entity
See pages 28-38.

Note 20. Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability
The State Bar had none to report.

Note 21. Placeholder Note
Note 22. Donor-Restricted Endowments
The State Bar has no donor-restricted endowments to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020.

Note 23. Extraordinary and Special Items

The State Bar has no extraordinary or special items to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020.

57

Case 4:21-cv-02829 Document 12-1 Filed on 01/24/22 in TXSD Page 61 of 81
State Bar of Texas
Notes to the Financial Statements
Note 24. Disaggregation of Receivable Balances
The State Bar had other accounts receivable at May 31, 2020, which consisted of the following:
General Fund
Clerk of the Supreme Court

$

Refundable Deposits - W eW ork

1,877,370
21,540

Texas Center for Legal Ethics

169,782

Texas Supreme Court Historical Society

45,904

Texas Bar Foundation

192

Other

313,703
2,428,491

Sections and Div isions
Family Law Royalties

89,824

Law Business Research

52,000

Other

98,378
240,202

Nonmajor gov ernmental funds
Refundable deposits

6,943

Other

35
6,978

Total

$

2,675,671

Note 25. Termination Benefits
The State Bar has no termination benefits to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020.

Note 26. Component Unit – State Bar of Texas Insurance Trust and Affiliate Agreement between
Primary Government and Component Unit
The Trust entered into a professional services agreement on April 14, 2016. Under this agreement, the State
Bar established and maintains a private insurance exchange through which qualified insurance
companies can market and sell their products to members of the State Bar. The Trust offers insurance
coverage to members of the State Bar and have been allowed to participate in the State Bar private
insurance exchange since inception in October 2013. This agreement provides for the payment of an
initial fee of $687,000 and an annual fee of $250,000 thereafter, paid quarterly beginning June 1, 2016, by
the Trust to the State Bar in exchange for the State Bar’s professional services.
Contributions of Subscribers and Premiums to Insurance Carrier
Contributions of subscribers, as required by the Program, are credited to net position. In turn, premiums
for insurance coverage are charged against net position and are payable to the insurance carrier, in
accordance with applicable policy provisions, in amounts based on rates established by the carrier.
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Royalties
Royalties are received from an administration agreement between the Trust and Business Planning
Concepts, Inc. (dba Member Benefits), whereby Member Benefits provides administrative duties
pertaining to the insurance program offered by the Trust. Royalty income is recognized when Member
Benefits collect the premiums.
Commissions
Effective January 2, 2014, the Trust entered into a purchase and sales agreement with Member Benefits.
Under this agreement, the Trust agreed to sell its book of medical insurance business and its Affiliate
agreed to sell its book of individual and small group medical insurance business to Member Benefits for a
purchase price equal to 15% of revenues received in connection with the books of business. Monthly
payments related to this agreement began on February 15, 2014, and will continue monthly for a total of
72 months. Commission revenue is recognized when Member Benefits receive the commissions related to
the sold insurance policies.
Rental income
Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of each lease.
Service Agreement Revenue
The Trust recognizes service revenue when expenses are incurred that require a withdrawal from the
premium stabilization fund.
Income Taxes
The Trust and Agency are subject to the Texas gross margin tax. The Trust files a United States federal
income tax return.
Description of the Program
The Trust Program is a plan sponsor for association group insurance which provides for group term life,
long-term disability, office overhead and personal accident benefits. The Trust Program, including all
benefit charges are fully insured through contracts with Prudential. The Trust Program has no benefit
obligations outstanding as of May 31, 2020.
Program Terminations
In the event the Program terminates, the net position of the Program will be allocated, as prescribed by
the Trust Agreement, to provide the following benefits in the order indicated:
1. To liquidate all obligations of the Program;
2. To continue insurance on all those insured to the extent possible; and
3. To be applied to either the benefit of those insured or paid directly to the insured.
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Contributions
At the option of each subscriber, contributions from insured employees may be required to defray the
cost of providing insurance under a policy.
Reserve for Premium Stabilization
The underwriter of the Program, Prudential, maintains a premium stabilization reserve on behalf of the
Trust. The reserve’s purpose is to equalize the net premium cost to the Trust and, thus, minimize fluctuations
in premium cost from year-to-year by reason of variation in claim experience. Together, these funds
comprise the reserve for premium stabilization.
The premium stabilization fund represents the accumulation of (a) premiums paid in excess of claims and
other charges and (b) interest credited to the funds. This fund is used under the terms of each contract
for the payment of claims, expenses and other charges under the contract in any policy year in which
such claims, expenses and other charges exceed the amount of premiums paid by the Trust. Interest is
earned on the reserve at rates determined annually by the underwriters.
The Program year under the contract with Prudential is June 1 through May 31. The stabilization fund
totaled $2,270,990.
In the event of termination of the insurance contract, balances, if any, remaining in the reserve after final
adjustments, payment of claims, expenses, and other contractual changes would be paid to the Trust as
return of premiums. The Trust is not liable for any deficit in the premium stabilization reserve.

Note 27. Service Concession Arrangements
The State Bar has no service concession arrangements to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020.

Note 28. Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
See page 50 and 54.

Note 29. Troubled Debt Restructuring
The State Bar has no troubled debt restructurings to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020.

Note 30. Nonexchange Financial Guarantees
The State Bar has no nonexchange financial guarantees to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020.

Note 31. Tax Abatements
The State Bar has no tax abatements to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2020.

Note 32. Governmental Fund Balances
See page 37.
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Year Ended May 31, 2020
Variance
Positive

Budgeted Amounts
Original

Final

Actual

(Negative)

REVENUES
Membership dues

$

20,783,246

$

20,783,246

$

21,109,358

$

326,112

Accounting and management fees

650,351

650,351

650,351

-

Texas bar journal

629,878

629,878

632,032

2,154

MCLE fees

3,257,183

3,257,183

3,376,884

119,701

13,955,703

13,955,703

13,628,029

(327,674)

Minority affairs

350,000

350,000

482,478

132,478

Inv estment income

350,000

350,000

939,126

589,126

Member benefits

844,909

844,909

872,804

27,895

W ebsite

405,000

405,000

586,256

181,256

Adv ertising rev iew

380,000

380,000

329,300

(50,700)

CDC disciplinary fees

553,240

553,240

567,182

13,942

Other income

949,704

949,704

948,966

43,109,214

43,109,214

44,122,766

1,013,552

Office of executiv e director

670,896

670,896

629,331

41,565

Associate executiv e director/legal counsel

661,868

661,868

593,964

67,904

Deputy executiv e director

226,500

226,500

213,874

12,626

Deputy Executiv e Director/External affairs

261,955

261,955

248,516

13,439

Special financial adv isor

193,491

193,491

129,675

63,816

Officers and directors

850,117

850,117

721,404

128,713

Human resources

294,760

294,760

294,737

23

71,133

71,133

51,027

20,106

3,230,720

3,230,720

2,882,528

348,192

Member and public serv ices div ision director

154,037

154,037

143,553

10,484

Center for legal history

512,851

512,851

488,232

24,619

Law related education

173,238

173,238

166,298

6,940

1,010,999

1,010,999

792,420

218,579

Professional dev elopment

Total rev enues

(738)

EXPENDITURES
Executiv e

Training/Tuition
Total executiv e
Member and Public Serv ices

Gov ernmental relations
Texas young lawyers association

98,672

98,672

89,304

9,368

Sections

335,660

335,660

334,339

1,321

Local bars

455,312

455,312

375,920

79,392

Special ev ents

73,604

73,604

46,700

26,904

Law student department

20,266

20,266

10,556

9,710

280,510

280,510

259,897

20,613

3,115,149

3,115,149

2,707,219

407,930

9,950,513

9,950,513

8,713,851

1,236,662

498,601

498,601

598,852

SBOT v olunteer committees
Total member and public serv ices
Professional dev elopment
TexasBarCLE
Minority affairs
Total professional dev elopment

$

10,449,114
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$

10,449,114

$

9,312,703

(100,251)
$

1,136,411
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Variance
Positive

Budgeted Amounts
Original

Final

Actual

(Negative)

EXPENDITURES (continued)
Legal and Attorney Serv ices
Legal and attorney serv ices director

$

Texas lawyers assistance program

229,745

$

229,745

$

224,848

$

4,897

401,146

401,146

382,370

18,776

1,521,608

1,521,608

1,373,965

147,643

2,152,499

2,152,499

1,981,183

171,316

840,127

840,127

626,729

213,398

840,127

840,127

626,729

213,398

Member benefits

203,463

203,463

31,561

171,902

Research and analysis

179,700

179,700

172,210

7,490

383,163

383,163

203,771

179,392

Legal access div ision
Total legal and attorney serv ices
Access to justice commission
Total Access to Justice Commission
Member benefits and research analysis

Total member benefits and research analysis
Attorney compliance
Office of attorney compliance director

181,703

181,703

181,284

419

Adv ertising rev iew

183,126

183,126

143,217

39,909

Client attorney assistance program

545,835

545,835

542,598

3,237

Lawyer referral

361,847

361,847

369,200

(7,353)

MCLE

603,280

603,280

619,944

(16,664)

1,875,791

1,875,791

1,856,243

19,548

1,258,803

1,258,803

1,263,683

(4,880)

1,258,803

1,258,803

1,263,683

(4,880)

(33,956)

Total attorney compliance
Operations and security div ision
Purchasing and facilities
Total operations and security div ision
Finance
Accounting

946,709

946,709

980,665

Membership

706,016

706,016

670,867

Other administrativ e

1,836,698

1,836,698

1,951,084

(114,386)

Total finance

3,489,423

3,489,423

3,602,616

(113,193)

1,317,699

1,317,699

1,068,381

249,318

376,826

376,826

392,960

1,694,525

1,694,525

1,461,341

35,149

Information technology
Information technology
Customer serv ice
Total information technology

(16,134)
233,184

Communications
Office of communications director
Texas bar journal

254,629

254,629

247,721

1,212,173

1,212,173

1,310,104

6,908
(97,931)

Public information/Printing and Graphics

455,610

455,610

435,926

19,684

W eb management

412,484

412,484

366,714

45,770

Total communications

$

2,334,896

63

$

2,334,896

$

2,360,465

$

(25,569)
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Positive

Budgeted Amounts
Original

Final

Actual

(Negative)

EXPENDITURES (continued)
Public protection
Chief disciplinary counsel

$

Griev ance ov ersight committee
Unauthorized practice of law
Professional ethics commission
Board of disciplinary appeals
Total public protection

9,942,758

$

9,942,758

$

9,881,600

$

61,158

48,800

48,800

45,549

3,251

170,000

170,000

112,588

57,412

12,000

12,000

8,943

3,057

622,646

622,646

597,668

24,978

10,796,204

10,796,204

10,646,348

149,856

Expenditures related to Board commitments
Texas student loan repayment assistance program

515,000

515,000

515,000

-

Texas opportunity and justice incubator program

571,088

81,948

81,948

-

Presidential initiativ es

126,641

15,436

15,436

-

Statewide pro-bono recruitment campaign

148,161

6,186

6,186

-

44,251

44,251

44,251

-

LAD 2018 board commitments
Referendum reserv e

100,000

-

-

Runoff election reserv e

70,000

-

-

-

Professionalism and ethics initiativ es

11,943

448

448

-

Archiv es digitization project

75,500

12,000

12,000

-

Law related education projects

79,500

73,321

73,321

-

1,742,084

748,590

748,590

-

43,362,498

42,369,004

39,653,419

2,715,585

740,210

4,469,347

3,729,137

Total expenditures related to Board commitments
Total expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of rev enues ov er (under)
expenditures

(253,284)

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in (out) to:
Building & Equipment Fund

(388,800)

(388,800)

(388,800)

-

Technology Fund

(650,000)

(650,000)

(650,000)

-

Client Security Fund

(700,000)

(700,000)

(700,000)

-

Total other financing sources (uses)

(1,738,800)

(1,738,800)

(1,738,800)

-

Net change in fund balances

(1,992,084)

(998,590)

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year, as restated

17,659,750

FUND BALANCE, end of year

$

15,667,666

64

2,730,547

17,659,750
$

16,661,160

3,729,137

17,659,750
$

20,390,297

$

3,729,137
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Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual – General Fund
Year Ended May 31, 2020
Note 1. Basis of Presentation
The State Bar adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund. The State Bar’s budget is
prepared annually by the Executive Director and is reviewed by the budget committee of the Board. The
budget passes several stages of review, including a public hearing, adoption by the Board and approval
by the Supreme Court of Texas. The budget may be amended at any meeting of the Board, but the
amendments made are subject to the approval of the Supreme Court of Texas. Variances from budgeted
revenues and expenditures are analyzed by management, the finance committee, the executive
committee and the Board. Regulations do not prohibit the State Bar from having unfavorable variances.
The State Bar is not legally required to adopt a budget for Sections and Divisions, which is listed as a major
Special Revenue Fund and, therefore, a budget compared to actual is not included.
The State Bar’s budget for the General Fund is prepared using the GAAP basis of accounting.
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Schedule of Changes in State Bar’s Proportionate Share of
Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios
August 31,

Measurement date

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

August 31, 2019

August 31, 2018

August 31, 2017

August 31, 2016

August 31, 2015

August 31, 2014

0.2911198%

0.28934813%

0.27637361%

0.27324143%

0.29402350%

0.30057126%

State Bar's proportionate share of the net pension liability
State Bar's proportionate share of the net pension
liability balance at August 31
State Bar's cov ered payroll*
State Bar's proportionate share of the net pension

$

87,292,720

$

58,442,218

$

60,427,988

$

53,984,064

$

39,006,462

$

43,465,009

$

20,225,911

$

22,361,932

$

20,632,468

$

19,977,021

$

19,590,734

$

19,402,731

431.59%

261.36%

292.88%

27023.00%

199.11%

224.01%

47.70%

57.89%

54.67%

55.32%

64.40%

63.40%

liability as a percentage of cov ered payroll
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total
pension liability

* The covered payroll is the payroll of employees that are provided with pension through the pension plan for each plan year,
the measurement period.
The schedule of changes in State Bar’s proportionate share of net position liability and related ratio disclosure is required for ten years.
The schedule noted above is only for the years for which the new GASB statements have been implemented.
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Schedule of Employer Contributions – Net Pension Liability
Contributions
in Relation to

Contributions

Fiscal Years

Actuarially

the Actuarially

Contribution

Ended

Determined

Determined

Deficiency

Covered

of Covered

May 31,

Contributions

Contributions

(Excess)

Payroll

Payroll

2020

$

2,040,744

$

2,040,744

-

as a Percentage

$

20,727,003

9.85%

2019

2,027,891

2,027,891

-

21,023,817

9.65%

2018

2,482,803

2,482,803

-

20,638,696

12.03%

2017

2,371,089

2,371,089

-

19,794,416

11.98%

2016

2,293,610

2,293,610

-

19,507,265

11.76%

2015

1,845,751

1,845,751

-

19,427,203

9.50%
8.75%

2014

1,665,702

1,665,702

-

19,032,960

2013

1,376,433

1,376,433

-

18,584,172

7.41%

2012

1,341,923

1,341,923

-

17,763,494

7.55%

2011

1,373,078

1,373,078

-

16,932,249

8.11%
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Notes to Net Pension Liability
May 31, 2020
Note 1. Changes of Benefit Terms – Pension Plan
For the year ended August 31, 2015, during the most recent legislative session, the Texas Legislature
enacted House Bill 9 (HB-9). HB-9 increased the member contribution rate for ERF members to 9.5% of
member’s compensation for service after August 31, 2015. HB-9 also eliminated the 90-day waiting period
to become a member of ERF and LECOSRF. In conjunction with HB-9, the State’s contribution
appropriation to ERF also increased to 9.5% of pay.
For the years ended August 31, 2014 through 2019, there were no changes to the plan provisions.

Note 2. Changes of Assumptions – Pension Plan
For the year ended August 31, 2019, other than the difference in the discount rate decrease to 4.42%, all
other actuarial methods and assumptions are the same for both funding and financial reporting purposes.
For the year ended August 31, 2018, other than the difference in the discount rate increase to 5.69%, all
other actuarial methods and assumptions are the same for both funding and financial reporting purposes.
For the year ended August 31, 2017, the following assumptions have been changed since the previous
pension valuation:


Decrease the investment return assumption from 8.0% to 7.5%



Decrease the inflation assumption from 3.5% to 2.5%



Establish a general wage inflation assumption of 0.5% above inflation, or 3.0%



Mortality assumptions updated from 1994 Group Annuity Mortality table to most recently published
national tables, RP-2014 Mortality tables for employees and disability retirees



Modified the application of Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method from Ultimate EAN, the
normal cost rate based on the benefits payable to a new member and the entry age
characteristics of the current active membership, to individual EAN which bases the normal cost
rate on benefits payable to each individual active member

For the years ended August 31, 2014, 2015, and 2016, other than the difference in the discount rate
(6.07% for 2014, 6.86% for 2015 and 5.73% in 2016), all other actuarial methods and assumptions are the
same for both funding and financial reporting purposes.

68

Case 4:21-cv-02829 Document 12-1 Filed on 01/24/22 in TXSD Page 72 of 81
State Bar of Texas
Schedule of Changes in State Bar’s Proportionate Share of
Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

Measurement date

August 31,

August 31,

2020

2019

August 31, 2019 August 31, 2018

State Bar's proportionate share of the OPEB liability

0.12489197%

0.12339085%

State Bar's proportionate share of the total OPEB liability balance at August 31

$

43,166,005

$

36,570,262

State Bar's covered payroll*

$

15,386,726

$

14,865,101

State Bar's proportionate share of the total OPEB liability as a percentage of its
covered payroll
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total OPEB liability

280.54%

246.01%

0.17%

1.27%

* The covered payroll is the payroll of employees that are provided with OEPB through the OPEB plan for each plan year,
the measurement period.
The schedule of changes in State Bar’s proportionate share of total OPEB liability and related ratio disclosure is required for ten years.
The schedule noted above is only for the years for which the new GASB statements have been implemented.
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State Bar of Texas
Schedule of Employer Contributions – Total OPEB Liability
Contributions
Fiscal Years

Actuarially

in Relation to
the Actuarially

Ended

Determined

Determined

Deficiency

Covered

of Covered

May 31,

Contributions

Contributions

(Excess)

Payroll

Payroll

$

$

2020
2019
2018
2017
2016
2015

3,700,842
1,016,477
976,371
895,157
763,559
636,780

3,700,842
1,016,477
976,371
895,157
763,559
636,780

Contribution

$

-

Contributions
as a Percentage

$ 20,727,003
21,023,817
20,638,696
19,794,416
19,507,265
19,427,203

17.86%
4.83%
4.73%
4.52%
3.91%
3.28%

The information disclosed for each fiscal year is reported as of the fiscal year-end date.
The information for all periods for the ten year schedules that are required to be presented as required supplementary information
is not available. During this transition period, the information will be presented for as many years as are available.
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Notes to OPEB Liability
May 31, 2020
Note 1. Changes of Benefit Terms – OPEB Plan
For the year ended August 31, 2019, there were no changes to the benefit terms.
For the year ended August 31, 2018, the following benefit revisions have been adopted since the prior
valuation for retirees and dependents for whom Medicare is not primary is an increase in the out-ofpocket maximum for both HealthSelect and Consumer Directed HealthSelect plans.
For the year ended August 31, 2017, the following benefit revisions have been adopted since the prior
valuation: (a) an increase in the out-of-pocket cost applicable to services obtained at a free-standing
emergency facility, (b) an elimination of the copayment for virtual visits, (c) a copay reduction for Airrosti
and for out-of-state participants and (d) elimination of the deductible for in-network services and
application of a copayment rather than coinsurance to certain services like primary care and specialist
visits. These minor benefit changes have been reflected in the fiscal year 2018 Assumed Per Capita Health
Benefit Costs.
For the year ended August 31, 2016, the following benefit revisions have been adopted since the prior
valuation: (a) an increase in the overall annual out-of-pocket maximum in accordance with the
requirements of the Affordable Care Act (ACA) (effective January 1, 2017) and (b) implementation of
(i) a program under which HealthSelect participants can consult with a licensed physician from their
mobile device and (ii) an online weight-loss program available to eligible HealthSelect participants not
enrolled in Medicare Part B. These minor benefit changes have been reflected in the fiscal year 2017
Assumed Per Capita Health Benefit Costs. These changes became effective September 1, 2016 (except
as noted) and are incorporated into this valuation in accordance with Question Number 49 of the
Guide to Implementation of GASB Statements No. 43 and No. 45 on Other Postemployment Benefits.
For the year ended August 31, 2015, the following benefit revisions have been adopted since the prior
valuation: (a) an increase to the total network annual out-of-pocket maximum, (b) an elimination of the
requirement for referrals in order to see ophthalmologists and optometrists, (c) a copay reduction for a
mental health office visit and (d) effective January 1, 2016, the inclusion of medical and pharmacy
deductibles, coinsurance and copays in the total network out-of-pocket maximum. These changes
became effective September 1, 2015 (unless otherwise noted) and are incorporated into this valuation in
accordance with Question Number 49 of the Guide to Implementation of GASB Statements No. 43 and
No. 45 on Other Postemployment Benefits. These minor benefit changes have been reflected in the fiscal
year 2016 Assumed Per Capita Health Benefit Costs.
For the year ended August 31, 2014, the following benefit revisions have been adopted since the prior
valuation: (a) implementation of an overall annual out-of-pocket maximum in accordance with the
requirements of the ACA, (b) mental health benefit changes; (c) benefit enhancements for hearing aids
and breast pumps and (d) copay reductions for generic prescription drugs. These changes became
effective September 1, 2014 (except for the out-of-pocket maximum, which becomes effective
January 1, 2015) and are incorporated into this valuation in accordance with Question Number 49 of the
Guide to Implementation of GASB Statements No. 43 and No. 45 on Other Postemployment Benefits. The
new benefit provisions are expected to have no impact on the employer’s cost.
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May 31, 2020
Note 2. Changes of Assumptions – OPEB Plan
For the year ended August 31, 2019, the following assumptions have been changed since the previous
OPEB valuation:


The discount rate assumption was decreased from 3.96% to 2.97% as a result of requirements by
GASB No. 74 to utilize the yield or index rate for 20-year, tax-exempt general obligation municipal
bonds rated AA/Aa (or equivalent) or higher in effect on the measurement date.



Assumed Expenses, assumed Per Capita Health Benefit Costs and assumed Health Benefit Cost,
Retiree Contribution and Expense trends have been updated to reflect recent experience and its
effects on short-term expectations.



The percentage of current retirees and their spouses not yet eligible to participate in the
HealthSelect Medicare Advantage Plan and future retirees and their spouses who will elect to
participate in the plan at the earliest date at which coverage can commence, the percentage
of future retirees assumed to be married and electing coverage for their spouse, and the
percentage of future retirees and future retiree spouses assumed to use tobacco have been
updated to reflect recent plan experience and expected trends.

For the year ended August 31, 2018, the following assumptions have been changed since the previous
OPEB valuation:


Demographic assumptions (including rates of retirement, disability, termination, mortality and
assumed salary increases) for higher education members have been updated to reflect
assumptions recently adopted by the trustees from TRS.



Assumed Expenses, assumed Per Capita Health Benefit Costs and assumed Health Benefit Cost,
Retiree Contribution and Expense trends have been updated to reflect recent experience and its
effects on short-term expectations.



The percentage of current retirees and their spouses not yet eligible to participate in the
HealthSelect Medicare Advantage Plan and future retirees and their spouses who will elect to
participate in the plan at the earliest date at which coverage can commence and the
percentage of future retirees assumed to be married and electing coverage for their spouse have
been updated to reflect recent plan experience and expected trends.



The discount rate assumption was increased from 3.51% to 3.96% as a result of requirements by
GASB No. 74 to utilize the yield or index rate for 20-year, tax-exempt general obligation municipal
bonds rated AA/Aa (or equivalent) or higher in effect on the measurement date.

For the year ended August 31, 2017, the following assumptions have been changed since the previous
OPEB valuation:


Additional demographic assumptions (aggregate payroll increases and rate of general inflation)
to reflect an experience study.



The percentage of current and future retirees and retirees spouses not yet eligible to participate
in the HealthSelect Medicare Advantage Plan who will elect to participate at the earliest date at
which coverage can commence has been updated to reflect recent plan experience and
expected trends.
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Notes to OPEB Liability
May 31, 2020


Assumptions for administrative expenses, assumed per Capita Health Benefit Costs, Health Benefit
Cost and Retiree Contribution trends to reflect recent health plan experience.



Effects in short-term expectations and revised assumed rate of general inflation.



For the year ended August 31, 2016, the following assumptions have been changed since the
previous OPEB valuation:



Assumed Expenses, assumed Per Capita Health Benefit Costs and assumed Health Benefit Cost
and Retiree Contribution Trends have been updated to reflect recent experience and its effects
on our short-term expectations.



The percentage of future retirees electing to participate in the HealthSelect Medicare Advantage
program at the earliest date at which coverage can commence.



The proportion of future retirees covering dependent children and the percentage of future
retirees and retiree spouses assumed to use tobacco have been updated to reflect recent plan
experience and expected trends.

For the year ended August 31, 2015, the following assumptions have been changed since the previous
OPEB valuation:


The Assumed Per Capita Health Benefit Costs and Assumed Expenses for retirees and dependents
have been updated to reflect recent health plan experience.



The percentage of future retirees electing to participate in the HealthSelect Medicare Advantage
program at the earliest date at which coverage can commence has been updated to reflect
recent plan experience and expected trends.



Assumed salary increases and rates of mortality, termination, disability and retirement for Higher
Education members were updated to remain consistent with the assumptions, which were
adopted by the TRS board earlier this year for use by the TRS retirement plan actuary; and the
Health Benefit Cost and Retiree Contribution Trends have been updated to reflect changes in
short-term expectations due to recent health plan experience. The following benefit revisions have
been adopted since the prior valuation: (a) an increase to the total network annual out-of-pocket
maximum, an elimination of the requirement for referrals in order to see ophthalmologists and
optometrists, a copay reduction for a mental health office visit and (d) effective January 1, 2016,
the inclusion of medical and pharmacy deductibles, coinsurance and copays in the total network
out-of-pocket maximum. These changes became effective September 1, 2015 (unless otherwise
noted) and are incorporated into this valuation in accordance with Question Number 49 of the
Guide to Implementation of GASB Statements No. 43 and No. 45 on Other Postemployment
Benefits. These minor benefit changes have been reflected in the fiscal year 2016 Assumed Per
Capita Health Benefit Costs.
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Notes to OPEB Liability
May 31, 2020
For the year ended August 31, 2014, the following assumptions have been changed since the
previous OPEB valuation:


The Assumed Per Capita Health Benefit Costs and Assumed Expenses for retirees and dependents
have been updated to reflect recent health plan experience.



The percentage of future retirees electing coverage for their spouses, the percentage of future
retirees electing to participate in the HealthSelect Medicare Advantage program at the earliest
date at which coverage can commence and the percentage of future retirees assumed to use
tobacco have been updated to reflect recent plan experience and expected trends.



Assumed rates of retirements for Higher Education members who are not grandfathered under
current TRS Care eligibility provisions as of August 31, 2014, were updated to remain consistent with
the assumptions used by the TRS retirement plan actuary.



The Health Benefit Cost and Retiree Contribution Trends have been updated to reflect changes
in short-term expectations due to recent health plan experience.
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Other Supplemental Information
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State Bar of Texas
Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Governmental Funds
May 31, 2020
Texas Board

Hatton W.

of Legal

Texas

Client

Texas

Project

Sumners

Total
Law

Department

Nonmajor

Specialization

Bar

Annual

Security

Law

Technology

Grants

Grants

Focused

of Public

Governmental

Fund

College

Meeting

Fund

Center

Fund

Fund

Fund

Education

Service

Funds

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equiv alents - cash in bank

$ 2,435,034

Inv estments

$

426,419

-

-

-

-

$

514,630

$

32,572

$

116,547

$

-

$

-

$

345,831

$

-

$

-

$

3,871,033

-

3,169,812

4,405,797

-

-

-

-

-

7,575,609

-

20,087

16,654

-

-

-

-

-

36,741

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

6,978

Receiv ables
Interest receiv able
Other accounts receiv able

6,943

Due from other gov ernmental funds
Prepaid items
TOTAL ASSETS

35

-

-

-

-

-

33,286

54,517

-

10,000

-

97,803

11,120

1,000

67,722

-

-

226,648

-

-

-

-

306,490

$ 2,453,097

$

$

$

427,454

$

582,352

$ 3,222,471

$ 4,538,998

$

$

$

$

259,934

$

54,517

$

$

-

$

345,831

$

10,000

$

-

$ 11,894,654

$

-

$

-

$

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Current liabilities
Accounts Payable
Accrued liabilities
Due to other gov ernmental funds
Unearned rev enue
Total liabilities

251,307
251,307

-

$

-

563

255

42,600

121,972

161,473

79,484

204,636

201,711

405,102
405,102

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

45,848

-

-

50,206

-

-

54,517

295,625

45,848

-

54,517

345,831

-

-

-

818

-

-

917,035

10,000

-

601,099

10,000

-

1,518,952

Fund balances
Nonspendable
Committed
Total fund balances
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

11,120

1,000

67,722

226,648

-

-

-

-

306,490

2,190,670

221,818

312,919

2,817,369

4,493,150

33,286

-

-

-

-

10,069,212

2,201,790

222,818

380,641

2,817,369

4,493,150

259,934

-

-

-

-

10,375,702

582,352

$ 3,222,471

$ 4,538,998

-

$ 11,894,654

$ 2,453,097

$

427,454

$

-

-

76

$

259,934

$

54,517

$

345,831

$

10,000

$
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Texas Board

Hatton W.

of Legal

Texas

Client

Texas

Project

Sumners

Total
Law

Department

Nonmajor

Specialization

Bar

Annual

Security

Law

Technology

Grants

Grants

Focused

of Public

Governmental

Fund

College

Meeting

Fund

Center

Fund

Fund

Fund

Education

Service

Funds

REVENUES
Membership dues
Inv estment income
Grant rev enue
Other income
Total rev enues

$ 1,205,985

$

-

$

-

34,825

3,911

5,919

-

-

-

$

-

$

189,114

-

$

205,061

-

-

-

$

-

-

-

-

55,000

$

-

$

115
276,106
-

-

$

-

$

1,205,985

-

-

438,945

32,500

-

363,606

29,850

273,639

534,566

38,919

500

-

-

-

-

877,474

1,270,660

277,550

540,485

228,033

205,561

-

55,000

276,221

32,500

-

2,886,010

1,183,727

247,112

505,008

277,568

2,300,915

EXPENDITURES
-

-

-

55,000

32,500

-

Administration

Special serv ices

-

-

-

-

72,011

-

-

-

-

-

72,011

Finance and information technology

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

540,402

Public Protection Div ision

-

-

-

Capital Outlay

-

-

-

719,211

540,402

-

-

-

-

-

-

719,211

78,668

627,666

-

-

-

-

-

706,334

Debt Serv ice
Principal

-

-

-

-

-

169,540

-

-

-

-

169,540

Interest

-

-

-

-

-

5,753

-

-

-

-

5,753

32,500

-

4,514,166

-

-

(1,628,156)

Total expenditures

1,183,727

247,112

505,008

719,211

150,679

1,343,361

55,000

86,933

30,438

35,477

(491,178)

54,882

(1,343,361)

-

277,568

Excess (deficiency) of rev enues
ov er (under) expenditures

(1,347)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Proceeds from capital leases

-

-

-

163,983

-

-

-

-

163,983

Transfers in

-

-

-

700,000

388,800

650,000

-

-

-

-

1,738,800

Total other financing sources

-

-

-

700,000

388,800

813,983

-

-

-

-

1,902,783

Net change in fund balances

86,933

30,438

35,477

208,822

443,682

(529,378)

-

(1,347)

-

-

274,627

FUND BALANCES, beginning of year
FUND BALANCES, end of year

2,114,857
$ 2,201,790

192,380
$

222,818

$

-

-

345,164

2,608,547

4,049,468

380,641

$ 2,817,369

$ 4,493,150

77

789,312
$

259,934

$

-

1,347
$

-

$

-

$

-

10,101,075

-

$ 10,375,702
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Nonmajor

Total

General

Sections and

Governmental

Governmental

Fund

Divisions

Funds

Funds

REVENUES
Membership dues

$

21,109,358

$

2,557,623

$

1,205,985

$

24,872,966

Accounting and management fees

650,351

-

-

Texas Bar Journal

632,032

-

-

632,032

3,376,884

-

-

3,376,884

-

14,227,389

MCLE fees
Professional dev elopment

13,628,029

599,360

650,351

Minority affairs

482,478

-

Inv estment income

939,126

49,873

438,945

1,427,944

-

363,606

363,606

Grant rev enue

-

-

482,478

Member benefits

872,804

-

-

872,804

W ebsite

586,256

-

-

586,256

Adv ertising rev iew

329,300

-

-

329,300

CD disciplinary fees

567,182

-

-

Other income

948,966

790,862

877,474

2,617,302

44,122,766

3,997,718

2,886,010

51,006,494

Total rev enues

567,182

EXPENDITURES
Salaries

17,968,779

-

518,769

18,487,548

Benefits

6,332,857

-

190,402

6,523,259

Trav el

1,445,184

315,081

148,825

1,909,090

Meetings and conferences

3,687,179

1,111,186

522,769

5,321,134

Professional serv ices

2,848,603

652,343

322,605

3,823,551

Court fees
Publicity and adv ertising

64,510

-

-

64,510

544,899

9,697

99,924

654,520
654,373

Dues, subscriptions and licenses

627,006

866

26,501

Education and training

128,572

77,634

175

206,381

Supplies, awards, gifts and specialty items

455,816

22,972

154,648

633,436

1,163,754

Rentals - office, equipment and storage

2,396

120,658

1,286,808

Maintenance and repairs

494,913

-

534,295

1,029,208

Utilities

209,050

-

-

209,050

Postage and freight

711,747

26,957

20,428

759,132

Telephone

384,531

53,777

31,196

469,504

Insurance

584,800

173

Claims and adjustments

-

Administrativ e
Printing and copying
Capital outlay

-

-

584,973

719,211

719,211

855,107

724,053

149,720

1,728,880

1,146,112

296,086

48,987

1,491,185

-

-

722,386

722,386

Principal

-

-

176,914

176,914

Interest

-

-

5,753

5,753

4,514,166

47,460,806

(1,628,156)

3,545,688

Debt serv ice:

Total expenditures

39,653,419

3,293,221

4,469,347

704,497

Excess (deficiency) of rev enues ov er (under)
expenditures
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from capital leases

-

-

163,983

163,983

Transfers in

-

-

1,738,800

1,738,800

Transfers out
Other financing sources (uses)

(1,738,800)

-

(1,738,800)

-

-

(1,738,800)

1,902,783

163,983

Net change in fund balances

2,730,547

704,497

274,627

3,709,671

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year, as restated

17,659,750

8,230,902

10,101,075

35,991,727

FUND BALANCE, end of year

$

20,390,297

78

$

8,935,399

$

10,375,702

$

39,701,398
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PREAMBLE
The State Bar of Texas was created not to participate in the general government of the State, but to
provide specialized professional advice to those with the ultimate responsibility of governing the legal
profession and to advance the role of the legal profession in serving the public. Its members and officers
are such not because they are citizens or voters, but because they are lawyers.
MISSION
The mission of the State Bar of Texas is to support the administration of the legal system, assure all citizens
equal access to justice, foster high standards of ethical conduct for lawyers, enable its members to better
serve their clients and the public, educate the public about the rule of law and promote diversity in the
administration of justice and the practice of law.
PURPOSES OF THE STATE BAR
In order that the public responsibilities of the legal profession may be more effectively discharged, the
State Bar has the following purposes:
(1) to aid the courts in carrying on and improving the administration of justice;
(2) to advance the quality of legal services to the public and to foster the role of the legal profession in
serving the public;
(3) to foster and maintain on the part of those engaged in the practice of law high ideals and integrity,
learning, competence in public service, and high standards of conduct;
(4) to provide proper professional services to the members of the State Bar;
(5) to encourage the formation of and activities of local bar associations;
(6) to provide forums for the discussion of subjects pertaining to the practice of law, the science of
jurisprudence and law reform, and the relationship of the State Bar to the public; and
(7) to publish information relating to the subjects listed in subdivision (6).
DEFINITIONS
Unless otherwise indicated:
(1) "At-Large Director" means a voting member of the Board appointed pursuant to the State Bar Act.
(2) “Board” or “Board of Directors” means the Board of Directors of the State Bar of Texas.
(3) “Chair” means the Chair of the Board of the State Bar of Texas.
(4) “Chief Disciplinary Counsel” means the attorney selected under §81.076 of the State Bar Act who
performs disciplinary functions for the State Bar under the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional
1
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Conduct and the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure.
(5) “Commission” means the Commission for Lawyer Discipline established under Subchapter E of the
State Bar Act and under the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure as a permanent committee of the State
Bar, not subject to dissolution by the Board under Article VIII of the State Bar Rules.
(6) “Committee” or “Subcommittee” includes its successor as to any responsibility, duty or authority
delegated or assigned by this Policy Manual.
(7) “Director” means a Voting Board Member as specified below.
(8) “District” or “State Bar District” means the Board of Director districts of the State Bar of Texas as set
forth in Subsection 1.01.02.
(9) “Elected Director” means a member of the Board elected by the State Bar membership from their
district as determined by the Board.
(10) “Executive Director” means the Executive Director of the State Bar of Texas elected by the Board of
Directors pursuant to Section 81.029 of the State Bar Act.
(11) “Fiscal Year” means June 1 through May 31.
(12) "General Counsel" means the General Counsel of the State Bar of Texas elected by the Board of
Directors pursuant to Section 81.030 of the State Bar Act.
(13) "State Bar Legal Counsel" means the in-house legal counsel appointed by the Executive Director and
shall include designees and interim successors.
(14) “Metropolitan County’’ includes any of the counties of Bexar, Dallas, Harris, Tarrant and Travis of the
State of Texas, as well as any other county hereafter so designated by the board.
(15) “Minority Director” means a minority member of the Board appointed pursuant to the State Bar Act.
(16) “Officers” means the President, President-elect and Immediate Past President of the State Bar of
Texas.
(17) “Organizational Year” shall be from time of adjournment of the annual meeting of the State Bar one
year to the time of adjournment of the annual meeting of the State Bar of the next year.
(18) “President” means the President of the State Bar of Texas.
(19) “President-elect” means the President-elect of the State Bar of Texas.
(20) “Principal Place of Practice” is defined by the zip code on an attorney’s office address provided to the
State Bar of Texas. If no office address is provided by the attorney, the principal place of practice will be
defined by the zip code on the attorney’s home address provided to the State Bar of Texas.

2
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(21) “Special Committee” means a volunteer committee temporarily established by the Board with a
defined limited purpose and whose term of existence extends no longer than the next Annual Meeting
following the date of creation unless specifically extended by the Board.
(22) “Standing Committee” means a volunteer committee established by the Board with a defined broad
purpose, whose term of existence is indefinite until discontinued by the Board.
(23) “State Bar” means the State Bar of Texas.
(24) “State Bar Act” means Chapter 81 of the Texas Government Code.
(25) “State Bar Rules” means the rules adopted by the Supreme Court of Texas for the operation,
maintenance and conduct of the State Bar and for the disciplining of its members.
(26) “TATJC” means the Texas Access to Justice Commission.
(27) "Texas Trade Association" means a cooperative and voluntarily joined statewide association of
business or professional competitors in this state designed to assist its members and its industry or
profession in dealing with mutual business or professional problems and in promoting their common
interest.
(28) “TYLA” means the Texas Young Lawyers Association.
(29) “Voting Board Member” includes:
(A) Officers of the State Bar;
(B) president, president-elect, and immediate past president of the TYLA;
(C) not more than thirty members of the State Bar elected by the membership from their district as
determined by the Board;
(D) six persons appointed by the Supreme Court and confirmed by the senate who are not attorneys
and who do not have, other than as consumers, a financial interest in the practice of law pursuant to
§81.02 of the State Bar Act; and
(E) subject to subsection 1.04.01 of this Policy Manual, four At-Large Directors appointed by the
President subject to confirmation by the Board.
CONFLICTS WITH ACT AND RULES
The State Bar of Texas is an administrative agency of the Supreme Court of Texas and is subject to the
direction of the Court. To the extent any portion of this Policy Manual is inconsistent with any directive,
charge, or order of the Court, such directive, charge, or order shall take precedence. Further, nothing
contained in this Policy Manual shall be inconsistent or conflict with the State Bar Act, the State Bar Rules
or other applicable federal or Texas laws or rules. If there is any such inconsistency or conflict, the State
Bar Act, the State Bar Rules, and/or such other applicable laws or rules shall take precedence over this
Policy Manual.
3
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PART I. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
1.01 General
1.01.01 Policy-Making Body. The Board is the policy-making body of the State Bar of Texas.
1.01.02 Board Districts.
(A) District 1 Counties: Bowie, Camp, Cass, Collin, Delta, Fannin, Franklin, Grayson, Harrison, Henderson,
Hopkins, Hunt, Kaufman, Lamar, Marion, Morris, Panola, Rains, Red River, Rockwall, Titus, Upshur, Van
Zandt, Wood
(B) District 2 Counties: Anderson, Angelina, Cherokee, Freestone, Gregg, Houston, Leon, Limestone,
Madison, Nacogdoches, Navarro, Rusk, Sabine, San Augustine, Shelby, Smith, Trinity
(C) District 3 Counties: Chambers, Hardin, Jasper, Jefferson, Liberty, Montgomery, Newton, Orange, Polk,
San Jacinto, Tyler, Walker
(D) District 4 Counties: Harris
(E) District 5 Counties: Austin, Brazoria, Colorado, Fayette, Fort Bend, Galveston, Grimes, Jackson,
Lavaca, Matagorda, Waller, Wharton
(F) District 6 Counties: Dallas
(G) District 7 Counties: Ellis, Hill, Johnson, Tarrant
(H) District 8 Counties: Bastrop, Bell, Bosque, Brazos, Burleson, Caldwell, Coryell, Falls, Hamilton, Lee,
Milam, McLennan, Robertson, Washington, Williamson
(I) District 9 Counties: Travis
(J) District 10 Counties: Bexar
(K) District 11 Counties: Aransas, Bee, Calhoun, De Witt, Goliad, Gonzales, Guadalupe, Jim Wells, Karnes,
Kleberg, Live Oak, Nueces, Refugio, San Patricio, Victoria, Wilson
(L) District 12 Counties: Atascosa, Brooks, Cameron, Dimmit, Duval, Frio, Hidalgo, Jim Hogg, Kenedy, La
Salle, Maverick, McMullen, Starr, Webb, Willacy, Zapata, Zavala
(M) District 13 Counties: Armstrong, Bailey, Briscoe, Carson, Castro, Childress, Cochran, Collingsworth,
Cottle, Crosby, Dallam, Deaf Smith, Dickens, Donley, Floyd, Foard, Gray, Hale, Hall, Hansford, Hardeman,
Hartley, Hemphill, Hockley, Hutchinson, King, Knox, Lamb, Lipscomb, Moore, Motley, Ochiltree, Oldham,
Parmer, Potter, Randall, Roberts, Sherman, Swisher, Wheeler
(N) District 14 Counties: Archer, Baylor, Brown, Callahan, Clay, Coleman, Comanche, Cooke, Denton,
Eastland, Erath, Haskell, Hood, Jack, Jones, Montague, Palo Pinto, Parker, Runnels, Shackelford,
4
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Somervell, Stephens, Taylor, Throckmorton, Wichita, Wilbarger, Wise, Young
(O) District 15 Counties: Bandera, Blanco, Burnet, Coke, Comal, Concho, Crane, Crockett, Ector, Edwards,
Gillespie, Glasscock, Hays, Irion, Kendall, Kerr, Kimble, Kinney, Lampasas, Llano, Loving, Mason,
McCulloch, Medina, Menard, Mills, Pecos, Reagan, Real, Reeves, San Saba, Schleicher, Sterling, Sutton,
Terrell, Tom Green, Upton, Uvalde, Val Verde, Ward, Winkler
(P) District 16 Counties: Andrews, Borden, Dawson, Fisher, Gaines, Garza, Howard, Kent, Lubbock, Lynn,
Martin, Midland, Mitchell, Nolan, Scurry, Stonewall, Terry, Yoakum
(Q) District 17 Counties: Brewster, Culberson, El Paso, Hudspeth, Jeff Davis, Presidio
1.02 Composition of the Board
The Board consists of the following members:
(A) the Voting Board Members; and
(B) the following non-voting members:
(1) the Texas Supreme Court liaison;
(2) the Federal District Court liaison;
(3) the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals liaison;
(4) the chair of the State Bar Judicial Section;
(5) the out-of-state liaison;
(6) the members of the Section Representatives to the Board Committee;
(7) the State Bar immediate past Chair as an ex-officio, non-voting member;
(8) the Executive Director as an ex-officio, non-voting member;
(9) the General Counsel as an ex-officio, non-voting member; and
(10) the Chief Disciplinary Counsel as an ex-officio, non-voting member.
1.03 Elected Directors
1.03.01 General. Elected Directors shall be elected by a majority of the active and emeritus members of
the State Bar voting who have their principal place of practice in the same bar district as the candidate. If
no candidate receives a majority, a runoff between the two candidates receiving the greatest number of
votes shall be held at a time the Board prescribes. The provisions of this Policy Manual concerning State
Bar District Director Campaigns shall apply to the Campaign activities of the Director run-off candidates.
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1.03.02 Term. Each person elected as a Director shall serve a three-year term.
1.03.03 Nominations. An active member's name may be placed in nomination for the office of Elected
Director by a written petition in the form prescribed by the Board.
(A) The petition shall be signed by the lesser of five percent (5%) of the active members whose principal
place of practice is within the district to be represented by the nominee if elected or one hundred of
such members. An electronic signature may be used on the petition form. A petition signature is invalid
if it is not dated or the signer signed the petition before September 1 of the year before the election.
(B) The petition must be received in the office of the Executive Director on or before March 1 of the year
of election.
(C) For State Bar elections, the principal place of practice is established no later than December 31. A
nominee is ineligible to be certified as a candidate for director if he or she changes his or her principal
place of practice from one State Bar district to another between December 31 and March 1 of the Bar
year of the election.
(D) The Executive Director shall promptly review the petition to verify the eligibility of the nominee.
(E) If from the petition it appears the nominee is eligible, the Executive Director shall certify such
eligibility, and that nominee's name shall be listed on the ballot. If from the petition the Executive
Director finds the nominee to be ineligible, that fact shall immediately be communicated to the
nominee.
(F) Any nominee desiring to appeal the findings of the Executive Director shall promptly notify the
Executive Director, who shall promptly convene the Executive Committee to hear and determine the
matter.
(G) The Executive Committee shall have final authority to determine questions of the eligibility and
certification of the nominee and the validity of the nominating petition and shall do so within ten days
of the notice to the Executive Director.
(H) The petitions may be in counterparts and signatures on counterparts are permissible.
(I) If no valid petition nominating an eligible person in a district in the year in which such district is to
elect a Director has been received by the Executive Director by March 1, or if all persons who have been
nominated shall have died or become disqualified from serving at any time before the election ballot is
printed, then the President, with the advice of the person then serving as Elected Director or Directors
from that district, shall name a qualified person to stand for election as Director from that district.
1.03.04 Candidate Certification Form. Candidates for Elected Director shall be required to sign a
candidate certification form, which must be received in the office of the Executive Director at the same
time as the petition. The certification form shall set forth the eligibility requirements and shall contain the
following:
“As a candidate for the office of director, I, ___________, certify that I understand the following
criteria as contained in the State Bar Rules, Article IV, §5(A), relating to serving as a director of the
6
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State Bar of Texas, and that after reviewing the criteria, I am eligible to serve as a director. I further
certify that I have read and agree to be bound by the provisions of the State Bar Board of Directors
Policy Manual regarding the guidelines relating to campaigns for the office of director and regarding
the role of the Nominations and Elections Subcommittee in such campaigns.
Signature: ____________________
Date: ________________________
1.03.05 Qualifications of Officers and Directors. No person may serve as an Officer or member of the
Board who does not meet the qualifications to serve as set forth in the State Bar Rules Article IV, sections
5 and 10. The Board is the judge of a candidate's qualifications.
1.03.06 Failure to Qualify. If an Elected Director fails to qualify, the Elected Director shall be deemed to
have vacated the position.
1.03.07 Sample Petition Form
PETITION FOR ELECTION
We, the undersigned, being at least five percent of the members of the State Bar whose
principal place of practice is in the _____ bar district, or one hundred of such members,
whichever is less, do hereby nominate ____________________ of ______________ as a
candidate for director of the State Bar of Texas from that district and request that his or her
name be placed on the official ballot for (year), pursuant to Article IV, §7 of the State Bar
Rules.
The proposed candidate meets the requirements for director as stipulated in Article IV –
Administration, §5, Qualifications of Officers and Directors of the State Bar Rules.
Signature: _________________________
Printed Name: ______________________
Bar Card Number: ___________________
Date: _____________________________
1.03.08 State Bar District Director Campaign
(A) Definitions
(1) Director Candidate. Any person whose eligibility as a candidate has been certified by the Executive
Director or the Executive Committee pursuant to Subsection 1.03.03 or who has been appointed by
the President to stand for election pursuant to Subsection 1.03.03(H).
(2) Campaign. Any activities and communications in any form by or on behalf of a Director Candidate
for the purpose of gaining votes for election as Elected Director.
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(3) Social Media. Websites and internet-based applications that enable users to create and share
content and/or participate in social networking, including, but not limited to Facebook, LinkedIn, and
Twitter..
(4) Subcommittee. The Nominations and Elections Subcommittee of the Executive Committee of the
State Bar of Texas.
(B) Conduct. Director Candidates are urged to conduct the Campaign in a professional and dignified
manner. In communicating with State Bar members, whether by letter, card, fax, email. Social Media,
telephone, or online, Director Candidates are encouraged to concentrate on the merits of their
candidacy and to refrain from irrelevant personal attacks against other Director Candidates. Director
Candidates are expected to comport themselves in compliance with all applicable provisions of The
Texas Lawyer's Creed, A Mandate for Professionalism, promulgated by the Supreme Court of Texas and
the Court of Criminal Appeals.
(C) Online Campaign Activities. Director Candidates are encouraged to monitor all posts and comments
on their Campaign websites and Campaign Social Media, with the objective of assuring civility and
professionalism in the Campaign. Director Candidates are urged to promptly remove content or
comments that are offensive, contain vulgar language, or include irrelevant personal attacks.
(D) Oversight. Director Candidates will consult with the chair(s) of the Subcommittee concerning the
interpretation of these guidelines, and the chair(s) (and other Subcommittee members, if consulted) will
remain scrupulously impartial in rendering a decision concerning such matters or in selecting a remedy.
If a Director Candidate wishes to appeal a decision of the Subcommittee chair(s), then the appeal must
be submitted in writing to the Subcommittee within two business days of the Subcommittee chair(s)’
decision. Except as otherwise provided in this Policy Manual, the Subcommittee shall supervise the
guidelines, eligibility, nominations, campaign, election, and election results to ensure compliance and
shall resolve all disputes and decide all remedies. Decisions and interpretations made by the
Subcommittee hereunder will be final.
1.04 At-Large Directors
1.04.01 Current Minority Directors. A minority member serving on the Board as of June 15, 2017
continues to serve the term to which the director was appointed. On expiration of such minority member's
term, the President will appoint an At-Large Director, subject to confirmation by the Board, as required
by Tex. Govt. Code 81.020.
1.04.02 At-Large Director Qualifications. To be appointed as an At-Large Director, such person must:
(A) be a member in good standing of the State Bar;
(B) not be currently serving as an Elected Director or appointed Director;
(C) demonstrate knowledge gained from experience in the legal profession and community necessary
to ensure the Board represents the interests of attorneys from the varied backgrounds that compose
the membership of the State Bar.
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1.04.03 Term. Each person appointed as an At-Large Director shall serve a three-year term.
1.04.04 Nominating Committee
(A) The nominees for each At-Large Director will be selected by a five-person nominating committee.
The nominating committee will be composed of five members of the Board, appointed by the Chair in
consultation with the President. After the initial appointment of an At-Large Director, at least one of the
members of the nominating committee must be a current At-Large Director. The Chair will designate the
chair of the nominating committee.
(B) The nominating committee will be appointed on or before October 1 of each year.
(C) The nominating committee is responsible for collecting and evaluating recommendations for
nominees for At-Large Directors and will submit to the President two nominations for each vacant AtLarge Director position.
(D) The President will appoint the At-Large Director(s) from the list of nominees submitted by the
nominating committee, subject to confirmation by the Board.
1.04.05 Selection Procedures
(A) The chair of the nominating committee may solicit suggestions for nominee candidates from
members of the Board, local and specialty bar associations, and State Bar sections and standing
committees.
(B) Nominating packages should be sent to the chair of the nominating committee, and must be received
on or before December 1 of each year or such other date as the nominations committee shall determine.
A complete nomination package must include a nomination letter from a third party, a resume, and a
brief personal statement by the nominee of no more than 500 words explaining their knowledge gained
from experience in the legal profession and community necessary to ensure the Board represents the
interests of attorneys from the varied backgrounds that compose the membership of the State Bar. No
other written information or documentation will be accepted by the nominating committee in
considering candidates. The nominating committee may conduct interviews if it deems it necessary.
1.04.06 Selection Criteria
The nominating committee should consider the following criteria in selecting its nominees for At-Large
Director:
(A) the degree of representation on the State Bar Board of Directors from a particular geographic area,
substantive area of practice, firm size, and nature of practice;
(B) the population of the area in which the nominee resides and practices; and
(C) the nominee's:
(1) legal experience;
9
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(2) substantive areas of practice;
(3) firm size;
(4) demonstration of leadership ability;
(5) involvement in civic activities and service within the community;
(6) participation in local and specialty bar associations;
(7) participation in local and specialty bar, State Bar, and American Bar Association committees,
sections, and activities; and
(8) years of licensure.
1.05 Liaisons to the Board
1.05.01 Supreme Court Liaison. A justice of the Texas Supreme Court designated by the Chief Justice to
serve until a successor is appointed.
1.05.02 Court of Criminal Appeals Liaison. A judge of the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals designated by
the Presiding Judge to serve until a success is appointed.
1.05.03 Chair of the Judicial Section. The chair of the State Bar Judicial Section shall serve as a non-voting
liaison to the Board during his or her term of office.
1.05.04 Federal Judiciary Liaison. The chief judges of the four federal court districts in Texas, or their
designees, will serve one-year rotating terms as non-voting liaisons to the Board in the following order:
Southern District, Eastern District, Northern District, and Western District.
1.05.05 Out-of-State Liaison. The President shall appoint an active member of the State Bar who resides
outside the State of Texas to serve as a non-voting liaison to the Board to represent the concerns and
interests of lawyers who are licensed to practice law in the State of Texas but who reside outside of the
State of Texas. The term of appointment shall be for three years.
1.05.06 Authority and Restrictions
(A) A liaison will have the right to be heard on any issue pending before the Board, subject to the Chair’s
reasonable limitations.
(B) A liaison will have the right to attend all open meetings of the Board.
(C) A liaison has no authority to sponsor, move the adoption of, or second the adoption of any motion
affecting any matter before the Board.
(D) A liaison has no authority to be present during closed or executive sessions of the Board unless
invited to remain by the Chair.
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(E) A liaison has no authority to vote on any matter pending before the Board.
(F) A liaison may not serve in any capacity as an elected officer of the Board.
(G) Liaisons shall not count as members of the Board for purposes of calculating a quorum of the Board.
(H) Liaisons may be appointed to serve as advisors to any section or committee of the State Bar, but are
not permitted to vote on matters affecting the section or committee, either before the section or
committee or during Board meetings.
(I) Liaisons may be appointed to serve as members of any committee of the Board, but are not entitled
to vote on matters pending before the Board committee and are not entitled to be counted as a part of
a quorum for purposes of the meeting of the committee.
1.06 Vacancies
1.06.01 Definition. A vacancy means the death of a Board member, judgment of incompetence by a court
of competent jurisdiction, a Board member’s resignation or removal, or any failure to qualify.
1.06.02 Elected Directors. When the position of an Elected Director is vacant, the President shall appoint
a member to fill the vacancy whose principal place of practice is within the district in which the vacancy
has occurred.
1.06.03 Ex Officio Board Members. Vacancies in ex officio Board positions shall be filled by the person
who succeeds to the office in the State Bar or in the TYLA to which the position is incident, except that the
position incident to the office of Immediate Past President of the State Bar or the TYLA, or immediate past
chair, shall be filled by the most recent holder of those offices, respectively, who is willing to serve.
1.06.04 At-Large Directors. In case of a vacancy in an appointed At-Large directorship, the President shall
appoint a member from the last nominations submitted to the President under the policy and procedures
adopted by the Board for the nomination of At-Large Directors. If, for any reason, the remaining
nominated individuals are unable or unwilling to serve, the President, after interviewing at least two
nominees, shall appoint from prior nominated individuals.
1.06.05 Public Directors. Vacancies in public directorships shall be filled in the same manner and by the
same authority designated by statute to fill those positions.
1.06.06 Term. Those appointed to fill a vacancy shall serve the balance of the term of the particular
position vacated.
1.07 Reporting Misconduct
Each member of the Board has the duty to immediately inform the Chief Disciplinary Counsel of any
information that a lawyer has committed a violation of applicable rules of professional conduct that raises
a substantial question as to that lawyer’s honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects.
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1.08 Required Disclosures
Directors shall be subject to disclosure as stipulated in the Texas Government Code, Title 5, Subtitle B,
Chapter 572, Subchapter B.
1.09 Insurance Coverage
Members of the Board shall be provided with Directors and Officers insurance coverage at State Bar
expense with adequate and reasonable coverage amounts and policy terms as determined annually by
the Board.
1.10 Endorsement of Candidates
Any limitation on the ability of current Officers and members of the Board (including the chairs and
members of the Subcommittee) to endorse in their official capacity any candidate for any elective office
is inapplicable to their ability to endorse candidates for Elected Director, President-elect, or other State
Bar of Texas offices.
1.11 Chair
1.11.01 Selection. The Chair for the following Organizational Year shall be elected by a majority of
Directors in an open meeting at the third quarterly Board meeting of each year.
1.11.02 Nominations. A second year Director who desires to be nominated for the position of Chair shall
notify the Chair in writing before the second quarterly Board meeting of his or her intention to seek that
position for the following Organizational Year. The Chair, at the second quarterly meeting, shall advise
the Board of those Directors who have placed their names in nomination to serve as Chair for the following
Organizational Year.
1.11.03 Statement of Position. Each Director nominated for Chair shall provide the Chair with a written
statement that the nominee believes would be informative to the Board in its selection of the Chair.
1.11.04 Method of Voting. At the second quarterly meeting, the Chair shall conduct a vote by show of
hands to determine the method of voting, whether by show of hands or by written ballot, to be used at
the third quarterly Board meeting for the election of the Chair.
1.11.05 Election. At the third quarterly Board meeting, the Chair shall conduct a vote among voting
members, as provided in the preceding Subsection, for Chair for the following Organizational Year,
selecting from among those Directors who have been announced by the Chair at the second quarterly
meeting as having placed their names in nomination. Prior to the vote, the Chair shall offer all candidates
for Chair the opportunity and time to leave the room during the vote. The Executive Director shall count
the votes; the Immediate Past Chair or another non-voting member of the Board designated by the Chair
shall verify the votes; and the Chair shall announce the results immediately.
1.11.06 Failure of a Majority. If no Director receives a majority of the vote, the Chair shall immediately
arrange for a runoff for the remaining Directors, excluding the Director(s) receiving the lowest number of
votes and successively holding runoffs excluding the Director(s) receiving the lowest number of votes in
each runoff until one Director receives a majority of the votes. The Executive Director shall count the votes
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of the runoff(s) and the Chair shall announce the results of the runoff(s) immediately.
1.11.07 Tie Vote. In the event of a tie in a runoff, the Chair shall be entitled to vote to break the tie.
1.12 Meetings of the Board
1.12.01 Meetings. The Board shall meet regularly at least four times annually, and may hold additional
meetings, at such times and places as the Board shall determine. All meetings shall be held within the
State of Texas. The regular meetings shall be held as follows:
(A) The first quarterly meeting of the Board shall be held in September or October of each year.
(B) The second quarterly meeting of the Board shall be held in January or February of each year.
(C) The third quarterly meeting of the Board shall be held in March or April of each year.
(D) The fourth quarterly meeting of the Board shall be held at the State Bar annual meeting.
1.12.02 Presiding Officer of Board Meetings. The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Board;
provided, however, that the President shall preside at such meetings in the absence of the Chair.
1.12.03 Parliamentary Authority. The rules contained in the current edition of the Robert’s Rules of Order
Newly Revised shall govern the Board in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not
inconsistent with this Policy Manual, the State Bar Rules or the State Bar Act.
1.12.04 Agenda and Minutes.
(A) The Chair, in consultation with the Officers and Executive Director, will set the agenda for all
meetings of the Board. Any voting or non-voting member of the Board may request that an item be
placed on the agenda of any regular Board meeting by delivering a request in writing to the Chair and
the Executive Director at least fourteen days before the date scheduled for the meeting. The Chair, in
consultation with the Officers and the Executive Director, will determine whether to include such item
on the agenda.
(B) If any ten Voting Board Members request in writing that an item be placed on the agenda for
discussion or action, such item will be placed on the agenda. Requests must be delivered in writing,
signed by each requesting Voting Board Member to the Chair and the Executive Director at least
fourteen days before the date scheduled for the meeting.
(C) Each member of the Board, no later than seven days before a meeting of the Board will be furnished
with an agenda of all items to come before the Board at such meeting along with any materials relating
to such items available at that time. If any materials relating to any item on the agenda are not available
at that time, or have been revised after being provided to the members of the Board, such materials
may be provided to the members of the Board less than seven days before a meeting.
(D) The Board will keep regular minutes of all meetings.
1.12.05 Emergency Meetings of the Board. The Chair may call emergency meetings of the Board to
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consider a matter deemed an emergency or when there is an urgent public necessity as defined by the
Texas Open Meetings Act (Tex. Govt. Code Ch. 551). Notice of such emergency meetings shall be posted
for such time and in such manner as is required by the applicable provisions of the Texas Open Meetings
Act. If, after reasonable attempts to contact the Chair to call an emergency meeting, the Chair is
unavailable, the President may call the emergency meeting under this provision.
1.12.06 Voting and Quorum. Pursuant to the State Bar Act, Directors must be present in person to vote
on any matter coming before the Board. Voting by proxy is not allowed. The presence of a majority of
those entitled to vote at the Board meeting shall constitute a quorum.
1.12.07. Public Participation. Subject to the following provisions, the general public shall be allowed a
reasonable opportunity to appear before the Board at each Board meeting and to speak on any issue
under the jurisdiction of the Board.
(A) A member of the public wishing to address the Board must sign in on a public comment registration
card provided at the meeting indicating their name, whether they are an attorney or a member of the
public, the topic upon which they wish to speak, and whether they wish to speak for or against a
particular action item on the Board’s agenda.
(B) The Chair shall have discretion to set reasonable limits on the number of presentations which will be
allowed and on the time allocated for each public presentation, provided that the allotted time
limitations on each public presentation are applied equally.
(C) If there are two or more members of the public who wish to address the Board on a common issue
and to express a common position on the issue, the Chair shall have the discretion to request them to
allow one spokesperson to address the Board on their behalf.
(D) Presentations made pursuant to this provision may not include any audio/visual components
including, but not limited to, computer-based presentations, videos or recordings. Public members may,
however, make available written comments for the Board regardless of whether they speak at the
meeting.
1.12.08 Excused Absences from Board Meetings
(A) A Director may be removed from the Board at any regular meeting by resolution declaring the
Director’s position vacant if the Director has been absent, without cause considered adequate by the
Board, from any two consecutive regular meetings of the Board or from a total of four regular meetings
during the Director’s term of office.
(B) A Director seeking the Board’s excuse of an absence from any meeting of the Board shall, at the
earliest opportunity before the meeting, deliver to the Executive Director a request in writing (including
letter, memo, email, facsimile, or other means of electronic communication). If for any reason the
Director is unable to deliver the request before the meeting at which such Director is to be absent, the
Director shall deliver the request to the Executive Director as soon as practicable after the meeting.
(C) If a Director’s absence is included in the following list of reasons, the Executive Director may excuse
the absence and report the same at the next meeting of the Board. The reasons deemed adequate by
the Board for excused absences are:
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(1) illness of the Director or a member of the Director’s family, or other medical reason necessitating
absence from the meeting;
(2) conflicts in the Director’s practice of law or profession that cannot be reasonably rescheduled to
allow the Director to attend the meeting;
(3) personal or family commitments that cannot reasonably be rescheduled to allow the Director to
attend the meeting.
(D) If, after receiving the request for an excused absence, the Executive Director finds that the reason
for the absence is not in the above list, the request shall be included in the consent agenda for action at
the next Board meeting. The reason shall be reported only in such detail as is reasonably required for
the Board to act on the request.
(E) Any Director who does not submit to the Executive Director, the Chair or the President, a written
request for an excused absence (including letter, memo, email, facsimile, or other means of electronic
communication) and the grounds therefor shall be deemed to have an unexcused absence.
1.13 Section Representatives to the Board Committee
All members of the Section Representatives to the Board Committee shall be invited to attend all meetings
of the Board and shall be given the same notice and materials provided to Board Members. When
members of the Section Representatives to the Board do not have voting authority to vote on matters
coming before the Executive Committee and the Board of Directors, such members may make and second
motions at any meeting of the Board and the Executive Committee. Members of the Section
Representatives to the Board Committee may be appointed by the Chair to Board committees as members
and as chairs. When serving on any Board committee other than the Executive Committee and the Budget
Committee, members of the Section Representatives to the Board Committee shall be counted toward a
quorum for such committees and they may vote on matters coming before such committees.
1.14 Board Committees
1.14.01. General. The Chair, in consultation with the President, shall organize the Board into committees
and shall appoint members of the Board to such committees. To the extent reasonably possible, the Chair
shall appoint an odd number of members to each Board Committee and shall consider continuity and
experience in making appointments.
1.14.02. Board Committees. The following Board committees shall be appointed each year, and shall be
charged with the duties as described below. Nothing in the description of the charge and duties of each
Board committee below, however, is to be construed as limiting the authority of the Chair, the President,
the Board, or the Court to expand or narrow the scope of the committee’s function as may be deemed
appropriate from time to time.
(A) Administration Committee. This committee shall advise and assist the Executive Director in the
administrative operation of the State Bar and shall assist as directed with other projects having an impact
on the internal organization of the State Bar.
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(B) Audit and Finance Committee. This committee shall follow the monthly financial results and report
to the Board on matters relating to the State Bar’s financial conditions. Additionally, this committee will
serve as the liaison between the independent auditors, investment managers and the Board by receiving
the annual financial audit, internal audit and quarterly investment reports. The committee will also
review and recommend necessary changes to the Board relating to policies and procedures in place to
comply with financial best practices and legal requirements, such as the Public Funds Investment Act
and the Public Funds Collateral Act.
(C) Budget Committee. This committee shall advise and assist the Executive Director in the preparation
of the annual budget of the State Bar for the next Fiscal Year.
(D) Discipline and Client Attorney Assistance Committee. This committee shall monitor the policies,
procedures and practices of the Chief Disciplinary Counsel's office without violating the confidentiality
of the grievance process; coordinate with the Commission for Lawyer Discipline to ensure the successful
operation of the Discipline/Disability System; facilitate the reporting of the Chief Disciplinary Counsel to
the Executive Director on administrative matters; advise the Board and assist the Court as directed
concerning any proposed revisions to the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct or the Texas
Rules of Disciplinary Procedure; and follow the work of the Commission for Lawyer Discipline and the
Board of Disciplinary Appeals.
(E) Executive Committee. The general purpose of the Executive Committee shall be to perform between
meetings of the Board such functions, consistent with the State Bar Act or the State Bar Rules, as the
Board may assign to it from time to time.
(F) Member Services and Education Committee. This committee shall provide guidance in and oversight
of the services and programs offered to State Bar members.
(G) Public Services and Education Committee. This committee shall provide guidance in and oversight of
the services and programs of interest to the citizens of Texas.
1.14.03. Referenced Subcommittees. In addition to these Board Committees, certain provisions of this
Policy Manual provide for the following subcommittees:
(A) Appeals-Grant Review Subcommittee
(B) Client Security Fund Subcommittee
(C) Legislative Subcommittee
(D) Nominations and Elections Subcommittee
(E) Policy Manual Subcommittee
(F) Professional Development Subcommittee
1.14.04 Special Committees and Task Forces. In accordance with Tex. Govt. Code section 81.123, the
creation of any special committee, including task forces, and their membership are subject to the approval
of the Executive Committee. Before the Executive Committee can approve the creation of any special
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committee or task force, the Executive Committee must determine the fiscal impact creating the
committee or task force would have on the budget, and must determine whether any other existing
committee or task force would be better suited to meet the proposed purpose.
1.14.05. Special Board Committees and Task Forces. Subject to section 1.14.04, the President may
propose to the Executive Committee special Board committees or task forces to consider particular issues,
programs, or initiatives, and to advise and make recommendations to the Board concerning those issues,
programs, or initiatives. Special Board committees and task forces may include non-Board members in
addition to members of the Board as the President and the Executive Committee may deem appropriate,
and, if so provided by the President, these non-Board members may vote on issues before the special
Board committees or task forces. The duration of such special Board committees or task forces shall
coincide with the President’s tenure in office.
1.14.06 President-Elect Task Forces. Subject to section 1.14.04, the President-elect may propose to the
Executive Committee special task forces to consider particular issues, programs, or initiatives, and to
advise and make recommendations to the Board concerning those issues, programs, or initiatives. Such
task forces may consist of non-Board members and/or Board members as the President-elect and the
Executive Committee may deem appropriate. The duration of such special task forces shall coincide with
the President-elect’s tenure in office as President-elect.
1.14.07 Scope of Authority. Board committees, special Board committees, and task forces serve to advise
and make recommendations to the Board on activities, business, and policy of the Board and the State
Bar in furtherance of the objectives and purposes of the State Bar. They do not have final authority to
supervise or control public business or public policy of the Board or the State Bar. All actions taken by a
Board committee are subject to the review and approval of the Board.
1.14.08. Meetings of Board Committees, Special Board Committees, Task Forces. Meetings of each Board
committee or special Board committee or task force may be called by the chair of the committee or task
force. Such meetings may be held in person or by teleconference as the chair of the committee or task
force determines appropriate, and members may cast their votes on matters before the committee or
task force in person, by phone, or electronically. Meetings of Board committees or special Board
committees or task forces are not open to non-members, although the committee or task force may, by
majority vote, request or allow non-members to attend in furtherance of its charge.
1.15 Executive Committee
1.15.01 Composition. The Executive Committee consists of:
(A) the President, the President-elect, and Immediate Past President;
(B) the Chair;
(C) the president of the TYLA;
(D) the Executive Director and the General Counsel as non-voting ex officio members; and
(E) additional members of the Board appointed by the President, though such appointments should not
exceed ten (10).
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The President serves as chair of the Executive Committee. The Chair serves as vice-chair of the Executive
Committee and presides over its meetings in the President’s absence or at the President’s request.
1.15.02 Presidential Appointments. In making appointments to the Executive Committee under
Subsection 1.15.01(E) above, the President, in consultation with the Chair, should ensure adequate
diversity and adequate representation of the Board, At-Large Directors, Public Members of the Board and
TYLA leadership on the Executive Committee.
1.15.03 Executive Committee Subcommittees. Subcommittees of the Executive Committee may include
Board Members who are not members of the Executive Committee; provided, however, that each
subcommittee of the Executive Committee must have at least one member who is also a member of the
Executive Committee.
1.15.04 Meetings. The President may call such meetings of the Executive Committee at such times and at
such places as he or she shall reasonably determine upon seven-days’ notice to all members of the
Executive Committee. Members of the Executive Committee may participate in meetings by telephone or
videoconference provided such participation is approved by the President. Members of the Executive
Committee entitled to vote must be present in person to vote on any matter coming before the Executive
Committee. Voting by proxy is not allowed. The presence of a majority of those entitled to vote at the
Executive Committee meeting shall constitute a quorum. Meetings of the Executive Committee are
subject to the Texas Open Meetings Act, (Tex. Govt. Code, Ch. 551). The Executive Committee shall keep
regular minutes of all meetings.
1.15.05 Emergency Meetings of the Executive Committee. The President may call emergency meetings
of the Executive Committee to consider a matter deemed an emergency or of urgent public necessity as
defined by the Texas Open Meetings Act (Tex. Govt. Code Ch. 551). Notice of such emergency meetings
shall be posted for such time and in such manner as is required by the applicable provisions of the Texas
Open Meetings Act. If, after reasonable attempts to contact the President to call an emergency meetings,
the President is unavailable, the Chair may call the emergency meeting under this provision.
1.15.06 Authority. The Executive Committee shall, at its meetings, consider the agenda for upcoming
Board meetings, and may make recommendations to the Board on any matters coming before the Board.
The Executive Committee may also take all action and may exercise such authority as has been delegated
to it by the Board; provided, however, that such delegation by the Board shall not relieve the Board or
any Director of any responsibility imposed upon it, or upon any Director, by law.
1.16 Board Advisors to Committees and Sections
1.16.01 Board Advisors to Committees. The Chair shall appoint a Board advisor and alternate Board
advisor for each committee to act as liaison between the committee and the Board. The Board advisors
shall receive copies of minutes or reports of the committees assigned to them, shall have primary
responsibility for ensuring that these committees are fulfilling their responsibilities, and, if requested,
shall report at each meeting of the Board. The Board advisor or alternate Board advisor is to attend each
committee meeting. If neither the Board advisor nor the alternate Board advisor is able to attend a
committee meeting, then a substitute member of the Board located by the Board advisor, or the
President, President-elect, Chair, Executive Director or designee should attend.
1.16.02. Board Advisors to Sections. In consultation with the Chair, the President shall appoint a Board
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advisor and alternate advisor to act as liaison between each section and the Board. The Board advisors
shall receive copies of the section newsletter, agendas and minutes of council and section meetings, and
other reports of the sections assigned to them. Participation and interaction between the sections and
their advisors is encouraged.
1.17 Affiliated Entities
1.17.01 Affiliated Entities. Affiliated entities are those entities to which the Board or President appoints
or approves the appointment of more than half of the members of their governing bodies, or those
entities which are fully funded by the State Bar. Affiliated entities include, without limitation, the College
of the State Bar of Texas, Inc., Law Focused Education, Inc., the State Bar of Texas Insurance Trust, the
Texas Board of Legal Specialization, the Texas Bar Foundation, and the Texas Center for Legal Ethics, Inc.
1.17.02 Agreements. The Board may enter into agreements and other arrangements with such associated
entities as it deems appropriate to further the purposes and objectives of the State Bar.
1.17.03 Reports and Information.
(A) The Board may require that an affiliated entity annually submit to the Executive Director:
(1) its annual budget and goals for the upcoming year;
(2) its annual report for the previous year; and
(3) its financial audit for the previous year
(B) The Board may periodically request affiliated entities to provide the Executive Director other
information including, but not limited to, their strategic plans, marketing reports, performance
measures reports, and internal audit reports.
1.18 Judicial Poll
At the direction of the Supreme Court, the Board may authorize a judicial poll of the State Bar membership
setting forth the conduct, tabulation, and publicity of the poll. The poll shall cover the races for the
Supreme Court, the Court of Criminal Appeals and the Courts of Appeals.
1.19 Annual Meeting
1.19.01 General. The State Bar shall hold an annual meeting during the month of June or July at such
location as determined by the Board.
1.19.02 Annual Meeting Events.
(A) The Presidents’ Party shall be the major social event of the annual meeting. No other event shall be
scheduled at the same time.
(B) The President shall host social events, which may be by invitation only, both in the President's suite
and at other places during the annual meeting, as the President deems necessary in the discharge of his
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or her duties as the official representative of the State Bar at the annual meeting. All the social events
shall be at the State Bar’s expense, subject to limits as set in section 3.12 of this Policy Manual regarding
alcoholic beverages. Officers and Directors other than the President shall refrain from hosting private
social events during the annual meeting.
(C) A prayer breakfast may be held at each annual meeting but shall not be sponsored by or be the
financial responsibility of the State Bar.
1.19.03 Annual Meeting Badges. The Executive Director shall provide at each annual meeting a distinctive
annual meeting badge for past State Bar presidents, fifty-year lawyers, current Officers and Board
Members, and other appropriate persons, such as visiting bar presidents.
1.19.04 Annual Meeting Registrations.
(A) All registrations and hotel reservations shall be processed through the State Bar headquarters.
(B) Any registration fee for the annual meeting shall be waived for former State Bar presidents.
(C) The annual meeting fees for attorneys and law students shall be established by the Board on the
recommendation of the Executive Director.
(D) Law students must pay for all ticketed events.
1.19.05 Annual Meeting Resolutions.
(A) The State Bar shall have a standing committee on annual meeting resolutions. The purpose of this
committee is to receive, compile, prepare for consideration, and consider all resolutions to be submitted
to the annual meeting of the State Bar. It has the duty to amend, accept, or reject any resolutions that
are properly brought before it. The committee has the further duty to present a report to the final
meeting of the general assembly of the annual meeting of the State Bar concerning all resolutions
properly brought before the committee including rejected resolutions.
Courtesy resolutions shall not be governed by such policies and procedures and shall be prepared by the
President and approved or rejected by the general assembly of the State Bar.
(B) Resolutions approved by the resolutions committee shall be favorably reported to the general
assembly of the annual meeting of the State Bar for its consideration.
(C) A resolution adopted by the final general assembly of the State Bar annual meeting may be referred
to only as a resolution adopted by the general assembly of the State Bar and shall not be deemed to be
nor referred to as the action of the State Bar.
(D) If the general assembly of the State Bar annual meeting adopts a resolution, the Board shall consider
such resolution at its next meeting and shall determine whether the resolution is of such importance to
call a referendum. The adoption of any resolution by the general assembly shall not require the
submission of any referendum to the members of the State Bar.
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1.19.06 Procedures for Submitting Resolutions.
(A) Each resolution submitted to the annual meeting resolution committee shall be submitted in printed
or electronic form.
(1) If any document is referred to within a resolution, a copy of the document or its relevant portion
must be included with the resolution.
(2) Each resolution shall include a statement indicating whether it has been approved by any local bar
association or by any section or committee of the State Bar. Every proposed resolution must be
accompanied by a concise statement of the proponent(s) setting forth the dates of all prior
submissions of any substantially similar resolution and the action taken thereon by the annual meeting
resolutions committee, the general assembly, and the Board.
(3) Each resolution shall include the name, address, and telephone number of the person or persons
submitting the resolution and shall be signed by such person or persons.
(B) All resolutions must be filed with the Executive Director by April 1 unless the time for filing has been
waived by the Board.
(C) A summary of the resolutions policy and procedure shall be published in the February issue of the
Texas Bar Journal. If one or more resolutions are submitted, notice of that fact shall be published in the
May issue of the Texas Bar Journal with a link to the online posting of each resolution. The online posting
of each resolution shall include the name or names of its proponents and the name or names of any
local bar association or section or committee of the State Bar approving or endorsing it. The Executive
Director shall furnish copies of each resolution to each member of the annual meeting resolutions
committee.
(D) Resolutions relating to events after the deadline for filing resolutions may be considered upon the
vote of two-thirds of the voting members of the annual meeting resolutions committee.
(E) At the second quarterly meeting of the Board, the President shall appoint a committee of three or
more members, who may be members of the Board, to review the resolutions and hold a hearing or
hearings before the meeting of the annual meeting resolutions committee to recommend possible
amendments to and consolidation of resolutions. At least one sponsor of each resolution shall be
notified of the time and place of all hearings. The recommendations of this committee are not binding
on the sponsors of any resolution or on the annual meeting resolutions committee. One member of this
committee shall be the immediate past Chair of the Board.
1.19.07 Annual Meeting Resolutions Committee.
(A) The membership of the annual meeting resolutions committee shall consist of the following persons,
each of whom shall be a member in good standing of the State Bar:
(1) All past and currently elected Officers and Directors, including all newly elected Officers and
Directors who are scheduled to be inaugurated at the State Bar annual meeting;
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(2) All currently elected officers and voting directors of the TYLA, including all newly elected officers
and voting directors who are scheduled to be inaugurated at the State Bar annual meeting;
(3) One appointed or elected delegate from each State Bar section for each 1,000 section members (or
fraction thereof);
(4) Delegates, to be appointed or elected by each local bar association, including each local young
lawyers association, from its membership upon the following basis: one delegate for each two
hundred fifty members (or fraction thereof) who are in good standing in the State Bar at the time of
their designation. The process of selecting these delegates should encourage participation by women,
ethnic and racial minorities;
(5) Properly designated alternates. When any delegate provided for under Subsections 1.19.07(A)(3)
or (4) is not present at any session of this committee, any alternate delegate who has been properly
designated in the same manner as the absent delegate shall serve.
(6) Delegates and alternates shall be designated to the Executive Director not less than forty-five days
before the annual meeting resolutions committee is scheduled to meet. Upon receipt of the names,
the Executive Director shall enroll each delegate as a member or alternate member of the committee.
The committee may also seat by majority vote any duly accredited delegate who may appear at the
annual meeting of the committee without timely designation to the Executive Director.
(7) All disputes concerning credentials will be resolved by majority vote of the annual meeting
resolutions committee before any other business is conducted. Delegates whose credentials are in
dispute may not vote until the dispute is resolved.
(B) The annual meeting resolutions committee procedures shall be determined by the Board at or before
that annual meeting.
(C) Committee officers and members shall hold office only during the meeting at the State Bar annual
meeting at which they serve.
1.19.08 Officers. Officers of the annual meeting resolutions committee shall be as follows:
(A) Chair. The immediate past Chair of the Board;
(B) Vice Chair. The chair of the Texas Young Lawyers Association Board of Directors;
(C) Secretary. The chair of the State Bar Local Bar Leaders Standing Committee;
(D) Parliamentarian. To be appointed by the President;
(E) Two alternates. Two leaders of the local registration committee appointed by the President.
1.19.09 Duties of Officers.
(A) Chair. The chair of the annual meeting resolutions committee shall preside at all the meetings of the
committee and formulate and present to the final general assembly meeting of the State Bar such annual
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meeting resolutions as have been adopted by the annual meeting resolutions committee. In addition,
the chair shall also perform the other duties that usually pertain to this office.
(B) Vice-Chair. On the death, resignation, disability, refusal to act, or temporary absence of the chair,
the vice-chair shall perform the duties of the chair.
(C) Secretary. The secretary shall keep a true record of the proceedings of all committee meetings and
meetings of the committee officers, and an accurate committee membership roll and shall prepare a
summary of the proceedings of all committee meetings for publication or other action deemed
appropriate by the President. The Executive Director shall be the custodian of all books, papers,
documents, and other property of the committee. In performing these functions, the secretary will be
assisted by the Executive Director or such staff person as may be directed.
(D) Parliamentarian. The parliamentarian shall assist the chair in presiding over the meetings of the
committee. Unless otherwise provided, the current edition of Robert’s Rules of Order will be the
governing parliamentary rules.
1.19.10 Procedures Before Meeting of Committee
(A) The Executive Director shall arrange for an adequate room in the headquarters hotel or annual
meeting facility. The room shall be arranged to separate by group delegates, alternates, and non-voting
members of the State Bar.
(B) The Executive Director shall appoint a sufficient number of registrars to issue credentials to the
voting delegates and alternates.
(C) Prior to the meeting of the annual meeting resolutions committee, the Executive Director shall
furnish to such duly appointed registrars a list of all duly accredited voting delegates and alternates.
(D) The registrars shall be available at the meeting place ready to issue credentials not later than one
hour immediately before each meeting and remain throughout the meeting.
(E) The official annual meeting program shall state the time and place of each meeting of the annual
meeting resolutions committee at the annual meeting. If additional meetings of the annual meeting
resolutions committee are called after the program has been printed, a sign indicating the time and
place of each additional meeting shall be posted at the general registration desk.
(F) The President of TYLA shall furnish two members of TYLA to act as sergeants-at-arms at each meeting
of the annual meeting resolutions committee at the next annual meeting of the State Bar. The sergeantsat-arms shall be issued proper credentials and badges of office, and their primary duty shall be to see
that all voting delegates and alternates who are entitled to vote are seated in the space provided for
them and that no person who is not entitled to vote is permitted in that space.
1.19.11 Meetings of the Annual Meeting Resolutions Committee.
(A) The annual meeting of the resolutions committee shall be held during the State Bar annual meeting
and in the same city. The annual meeting of this committee may consist of one or more sessions during
the annual meeting of the State Bar, and regardless of the number of sessions conducted, all sessions
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conducted after the annual meeting of the State Bar convenes shall be considered one single annual
meeting of this committee.
(B) Fifty members of the annual meeting resolutions committee possessing voting privileges present at
any meeting shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.
(C) Every member in good standing of the State Bar may attend any meeting of the annual meeting
resolutions committee with the right to speak to, present, or advocate any resolution that is properly
before the committee. Only members of the committee may vote on any matters before the committee.
(D) Alternates will be allowed to vote only when the appointed or elected delegate is not in the room
when the annual meeting resolutions committee is in session and this absence is certified by the
appropriate sergeant-at-arms.
1.19.12 Majority Vote Required. Except as otherwise provided, all actions by the committee shall be taken
by majority vote of all members of the committee present and voting at the time the vote is taken,
provided that a quorum is present. No voting by proxy shall be permitted.
1.20 American Bar Association Delegation
1.20.01 Nominating Committee. A five person nominating committee will be appointed each year to
designate State Bar American Bar Association (ABA) delegates. The President will appoint two members,
the Chair will appoint two members, and the Immediate Past President will chair the committee with the
immediate past Chair standing by in the event the Immediate Past President is unable or unwilling to
serve.
1.20.02 ABA Criteria for Solicitation Guidelines. The nominating committee will select nominees and
alternates reflective of the Bar membership. Except as provided below, no member of the nominating
committee is eligible for nomination as a delegate or alternate.
1.20.03 Committee Recommendation. The nominating committee will present its nominees and
alternates to the Board for approval at its third quarterly meeting. If the slate is not approved by the
Board, it will be remanded to the nominating committee for further consideration and presentation of
nominees and alternates for approval by the Board at its fourth quarterly meeting.
1.20.04 Applications. The nominating committee will adopt procedures to publicize the opening of ABA
delegate positions so that applicants may submit their names to the special nominating committee. In
addition, the nominating committee is entitled to originate names of its own.
1.20.05 Incoming President-elect, President-elect, President. The Officers will hold three of the ABA
delegate slots. In the event any Officer is unable or unwilling to serve, the Chair and/or the Immediate
Past Chair, in that order, will serve in such Officer's stead.
1.20.06 Term Limitation. The maximum term of service of an ABA delegate is the longer of six consecutive
years or until a successor is appointed.
1.20.07 Position Meeting. Before each meeting of the ABA, the Texas ABA delegates will convene to
discuss positions to be taken at the ABA meeting.
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1.20.08 State Bar Position on ABA Modification. If the State Bar is provided with additional ABA
delegates, the State Bar opposes any method or attempt by the ABA Committee on Constitution and
Bylaws to modify the right of the Board of the State Bar to determine and set its own policies about who
may serve as ABA delegates.
1.20.09 Informing the Board. The Chair has the duty to ensure that the Board is informed on matters of
concern to the State Bar that may be pending before the ABA House of Delegates.
1.21 Awards
1.21.01 Generally. The Board may create and grant such awards as it deems appropriate and advisable.
1.21.02 Awards to Local Bar Associations. At the annual meeting of the State Bar, the State Bar may
recognize local bar associations with awards of merit and certificates of achievement. The awards of merit
may be given for overall programs in each of four divisions based on the size of the association. Certificates
of achievement may be given for special projects to every association that qualifies. The awards program
and selection are conducted by the Local Bar Services standing committee.
1.21.03 Chair’s Award. The Chair may present special awards on recommendation of and under criteria
prepared by the Executive Committee.
1.21.04 Fifty Year Lawyers. Lawyers whose fiftieth year of licensure occurs within the year before the
annual meeting of the State Bar shall be recognized by the President and presented with appropriate
recognition.
1.21.05 Crowley Award. This award is named in honor of the late Michael J. Crowley, a chair of the Board
in 1994-1995, who led a distinguished professional life as a prominent Austin lawyer and bar leader. He is
also known for establishing the Texas Lawyers’ Assistance Program that he pioneered both at the State
Bar of Texas and at the American Bar Association.
(A) The Crowley Award is established to recognize the meritorious service by a current member of the
Board. The recipient should exemplify selfless dedication of time and talent to the legal profession
particularly in a specific project, activity or event including but not limited to the Commission, the Texas
Bar Foundation, and related organizations. Such meritorious service should benefit more than just a
specific segment of the legal community or of the public. Such service should be of such extraordinary
nature that the award should not be given any year unless such exemplary performance is achieved. The
Crowley Award is made in the tradition reflected in Subsection 1.21.03 above, but because of its special
importance, it is being established pursuant to the inherent authority of the Board, and is not intended
to replace or supersede the Outstanding Third Year Director Award, which is traditionally presented at
the annual meeting of the Board.
(B) The Chair, immediate past Chair and a former Chair may select a current Director to receive this
award. If the immediate past Chair or former Chair is unavailable, the Chair-elect shall serve in their
stead. The recipient of the award shall have exemplified selfless dedication of time and talent to the
legal profession, particularly in a specific project, activity or event, including, but not limited to the
Commission, the Texas Bar Foundation, and related organizations. Such meritorious service should
benefit more than just a specific segment of the legal community or public, and should be so
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extraordinary that the award should not be given any year in the absence of such service. The Board
shall pay for the design and inscription of a suitable award to be given to each recipient, and of a plaque
containing the names of the award recipients to be displayed in a prominent place at the Texas Law
Center.
1.21.06 Legislative Award. After the legislature has adjourned, each member of the legislature who either
sponsored State Bar legislation or whom the President determines was a major contributor to the success
of the State Bar's legislative program may be given a certificate or other appropriate award.
1.21.07 President's Award. At the annual meeting of the State Bar, the President will present the
President's Award to a member of the State Bar determined by the President to have rendered
outstanding service to the State Bar. The Executive Director or designee will design and select the
President's Award. Officers, Directors, and State Bar staff are ineligible to receive the President's Award.
In addition, the President may award certificates of merit to those members of the State Bar considered
for, but not awarded the President's award.
1.21.08 Pro Bono and Legal Service Awards.
(A) Pro Bono Award. The Committee on Legal Services to the Poor in Civil Matters shall recommend to
the Board organizations to receive awards for outstanding contributions toward guaranteeing the
indigent access to the legal system through pro bono.
(B) Frank Scurlock Award. The Committee on Legal Services to the Poor in Civil Matters shall recommend
to the Board a pro bono attorney deemed to have made an outstanding contribution toward
guaranteeing the indigent access to the legal system.
(C) J. Chrys Dougherty Legal Services Award. The Committee on Legal Services to the Poor in Civil Matters
shall recommend to the Board individual attorneys employed by organizations providing free legal
services to the poor, including Legal Services Corporation or IOLTA-funded entities, and deemed to have
made an outstanding contribution toward guaranteeing the indigent access to the legal system.
(D) W. Frank Newton Award. The Committee on Legal Services to the Poor in Civil Matters shall
recommend to the Board a group of attorneys (i.e., law firm, corporate law department, government
attorney department, or law school faculty) whose members have made an outstanding contribution in
provision of or access to legal services to the poor.
(E) Pro Bono Coordinator Award. The Committee on Legal Services to the Poor in Civil Matters shall
recommend to the Board an individual, either an attorney or non-attorney, to receive this award who
has made an exceptional contribution to the delivery of, and access to legal services for the poor, while
serving as the pro bono coordinator for a volunteer attorney organization or group, local bar association,
law firm, law school, corporate legal office, governmental law department or legal services organization.
(F) Judge Merrill Hartman Pro Bono Judge Award. The Committee on Legal Services to the Poor in Civil
Matters shall recommend to the Board an award honoring a judge, sitting or retired, who has provided
exemplary pro bono service, including: outreach to attorneys to increase the quantity and quality of pro
bono representation; modifications to court processes to increase access to justice; advocacy on behalf
of access to justice; or service as a volunteer judge for pro bono clinics or other pro bono proceedings.
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This award is named for the late Judge Merrill Hartman of Dallas, a tireless advocate for low-income
communities’ access to justice.
(G) Pro Bono Support Staff Award. The Committee on Legal Services to the Poor in Civil Matters shall
recommend to the Board an award recognizing the outstanding and exemplary contributions of nonattorney volunteers, such as paralegals, administrative assistants, interpreters, and other support staff
who work on pro bono projects.
1.21.09 Public Members Award. From time to time the Chair may make special awards to public members
of the Board for outstanding service.
1.21.10 James E. Brill Award for Excellence in Succession Planning. As and when appropriate, any State
Bar member or Board member may recommend to the Insurance Member Benefits Subcommittee and
attorney, individual, or organization who is deemed to have made an outstanding contribution toward
succession planning caused by death, disability, or unforeseen circumstances in cessation of law practice
efforts. The Insurance Member Benefits Subcommittee shall make a recommendation to the Board for
approval of the award recipient.
1.21.11 Janna Clarke Award for Promoting Excellence in Local Bar Associations. As and when
appropriate, the Board of Directors may recognize an attorney, individual, or organization for outstanding
leadership at the State Bar level to facilitate leadership among local bar organizations and collaborations
between the local bar organization and the State Bar of Texas. Liaisons to the Local Bar Services
Committee, with input from local bar associations, may recommend award recipients to the Board.
1.22 Procedure to Amend Policy Manual
1.22.01 Proposals. Additions or amendments to this Policy Manual may be proposed to the Board by any
Board member, a Board committee with jurisdiction over the subject matter, or the Executive Committee.
The sponsoring party shall review additions or amendments to the Policy Manual with the General
Counsel, the State Bar Legal Counsel and the Policy Manual Subcommittee prior to proposing the change
or addition to the Board.
1.22.02 Board Action. Upon consideration by the Board, the Board has the option of approving such
change as written and presented to the Board, approving such change as it may be modified by the Board
during discussion, or approving the substantive policy and referring the policy to the Policy Manual
Subcommittee to draft more appropriate language for a Policy Manual provision. If the proposed change
is referred to the Policy Manual Subcommittee, the Board may, at that time, also delegate to the Executive
Committee the authority to approve the provision for inclusion in the Policy Manual, subject to the
Board’s ratification at its next scheduled meeting.
1.22.03 Approval of Draft Provision.
(A) Executive Committee. In the event the Board delegates approval authority to the Executive
Committee pursuant to section 1.22.02 above, the Policy Manual Subcommittee shall present the
proposed provision to the Executive Committee for approval at its next meeting.
(B) Board. In the event the Board does not delegate approval authority to the Executive Committee
pursuant to section 1.22.02 above, the Policy Manual Subcommittee shall present the proposed
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provision to the Executive Committee at its next meeting, and the Executive Committee will take action
to approve the proposal as presented or as revised by a vote of its members. The provision approved by
the Executive Committee shall then be recommended by the Executive Committee to the Board for
action at its next meeting.
1.22.04 Policy Manual Subcommittee Recommendations. In the event the Policy Manual Subcommittee
identifies any substantive issue that may require amendment of the Policy Manual, and the Subcommittee
deems such matter to require the expertise of a specific jurisdictional Board committee, the
Subcommittee shall recommend to the Executive Committee that the matter be referred to the
appropriate Board committee for its consideration and presentation to the Board as the Board committee
may deem appropriate.
1.22.05 Other Proposals. All other amendments to the Policy Manual identified by the Policy Manual
Subcommittee shall be presented to the Executive Committee by the Policy Manual Subcommittee for
consideration and action. If the Executive Committee approves the proposed provision, as presented or
modified by the Executive Committee, the Executive Committee shall present the proposed provision to
the Board for action at the Board’s next scheduled meeting.
1.23 Voting in State Bar and TYLA Elections
Voting in all state-wide or district State Bar and TYLA elections, including elections of directors, elections
of officers, and referenda pursuant to the State Bar Act and the State Bar Rules, shall be conducted by
secret ballot, whether written or electronic. The State Bar shall not disclose any record or provide any
information that would reveal how a particular member of the State Bar voted in any such election. This
provision does not apply to votes cast in any meeting that is subject to the Texas Open Meetings Act, Tex.
Govt. Code Ch. 551.
1.24 Political Endorsements and Advocacy
Subject to section 1.10, current Officers and members of the Board may not, acting in their official State
Bar capacities, endorse any candidate for any non-State Bar elected office. Additionally, current Officers
and members of the Board, acting in their official State Bar capacities, may not advocate for the passage
or defeat of any state or federal statute or rule without approval of the Board of Directors in accordance
with Part VIII of this Policy Manual.
1.25 Disqualification From Participation
A Board member who is an adverse party may not participate in a discussion of or action on a matter in
which he or she is adverse to the Bar. A Board member who is disqualified from participation under this
section may not be present if the matter is being discussed in any non-public sessions, including, but not
limited to, an executive session. If a Board member who is an adverse party requests documents relating
to the matter, it is presumed that the Board member is not seeking the documents in his or her official
capacity, and Section 9.06 (“Officer and Board Member Requests for Records”) shall not apply to such
requests. In this policy, “adverse party” means a party whose interests are opposed to the State Bar of
Texas in a legal action.
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1.26 Board Code of Conduct
The Board of Directors of the State Bar of Texas (“SBOT”) has adopted the following Code of Conduct for
its Officers, Attorney Directors, Elected Directors, Public Directors, At-Large Directors, and Ex officio
Directors (collectively referred to herein as “Board Members”) when participating in the affairs of the
Board and its committees and sections. This Code is not intended to override or conflict with any
applicable laws or obligations pursuant to the State Bar Act, the State Bar Rules, the State Bar Board Policy
Manual, or the Texas Lawyer’s Creed, or the SBOT Events and Conferences Code of Conduct (the “SBOT
Governing Documents”).
Board Members are to be guided by this Code in carrying out their responsibilities as SBOT Officers and
Directors. No code of conduct can anticipate every situation that may arise. Accordingly, this Code
provides guiding principles to be applied in various circumstances. Generally, the goal is to ensure that
Board Members strive to foster SBOT’s Mission Statement and act in an ethical manner by setting a
minimum standard for the conduct of SBOT Board Members.
The mission of the State Bar of Texas is to support the administration of the legal system,
assure all citizens equal access to justice, foster high standards of ethical conduct for
lawyers, enable its members to better serve their clients and the public, educate the public
about the rule of law, and promote diversity in the administration of justice and the
practice of law.
(A) Professionalism and Ethics. The reputation of the SBOT depends upon the way Board Members
conduct themselves and the way the public perceives that conduct. Board Members must adhere to a
high standard of professionalism and act ethically in conducting their duties. This includes being honest
and acting with integrity. Unethical actions, or the appearance of unethical actions, are not acceptable.
The SBOT’s Events and Conferences Code of Conduct is extended to the participation of Board Members
in all of the affairs of the Board and its committees and sections.
(B) Care, Inquiry and Attendance. Board Members shall apply themselves with due care when conducting
SBOT business. Board Members are expected to be generally familiar with the SBOT Documents. Board
Members shall take such steps as are reasonably necessary to be sufficiently informed to make decisions
on behalf of the SBOT and to participate in an informed manner in the Board’s activities. Board Members
should aspire to attend all meetings of the Board and attempt to schedule personal and work obligations
around meetings of the Board.
(C) Compliance with Laws, Rules and Regulations. Board Members shall comply with all laws, rules and
regulations applicable to the SBOT, including the SBOT Governing Documents. In accordance with
Section 39.06 of the Texas Penal Code, a Board Member may not disclose or misuse information
obtained in closed session, and must keep such information confidential.
(D) Diversity, Equity and Inclusion. Board Members should aspire to create an inclusive environment,
regardless of race, ethnicity, religion, color, national origin, age, sex, disability (physical or mental),
military and/or veteran status, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, or other
characteristics protected by applicable federal, state or local law. Board Members shall not engage in
behavior intended to discriminate, harass, intimidate, degrade, or humiliate others based on these
characteristics.
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(E) Enforcement. Any Board Member may report a potential violation of the Code to the SBOT Ad Hoc
Submission Committee, which may forward legitimate reports to the Executive Committee for
consideration and investigation. Before determining that a violation has occurred or that a corrective
action is appropriate, the Board Member in question shall be given an opportunity to appear before the
Executive Committee and respond in writing. Any decision by the Executive Committee may be appealed
by the Board Member in question to the full Board.
(F) Corrective Action. Corrective action may include, without limitation, a private warning, public
censure, removal of the Board Member from a SBOT Board Committee or Subcommittee, or as Board
Advisor or Board Alternate Advisor to any SBOT Section or Division, expelling the Board Member from
an SBOT event without a refund, or disqualification of the Board Member from participating in any
discussion or vote on a matter in which he/she is an adverse party.
(G) Clarifications. Any Board Member may discuss with the General Counsel any questions or issues that
may arise concerning compliance with this Code.
(H) No Prior Restraint. Nothing herein shall preclude any Board Member from making comments that
are protected as free speech under the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and under Article 1,
Section 8 of the Texas Constitution.
(I) Board Training. This Code shall be a component of the training required of new Board Members by
Section 81.0201 of the State Bar Act.
PART II. PRESIDENT OF THE STATE BAR OF TEXAS
2.01 Election of President-elect
2.01.01 General. The following guidelines are adopted pursuant to the State Bar Act and the rules
promulgated thereunder. The relevant provisions of that act and those rules (Texas Government Code,
Title 2, Subtitle G, Chapter 81; State Bar Rules, Art. IV, Sec. 11) are incorporated within these guidelines.
2.01.02 Definitions
(A) Subcommittee. The Nominations and Elections Subcommittee of the Executive Committee of the
State Bar of Texas.
(B) Potential Nominee. Any person whose name is submitted, pursuant to the provisions of Subsection
2.01.08 below, for consideration by the Subcommittee as a Nominee to stand for election to the office
of President-elect for the following year.
(C) Nominee. Any person selected by the Nominations and Elections Subcommittee to be voted on by
the Board.
(D) Candidate. Any person selected by the Board as a candidate, and anyone who has obtained Executive
Director certification pursuant to the provisions of Subsection 2.01.05 below.
(E) Campaign. Any activities and communications in any form by or on behalf of a Potential Nominee,
Nominee, potential Candidate, or Candidate for the purpose of gaining votes for election as President30
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elect.
(F) Social Media. Websites and internet-based applications that enable users to create and share content
and/or to participate in social networking, including, but not limited to Facebook, LinkedIn, and Twitter.
2.01.03 Election. The President-elect shall be elected by vote of a majority of those members of the State
Bar who voted in such election. Such election shall be held in April or May of each year. The person so
elected shall assume the office of President-elect at the next annual meeting following the succession of
the then President-elect to the office of President.
2.01.04 Qualifications. Any member of the State Bar who meets the eligibility requirements for Officers
set forth in the State Bar Act and the State Bar Rules is eligible for nomination for President-elect.
2.01.05 Nominations.
(A) At its regularly scheduled first quarterly meeting each Organizational Year, the Board, on
recommendation by the Subcommittee, shall nominate by a majority vote two or more members of the
State Bar to be Candidates and to stand for election to the office of President-elect for the next
Organizational Year. Any other qualified member shall also be privileged to stand for election to that office
as a Candidate when a written petition, in a form prescribed by the Board and signed by no less than five
percent of the active members of the State Bar who are in good standing, is filed by or on behalf of such
member with the Executive Director on or before March 1 preceding the election for the ensuing
Organizational Year and such petition is certified by the Executive Director. An electronic signature may
be used on the petition form. A petition signature is invalid if it is not dated or the signer signed the
petition before September 1 of the year before the election.
(B) The Executive Director shall either certify or reject such petition within five (5) business days following
receipt of the petition by the Executive Director. Any disputes arising from the Executive Director’s
decision shall be resolved by the Executive Committee in accordance with the State Bar Rules. By either
accepting the nomination of the Board or soliciting petition signatures, all potential Candidates and
Candidates (including Director Candidates) certify that they have read and agree to be bound by the
provisions of these guidelines relating to Campaigns for the office of President-elect or Director,
respectively, and regarding the role of the Subcommittee.
2.01.06 Candidate Pools. All potential Candidates for President-elect, whether selected by the Board or
by petition as described in Subsection 2.01.05, shall be selected and bound by, and eligible for election
only in compliance with the following Candidate pools that rotate on the following three year cycle:
(A) potential Candidates whose principle places of practice are in the five metropolitan counties of
Bexar, Dallas, Harris, Tarrant, or Travis in the first year of rotation;
(B) potential Candidates whose principal places of practice are in counties other than the five
metropolitan counties in the second year of rotation; and
(C) potential Candidates whose principal places of practice are in any county.
2.01.07 Selection of Candidates. The Board shall select President-elect Candidates as follows:
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(A) In August preceding the first quarterly meeting at which the Board selects Candidates, the
Subcommittee chair(s) shall notify Texas bar associations representing the State Bar's diverse
membership and State Bar sections, divisions, and committees that the Nominee selection process has
begun. The chair(s) of the Subcommittee shall request from those groups the names and background
information of Potential Nominees, explaining the criteria for selection described in Subsection (C).
(B) The Subcommittee shall state its intent to solicit Potential Nominees by distributing notice on the
State Bar website and by publishing notice in the July issue of the Texas Bar Journal. The publication
shall contain the criteria for Nominee selection described in Subsections 2.01.04, 2.01.06 and 2.01.07(C).
Anyone submitting a name for consideration should first obtain that person’s written consent to have
his or her name submitted.
(C) Subject to Subsections 2.01.04 and 2.01.06, any member in good standing with the State Bar is
eligible for nomination. The Subcommittee shall select qualified Nominees, and choose its Nominees
with the objective of ensuring that, over a period of years, the office of the President includes men and
women, ethnic and racial diversity, lawyers from large, medium and small firms and solo practitioners,
and members from urban and rural and metropolitan and non-metropolitan areas of the State. In doing
so, the Subcommittee shall consider a potential Candidate's involvement as a member of the Board or
in State Bar committee work, knowledge of State Bar operations, participation in local and specialty bar
associations, and other activities demonstrating leadership ability, and sincere interest and competence
in dealing with issues concerning the State Bar of Texas.
(D) The Subcommittee may also solicit Potential Nominees whose names have not been submitted
through the process described in Subsections 2.01.07(A) and (B) Persons solicited as Potential Nominees
must meet the criteria described in Subsection 2.01.07(C).
(E) As part of the selection process, each Potential Nominee should be asked to submit a resume and a
brief statement indicating the reasons for his or her interest in serving as President. The Subcommittee
may interview Potential Nominees. The travel expenses incurred by a Potential Nominee in attending
such interview will be reimbursed by the State Bar.
(F) Potential Nominees are urged to discuss their prospective candidacies with their families, any
applicable partners or management in their offices, as well as other relevant parties to ensure that all
Potential Nominees will agree to be Nominees, if approved by the Subcommittee, and that all Nominees
will agree to be Candidates, if selected by the Board.
(G) The Subcommittee shall submit to the Board the names of two or more qualified Nominees for
President-elect. The Subcommittee shall perform the due diligence it deems appropriate on each
Nominee it intends to submit to the Board.
2.01.08 Notification of Nomination.
(A) Insofar as it is possible, the Nominees recommended by the Subcommittee should be notified
contemporaneously.
(B) The Candidates selected by the Board, should be notified contemporaneously.
2.01.09 Announcement of Candidates and Scheduling of Candidate Forums. As soon as reasonably
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practicable after all Candidates for President-elect are selected by the Board or certified through the
petition process described in Subsection 2.01.05, the names of all Candidates, the counties of their
principal places of practice, and their biographical information, shall be published at the same time on the
State Bar website and in the Texas Bar Journal. At least two candidate forums at which Texas attorneys
may ask questions of the candidates shall be scheduled and advertised on the State Bar website and in
the Texas Bar Journal. The candidate forums shall include the option for attorneys to attend and
participate remotely.
2.01.10 Distribution of Ballots. A combined ballot for the office of President-elect and for the office of
Director may be used in bar districts in which an election for Director is to be conducted. On April 1, or on
the first working day following April 1 if April 1 falls on a weekend, an official ballot listing the names of
all Candidates for President-elect and candidates for Director shall be distributed to each member of the
State Bar who is eligible to vote.
2.01.11 Campaign Brochures. Each Candidate is responsible for the design and content of a single
Campaign brochure that the State Bar will print in a four-color process, using the same size and quality of
paper for each Candidate’s brochure. Brochures used in the election for President-elect will be distributed
on the State Bar website and with electronic ballots. Paper copies will be mailed at State Bar expense,
along with any official paper ballots. The State Bar of Texas shall pay, in addition to the printing expense
of the brochures included with the paper ballots, the cost of printing such reasonable amount of such
extra brochures as the Subcommittee may determine is appropriate. Candidates may purchase additional
copies of the brochures for their own use at cost.
2.01.12 Campaign Expenditures. To the greatest extent permitted by law, each Candidate for the office
of President-elect is urged to expend no more than $25,000 in Campaign expenses, including expenses
for transportation and lodging during the Campaign. The State Bar shall reimburse each Candidate up to
$15,000 for actual out-of-pocket Campaign expenditures, which may include transportation and lodging
costs for the Candidate and his or her spouse. This reimbursement is in addition to, and not in lieu of,
Campaign expenses paid directly by the State Bar. Candidates seeking reimbursement shall submit verified
reports of all Campaign expenditures, including expenses for transportation and lodging, within 45 days
after the Campaign ends.
2.01.13 Online Campaign Activities. Any potential Candidate or Candidate who chooses to maintain a
Campaign Social Media presence is encouraged to monitor all posts and comments on his or her Campaign
Social Media with the objective of assuring civility and professionalism in the Campaign, and is urged to
promptly remove content or comments that are offensive, contain vulgar language, or include irrelevant
personal attacks.
2.01.14 Campaign Conduct. The potential Candidates and their supporters are urged to conduct the
Campaign in a professional and dignified manner. In communicating with State Bar members, whether by
letter, card, fax, email, Social Media, telephone, or online. Candidates and their supporters are
encouraged to concentrate on the merits of the candidacy and to refrain from irrelevant personal attacks
against other potential Candidates or Candidates. Potential Candidates and Candidates are expected to
comport themselves in compliance with all applicable provisions of The Texas Lawyer's Creed, A Mandate
for Professionalism, promulgated by the Supreme Court of Texas and the Court of Criminal Appeals.
2.01.15 Campaign Oversight. Potential Candidates and Candidates shall consult with the chair(s) of the
Subcommittee concerning the interpretation of these guidelines, and the chair(s) (and other
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Subcommittee members, if consulted) will remain scrupulously impartial in rendering a decision
concerning such matters or in selecting a remedy. If a potential Candidate or Candidate wishes to appeal
a decision of the Subcommittee chair(s), such appeal must be made to the Subcommittee in writing within
two business days of the Subcommittee chair(s)’ decision. Except as otherwise provided in this Policy
Manual, the Subcommittee shall supervise the guidelines, eligibility, nominations, campaign, election, and
election results to ensure compliance with these guidelines and shall resolve all such disputes and decide
all remedies. Decisions and interpretations made by the Subcommittee hereunder shall be final. In the
event of any violation of these guidelines, the Subcommittee will determine the remedy, including
allowing the other Candidates to engage in like activity and up to publicly censure in such form and
disseminated in such manner as the Subcommittee deems appropriate.
Additionally, regardless of the existence of any violation of these guidelines, the Subcommittee may
request that the Executive Director offer all Candidates the opportunity to distribute one or more of their
Campaign messages via the State Bar's membership email list if the Subcommittee determines that will
advance fairness in the election.
2.01.16 Run-Off Election for President-Elect.
(A) If no candidate for President-elect receives a majority vote, a run-off election shall be held at such
time as the Board prescribes between the two candidates receiving the greatest number of votes. The
Board shall also prescribe the date the run-off ballots are to be distributed to the members eligible to
vote and the date and time that voting in the run-off election shall cease.
(B) As soon as practicable after it is determined that a run-off election is necessary and the run-off
Candidates have been determined, the State Bar shall publish on its website a notice to its members
that a run-off election for President-elect will be held. Such notice shall include the identity of the runoff Candidates, the date the run-off ballots will be distributed to the members, and the date and time
that voting in the run-off election will cease.
(C) The State Bar may use, but is not required to use, a combined ballot for the run-off election for the
office of President-elect and for the office of Director in those districts in which a run-off election is also
required for the office of Director.
(D) The run-off Candidate receiving a majority of the votes cast in the run-off election shall be declared
elected to the office of President-elect .
2.02 Presidential Succession
At the annual meeting of the State Bar, the then President-elect shall succeed to the office of President
and shall be sworn in to such office before the general assembly of the State Bar annual meeting. The
outgoing President shall then assume the office of Immediate Past President and the person elected
during the most recent President-elect election shall assume the office of President-elect.
2.03 Authority
2.03.01 General. The President-elect, the President, and the Immediate Past President shall enjoy all of
the authority, duties, rights and responsibilities afforded each of them by the State Bar Act, the State Bar
Rules, this Policy Manual, and the Board.
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2.03.02 Official Spokesperson. The President, along with the Executive Director, shall be the official
spokesperson of the State Bar. Public statements pertaining to grievance and the disciplinary procedure
shall be coordinated through the chair of the Commission for Lawyer Discipline.
2.03.03 Immediate Past Chair. While the Immediate Past Chair has no authority to vote on matters
coming before the Executive Committee and the Board of Directors, the Immediate Past Chair may make
and second motions at any meeting of the Board and the Executive Committee. Additionally, the
Immediate Past Chair may be appointed by the Chair to Board committees as a member and as chair.
When serving on any Board committee, other than the Executive Committee and the Budget Committee,
the Immediate Past Chair shall be counted toward a quorum for such board committees and may vote on
matters coming before such board committees.
2.04 Appointments by Officers
Notwithstanding any provision of this policy manual to the contrary, any appointment of any person by
an Officer to any entity or committee, including special committees such as ad-hoc committees and task
forces, must be submitted for approval by the Executive Committee or the Board.
PART III. FISCAL POLICIES, FACILITIES AND PROPERTY
3.01 Dues and Assessments
3.01.01 Dues. In order to maintain a license for authority to practice law in Texas, each attorney must pay
all State Bar dues required of him or her by the State Bar Act in the time and manner directed by the State
Bar. Dues charged to each member of the State Bar need not be equal. Categories pertaining to years of
practice, residency and age may be established with respect to varying amounts of dues to be paid.
Changes or modifications of the annual dues shall be made only after a resolution proposing such changes
is adopted by the Board, the resolution is approved by the Supreme Court, and a majority of the members
of the State Bar voting approve the changes in a referendum called for that purpose. Current bar dues
are:
(A) $68 per annum for each active member licensed less than three years.
(B) $148 per annum for each active member licensed at least three years but less than five years.
(C) $235 per annum for each active member licensed at least five years.
(D) $50 for each inactive member.
(E) Each member seventy years of age or older is exempt from the payment of annual membership dues.
3.01.02 Assessments. From time to time the members of the State Bar may be charged a special
assessment in addition to dues. The charging of any such special assessment shall require the same
approvals that are required for changes in dues.
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3.02 Annual Budget
3.02.01 Preparation. The Executive Director, in consultation with the President-elect and other members
of the Budget Committee of the Board, shall prepare the following for submission to and approval by the
Board at the regularly scheduled second quarterly meeting of the Board: (a) a proposed budget for the
next Fiscal Year of anticipated operating revenues and operating expenditures for the State Bar; (b) a
notice containing a breakdown of expenditures presented by major expense category; and (c) a notice
estimating the amount of membership dues to be devoted to each major category of expenses. The
budget shall have sufficient information for members to understand the composition of each of the
budget categories. Additional budget category detail will be posted on the State Bar website. The
Executive Director shall submit the proposed budget, expenditure breakdown, and dues allocation, to
each Board Member not less than seven days prior to the second quarterly Board meeting.
3.02.02 Publication. Upon approval by the Board at its second quarterly meeting, the proposed budget,
expenditure breakdown, and dues allocation shall be posted on the State Bar’s website. The proposed
budget, as well as notice of the availability of the proposed budget, expenditure breakdown, and dues
allocation on the State Bar’s website, shall be published in the next issue of the Texas Bar Journal, and
notice shall be given of a public hearing on the proposed budget to be held prior to the next meeting of
the Board. Notice of the availability of the budget, expenditure breakdown, and dues allocation shall be
provided to all members in conjunction with the State Bar’s annual membership dues notice.
3.02.03 Approval. The budget, as revised, shall be submitted to the Board at its regularly scheduled third
meeting. Upon approval by the Board, the budget shall immediately be submitted to the Supreme Court
for approval. The annual budget for the TYLA shall be submitted to the Board and approved by a majority
vote of the Board.
3.02.04 Budget Committee.
(A) The Budget Committee of the Board shall be comprised of:
(1) the President;
(2) the President-elect;
(3) the Chair;
(4) the chair of the Audit and Finance Committee of the Board;
(5) two or more members appointed by the President in consultation with the President-elect and the
Chair
(B) To the extent possible, the President shall consider continuity and experience with the State Bar
budget process in making appointments pursuant to Subsection 3.02.04 (A)(5) above.
(C) The President or the President's designee shall be the chair of the Budget Committee.
(D) The Budget Committee shall have the duty to advise and assist the Executive Director in the
preparation of the annual budget for the State Bar. As part of its review of the proposed budget, the
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Budget Committee shall review the programs, departments and projects to confirm that they further
the State Bar’s purposes and goals as stated in the State Bar Act, the State Bar Rules and the State Bar
Strategic Plan. The Budget Committee shall also review the budgeted items to identify any expenditures
that may be non-chargeable to members under Keller v. State Bar of California, 496 U.S. 1 (1990), and
McDonald v. Longley, 4 F.4th 229 (5th Cir. 2021). If the Budget Committee determines that a certain
item is non-chargeable to members, it shall remove the expenditure from the proposed budget.
3.02.05 Budget Amendments. No budget amendment in a current Fiscal Year’s budget shall be made
without the approval of the Board and the Supreme Court.
3.02.06 Minimum Reserves. The general fund will establish and maintain cash reserves to assure
fulfillment of obligations to the membership and to provide funds for contingencies. The reserves will be
used to continue operations and continue service to the membership in the event normal operations are
interrupted. The reserves will also be used to offset any negative operational effects until expenditures
can be adjusted. Additionally, the reserves may be utilized to fund specific future capital enhancements
and improvements for the operation of the State Bar.
(A) Designated General Operating Reserves. Minimum reserves will be recommended by the Budget
Committee during the annual budget process after collaboration with the Audit and Finance Committee.
The recommendation will be presented to the Board for approval. In setting the minimum reserves, the
Board will take into account all known financial issues and matters facing the State Bar and will be guided
by good business practices. The issues to be considered will include, but are not limited to, the following:
(1) level of stable revenue and expenditures;
(2) major fixed and ongoing expenditures (payroll, mortgage, continuing education programs, lagging
of reimbursements for cash outlays, etc.);
(3) appropriate and adequate risk management programs to protect the State Bar (e.g., adequate
insurance);
(4) contingent liabilities known, disclosed and anticipated but not yet accrued;
(5) strategic direction and plan for the State Bar is in place and being utilized to drive the State Bar;
(6) stability of capital expenditures and programs;
(7) last year’s budget versus last year’s actual contained no material unexplained variances;
(8) prior reserves have been adequate to absorb unexpected and unplanned expenditures variances;
and
(9) growth plan, if relevant, is in place for the State Bar and is incorporated into current budget and
strategy.
(B) Reserves Designations. Some specific areas for which reserves should be maintained, which must be
considered each year during the budgeting and financial planning process, when establishing reserves
for the State Bar are:
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(1) Operating Expenditures. The need for this designation is to provide a level of security to insure that
the resources will be available to meet immediate operating needs. The Board shall consider all factors
enumerated herein and other pertinent and relevant factors, and consider designating two to four
months of budgeted expenditures for this particular designation.
(2) Litigation Expenditures. The purpose of this designation is to set-aside enough funds to cover any
contingent liabilities for litigation expenditures that are known, but have not yet been accrued, and
are expected to require funding within twelve to twenty-four months from the date of budgeting and
planning. The amount the Board will consider will depend on the assessments that are made by the
General Counsel and the State Bar Legal Counsel regarding the likelihood and the amount of any
potential liability for that twelve to twenty-four month period.
(3) Capital Assets Replacement / Construction. A designation for large capital asset replacement or
construction projects planned for the next one to three years will be reviewed and will be considered
by the Board during the budget and financial planning process each year. Capital reserve items are
capital assets that cost more than $5,000, whose implementation or purchase extends for more than
one fiscal year and the purchase of which is planned for a future year. When designating funds for this
purpose, a review of existing funds in the Texas Law Center Fund, the Technology Fund or any other
special revenue fund shall be considered, along with the amount that will be required to complete the
capital asset project(s).
(4) New Programs and/or Research and Development. A designation for anticipated new programs or
for research and development for programs that are being considered will be reviewed, analyzed and
measured during the annual budget and planning process.
3.03 Audits
3.03.01 Auditor. The State Bar’s books and records shall be audited annually by outside auditors chosen
by the Board. The selection of the auditor shall be the subject of a request for proposal procedure every
five years. At any time, the Board may request that a request for proposal be issued for auditing services.
3.03.02 Costs and Expenses of Audit. The cost and expenses of the annual audit of the books and records
of the State Bar shall be appropriated by the Board as a specific item in the annual budget.
3.04 Depositories, Withdrawals and Transfers
3.04.01 Depositories of State Bar Funds. The State Bar shall maintain its funds in a depository or
depositories located in Austin, Texas. Every 3 years, the State Bar’s bank depository will be reviewed by
the Audit and Finance Committee for reasonableness of fees and level of service. Following the 3-year
review, the Audit and Finance Committee will make a recommendation to the Board that the then current
bank depository be allowed to continue for another 3 years, or that another bank depository be selected
through an RFP process. In developing the criteria for selection of any bank depository, the Audit and
Finance Committee shall give strong consideration to a potential bank depository’s participation in the
Texas IOLTA Prime Partners Program sponsored by the Texas Access to Justice Foundation. At any time,
the Board may request a review by the Audit and Finance Committee of the then current bank depository.
3.04.02 Management of State Bar Funds. The State Bar, with the approval of the Board, may enter into
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agreements and contracts deemed appropriate to facilitate the management of its funds so that income
will be earned or appreciation realized on those funds pending expenditure.
3.04.03 Withdrawal and Disbursement of State Bar Funds. The Board shall designate the employees of
the State Bar who are authorized to sign checks for the withdrawal and disbursement of funds. These
signatories shall include the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer. The Executive Director’s
signature can be a facsimile on all checks. The Chief Financial Officer, or his or her designated
representative, however, shall review each check before its distribution even though it bears the
Executive Director’s signature.
3.04.04 Securities. The Executive Director or the Chief Financial Officer of the State Bar are authorized to
transfer, endorse, sell, assign, set over, and deliver any and all shares of stock, bonds, debentures, notes
of indebtedness, or other securities now or hereafter standing in the name of or owned by the State Bar.
3.05 Investments
3.05.01 Investment Standard. The State Bar shall invest its funds in a manner in which persons of
prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not for speculation,
but to, in order of priority, preserve and safeguard the principal amount invested, provide liquidity to
meet operating cash flow needs, and earn the highest yield possible considering the required safeguards.
3.05.02 Investment Manager. The Board, through its Audit and Finance Committee, may contract with
an investment manager for professional investment services. Pursuant to the Public Funds Investment
Act, §2256.003, a contract for professional investment services may not be for a term in excess of 2 years.
A renewal or extension of the contract for professional investment services must be made by order,
ordinance or resolution of the Board. The selection of the investment manager shall be the subject of a
request for proposal procedure every five years. At any time the Board may request that a request for
proposal be issued for investment management services.
3.05.03 Application. This investment policy applies to the financial assets of all State Bar funds and funds
of Bar-related groups, to include those of the General Fund, Client Security Fund, all special revenue funds,
enterprise funds, sections and divisions.
3.05.04 Committee Review. The Board’s Audit and Finance Committee shall review the investment policy
annually. Recommendations for modifications to the policy may be made by the Executive Director, the
Board’s Audit and Finance Committee, an Officer, or Board Member. This policy and any amendments to
it must be authorized by Board action.
3.05.05 Approved Investments. The Board authorizes the Executive Director and/or investment manager
(as contracted by the Audit and Finance Committee of the Board) to invest funds of the State Bar that are
available for investment in any account, time or demand, and the following “fixed income” securities:
(A) U. S. Treasury Securities. U.S. Treasury securities are direct obligations of the United States
Government. U.S. Government obligations are the highest quality and are the most liquid and
marketable of investment securities. Investments in this category will include Treasury bills, Treasury
notes, and Treasury bonds. U.S. Treasury bills are sold on a discount basis and have initial maturities of
three months, six months, and one year. U.S. Treasury notes and Treasury bonds are coupon-bearing
instruments with initial maturities from two to ten years for notes and ten to thirty years for bonds.
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The maximum average maturity of the U. S. Treasury securities portfolio will not exceed five years.
(B) Federal Agencies. After U. S. Treasury securities, Federal agency securities (government sponsored
enterprises) are generally regarded as the next highest quality investment suitable for the portfolio.
Agencies generally offer a rate of return higher than direct U.S. Treasury securities. The spread
difference in yield will be affected by the general level of interest rates, markets, and economic
conditions at any given time. Consideration should be given to the spread relationship existing when
portfolio investment decisions are made.
Securities included in this category are debt issuance by the Federal Farm Credit System (Farm Credits),
Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB), the Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA), the Student Loan
Marketing Association (SLMA), the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC or “Freddie
Mac”), the Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA or “Ginnie Mae”), and Small Business
Administration (SBA).
The maximum average maturity of the U.S. agency section of the portfolio will not exceed five years.
(C) Collateralized Deposits: The State Bar will monitor all deposits that are held with the State Bar’s
custodian bank(s) to ensure that all deposits are fully insured or collateralized, as required by the Public
Funds Collateral Act, §2257, of the Texas Government Code (“PFCA”). Pursuant to §2257, the State Bar
will require the custodian bank(s) to pledge securities that are authorized under §2256.009 of the Public
Funds Investment Act (“PFIA”). In accord with the PFCA, deposits that exceed the FDIC insurance limit
will be collateralized by the deposit institution holding such deposits. Since, generally, all deposits are
fully invested in securities, the collateralization of such invested deposits will not be necessary when
such deposits are fully and continuously invested in securities. If there are any funds awaiting
investment, such funds should be fully collateralized at all times pursuant to the PFCA. The custodian
bank(s) will be notified regarding the collateralization and investment policy requirements. The State
Bar’s expectation of total and full compliance with the PFIA and the PFCA is of paramount importance
and such expectation will be clearly communicated to custodian bank(s). Financial institutions serving
as depositories will be required to sign an Agreement with the State Bar and its safekeeping agent for
the collateral, perfecting the State Bar’s rights to the collateral in case of default, bankruptcy or closure.
(D) Money Market Investments. Money market investments are short-term investments that normally
have a maturity of one year or less and are used for liquidity and income maximization purposes.
Acceptable investments that may appear in this category are:
(1) Domestic CDs (time deposits). Certificates of deposit issued by depository institutions, wherever
located that are:
(a) guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or its successor, or the
National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund, or its successor; or
(b) secured by obligations that are described in Subsections 3.05.05(A) and (B) above, with a market
value of not less than the principal amount of the certificates plus accrued interest. Pledged collateral
securities must be held in a third-party custody account authorized by the State Bar.
(2) Banker’s Acceptances. Bankers acceptances must have a stated maturity of 270 days or less from
the date of its issuance that will be liquidated in full at its maturity, is eligible for collateral for
40

Case 4:21-cv-02829 Document 12-2 Filed on 01/24/22 in TXSD Page 46 of 130
STATE BAR BOARD POLICY MANUAL – SEPTEMBER 2021

borrowing from a Federal Reserve Bank and is accepted by a bank organized and existing under the
laws of the United States and if the short-term obligations of the bank, or of the bank holding company
of which the bank is the largest subsidiary, are rated not less than A-1 or P-1 or an equivalent rating by
at least one nationally recognized credit rating agency.
(3) Repurchase Agreements (Repos) Repurchase Agreements must be fully collateralized and have a
defined termination date. They must be placed with a primary government securities dealer, as defined
by the Federal Reserve, or a bank doing business in Texas. Repurchase agreements must be
collateralized by U.S. Treasury or Agency securities and collateral must be held in a third-party custody
account authorized by the State Bar.
(4) Money Market Investments. A no load money market mutual fund is an approved investment under
this policy if the investment meets one of the following two criteria:
(a) It is registered with and regulated by the Securities and Exchange Commission; it provides the
State Bar with a prospectus and other information required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(15 U.S.C. Section 78a, et seq.) or the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. Section 80a-1, et
seq.); and it complies with federal Securities and Exchange Commission Rules 2a-7 (17 C.F.R. Section
270.2a-7) promulgated under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. Section 80a-1, et seq.);
or
(b) It is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission; it has an average weighted maturity
of less than two years; and it either:
(i) has a duration of one year or more and is invested exclusively in obligations approved by this
policy; or
(ii) has a duration of less than one year and the investment portfolio is limited to investment grade
securities excluding asset-backed securities.
(5) Commercial Paper Commercial Paper must have a stated maturity of 270 days or less from the date
of issuance and must have a credit rating of not less than A-1, P-1 or the equivalent by at least two
nationally recognized credit rating agencies.
(E) Investment Concentrations. The State Bar intends to follow the guidelines described below on
investment concentrations within the investment portfolio (IP):
(1) U.S. Treasury and Federal Agency Securities. Up to 100% of the IP.
(2) Mortgage-Backed Securities. Guaranteed by U.S. Government Sponsored Agencies up to 30% of
the IP.
(3) Certificates of Deposit. Up to 30% of the IP, but no more than 5% with any single bank.
(4) Banker’s Acceptance. Up to 15% of the IP, but no more than 5% with any single issuer.
(5) Repurchase Agreements. Up to 30% of the IP, but no more than 10% with any single issuer.
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(6) Money Market Mutual Funds. Up to 100% of the IP.
(7) Commercial Paper. Up to 30% of the IP, but no more than 5% with any single issuer.
Investments in collateralized mortgage obligations are strictly prohibited. These securities are also
disallowed for collateral positions. The State Bar will not be required to liquidate investments that were
authorized investments at the time of purchase.
The investment manager will monitor the various investment alternatives and select the securities that
best meet the State Bar’s overall, long-term goals. Concentrations of each type of security will not
exceed the maximum limits outlined above, but specific concentrations of investment types will be
dictated by the following considerations: quality, liquidity, relative sector yield spreads vs. historical
spreads, maturity concentrations, time horizon.
Investments will only be made with those firms and institutions which have been approved by the Board
of Directors. The investment manager will be responsible for analyzing and evaluating the broker/dealer
firms and for reporting their list of qualified firms to the Committee for approval.
It is the policy of the State Bar to require competitive bidding for all individual security purchases except
for those transactions with money market mutual funds which are deemed to be made at prevailing
market rates and for government securities purchased at issued through a primary dealer at auction
price. At least three bidders must be contacted in all transactions involving individual securities.
Competitive bidding for security swaps is also required. Bids may be solicited in any manner provided
by law and shall be documented.
(F) Collateralization. In addition to the collateral requirements for State Bar deposits, as discussed in
Subsection 3.05.05(C), Certificates of Deposit (CD) and Repurchase Agreements (Repo) must also be
collateralized in accordance with State Law. Eligible securities for collateralization of CDs and Repo shall
be U.S. Treasury and Agency securities. For CDs, the market value of the pledged collateral securities
must at all times be equal to or greater than the par value of the CD plus accrued interest, less the
amount insured by the FDIC. For Repos, the market value of the pledged collateral securities shall be a
percentage of the par value of the agreement plus accrued interest and shall be maintained at the
following levels:
Collateral
Maturity
1 year or less
1 to 5 years
Over 5 years

U.S. Treasury
Securities
101%
102%
103%

U.S Government
Securities
101%
102%
104%

(G) Reporting. The Investment Manager for the State Bar of Texas will provide a detailed accounting
and appraisal report detailing, among other things, investments’ descriptions, coupons, maturities,
CUSIP identification numbers, purchase cost, amortized cost and market values on a monthly basis.
Market valuations are based on current information and appraisals taken from third party market
makers, whom the Manager believes provides reliable information and valuations.
The investment manager will prepare a report for the State Bar quarterly. The report will include a listing
of securities, a current appraisal reflecting gains or losses, a list of securities purchased or sold during
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the period, and an analysis of the IP’s performance for the period and since inception.
Representatives of the investment manager will meet with the State Bar semi-annually or as needed to
discuss investment strategy, actions taken, and the general economic environment within which the
State Bar’s investments will be managed.
Not less than quarterly the Investment Officers will submit to the Audit and Finance Committee and the
Board a written report of the status of the current investment portfolio. The report must meet the
requirements of Chapter 2256 of the Government Code (Public Funds Investment Act) and:
(1) describe in detail the investment position of the State Bar on the date of the report;
(2) be prepared jointly by all investment officers of the State Bar;
(3) contain a summary statement, prepared in compliance with generally accepted accounting
principles of each pooled fund group that states the beginning market value for the reporting period,
additions and changes to the market value during the period, ending market value for the period and
fully accrued interest for the reporting period.
(4) state the book value and market value of each separately invested asset at the beginning and end
of the reporting period by the type of asset and fund type invested;
(5) state the maturity date of each separately invested asset that has a maturity date;
(6) state the account or fund or pooled fund group from which each individual investment was
acquired; and
(7) state the compliance of the investment portfolio as it relates to the investment strategy and
relevant provisions of this Policy and the Public Funds Investment Act.
An independent auditor shall formally review the quarterly reports prepared under this Subsection at
least annually, and that auditor shall report the results of the review to the Board.
(H) Exceptions to Policy. Exceptions to the investment policy must have prior approval by a majority of
the Board at a called, regularly scheduled, or telephone call meeting. Changes to the investment policy
will be made, as needed, after action by the Board.
(I) Methods to Monitor Market Price. The investment manager shall provide market valuations of all
State Bar investments using Bloomberg, or another third-party market valuation service.
The Executive Director or investment manager shall report to the Audit and Finance Committee at least
quarterly on the market prices and the performance of the investments made by, or on behalf of, the
State Bar.
(J) Monitoring Rating Changes. Pursuant to the PFIA, Section 2256.021, an investment that requires a
minimum rating under State law does not qualify as an authorized investment during the period the
investment does not have the minimum rating. The State Bar's Investment Manager will be responsible
for monitoring ratings of all State Bar investments placed with the Investment Manager. The Investment
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Manager will maintain a process whereby the State Bar's Investment Officer will be promptly notified in
the event of a downgrade of an investment below State law or State Bar's Investment Policy limits. The
Investment Manager will provide a recommendation on how best to resolve the issue with the intent to
take all prudent measures that are consistent with State Bar's Investment Policy to liquidate an
investment that does not have the minimum rating.
3.05.06 Delegation of Authority
(A) Investment Officer. The State Bar shall designate the Finance Division Director as investment officer
responsible for the investment of its funds, under the direction and authority of the Executive Director.
This includes investments for the State Bar General Fund, Client Security Fund and the special revenue
funds.
(B) Procedures. The State Bar’s investment officer shall establish written procedures for the operation
of the investment program consistent with this Investment Policy. Such procedures shall include explicit
delegation of authority to persons responsible for investment transactions. No person may engage in an
investment transaction except as provided under the terms of this Policy and the written procedures.
Authority granted to a person to invest the State Bar’s funds is effective until rescinded or until
termination of the person’s employment by the State Bar. The investment officers shall be responsible
for all transactions undertaken and shall establish a system of controls, to be reviewed by the State Bar’s
independent auditor, to regulate the activities of subordinate officials. The investment officers shall
possess sufficient working knowledge of economics and securities markets, as well as the supervisory
experience and judgment necessary to carry out the responsibilities outlined in this Policy.
(C) Ethics and Conflicts of Interest.
(1) Officers and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal business
activity that could conflict with proper execution of the investment program, or which could impair
their ability to make impartial investment decisions.
(2) Officers and employees involved in the investment process shall sign annual statements agreeing
to abide by this section of the Investment Policy and affirming no known conflicts of interest.
(3) Officers and employees involved in the investment process must file a disclosure with the State Bar
of Texas if:
(a) the Officer or employee has a personal business relationship with a business organization offering
to engage in an investment transaction with the State Bar of Texas; or
(b) the Officer or employee is related within the second degree by affinity or consanguinity, as
determined under Chapter 573 of the Texas Government Code, to an individual seeking to transact
investment business with the State Bar of Texas
(4) An officer or employee involved in the investment process has a personal business relationship with
a business organization if:
(a) the Officer or employee owns 10 percent or more of the voting stock of shares of the business
organization or owns $5,000 or more of the fair market value of the business organization;
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(b) funds received by the officer or employee from the business organization exceed 10 percent of
his/her gross income for the previous year; or
(c) the Officer or employee has acquired from the business organization during the previous year
investments with a book value of $2,500 or more for his/her personal account.
(D) Training. The Investment Officers and the persons authorized to execute investment transactions
shall attend at least one investment training session within 6 months after taking office or assuming
duties and receive not less than 10 hours of instruction relating to investment responsibilities every two
years. The training provider must be an independent source approved the Board of Directors.
3.05.07 Investment Objectives. All funds shall be managed and invested with three primary objectives,
listed in order of their priority – safety and liquidity, diversification and yield:
(A) Safety of Principal. Safety of principal is the foremost objective of the State Bar. Investments of the
State Bar shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to insure the preservation of capital in the overall
portfolio. To obtain this goal, diversification is required in the portfolio’s composition. The suitability of
each investment decision will be made on the basis of these objectives.
(B) Diversification. Diversification of the portfolio will include diversification by maturity and market
sector when appropriate and will include the use of a number of broker/dealers for diversification and
market coverage. Competitive bidding will be used on each sale and purchase.
(C) Yield. The State Bar’s investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining a market
rate of return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account the State Bar’s risk
constraints and the cash flow requirements of the portfolio. “Market rate of return” may be defined as
the average yield of the current three-month U.S. Treasury Bill or such other index that most closely
matches the average maturity of the portfolio.
The individual strategy of each of the State Bar’s three types of funds are as follows. To the extent
possible, the State Bar will match its investments with anticipated cash flow requirements while
minimizing market risk. The State Bar will not directly invest funds needed for current operations in
securities maturing more than twenty-four months or posing potential credit risk, such as corporate
bonds. Reserve funds may be invested in securities authorized by this policy with maturities of such
investments to coincide as nearly as practical with the expected use of the funds.
The State Bar’s General Fund’s and Client Security Fund’s assets are not necessary for day-to-day
operations. The General Fund and Client Security Fund portfolios may be invested in longer-term
securities, but each portfolio will not exceed a five-year average maturity. While investments may be
repositioned when prudent, the primary objective of both funds is capital preservation and stable, real
(after inflation) increased income. The operation’s funds are invested in very short-term investments
while the General Fund and Client Security Fund are invested in medium term maturities providing good
diversification and income stability over longer time periods for the State Bar’s total investments.
The State Bar also directs the investment manager to not record any material book value losses on any
security transaction without prior consent of the Executive Director and the Audit and Finance
Committee.
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3.05.08 Accounting Department. Interest income received by the State Bar from investments will be
received by the Accounting Department for deposit to the State Bar’s General Fund, Client Security Fund
or special revenue funds accounts. The Accounting Department will be responsible for maintaining all
investment and interest payment records for the purpose of reconciliation and preparation of financial
statements.
3.05.09 Settlement Method. Settlement of all transactions made by or on behalf of the State Bar, except
for investment in pool funds and mutual funds, shall be on a delivery versus pay method rather than
delivery versus confirmation. The State Bar will contract with a bank or banks for the safekeeping of
securities either owned by the State Bar as a part of its investment portfolio or held as collateral to secure
certificates of deposits or repurchase agreements. These accounts shall be in the name of the State Bar.
3.05.10 Public Funds Investment Act. All actions taken in all of the State Bar’s investment portfolios will
be in compliance with the Public Funds Investment Act.
3.05.11 Annual Compliance Audit. In conjunction with the annual financial audit, a compliance audit shall
be performed which includes an audit of management controls on investments and adherence to the
State Bar’s established policy.
3.05.12 Certification. A copy of this Investment Policy shall be provided to the investment manager under
contract and the firm shall agree under the terms of the contract to transact all investment business
according to the requirements and limitations of the Investment Policy.
3.06 Acquisition of Goods and/or Services
3.06.01 General. The Board shall adopt guidelines and procedures for purchasing that are consistent with
the guidelines and procedures promulgated for other Texas state agencies. Purchases are subject to the
ultimate review of the Supreme Court. The State Bar shall maintain records on purchases and shall make
those reports available for review by the state auditor.
3.06.02 Capital Items.
(A) A capital expenditure budget shall be presented to the Board along with the annual budget.
(B) The approval of the capital expenditure budget will not constitute authority to purchase. All
purchases must be approved by the Executive Director or authorized designee.
(C) A capital item is an item of furniture, fixtures or equipment with a cost of $5000 or more.
(D) Purchases of capital items costing $5000 or more not included in the capital expenditure budget,
must be approved by the Executive Committee. Items under $5000 may be approved by the Executive
Director or authorized designee.
(E) The inventory of all capital items as defined in 3.06.02(C) shall be maintained by the State Bar
accounting department. The inventory of furniture, fixtures, and equipment with a cost of less than
$5000 shall be maintained by the department responsible for the items.
(F) The purchase of all capital items shall be made under existing Comptroller of Public Accounts
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Procurement contracts, except when, in the opinion of the Executive Director or authorized designee, it
is not advantageous to the Bar to do so because of price, quantity, or quality considerations.
3.06.03 Printing and Mailing. Purchases for printing and mailing shall be made under existing contracts
between the Comptroller of Public Accounts Procurement Department and its vendors when the items
desired meet the price, quantity, quality, and delivery date requirements. If these requirements cannot
be met by purchasing under the Comptroller of Public Accounts Procurement contract, then purchases
may be made through other sources, after considering three competitive bids. Any exception to the three
bid rule must be approved by the Executive Director or authorized designee.
3.06.04 Building Maintenance. All contracts for ground maintenance, building maintenance, elevator
maintenance, janitorial services, water treatment chemicals, and window washing shall be awarded on a
bid basis.
3.06.05 Office Supplies. All items of office supplies that are on state contracts and that fit the needs of
the State Bar in quantity and quality shall be purchased under the Comptroller of Public Accounts
Procurement contracts. Any exception must be approved by the Executive Director or his or her designee.
3.06.06 Miscellaneous, Special, and Nonrecurring Items. Certain items to be purchased may be available
only from one or two suppliers, so that three competitive bids cannot be obtained. Also, certain items
such as plaques, flowers, pictures, and so forth, may be available only from a single source. These items
shall always be purchased on a "lowest and best" basis.
3.06.07 Petty Cash Disbursals. Purchases from petty cash may be made when necessary or expeditious
but shall not exceed $50 per item. Every effort should be made by all departments to discourage use of
the petty cash fund, and expenditures from it shall be limited.
3.06.08 Purchase Order System. The Executive Director shall periodically establish a purchase order
threshold, not to exceed $25,000, and shall publish the threshold amount in the State Bar Procurement
Guide. A purchase order shall be issued for any item costing more than the threshold amount. The order
shall indicate the category or classification of the expenditure and the department to be charged. All
purchase orders must be approved by the Executive Director or authorized designee.
3.06.09 Implementation. The Executive Director shall be charged with the responsibility of supervising
and implementing these rules and procedures.
3.07 Reimbursement of Expenses
3.07.01 General.
A. Policies and Procedures. The Executive Director shall prepare State Bar business expense
reimbursement policies and procedures, and shall submit substantive revisions of such policies and
procedures within thirty (30) days to the Board Audit and Finance Committee for approval.
B. Applicability. Subject to the provisions of this Policy Manual, the expense reimbursement policies and
procedures shall apply to travel and other business related expenses incurred by State Bar staff, Board
Members, standing committee members, special committee members, task force members, other entities
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funded by the State Bar, and State Bar volunteers acting on behalf of and at the direction of the Bar.
3.07.02 Board Members. The actual out-of-pocket expenses incurred by members of the Board when
performing their duties on behalf of the State Bar will be reimbursed as follows:
(A) Transportation. Coach air fare, taxi fare, parking and airport limousine, or the applicable mileage
reimbursement for travel in a privately owned vehicle, as provided in the travel provisions of the current
General Appropriations Act.
(B) Meals and Lodging. Actual reasonable expenses.
(C) Other Expenses. Other reasonable and necessary expenses of conducting Board business may be
reimbursed, including such items as copying, postage, and long distance telephone bills.
(D) Reimbursement for Spouses or Companions. Airfare for spouses or companions of Officers, Chair,
immediate past Chair, public members, out-of-state lawyer liaison, judicial liaisons, and the State Bar
Executive Director will be reimbursed.
(E) Substantiation. All expense reimbursement requests shall be accompanied by the original bills and
vouchers, except that for mileage, tips and miscellaneous expenses for which no bill or receipt is
normally obtained, the signed statement of the person submitting the request that he or she incurred
the expense will be accepted.
(F) Submission. To receive reimbursement for expenses pursuant to this Section 3.07, Board Members
must submit a substantiated request on a form provided by the State Bar to the Executive Director no
later than 45 days after the expense was incurred.
3.07.03 Reimbursement for Attendance at Board Meetings. Reimbursement of expenses incurred by
Board members when attending meetings of the Board and concomitant Board committee meetings may
include reimbursement for up to three nights lodging.
3.07.04 TexasBarCLE Events and Materials. Members of the Board and Officers of the State Bar and the
TYLA shall keep informed on the professional development program. The fees and costs for attendance
at courses and institutes and for TexasBarCLE materials shall be waived for Officers and Directors of the
State Bar and the TYLA while in office.
3.07.05 Annual Meeting. No member of the State Bar will have his or her expenses and fees reimbursed
by the State Bar for attendance at the annual meeting except:
(A) members who are employees of the State Bar;
(B) members who are program participants and who would not otherwise be in attendance; and
(C) the President, President-elect, Immediate Past President, Chair, public Directors, out-of-state lawyer
liaison, and judicial liaisons to the Board. Airfare for spouses or companions thereof will be reimbursed.
(D) Board members who attend the Board meeting held in conjunction with the annual meeting will be
reimbursed as provided for travel and up to two night’s room expenses, or the same as attendance at
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any other Board meeting.
3.07.06 Standing and Special Committee Members. Expenses incurred by committee members in the
conduct of their official business shall be reimbursed by the State Bar in conformity with policies
established by the Board. Provisions shall be made in the annual budget for committee expenses. The
Executive Director shall be authorized to not approve any requests for reimbursement for travel expenses
incurred in attending a committee meeting for which a notice and agenda was not received at least ten
days prior to the meeting and until all committee reports due, as well as the minutes and attendance
record of that committee meeting, have been forwarded to the Executive Director and reviewed. Any
exception to the notice and agenda requirements set forth in this paragraph shall be approved by the
President, President-elect, or Executive Director. Committee members shall be notified of the contents of
this paragraph.
3.07.07 Staff Travel. State Bar employees will be reimbursed for their actual, reasonable expenses when
traveling on official State Bar business.
(A) No staff member of the State Bar may register for, travel to, or attend any out-of-state meeting or
event at State Bar expense that is not a State Bar-sponsored event without initially:
(1) presenting a request/authorization for attendance, which shall include:
(a) the location of the meeting or event;
(b) the full identity of the organization sponsoring the meeting or event;
(c) the nature of the meeting or event to be attended;
(d) the number of days during which attendance will be necessitated, which shall include the date of
commencement and date of termination of the meeting;
(e) the reason for requested attendance at the meeting or event; and
(f) the full amount of air travel round trip, the full amount of lodging during the meeting or event,
the amount of registration fee, anticipated meal expenses and anticipated miscellaneous expense;
and
(2) obtaining the prior authorization and approval of the Executive Director before registering for the
event or meeting.
(B) The Executive Director shall provide periodic reports on staff travel to the Executive Committee and
the Board.
3.07.08 Stipend for Administrative Expenses.
(A) President. To further the mission statement of the State Bar of Texas and to assist in defraying the
administrative costs incurred by the President during his or her term of office, and in addition to the
reimbursement of expenses to which the President is entitled by this Policy Manual, the President or his
or her designee may receive $30,000.00 during his or her year in office.
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(B) President-Elect. To further the mission statement of the State Bar of Texas and to assist in defraying
the administrative costs incurred by the President-elect during his or her term of office, and in addition
to the reimbursement of expenses to which the President-elect is entitled by this Policy Manual, the
President-elect or his or her designee may receive $20,000.00 during his or her year in office.
(C) Immediate Past President. To further the mission statement of the State Bar of Texas and to assist in
defraying the administrative costs incurred by the Immediate Past President during his or her term of
office, and in addition to the reimbursement of the expenses to which the Immediate Past President is
entitled by this Policy Manual, the Immediate Past President or his or her designee may receive $20,000
during his or her year in office.
3.08 Special Funds
3.08.01 Book Fund.
(A) Purpose. The Book Fund shall be dedicated exclusively to continuing legal education publications for
the lawyers of Texas. The term “publications” includes without limitation electronic publication or
distribution by such means as computer disks, digital communication and the Internet, videotape,
telephone, satellite, electronic media or other tangible medium now known or that might be created in
the future.
(B) Segregated Fund. The Book Fund account shall be maintained as a segregated fund in a separate
account and shall be invested in interest-earning investments under policies approved by the Board,
with all accruals to become a part of the Book Fund. The Book Fund account need not be kept in a
separate bank account.
(C) Proceeds Dedicated to Book Fund. All proceeds from all publications, products and activities funded
through the Book Fund, including sales revenues, licensing fees and royalties, and subscription fees, shall
be deposited to the Book Fund.
(D) Approval Process. All activities and projects to be funded through the Book Fund must meet the
purpose of Subsection (A) above and shall be approved by the Board:
(1) through the budget process for the Book Fund; or
(2) during a budget year by the Board acting through its Professional Development Subcommittee
upon the recommendation of:
(a) the Continuing Legal Education Committee; or
(b) the President or President-elect after consideration by the Continuing Legal Education
Committee.
(E) Administrative Fee. The State Bar may collect an administrative fee for necessary services provided
to the Book Fund, which fee shall be an estimate based on the actual cost of such services to the State
Bar. The Board will review and approve this fee in connection with the annual budget.
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(F) Royalties.
(1) Sections. Sections preparing publications under the Book Fund shall receive a royalty of ten percent
on the gross revenue from the sale of the first 4,000 units and fifteen percent royalty thereafter.
Supplements shall be treated as new publications.
(2) Other Contributors. Individuals, entities, or organizations that contribute to a publication may be
paid a royalty upon consideration and approval by the Board or by the Professional Development
Subcommittee acting on behalf of the Board; however, members of State Bar committees shall not be
paid a royalty for their contributions to publications arising out of the work of the committee.
3.08.02 Client Security Fund
(A) Purpose. The State Bar shall maintain and administer a Client Security Fund. The purpose of the Fund
is to protect the integrity of the legal profession through discretionary grants to clients who have been
harmed by their lawyers’ dishonest conduct.
(B) Administration of the Fund. The Client Security Fund shall be administered through the Office of the
Chief Disciplinary Counsel and the Client Security Fund Subcommittee (“the Subcommittee”). The Client
Security Fund Subcommittee operates as a standing subcommittee of the Discipline and Client Attorney
Assistance Committee.
(C) Subcommittee Meetings. Meetings of the Subcommittee may be held at a place and time fixed by
the chair or the vice-chair or by the Subcommittee. The meetings may be in person or by any means of
telephonic or electronic communication. Notice of the time and place of each meeting shall be given at
least one day before the meeting and the notice may be given orally or by mail, facsimile, or telephone
or other electronic communication, addressed to the member of the Subcommittee at the member’s
office or at such other place designated by the member. The Subcommittee shall have authority to adopt
administrative rules for the prompt and efficient processing and resolution of applications, provided that
those rules shall not be inconsistent herewith. A quorum of the members, consisting of at least 51% of
the members, is necessary for action to be taken by the Subcommittee. Decisions will be made by a
majority of the members present.
(D) Funding of the Client Security Fund.
(1) Corpus. The Client Security Fund corpus shall be maintained at an amount of not less than
$2,000,000. Any amount exceeding $2,000,000 in the corpus may be withdrawn to fund grants.
(2) Investment Portfolio. The Executive Director shall establish a separate portfolio of investments to
constitute the assets of the Client Security Fund.
(3) Funding for Grants. Funding sources include:
(a) An appropriation of not less than $300,000 made annually from the State Bar’s general fund;
(b) Interest earned on the corpus during the fiscal year;
(c) Restitution and/or reimbursements to the Fund during the fiscal year;
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(d) Any funds deposited into the corpus through funds collected from outside sources; and
(e) Any funds deposited into the corpus from unused money available for grants.
(E) Application Forms
(1) The Subcommittee shall prepare a form of application for grant.
(2) The application shall be sworn and executed by the applicant under penalty of perjury and shall
require, as minimum information, the following:
(a) The name and address of the lawyer;
(b) The amount of alleged loss;
(c) The date or period of time during which the alleged loss was incurred;
(d) The date on which the alleged loss was discovered;
(e) The name and address of the applicant;
(f) A general statement of facts relative to the application;
(g) A statement that the applicant has read these rules and agrees to be bound by them;
(h) A statement that the loss was not covered by any insurance, indemnity, or bond or, if so covered,
the name and address of the insurance or bonding company, if known, and the extent of the coverage
and the amount of payment, if any, made; and
(i) A statement that the applicant agrees that the result of the investigation together with all evidence
in connection with it shall remain confidential.
(3) The form or application shall contain the following statement in bold type:
“THE STATE BAR OF TEXAS HAS NO LEGAL RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACTS OF INDIVIDUAL
LAWYERS. NO ONE HAS A RIGHT TO A GRANT FROM THE CLIENT SECURITY FUND.
AVAILABLE AMOUNTS ARE LIMITED, AND GRANTS ARE MADE ONLY IN THE SOLE AND
FINAL DISCRETION OF THE STATE BAR OF TEXAS.”
(F) Publication of Application Process. The Office of the Chief Disciplinary Counsel shall publish the rules
and procedures governing the Client Security Fund to the chair of each grievance committee, along with
application forms and brochures.
(G) Rules and Procedures. These rules shall govern proceedings conducted on applications for grant from
the Client Security Fund of the State Bar. These rules shall be applied in such a manner to achieve the
objective of protecting the integrity of the legal profession. Accordingly, the Subcommittee may, in its
sole and absolute discretion, and in cases of extreme hardship or special and unusual circumstances,
authorize payment of a grant that would otherwise be excluded by technical adherence to these rules.
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These rules will become effective immediately upon Board approval and shall apply to all pending
applications.
RULE 1. Eligibility for Application—General Rule
(A) The claimant must thoroughly complete the application for grant form approved by the
Subcommittee and sign it under penalty of perjury.
(B) Failure by an applicant to keep the Subcommittee apprised of his or her current address and
telephone number is grounds for denial, rescission of approval, or rejection of the application.
(C) The information provided in the application shall be either typewritten or printed. If not legible, it
shall be returned to the applicant.
(D) In order to prove eligibility, an applicant must prove:
(1) That one’s lawyer engaged in dishonest conduct (as further defined in Rule 2 and Rule 3);
(2) That he or she was a client of that lawyer (as further defined and limited in Rule 4);
(3) That the lawyer gained possession and control of the client’s money or property (as further
defined and limited in Rule 5);
(4) That he or she sustained a loss of money or property as a result of the dishonest conduct (as
further defined and limited in Rule 5);
(5) That he or she participates in the grievance process when required (as set forth in Rule 6); and
(6) Timely filing of an application for grant (as defined in Rule 7).
RULE 2. Eligibility for Application—Dishonest Conduct by Lawyer
(A) The term “dishonest conduct” as used herein means wrongful acts committed by a lawyer in the
manner of defalcation or embezzlement of money, or the wrongful taking or conversion of money or
property including those instances where an advance fee was not refunded when the contracted-for
services were not rendered.
(B) If a lawyer accepts a fee for professional legal services while disciplinarily suspended or disbarred,
or after having resigned from the practice of law in the State of Texas, the lawyer may be deemed to
have done so with no intent to render the services sought.
(C) The dishonest conduct must have occurred in Texas.
RULE 3. Eligibility for Application—Status of Lawyer
(A) In order to be eligible for an application for grant, the client’s loss must have been caused by
dishonest conduct of a person:
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(1) acting as a lawyer;
(2) acting in a fiduciary capacity customary to the practice of law (such as acting as an administrator,
executor or trustee in a probate, guardianship or conservatorship proceeding or pursuant to an
express trust agreement, but not including holding funds primarily for investment purposes); or
(3) acting as an escrow holder or other fiduciary, having been designated as such by a client or having
been so appointed or selected as a result of a client-attorney relationship in the matter in which the
loss arose.
(B) The term “lawyer” as used herein means any person licensed to practice law in the State of Texas,
including persons who have been suspended, disbarred, or who have resigned from the practice of
law.
(C) Dishonest conduct by persons supervised or paid by the lawyer in the course of his practice of law,
or those whom the lawyer should have been aware were conducting business on his behalf may, in the
discretion of the Subcommittee, form the basis for a grant from the Fund.
RULE 4. Eligibility for Application—Status as a Client
(A) No person may be eligible for consideration of an application for grant unless sufficient proof
demonstrates the existence of an attorney-client relationship between the applicant and the lawyer.
(B) A “client” is a person, public officer, or corporation, association, or other organization or entity,
either public or private, who is rendered professional legal services by a lawyer, or who consults a
lawyer with a view to obtaining professional legal services from that lawyer.
(C) For the purposes of the application and grant from the Fund, a client may also include a person
who paid or tendered money on behalf of the client.
(D) The following persons and entities are not eligible for application consideration:
(1) the spouse or other close relative, partner, associate, employer, or employee of the lawyer;
(2) an insurer, surety, or bonding agency or company;
(3) any business entity controlled by the lawyer;
(4) any business entity controlled by any person or entity described in paragraphs (i) or (ii);
(5) a governmental entity or agency:
(6) any assignee of a client’s claim, cause of action or settlement proceeds; or
(7) any provider of services to a client through letters of protection or guarantee.
RULE 5. Eligibility for Application---Grants for Certain Losses
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(A) A client may seek a grant only for money or property that actually came into the possession or
control of the lawyer.
(B) The applicant must produce sufficient evidence to support allegations of such a loss.
(C) A client may not obtain a grant under the Fund for losses attributed to:
(1) Disputes with a lawyer about the quality of services performed;
(2) Disputes regarding the amount charged for services actually performed;
(3) Consequential damages resulting from dishonest conduct or malpractice;
(4) Any loss, or reimbursable portion thereof, covered by any insurance or by any fidelity or similar
bond or fund, whether of the lawyer, the applicant or otherwise.
(5) Any loss already recovered by the client through restitution or reimbursement from the lawyer
or on the lawyer’s behalf; or
(6) Any loss already satisfied through payment of a civil or criminal judgment entered against the
lawyer.
(D) If a client is required to file a grievance pursuant to Rule 6(B), no grant may be obtained under the
Fund if the final grievance process results in:
(1) a dismissal of charges or
(2) conclusions of law related only to violations for non-communication, failure to respond to the
grievance committee or practicing while administratively suspended.
RULE 6. Eligibility for Application---Grievance Process
(A) Unless paragraph (B) applies, the applicant must first file a grievance against the lawyer and
cooperate in all grievance proceedings by the Bar against the lawyer as a prerequisite to the application
for grant.
(B) An applicant is not required to file a grievance against the lawyer as a condition precedent to filing
an application if the lawyer:
(1) is deceased,
(2) has already been disbarred by the State Bar of Texas,
(3) has been adjudicated as mentally incompetent, or
(4) has resigned in lieu of discipline.
RULE 7. Eligibility for Application—Timely Filing of Application
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(A) All applicants must file a timely application for grant with the Office of the Chief Disciplinary
Counsel in Austin, Texas.
(B) When an applicant is required to file a grievance against the lawyer as set forth in Rule 6(A), an
application is considered timely if it is filed within 18 months after the final disciplinary judgment is
rendered on that grievance.
(C) When an applicant is not required to file a grievance as set forth in Rule 6(A), in no case shall a grant
from the Fund be approved when it is filed longer than four years from the time the loss was discovered
or should have been discovered.
(D) Failure to file a timely application for grant shall result in dismissal and rejection of the application
unless the Subcommittee finds good cause for the late filing. The Subcommittee has the sole and final
discretion to consider whether good cause exists for an applicant filing a late application for grant.
RULE 8. Investigation by the Subcommittee
(A) On receipt of a sworn application, the Subcommittee shall conduct such investigation and hold
such hearings as it determines necessary to establish all relevant facts in connection with the
application. The Subcommittee may delegate its investigative duties to one or more staff persons
employed by the Chief Disciplinary Counsel.
(B) The applicant must cooperate during the investigative process and with all persons delegated to
perform investigative duties. If the applicant fails to submit proof, or does not meet any of the eligibility
requirements in Rules 1-7, the application may be rejected and/or returned to the applicant at any
time.
RULE 9. Evidence and Burden of Proof
(A) The applicant bears the burden of proof on all issues of fact. All facts must be established by a
preponderance of the evidence.
(B) Proceedings on applications need not be conducted according to technical rules relating to
evidence and witnesses. Any relevant evidence shall be admitted if it is the sort of evidence on which
responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence
of any common-law or statutory rule that might make improper the admission of the evidence over
objection in civil actions.
RULE 10. Consideration by the Subcommittee
(A) In investigating an application for grant, the Subcommittee may consider, among other things:
(1) the negligence, if any, of the client that contributed to the loss;
(2) the comparative hardship of the client suffered by the loss;
(3) the total amount of reimbursable losses of the clients of any one lawyer or association of lawyers;
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(4) the total amount of grants made in previous years for which total funding has not been made and
the total assets of the fund;
(5) the total amount of insurance or other source of funds available to compensate the client for the
loss occasioned by the dishonest conduct of the lawyer;
(6) the amount of restitution ordered in the disciplinary judgment, and when the restitution is
ordered to be paid. In general, if restitution is ordered to be paid in the short-term, the Subcommittee
may defer making an award to give the respondent the opportunity to satisfy the judgment. If
restitution is ordered to be paid by a date further in the future or by no date certain, the
Subcommittee may approve a grant from the Fund.
(7) the findings of fact and conclusions of law in the disciplinary judgment; and
(8) any other factual information that the subcommittee considers to be relevant.
(B) When the filing of a grievance is required, the Subcommittee will not investigate the application
until final action has been taken on the grievance except as provided in Rule 10(C).
(C) If a lawyer is under a disability suspension or cannot be served with process in the disciplinary
proceeding, the Subcommittee may, in its discretion, review the application and approve or deny it.
RULE 11. Action by the Subcommittee
(A) The Subcommittee has the sole and final discretion to determine whether and to what extent any
application for grant shall be approved and shall determine the order, manner (which may be in
installments), and amount of any grant payments, subject to the limitation in Rule 13.
(B) Before the Subcommittee recommends a grant from the Client Security Fund, it must find that
sufficient evidence establishes the claimant’s eligibility and the extent of the loss.
(C) The Subcommittee, in its sole and final discretion, may require the exhaustion of some or all civil
remedies before processing or approving applications for grant. The Subcommittee may require that
an applicant prosecute or cooperate in appropriate civil proceedings against the accused lawyer as a
prerequisite to approving a grant from the Fund. The Subcommittee may postpone consideration of
any application until after any disciplinary action or court proceedings pending or contemplated have
been completed.
RULE 12. Confidential Nature of Proceedings and Records
(A) The Subcommittee, during consideration of an application, may have access to any State Bar
disciplinary files and records pertaining to the alleged loss. Any information or documents obtained by
the Subcommittee from those files or records shall be used solely for the purpose of determining the
validity of the application but otherwise shall constitute confidential information. No information
concerning them and the matters to which they relate shall be subject to discovery, except such
information may be disclosed as may be required by the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional
Conduct or other applicable law.
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(B) The files and records pertaining to all applications for grant from the Fund and all investigations or
proceedings conducted in connection with them are the property of the State Bar and are confidential.
No information concerning them and the matters to which they relate shall be given to any person
except on order of the Board, as provided herein or as may be required by any other applicable law.
(C) The proceedings conducted before the Subcommittee shall not be public.
RULE 13. Maximum Reimbursement Limits
Regardless of the amount of the loss proven in the application for grant, no application shall be
approved for a grant in excess of $40,000 for losses to any one applicant arising out of the dishonest
conduct. Multiple applicants having losses arising out of the same transaction may be considered by
the Subcommittee to constitute one loss subject to the $40,000 cap on grants.
RULE 14. Grants at Sole and Final Discretion of State Bar
(A) All grants from the Fund are made only in the sole and final discretion of the Subcommittee.
(B) No liability to the Subcommittee, its members, or its staff shall result from any decisions of the
Subcommittee, its members, or its staff.
RULE 15. Request for Reconsideration
(A) If an applicant is dissatisfied with the grant or denial of their application by the Subcommittee, he
or she may request reconsideration.
(B) To request reconsideration, the applicant must give written notice of his request within 30 days
after receiving notice of the grant approval or denial.
(C) The Subcommittee has sole and final discretion to consider or reject the request for
reconsideration. The applicant has no right of appeal.
RULE 16. Rejection of the Application by the Subcommittee
(A) Whenever a majority of the members of the Subcommittee present at the meeting at which the
application is considered determines that sufficient evidence has not been presented to establish
eligibility, that determination shall constitute rejection of the application.
(B) After an application has been rejected, the Subcommittee or delegated persons with the Office of
the Chief Disciplinary Counsel shall advise the applicant of the rejection in writing at the applicant’s
last known address as listed in the application.
RULE 17. Assignment of Applicant's Rights, Subrogation and Reimbursement Required
(A) Assignments of Rights. Grants on approved applications shall be made from the Client Security
Fund only if the applicant assigns to the State Bar the applicant’s rights against the lawyer involved or
the lawyer’s personal representative, estate, or assigns.
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(B) Subrogation. The collection of the assignment shall be handled by the office of the Chief Disciplinary
Counsel of the State Bar under the supervision of the Subcommittee or in such other manner as may
be directed by the Subcommittee. To effect collection of assignment, the Chief Disciplinary Counsel
may disclose any information concerning the application and its consideration by the State Bar that
the Chief Disciplinary Counsel deems necessary. On commencement of any action by the State Bar,
pursuant to its subrogation rights, it shall give written notice thereof to the applicant at the applicant’s
last known address as listed in the application.
(C) Reimbursement to the Fund. The applicant must also agree that if money paid to the applicant from
the Fund is repaid by the lawyer or on the lawyer’s behalf, then the applicant shall reimburse the
amount of that grant to the Fund up to and including the full amount paid to the applicant from the
Fund. The State Bar shall have the right to recover the full amount paid to the applicant out of the Fund
from any liable person, firm, or corporation and take such legal action as it deems necessary. The
applicant may only receive a part or portion of any recovery made by the State Bar after the State Bar
has made a full recovery of the amount paid to the applicant by the Fund and attorneys’ fees incurred
by the State Bar in recovering the amount.
RULE 18. No Attorney’s Fees Allowed
Except as provided in Rule 17, no attorney shall charge, attempt to collect, or collect any fee, retainer,
or contingent fee for the preparation, filing, negotiation, recovery, or any other act done or which may
be done in connection with an application for grant before the Client Security Fund of the State Bar,
whether the application is denied or approved for grant.
RULE 19. Applicant’s Failure to Claim Grant
(A) Should the applicant not claim the grant within six months of the date of the approval by the
Subcommittee of the grant, the grant shall revert to the Client Security Fund. The chair of the
Subcommittee may extend the time to claim the grant for an additional three months upon a showing
by the applicant that failure to claim the grant within six months was due to extenuating circumstances
out of the control of the applicant. Extenuating circumstances include, but are not limited to, a death
in the applicant’s family, an applicant’s severe illness or medical condition requiring hospitalization, or
military deployment of the applicant outside the country. The Subcommittee chair has sole and final
discretion to extend the time to claim the grant.
(B) In the event the grant reverts to the Fund as set forth in paragraph (A) above, the applicant may
reapply to the Office of Chief Disciplinary Counsel. The applicant must show good cause for failing to
claim the award. The Subcommittee has sole and final discretion to approve the grant or reject the
grant at that time.
3.08.03 Building Fund. A permanent building or maintenance fund shall be established to maintain the
Texas Law Center under the direction of the Board. Each year, the Budget Committee, in consultation with
the Board Administration Committee and the Board Audit and Finance Committee, shall consider
budgeting a transfer from the general fund to the building fund in such an amount so as to ensure that
80% to 100% of the annual capital equipment straight-line depreciation be transferred annually. All
interest earned on the corpus within the building fund shall accumulate in the building fund.
3.08.04 Annual Meeting Fund. The receipt and expenditure of funds related to the annual meeting shall
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be accounted for and maintained as a separate fund. Expenses and revenues shall be reported in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles consistent with the approved budget for the
annual meeting. Expenses shall be attributed to the same budget category as reported for the previous
Fiscal Year’s annual meeting.
3.09 Electronic Advertising
3.09.01 Application. This provision applies to advertising on any and all electronic publications of the State
Bar, its divisions, sections, committees, and departments. It does not apply to the Texas Bar Journal nor
to any other print publications. Nothing in this provision shall restrict the ability of divisions, sections, or
the Texas Young Lawyers Association to govern the content of their websites, provided such content
complies with the general guidelines established by the State Bar. For purposes of this section, “electronic
publication” means websites, email newsletters, email lists and any other publication distributed online.
3.09.02 State Bar Electronic Publications. Except as provided in Subsection 3.09.03 below, the Executive
Director is responsible for the sale of advertising on State Bar electronic publications, including those of
the Texas Young Lawyers Association, subject to these provisions, the direction of the Board and any
internal policies established by the Executive Director. Revenues from the sale of such electronic
advertising shall be retained by the State Bar.
3.09.03 Electronic Publications of State Bar Divisions and Sections. State Bar divisions and sections may
sell advertising on their electronic publications, subject to these provisions, the direction of the Board and
any internal policies established by the Executive Director. Divisions and sections may delegate
responsibility for such sales to the Executive Director, including the determination of content, rates and
other relevant factors. Revenue from the sale of advertising on such electronic publications shall be
retained by the pertinent division or section.
3.10 Grants
3.10.01 General. The State Bar may accept grants or funds to further the administration of justice in Texas.
No grant to the State Bar may be accepted without the prior approval of the Board.
3.10.02 Approval Required by Board.
(A) No grant to the State Bar may be accepted without the prior approval of the Appeals-Grant Review
Subcommittee of the Board.
(B) The administration of a grant program may not be undertaken by the State Bar without the prior
approval of the Appeals-Grant Review Subcommittee of the Board.
3.10.03 Monitoring. The Appeals-Grant Review Subcommittee of the Board shall monitor all grants and
programs on which a grant or a grant application has been accepted and shall advise the Board from time
to time.
3.10.04 Evaluation. The Appeals-Grant Review Subcommittee of the Board shall evaluate all projects or
programs initiated by committees, sections, or departments of the State Bar for which funding will be
solicited from outside sources. Each proposal received shall be evaluated on the basis of its relevance to
the overall purpose of the State Bar and whether it addresses a documented need of the public or the
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Bar.
3.10.05 Grant Review Guidelines.
(A) Annual Notice.
(1) Annually, the chair of the State Bar's Appeals-Grant Review Subcommittee will advise by letter
each State Bar department, committee, and section that all outside funding for existing or newly
created State Bar programs and projects is to be coordinated, reviewed, and approved by the AppealsGrant Review Subcommittee and that all applications for outside funding should be initially directed
to the chair of the Appeals-Grant Review Subcommittee.
(2) The annual notice will advise grant request sponsors of the State Bar's schedule for reviewing and
recommending action on a grant application and will itemize the information that must accompany a
grant request in order for the committee to make its decision.
3.10.06 Committee Meetings. The Appeals-Grant Review Subcommittee will meet to review grant
applications.
3.10.07 Information Necessary for Formulation of Committee Recommendation.
(A) The following information and statements should be furnished to the Appeals-Grant Review
Subcommittee for each grant application:
(1) Name of the program, project, committee, or section seeking funds.
(2) Name and position of the individual making the request; if a committee or section, then a statement
should be included advising whether the project was endorsed by a majority of the committee or
section.
(3) Description of the project and the time frame for its implementation and conclusion.
(4) Statement of whether funds from outside sources have been previously solicited for the project
and the result of that solicitation.
(5) Detailed budget of expenses.
(6) Disclosure of all sources of funds for the project.
(7) Statement of whether or not matching funds will be expected from the State Bar.
(8) Statement of whether or not the project meets a particular need of the State Bar.
(9) Statement of whether the project meet a critical need of the State Bar.
(10) Statement of whether there are other State Bar programs currently providing or implementing a
similar project or service.
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(11) Statement of whether any portion of the fund being requested can be deferred to the next budget
year.
(12) Identification of the target group that will benefit from the grant.
(13) Confirmation that a copy of the completed application has been forwarded to the Executive
Director.
3.10.08 Request for Additional Information. If the Appeals-Grant Review Subcommittee believes the
information provided is insufficient, the committee at its discretion may delay a decision and request
additional written information or a personal interview with the sponsor of the application before a
decision is made.
3.10.09 Approval. On completion of the Appeals-Grant Review Subcommittee's review of a grant
application, the Appeals-Grant Review Subcommittee will vote to approve or disapprove the submission
of the application for outside funding and will provide a written report to the Board at the next Board
meeting stating the action taken by the Appeals-Grant Review Subcommittee.
3.10.10 Notice of Action.
(A) The chair of the Appeals-Grant Review Subcommittee will advise the sponsor of each grant
application about the conclusion reached by the Appeals-Grant Review Subcommittee during the review
process.
(B) If a grant application is disapproved, applicants may file an appeal to the Board, which shall be
considered by the Board at its next Board meeting.
3.11 Texas Law Center
3.11.01 Principal Executive Office. The principal executive office of the State Bar shall be located in a
building known as the Texas Law Center located at 1414 Colorado, Austin, Texas.
3.11.02 Lease to Other Organizations.
(A) The State Bar may lease vacant available space in the Texas Law Center to other organizations whose
primary activities involve the lawyers or the judiciary of Texas and other organizations determined by
the Board.
(B) All tenants renting space at the Texas Law Center will be charged rent at cost as determined by the
Board. This policy will apply regardless of the nature of the organization renting space and will apply to
agencies operated under the auspices of the State Bar, such as the Board of Legal Specialization, and
agencies supported by grants, such as the Texas Center for the Judiciary. At the time that leases are
entered into, the Board will consider appropriating State Bar funds to subsidize the operations of some
of its tenants, according to policies and procedures developed by the Board. All leases must be approved
by the Board and space in the building will not be leased for a period longer than one year.
(C) A portion of the available parking spaces in the building will be allocated for the use and benefit of
employees of the State Bar and the employees of tenants.
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3.11.03 Meeting Rooms. The meeting rooms at the Texas Law Center will be reserved for State Bar
business and activities and for members of the State Bar. Permanent meeting rooms and their seating
capacities are:
Floor P1: Governor Bill and Vara Daniel Conference Room –capacity 12
1st Floor: Stewart Morris Board Room – capacity 13 – 40
1st Floor: Room 101 – capacity 13 – 150
1st Floor: Room 102 – capacity 12
1st Floor: Room 103 – capacity 12
2nd Floor: CDC Conference Room #1 – capacity 10
3rd Floor: Room 330 – capacity 8
4th Floor: Room 410 – capacity 16
4th Floor: Room 437 – capacity 8
4th Floor: Room 438 – capacity 6
5th Floor: Room 528 – capacity 8
6th Floor: Room 603 – capacity 17
3.11.04 Use of Meeting Rooms. The President, Executive Director and Deputy Executive Director are
authorized to allow any law-related organization to meet in the Law Center on such terms and conditions
as are deemed appropriate:
(A) Meeting rooms on floors 1 and P1 shall be available for use by members of the State Bar, local bars
and law-affiliated groups. These groups shall be booked on a first-come, first-served basis no more than
seventy-five days in advance.
(B) All meeting rooms in the Law Center shall be available for use by the State Bar Board, sections,
committees and staff departments. Rooms may be reserved no more than one year in advance.
(C) Meeting rooms scheduled on floors 3 – 6 may include non-staff members, but must be scheduled by
staff and staff must be in attendance. Any staff member may schedule a meeting for any floor whether
or not their office/work station is on that floor.
(D) Food and drinks may be consumed in any meeting room except the Stewart Morris Board Room as
specified below. Facilities staff will provide drink set-ups for meetings on floors P1 and 1. Meeting
coordinators will be responsible for drink set-ups for meetings on floors 2-6. Soft drinks, bottled water
and coffee packets may be obtained from the P1 supply store with advance notice of at least two hours.
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(E) Except for State Bar Officer, Board Committee, and Commission for Lawyer Discipline meetings,
meetings in the Stewart Morris Board Room shall only be scheduled for meetings having in excess of 12
participants; must have the approval of the Executive Director or Deputy Executive Director; food
consumption, if any, must take place in the lobby; drinks are allowed as long as coasters are used; and
AV equipment must be operated by a qualified staff member with staff time charged at $30/hour.
(F) Parking must be arranged by the meeting’s coordinator at an off-site location since parking can’t be
guaranteed in the Law Center parking garage. Staff and non-staff members with parking badges may
always park in the Law Center parking garage. There are eight visitor parking spaces on the west side of
the Law Center that are intended for those having “drop-in” business at the Law Center.
(G) Use of meeting rooms is permitted only if the number of occupants and their conduct are not
disruptive of business use and the activities of others in the building. Activities must not violate any law,
regulation, rule or policy, nor constitute a nuisance, hazard or building use problem in the opinion of the
Executive Director and/or the Director of Purchasing and Facilities.
(H) All furniture is permanent and must not be moved except by authorized personnel.
(I) Any audiovisual equipment needed for the meeting must be listed on the meeting request form.
(J) No personal events (weddings, showers, etc.) are to be booked in the meeting rooms. Receptions and
events connected with employment, retirement or judicial appointments may be held in the meeting
rooms.
(K) No meeting shall be scheduled to extend past the regular business hours of the Texas Law Center
without prior written authorization from the Director of Purchasing and Facilities. Regular business
hours are 8:00a.m. – 5:00p.m. Monday through Friday and 8:00 a.m. – 12:00 noon Saturdays.
(L) All meeting rooms are smoke-free areas. All weapons and firearms are prohibited on the premises of
the Texas Law Center.
3.11.05 Parking. The Executive Director may designate reserved parking spaces at the Texas Law Center
for the State Bar President, the Executive Director, the Chief Disciplinary Counsel, employees, tenants,
and others that he or she deems appropriate. Parking in the Texas Law Center underground garage is
reserved for State Bar staff and others with gate-entry badges. The exterior parking lot is reserved for
individuals having drop-in business.
(A) Large Groups. Parking capacity in the building is limited. Parking for meetings involving volunteer
members on Bar-related business will be arranged by the meeting planner. Non-Bar-related groups
booking an event shall make arrangements for parking off premises. A list of alternate parking areas is
available from the receptionist.
(B) Motor Vehicle Restrictions. Any motor vehicle parked in unauthorized areas or in violation of this
policy is subject to removal and towing at the motor vehicle owner and/or operator’s sole expense and
liability. Long-term storage of vehicles at the Texas Law Center is strictly forbidden. Vehicles parked
overnight require the prior written approval of the Director of Purchasing and Facilities. Unattended
vehicles are subject to be towed at the motor vehicle owner’s and/or operator’s sole expense and
liability.
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(C) Additional Restrictions. All weapons and firearms are prohibited in all parking areas. Smoking is not
permitted in the parking facility.
3.11.06 Portraits. Portraits of the President and past Presidents shall be permanently displayed in a
prominent place within the Texas Law Center. The cost of these portraits shall be borne by the State Bar.
3.12 Alcoholic Beverages
3.12.01 Fund Restrictions. None of the funds of the State Bar collected from mandatory dues may be used
for the purchase of alcoholic beverages.
3.12.02 Application. This policy does not apply to functions sponsored by individual sections based on
their use of separate dues or to State Bar projects such as continuing legal education or other meetings
for which a separate and specified fee is charged for the purchase and use of alcoholic beverages.
3.12.03 Premises. The storage of alcoholic beverages on premises owned or leased by the State Bar is
prohibited.
3.13 Contingent Disposition of Property
If the State Bar ceases to exist as a legal entity for any reason, all property of the State Bar shall be
transferred to the Supreme Court to be held in trust for the attorneys of this state.
3.14 Notice and Objection to Certain Expenditures
3.14.01 Statement of Policy. The purpose of the State Bar of Texas is to engage in those activities
enumerated at §81.012 of the State Bar Act. The expenditure of funds by the State Bar of Texas is limited
as set forth at § 81.034 of the State Bar Act and in Keller v. State Bar of California, 496 U.S. 1 (1990), and
McDonald v. Longley, 4 F.4th 229 (5th Cir. 2021). If any member has a reasonable belief that any actual or
proposed expenditure is not within such purposes of, or limitations on, the State Bar, it is the policy of the
State Bar to provide a means by which the member may register his or her objection thereto for resolution
as described below.
3.14.02 Members May Object. A member may object to a proposed or actual expenditure of the State
Bar as not within the purposes or limitations set out at Subsection 3.14.01, above, and seek refund of a
pro rata portion of his or her dues expended, plus interest, by filing a written objection with the Executive
Director. The objection must be made in writing, on the official State Bar Fees Objection Form, addressed
to the Executive Director of the State Bar, P.O. Box 12487, Austin, TX 78711, or by email to
objections@texasbar.com.
A copy of the State Bar Fees Objection Form may be obtained by written or in person request to the
Executive Director or from the State Bar website at www.texasbar.com/objections. A member must
submit his or her fully completed State Bar Fees Objection Form in writing no later than 60 calendar days
after the annual audit of the State Bar for the fiscal year in which the transaction objected to occurred is
published on the State Bar website. Any objection submitted more than 60 calendar days after the annual
audit of the State Bar is published on the State Bar website, is untimely and will be rejected without further
review.
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3.14.03 Executive Director’s Duty upon Receipt of Objection.
(A) Upon receipt of a member’s objection, the Executive Director shall within 60 calendar days review
such objection together with the allocation of dues monies spent on the activity or action and, in
consultation with the President, shall have the discretion to resolve the objection, including refunding a
pro rata portion of the member’s dues, plus interest.
(B)(1) The objecting member shall have 30 calendar days to accept or reject the Executive Director’s
determination of the member’s objection. If the objecting member provides notice that he or she
accepts the determination, or fails to respond to the determination of the Executive Director within 30
calendar days of notice of same, then the Executive Director’s determination shall be deemed final.
(B)(2) If the objecting member contests the Executive Director’s determination, either as to the
refundability of a pro rata portion of dues or the calculation of the amount to be refunded, or both, then
the member shall notify the Executive Director of the member’s disagreement where indicated on the
State Bar Fees Objection Form (by email or mail) within 30 calendar days of notice of the Executive
Director’s decision.
(C) If the member timely notifies the Executive Director that the member contests the Executive
Director’s determination of the member’s claim, under (b)(2) above, then the Executive Director shall
submit the member’s objection to the Presiding Judge of the administrative judicial region covering
Travis County, who shall appoint a retired, senior, or former judge as the impartial decisionmaker to
decide the objection, unless the Executive Director and the member agree to a different procedure for
selecting the impartial decisionmaker. The Executive Director shall also determine the pro rata amount
of the objecting member’s dues reasonably at issue, and such amount shall be placed in an escrow
account, in accordance with a procedure to be determined by the Executive Director, pending the
resolution of the member’s objection by the impartial decisionmaker. At the discretion of the Presiding
Judge of the administrative judicial region covering Travis County or by agreement of the parties, similar
or related objections may be consolidated into one proceeding.
(D) The impartial decisionmaker shall promptly and efficiently decide the matter, applying the standard
set forth in Keller v. State Bar of California, 496 U.S. 1 (1990), and its progeny, including McDonald v.
Longley, 4 F.4th 229 (5th Cir. 2021), to the expenditure(s) to which the member objected. The
proceedings before the decisionmaker shall be informal in nature and shall not be governed by the rules
of evidence. In the event the decisionmaker determines that the objecting member is entitled to a
refund, the State Bar shall promptly refund the pro rata portion of the member’s dues that is attributable
to the expenditure, plus interest, to the objecting member.
(E) The State Bar shall pay the impartial decisionmaker’s fee and expenses, if any, unless the
decisionmaker finds that the member’s objection was frivolous, in whole or in part, in which case the
objecting member shall bear the entire cost of the objection proceeding, including the decisionmaker’s
fee and expenses, if any. Each party shall bear its own attorney’s fees and expenses incurred in
connection with the objection proceeding before the impartial decisionmaker.
3.14.04 Payment to Objecting Member. Any refund of a pro rata share of the member’s dues shall not be
construed as an admission by the State Bar that the activity or action to which the member objected was
not or would not have been within the purposes or limitations stated at Subsection 3.14.01, above.
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3.14.05 Notice of Policy and Protest Procedure. The following notice shall be published in conjunction
with any publication or description of the State Bar’s budget, legislative program, performance measures,
amicus briefs, and any other similar policy positions adopted by the State Bar, and shall be provided to all
members in conjunction with the State Bar’s annual membership dues notice:
The purpose of the State Bar of Texas is to engage in those activities enumerated at §81.012 of the State
Bar Act. The expenditure of funds by the State Bar of Texas is limited as set forth at §81.034 of the State
Bar Act and in Keller v. State Bar of California, 496 U.S. 1 (1990), and McDonald v. Longley, 4 F.4th 229
(5th Cir. 2021). If any member has a reasonable belief that any actual or proposed expenditure is not
within such purposes of, or limitations on, the State Bar, then such member may object thereto and seek
a refund of a pro rata portion of his or her dues expended, plus interest, by filing a written objection with
the Executive Director. The objection must be made in writing, on the official State Bar Fees Objection
Form, addressed to the Executive Director of the State Bar, P.O. Box 12487, Austin, TX 78711, or by email
to objections@texasbar.com. The objection must be submitted no later than 60 calendar days after the
annual audit of the State Bar for the fiscal year in which the transaction objected to occurred is published
on the State Bar website. A copy of the State Bar Fees Objection Form may be obtained by written or in
person request to the Executive Director or from the State Bar website at www.texasbar.com/objections.
Upon receipt of a member’s objection, the Executive Director shall within 60 calendar days review such
objection together with the allocation of dues monies spent on the challenged activity and, in consultation
with the President, shall have the discretion to resolve the objection, including refunding a pro rata
portion of the member’s dues, plus interest. If the objecting member contests the Executive Director’s
determination of the member’s claim, the objecting member may, within 30 calendar days of notice of
the Executive Director’s determination, invoke the objection procedures set forth in Section 3.14 of the
State Bar of Texas Board of Directors Policy Manual, which include an opportunity for the objection to be
decided by an impartial decisionmaker. Any refund of a pro rata share of the member’s dues shall not be
construed as an admission by the State Bar that the challenged activity was not or would not have been
within the purposes of or limitations on the State Bar.
3.15 International Travel
3.15.01. Application of Policy. This section applies to any State Bar volunteers, State Bar entities, and
members of State Bar entities planning to travel internationally on State Bar related business. The
provisions of this section are in addition to any other policies or requirements concerning State Bar
business travel. State Bar employees planning to travel internationally on State Bar related business shall
follow the internal personnel travel policies for approval.
3.15.02 Travel Advisories. Prior to making any international travel arrangements, the individual or State
Bar entity must consult the United States Department of State Travel Advisories to determine the level of
advisory applicable to the intended destination. The travel advisories are located at
https://travel.state.gov.
3.15.03 Travel Permissions.
(A) State Bar business travel to a destination at an advisory level 4 is not permitted.
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(B) State Bar business travel to a level 1, 2, or 3 destination is not permitted unless all travelers execute
and submit the State Bar Travel Acknowledgment of Risk and Waiver of Liability to the Executive Director
prior to making travel arrangements, and in no event less than 15 business days prior to travel.
PART IV. STATE BAR COMMITTEES
4.01 Standing State Bar Committees
4.01.01 General. Except as noted otherwise, Standing Committees are established by the Board upon
recommendation of the incoming President, and will conduct themselves within the policies adopted by
the Board, the provisions of the State Bar Act, and the State Bar Rules.
4.01.02 Appointment of Members.
(A) At the third quarterly Board meeting, the President-elect will submit to the Board for approval a list
of Standing and Special Committees for the upcoming Organizational Year, a list of proposed chairs and,
where pertinent, co-chairs or vice-chairs of such committees, and a roster of proposed members of such
committees.
(B) At the fourth quarterly Board meeting, the President-elect will submit to the Board any proposed
changes to the list of Standing and Special Committees, a list of chairs, co-chairs and vice-chairs of such
committees, including any necessary changes or additions to the earlier submitted list, and a roster of
members of such committees, including any necessary changes or additions to the earlier submitted list.
(C) At its first meeting of the new Organizational Year and/or its first quarterly meeting, the Board will
approve any proposed changes to the list of Standing and Special Committees, the list of chairs, co-chairs
and vice-chairs of such committees, and the roster of members of such committees.
(D) The President-elect will determine the number of regular members of the State Bar Standing
Committees, except for Standing Committees created by the State Bar Act or State Bar Rules.
(E) The President-elect should appoint members to Standing Committees in a manner that the
committee memberships are reflective of the composition of the State Bar membership.
(F) To be eligible to serve on a Standing Committee, a lawyer must be a licensed attorney in good
standing and residing in the State of Texas.
(G) The President-elect may appoint non-lawyers to Standing Committees.
4.01.03 Advisory Members.
(A) In addition to regular Standing Committee members, the President-elect may appoint up to two
advisory members of each committee as the President-elect deems advisable.
(B) Advisory members are entitled to attend committee meetings, serve on subcommittees, participate
in discussion, and receive copies of notices and minutes of committee meetings, and all other
communications sent to committee members.
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(C) Advisory members are not eligible to vote (except upon special approval of the Board) but are eligible
to receive reimbursement for expenses. Their attendance may not be included to determine any
quorum.
(D) Advisory members serve until the annual meeting following their appointment. They may not be
reappointed after serving three successive one-year terms until the expiration of at least a one-year
period.
(E) Advisory members may, at any time and at the pleasure of the President, be appointed to regular
committee status if that appointment does not cause the committee to exceed the maximum number
of regular members as set in accordance with this Policy Manual.
(F) To be eligible to serve as an advisory member, a lawyer must be a licensed Texas attorney in good
standing and residing in the State of Texas.
4.01.04 Term of Regular Members.
(A) Each member of a Standing Committee will serve until the adjournment of the third annual meeting
following appointment and until a successor is appointed; however, the President may reassign regular
Standing Committee members to advisory status if needed.
(B) The office of chair, co-chair, and vice-chair of a Standing Committee are one year in duration. A chair,
co-chair, or vice-chair may be reappointed to such office, provided his or her term as a member of the
committee has not expired.
(C) In the original appointment of each new Standing Committee under this provision, the President will
designate one-third of the members to serve until the adjournment of the first annual meeting following
their appointment, another third to serve until the adjournment of the second annual meeting following
their appointment, and the remaining third to serve until the adjournment of the third annual meeting
following their appointment.
(D) No member of a Standing Committee will be appointed to serve more than two consecutive threeyear terms or a total of six years on the same committee. Unless there are extenuating circumstances,
a Standing Committee member who has served the total of six years on the same committee cannot be
reappointed to another term on that committee until the expiration of at least a two-year period. Any
term of service as an advisory member will not be counted against that period. Members of Standing
Committees that publish pattern jury charges, or the Texas Real Estate Forms Manual will not be
appointed to serve more than three consecutive three-year terms or a total of 9 years on the same
committee. A member of a pattern jury charge committee or the Texas Real Estate Forms Manual
Committee who has served the total of 9 years on the same committee cannot be reappointed to
another term on the same committee until the expiration of at least a two-year period.
(E) Unless approved by the Board, no Board member may serve as a regular member of a standing or
special committee.
(F) In the event a member of a Standing Committee ceases to be a resident of the State of Texas, the
member may continue to serve on the Standing Committee through the end of his or her term; provided,
however, that such member will not be eligible for reappointment as a Standing Committee member or
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Advisory Member, nor will such member be reimbursed for expenses incurred to attend a committee
meeting during the time the member resides out of state.
4.01.05 List of State Bar Standing Committees.
• Administration of Rules of Evidence
• Advertising Review
• Continuing Legal Education
• Council of Chairs
• Court Rules
• Disability Rights and Issues
• Diversity in the Profession
• Jury Service
• Law Focused Education
• Law Practice Management
• Laws Relating to Immigration and Nationality
• Lawyers' Assistance Program
• Legal Services to the Poor in Civil Matters
• Legal Services to the Poor in Criminal Matters
• Local Bar Services
• Minimum Continuing Legal Education
• Pattern Jury Charges – Business, Consumer, Insurance, and
Employment
• Pattern Jury Charges – Criminal
• Pattern Jury Charges – Family and Probate
• Pattern Jury Charges – General Negligence, Intentional
Personal Torts and Workers’ Compensation
• Pattern Jury Charges – Malpractice, Premises, and
Products
• Pattern Jury Charges – Oil and Gas
• Pattern Jury Charges - Oversight
• Professionalism
• Public Affairs
• Real Estate Forms
• Texas Bar Journal Board of Editors
• Women in the Profession
4.02 Special Committees
4.02.01 Establishment. The Board, either on its own initiative or recommendation of the President, may
create by resolution Special Committees and may define the limited objectives, powers and duties of
these committees to investigate and study matters of an immediate or nonrecurring character relating to
the specific purposes, business, and objectives of the State Bar. Special Committees act within the
provisions of the State Bar Act and the State Bar Rules and policies established by the Board.
4.02.02 Membership. Special Committees are be composed of regular membership as the President may
determine.
70

Case 4:21-cv-02829 Document 12-2 Filed on 01/24/22 in TXSD Page 76 of 130
STATE BAR BOARD POLICY MANUAL – SEPTEMBER 2021

4.02.03 Duration. The life of any Special Committee will be coextensive with the nature of the task
assigned, but will expire no later than the end of the annual meeting following its creation, unless the
Board, on recommendation of the incoming President, votes to continue the committee.
4.02.04 List of State Bar Special Committees.
Annual Meeting
4.03 Removal and Replacement of Members
4.03.01 Removal. Any member of a Standing or Special Committee may be removed by the President, in
consultation with the President-elect, before completion of the member’s term, when the President
determines that:
(A) the member has two unexcused absences from meetings of the committee within any twelve-month
period;
(B) the member has neglected or breached the duties of committee membership;
(C) the member has violated any of the applicable provisions of this Policy Manual; or
(D) the member has become incapacitated or is unable to fulfill the duties of committee membership.
4.03.02 Vacancies. A vacancy in a committee membership position occurs upon:
(A) the death of a member;
(B) a judgment of incompetence of a member by a court of competent jurisdiction;
(C) a member’s written resignation delivered to the President; or
(D) a member’s removal pursuant to Section 4.03.01; or
(E) subject to subsection 4.01.04(F), the member fails to meet the requirements for appointment to and
service on a Standing Committee.
4.03.03 Filling of Vacancies. When a vacancy occurs in a committee membership position, the President
may, but is not required to, appoint a member to fill the vacancy. When the vacancy is in the position of
chair, co-chair, or vice-chair of a committee, the President may designate a current member of the
committee to fill such vacancy for the remainder of the Organizational Year. Those appointed to fill the
vacancy of a committee member shall serve the balance of the term of the position vacated.
4.04 Additional Committee Policies and Procedures
4.04.01 Size of Committees. Committees shall have a minimum of nine (9) members and a maximum of
twenty-seven (27) members. In most instances, a maximum of twenty-one (21) members is desirable.
4.04.02 Organizational Meeting. An organizational meeting will be held involving the full committee by
October 1 of each year.
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4.04.03 Financial Responsibility. Each chair and vice-chair shall have the responsibility of effecting
committee business within the budget provided for that committee. Meetings of the full committee will
be held to a minimum and will be held at a location chosen with the factors of convenience to the
membership, travel, and expense in mind. Whenever possible, the committee will function through its
subcommittees with the full membership of the committee kept fully informed by mail, telephone, or
teleconferencing. Teleconferencing equipment is available at State Bar headquarters for this purpose.
4.04.04 Organizational Meeting. At the organizational committee meeting, each committee chair will
make the membership aware of the purpose clause of the particular committee and outline the chair's
goals and focus for the year. Consideration should be given to appointing subcommittees and
subcommittee chairs to further the goals and focus of each committee.
4.04.05 Notice. No committee meeting may be held without providing 10-days’ notice to the members of
the meeting accompanied by an agenda setting forth the subject matter to be considered at the meeting.
4.04.06 Staff Assistance. When necessary, staff members may be assigned to act as liaisons to standing
or special committees. These assignments are made at the discretion of the Executive Director on request
from a committee chair.
4.04.07 Lay Memberships. The President should appoint one or more non-lawyers (but not more than
one-third of total committee membership) to committee membership as regular or advisory members.
Lay members are entitled to attend committee meetings, participate in discussion, and receive copies of
notices, minutes of committee meetings, and all other communications sent to committee members. They
have the same rights, powers, and duties, including rights to vote and to reimbursement, if any, as other
committee members of the same classification have.
4.04.08 Multiple Committee Memberships. No member may serve simultaneously on more than one
State Bar committee without special approval of the Board, except in instances in which an additional
committee membership is a result of the member's ex officio performance of a Bar office or position held
by the member.
4.04.09 Attendance. Records of attendance at all meetings must be kept by the chair or secretary. It is
the chair's or the chair's designee's responsibility to have prepared minutes of all committee and
subcommittee meetings. The chair will forward to the Executive Director within ten days following each
meeting the minutes of the meeting and the record of attendance.
4.04.10 Committee Reports.
(A) The chair of each committee will submit to the President (with copies to the President-elect, the
Board advisor, the alternate Board advisor, the Executive Director, and the committee coordinator) two
reports per year as follows:
(1) An outline of the projects and objectives of the committee for the coming year, due September 30;
and
(2) The final report of April 1, which will contain the information specified by the Executive Director
and President. (The final report will be published in the Texas Bar Journal.)
72

Case 4:21-cv-02829 Document 12-2 Filed on 01/24/22 in TXSD Page 78 of 130
STATE BAR BOARD POLICY MANUAL – SEPTEMBER 2021

(B) On request of the President, the committee chair is also encouraged to report to the Board about
the status of the committee's activities not later than twenty days before each Board's regularly
scheduled quarterly meetings.
4.04.11 Income from Non-dues Sources. No funds may be solicited or received by any committee without
prior approval of the Board. All funds will be remitted to the Executive Director for deposit in the State
Bar bank accounts and for disbursement under procedures established by the Board.
4.04.12 Quorum. Committee meetings will be held on the call of the chair. Each committee meeting must
be scheduled through the Executive Director or the designee, who will be responsible for sending meeting
notices to committee members, obtaining replies, indicating attendance, and informing the chair of
anticipated attendance. Any meeting notice that results in affirmative responses from less than a quorum
by three days before the meeting will be canceled after reasonable notice to the committee chair, and
the Executive Director or the designee will immediately notify the committee members of the
cancellation. Copies of all committee notices will be provided to the President and President-elect. Onethird of the members of any standing or special committee constitutes a quorum for the transaction of
business, unless the Board, by special resolution, provides otherwise.
4.04.13 Representation of State Bar. No Standing or Special Committee or member thereof may,
expressly or by implication, purport to represent the State Bar or any committee before any legislative
body, agency, court, or other tribunal unless authorized to do so by the Board or the policies or guidelines
of the State Bar.
4.04.14 Speaking or Writing. No Standing or Special Committee or member thereof may, expressly or by
implication, purport to act, speak, or write on any subject on behalf of the State Bar or any committee
unless authorized to do so by the Board or the policies or guidelines of the State Bar.
4.04.15 Advocacy. No Standing or Special Committee or member thereof acting in the name of a
Committee may engage in any advocacy activities in violation of this Policy Manual, Tex. Govt. Code
Section 81.034 or any other provision of the State Bar Act or other Texas statute, the rules of the Supreme
Court of Texas or any Texas agency, or Texas or federal case law, including Keller v. State Bar of California,
496 U.S. 1 (1990), and McDonald v. Longley, 4 F.4th 229 (5th Cir. 2021).
4.04.16 Contracts. All contracts for goods or services for a Standing or Special Committee must be
reviewed by State Bar Legal Counsel and executed by a duly authorized signatory of the State Bar.
PART V. STATE BAR SECTIONS AND DIVISIONS
5.01 Sections
5.01.01 General. The Board may establish and maintain sections for the purpose of promoting the
objectives of the State Bar within the particular field or professional interests designated by the bylaws of
each section, all subject to the laws, rules of court, regulations, and policies of the State Bar.
5.01.02 Purposes and Membership of Sections. Sections are composed of members of the State Bar who
practice in specialized fields of law or who otherwise have common professional interests. After the
completion of a section’s provisional term, the Executive Committee, in its discretion, may allow the
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section to amend its bylaws to provide for persons who are not licensed to practice law, including legal
assistants, non-attorney academic professors, and/or law students, to be Associate Members of the
section. Associate Members shall not have section voting privileges, hold section office, or represent
themselves in any way to be members of the State Bar of Texas.
5.01.03 Creation of New Section. All proposals to establish a new section of the State Bar shall be
governed by the following provisions:
(A) Section Jurisdiction. The contemplated jurisdiction of the proposed section shall not be in substantial
conflict, nor substantially overlap, with the jurisdiction of any other section.
(B) Petition to Create New Section. A new section may be established by the Board upon written petition
containing:
(1) the proposed section bylaws, which must include the provisions required by sections 5.01.04 and
5.01.05;
(2) the names of the initial officers, section council members, and proposed committees of the section;
(3) a proposed initial budget of estimated income and expenses containing a dues structure sufficient
to generate $3,000 for each of the first two years of operation;
(4) a list of at least 300 members of the State Bar who have signed statements that they will apply for
membership in the section;
(5) a detailed statement of purpose of the proposed section;
(6) a description of the contemplated jurisdiction of the section and a statement that such jurisdiction
is not in substantial conflict with, nor does it substantially overlap with, the jurisdiction of any other
section;
(7) a brief summary of the purpose of the section suitable for publication in the Texas Bar Journal or
another publication of general circulation;
(8) a statement that the section shall not act as a political or social advocacy group and shall comply
with all State Bar policies, the State Bar Act, and other applicable federal and state law, including Keller
v. State Bar of California, 496 U.S. 1 (1990), and McDonald v. Longley, 4 F.4th 229 (5th Cir. 2021).
(C) Process.
(1) The petition and any materials the sponsors of the petition believe to be relevant to the
consideration of the merits of establishing a new section are to be submitted to the Section
Representatives to the Board Committee for review.
(2) The Section Representatives to the Board Committee may request additional materials and/or
presentations from those in favor of and/or those opposed to the creation of the new section.
(3) After determining that the petition complies with this section 5.01.03, the Section Representatives
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to the Board Committee shall circulate copies of the petition and the supporting materials provided by
the sponsors for the new section to each member of the Council of Chairs. The Section Representatives
to the Board Committee may require that one or more representatives of the proposed new section
present the merits of the petition at the next Council of Chairs meeting for open discussion.
(4) After consideration of the petition, the Section Representatives to the Board Committee shall
submit its recommendations regarding the proposed new section to the Board, with a copy to the
sponsors of the proposed section. The Board may request additional information from the Section
Representatives to the Board Committee, the sponsors of the proposed section, or others regarding
the merits of the proposed section.
(5) When considering a petition to create a new section, the Section Representatives to the Board
Committee and the Board shall consider such factors and circumstances they consider appropriate,
including whether:
(a) the proposed section meets the requirements set forth in this Policy Manual;
(b) the proposed section and its purposes are consistent with the purposes, express or implied, of
the State Bar as provided in the State Bar Act; and
(c) adequate notice and opportunity has been afforded for presentation of supporting and opposing
opinions and views regarding the creation of the new section.
(6) The approval of the formation of a new section, subject to the provision status period in section
5.01.03(D), requires a majority vote of the Board.
(D) Provisional Status.
(1) If approved by the Board, a new section shall have provisional status for a period of three years.
Provisional sections shall comply with all requirements and restrictions imposed on existing sections.
During this three-year period, the Section Representatives to the Board Committee and the Council of
Chairs leadership shall monitor and may make recommendations to the provisional section to ensure
compliance with the Policy Manual, the State Bar Act, the State Bar Rules, applicable state and federal
law, and any applicable action taken by the Board.
(2) At the end of the three-year period, the Section Representatives to the Board Committee and the
Council of Chairs leadership shall recommend to the Board whether to remove the provisional status
of the new section, extend the provisional status and continue monitoring, merge the provisional
section into another section, or dissolve the provisional section. The Board’s action on the
recommendations of the Board Committee requires a majority vote of the Board.
5.01.04 Requirements and Restrictions
(A) Bylaws
(1) Section bylaws must remain in compliance with the State Bar Act, the State Bar Rules, this Policy
Manual, state and federal law, and any other applicable action of the Board. Each section must
strictly follow the procedures and provisions of its bylaws.
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(2) Section bylaws must include:
(a) a statement of the section’s mission and purpose(s);
(b) a provision prohibiting the section, its council, or its members from speaking, writing, or acting
on behalf of the State Bar without prior approval in accordance with the Board policies and
procedures;
(c) a provision requiring the section comply with State Bar financial policies and procedures and
supply information to the State Bar sufficient to participate in the State Bar’s annual audit(s);
(d) a provision that no revisions of the section’s bylaws shall be effective unless and until the
revisions are approved by the Board;
(e) provisions restating the restrictions set forth in section 5.01.04; and
(f) provisions restating the requirements set forth in section 5.01.05.
(B) Public Statements and Advocacy
(1) Representation of the State Bar. No section, section member, or section council shall represent
the State Bar before any legislative body, any administrative agency, in any court, or before any
other tribunal unless expressly authorized to do so by the Board in accordance with Board policies
and procedures.
(2) Speaking or Writing. No section, section member, or section council shall at any time, expressly
or impliedly, act, speak, or write on any subject on behalf of the State Bar unless expressly
authorized to do so by the Board in accordance with Board policies and procedures.
(3) State Bar Seal and Letterhead. No section, section member, or section council shall at any time
use the State Bar seal or letterhead for any purpose other than for the section’s official, properly
authorized business.
(4) Legislative Policy. Pursuant to Part VIII of this Policy Manual, sections may compile and submit
suggestions to the Board’s Legislative Policy Subcommittee regarding legislation prior to the
beginning of each regular session of the Legislature, and, if warranted, during a session. The section.
section council, and section members acting in the name of a section may not act as a political or
social advocacy group and shall comply with all State Bar policies, the State Bar Act, and other
applicable federal and state law, including Keller v. State Bar of California, 496 U.S. 1 (1990), and
McDonald v. Longley, 4 F.4th 229 (5th Cir. 2021).
(C) Confidentiality of Member Information. All information concerning any section member that is
deemed confidential by state or federal law, including Tex. Govt. Code Ch. 552 and Tex. Occ. Code Ch.
59, including email addresses, may be used only for official section business and shall not be disclosed
to the public. Sections must protect the confidentiality of such information.
(D) Contracts. Contracts for goods or services must be reviewed by State Bar Legal Counsel and
executed by a duly authorized signatory of the State Bar. When possible, sections should obtain three
bids/quotes for material expenditures on goods or services to obtain the best pricing for purchases.
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(E) Meetings.
(1) Organizational Meeting. Each section shall conduct an organizational meeting of the full
council prior to October 1 of each State Bar Fiscal Year.
(2) Annual Membership Meeting. Subject to any government restrictions or the policies or
directives of the State Bar or Board, each section shall hold at least one, in-person annual
membership meeting at a time determined by its council and at a place within Texas or by any
virtual method that allows for membership interaction. Notice of such annual meeting shall be
provided to each member of the section no later than 30 days prior to the annual meeting. At
each annual meeting of a section, the section leadership shall:
(a) deliver a report to the section membership regarding the section’s activities over the
preceding year;
(b) deliver a financial report on the section’s income and expenditures in detail along with a
report on any audit covering the section’s finances; and
(c) conduct an election for officers and council members for terms certain. The section shall
notify the Executive Director or its designee of the election results or its presumptive council
slate no later than August 15 of each fiscal year.
(3) Notice. Each section shall give notice of all council and membership meetings to the President,
President-elect, Executive Director, or their designated representative(s), and the section’s Board
Advisors.
(F) Publications and Website. Each section shall communicate regularly with its membership through
its website, electronic newsletters, email, and journals.
(1) Websites. Each section shall publish and keep current a section website posting a list of its
current officers and council with non-confidential contact information, its current bylaws, a
calendar of upcoming section events and meetings, and other announcements and educational
material of benefit to its members.
(2) Newsletters. Each section shall publish at least two newsletters each Fiscal Year. A copy of all
newsletters shall be provided to the President, President-elect, Executive Director, the State Bar
Archives Department, and the State Bar Sections Department.
(3) Texas Bar Journal. Each section shall be allocated, at no cost, a one-fourth page advertising
space in the Texas Bar Journal each State Bar Fiscal Year.
(4) Section Annual Reports. By April 1 of each year, the chair of each section shall submit to the
Executive Director an annual report for publication in the Texas Bar Journal. A section’s annual
report should contain a brief overview of the projects and accomplishments of the section over the
course of the Fiscal Year.
5.01.05 Finances
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(A) Sound Fiscal Fiduciary Management. Sections shall practice sound fiscal fiduciary management,
which requires operating in a fiscally-sound manner by establishing and abiding by financial policies that
contain appropriate accounting processes and adequate internal controls over section finances. Each
section shall manage its finances in a manner that ensures the integrity of the funds entrusted by its
members and allows for the inclusion of section activities in the State Bar’s audit process.
(B) Financial Policies and Procedures. Each section shall maintain and provide to the State Bar
Accounting Department written copies of financial policies and procedures that contain required
accounting processes and adequate internal controls over the section’s finances to ensure the integrity
of the funds entrusted by its members and allow for the inclusion of section activities in the State Bar’s
audit process. The section’s council must:
(1) amend the financial policies and procedures if those policies and procedures change; and
(2) each year, affirm to the State Bar Accounting department that the financial policies and procedures
on file are current and accurate when submitting the section’s budget.
(C) Audits. Sections shall participate in the State Bar of Texas annual financial audit or other internal
audits as approved by the Board Audit and Finance Committee and shall supply timely and complete
responses to any inquiries or requests during an audit.
(D) Section Dues and Other Fees. Each section is authorized to collect membership dues and other funds
from its activities and, subject to the other provisions of this Policy Manual, applicable law, rules, and
regulations, is authorized to determine how its funds are invested and expended. Any revision in section
dues must be submitted to the Board for consideration and action prior to implementation.
(E) Budget. Each section shall provide a detailed budget to the State Bar Accounting Department on or
before July 15 of each Fiscal Year. The section budget must include all anticipated revenues and
expenditures for the upcoming fiscal year.
(F) Depositories and Investments. Section funds must be invested consistent with State Bar investment
policy as set forth in Section 3.05 of this Policy Manual. Each section shall deposit its funds into either a
branch of the State Bar banking depository, or an alternative banking depository meeting the
requirements of the investment policy as set forth in Section 3.05 of this Policy Manual.
(G) Books, Records, and Reports. On a monthly basis, each section shall provide the State Bar Accounting
Department with:
(1) copies of all investment statements and bank statements that include copies of cleared checks;
(2) a back reconciliation for each account;
(3) a detailed general ledger of recorded transactions; and
(4) financial statements, if independently prepared, as soon as possible but no later than 30 days after
receipt.
Sections shall retain all financial records and reports necessary to sufficiently demonstrate the
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implementation of its policies and internal controls and shall make these records available to the State
Bar if requested.
(H) Sales Tax. To the extent required by law, each section shall collect sales tax on goods that it sells. No
later than the last business day of each month, any section that sells goods shall remit to the State Bar
all sales tax collected during the immediately preceding month, along with a report listing the price,
quantity, and description of the goods sold in such detail as the State Bar Accounting Department
reasonably may require to ensure compliance with applicable law, rules, and regulations.
(I) State Bar Assistance to Sections. Any section may elect to have the State Bar Accounting Department
manage section funds, including depositing dues and other funds, managing operating expenses, issuing
checks, and preparing financial reports and budgets. The State Bar will provide assistance to sections
under this subsection at no charge to sections, except that expenses incurred in providing financial
information in a format other than an electronic format prescribed by the State Bar Accounting
Department shall be borne by the section. For each section supplying the required monthly financial
information of the section, the accounting department of the State Bar shall prepare and provide to the
treasurer of the section, a monthly and year-to-date section financial report and a monthly cash and
investment account reconciliation.
5.01.06 Orientation. The Executive Director or designee shall conduct a mandatory orientation session
for incoming section chairs and treasurers. The curriculum shall include written materials on State Bar
policies, the State Bar Act, fiduciary management, public and legislative positions, and restrictions
imposed by Keller v. State Bar of California, 496 U.S. 1 (1990) and its progeny, including McDonald v.
Longley, 4 F.4th 229 (5th Cir. 2021). A handbook of guidelines and resources shall be provided for use by
the sections.
5.06.07 Participation in Council of Chairs. The chair of each section is a member of the State Bar Council
of Chairs Committee, and must attend the section orientation and each meeting of the Council of Chairs.
If, for any reason, a section chair is unable to attend a meeting of the Council of Chairs, the section chair
shall designate a representative from the section’s council to attend such meeting.
5.01.08 Section Name Change. All section name changes are subject to Board approval. The Board may
approve a section name change, provided the new name does not substantially conflict with the name of
any other existing section, nor indicate an expansion of the section’s purview that would conflict with or
significantly overlap the purview of any other existing section. The following procedure shall be followed
concerning a proposed change of a section’s name:
(A) The name change must be approved by the section’s membership in accordance with the section’s
bylaws.
(B) The section must present the proposed name change to the Council of Chairs for its consideration,
comments, and recommendation.
(C) The section must then present the proposed name change in writing to the Section Representatives
to the Board Committee for its consideration and recommendation. The written presentation must
include:
(1) a statement that the proposed name change was approved by the section membership in
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accordance with the section’s bylaws;
(2) an explanation of the reason for the name change; and
(3) a statement that the proposed name change was considered by the Council of Chairs, including a
summary of the comments by any member(s) of the Council of Chairs and the recommendation of the
Council of Chairs supporting or opposing the name change.
(D) The Section Representatives to the Board Committee may request other information from the
section in support of its proposal, and may request comment from any other persons concerning the
proposal.
(E) The Section Representatives to the Board Committee shall then report to the Board about the
section’s proposal and its recommendation supporting or opposing the name change. In its report, the
Section Representatives to the Board Committee must inform the Board of the recommendation of the
Council of Chairs concerning the proposed name change.
5.01.09 Review
(A) The Board or the Section Representatives to the Board Committee and Chair of the Council of Chairs
may, from time to time, review any aspect of a section's operations including its bylaws, compliance
with the State Bar governing documents, and this Policy Manual. The Section Representatives to the
Board Committee and the Council of Chairs leadership shall each appoint two of their members to
conduct the review.
(B) The reviewers shall notify the section and the section’s Board Advisors of the scope of the review
and the anticipated start and end dates of the review process.
(C) During the review, the section leadership shall include the reviewers and the section’s Board
Advisors in all meeting notices, meeting minutes, and council communications, and shall provide the
reviewers, upon request, with access to any section communications, materials, financial information,
or any other requested information.
(D) Throughout the review process, the reviewers may make recommendations to the section’s council
regarding possible improvements in services, processes, and any corrective actions needed to bring the
section into compliance with the State Bar Act, the State Bar Rules, this Policy Manual, and/or the
section’s purposes and bylaws.
(E) Upon conclusion of the review process, the reviewers may:
(1) terminate the review without further action;
(2) continue the review; or
(3) present recommendation(s) to the Board for action, including but not limited to placing the
section on provisional status for a stated period, merging the section into another existing section,
or dissolving the section and removing the section from the State Bar dues statement.
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(F). If the reviewers make a recommendation to the Board for action, they shall notify the section of
that recommendation at least 14 days in advance of the next Board meeting.
5.01.10 Merger. If the Board determines it to be in the best interests of the State Bar, the Board may
merge two or more sections upon a determination that the purposes and jurisdictions of the applicable
sections substantially overlap and that more than one section in that area is unnecessary. The Board may
also merge sections upon the request of the sections involved, provided that the membership of each of
the sections has approved the merger in accordance with the sections’ bylaws.
5.01.11 Dissolution.
(A) The Board may dissolve a section for good cause, including but not limited to a finding by the Board,
in its sole discretion, of:
(1) failure to comply with the section’s bylaws and/or the section’s mission or statement of purposes;
(2) failure to comply with any provision of the State Bar Act, the State Bar Rules, the Board Policy
Manual, and/or other applicable state or federal law;
(3) failure to cooperate with a section review or comply with the recommendations resulting from a
section review;
(4) a significant decline in membership over the course of three consecutive Fiscal Years;
(5) failure to provide services of value to members;
(6) failure to abide by the requirements and restrictions outlined in section 5.01.04;
(7) failure to practice sound fiduciary management, operate in a fiscally responsible manner, and/or
manage funds and expenditures using sound accounting practices; and/or
(8) failure to follow the requirements and procedures in section 5.01.05 of this Policy Manual regarding
finances.
(B) If the Board dissolves a section, it shall take such action as necessary to:
(1) protect the confidential and proprietary information of the State Bar and its members;
(2) protect the financial and contractual interests of the State Bar;
(3) notify all interested parties that the section has ceased to exist and remove the section from all
State Bar informational materials and websites; and
(4) direct the disbursement of the section’s funds as follows:
(a) The section’s funds shall be placed into receivership with the State Bar for a period not to exceed
one year.
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(b) If the section has collected funds from members and is dissolved mid-year, all membership dues
collected within the past fiscal year shall be refunded to section members. If the section does not
have sufficient funds to reimburse its current members, the dues will be refunded on a pro rata
basis.
(c) With any remaining funds, the Section Representatives to the Board Committee shall consult
with the dissolved section’s leadership to identify potential entities or organizations that may
benefit from a donation of funds, in accordance with the section’s original purposes; provided,
however, that no funds may be donated to any advocacy entity or organization, in the Board’s
judgment, would violate the State Bar Act, the State Bar Rules, the Board Policy Manual, or any
applicable federal or state law.
(d) Remaining funds may be transferred to an existing section(s) with a similar mission and purpose.
(e) With the exception of transference of a dissolved section’s funds to another section, such funds
may not be distributed to the State Bar or used for its benefit.
5.02 Section Representatives to the Board Committee
5.02.01 Eligibility. To be eligible to serve as a member of the Section Representatives to the Board
Committee, a person must:
(A) be an active member in good standing of the State Bar;
(B) be a member of at least one section of the State Bar; and
(C) not otherwise be serving as a member of, or liaison to the Board.
5.02.02 Composition. The Section Representatives to the Board Committee consists of six members, one
of whom represents sections with 500 members or less, two of whom represent sections with 501 to
2,000 members, and three of whom represent sections with over 2,000 members. A committee member
must belong to at least one section of the size that he or she represents. No committee member shall be
disqualified simply because of a change in section size. Each committee member should become familiar
with issues of concern to the sections that he or she represents.
5.02.03 Elections. The members of the Section Representatives to the Board Committee shall be elected
for their respective terms by the Council of Chairs. The chair and vice-chair of the Council of Chairs may
establish reasonable procedures for these elections. The procedures must afford an opportunity for each
candidate to communicate with the Council of Chairs, and an option for each section to vote through its
designated representative.
5.02.04 Vacancies. In the event a member of the Section Representatives to the Board Committee resigns,
becomes unable to serve, or becomes unqualified to serve as a member of the committee, his or her
position shall be deemed vacant and a replacement shall be elected and appointed pursuant to the same
process provided for in this Section 5.02. The replacement member shall serve the balance of the term of
the particular position vacated.
5.02.05 Terms. Each member of the Section Representatives to the Board Committee shall serve one
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three-year term as a member of the committee, irrespective of the size of sections he or she represents,
and shall not be eligible for any subsequent reappointment to the committee; provided, however, that in
the event a member has been appointed to fill a vacancy and has served less than one-half of the term of
his or her predecessor, such member may be, but is not entitled to be, reappointed for a full three-year
term.
5.02.06 Purposes. The purposes of the Section Representatives to the Board Committee are to:
(A) foster the relationship between the State Bar and its sections by:
(1) improve communications between the sections and the Board;
(2) communicate information from the Board to the sections and the Council of Chairs;
(3) study issues pertaining to relations between the State Bar and its sections as well as between or
among the various sections;
(4) advise the sections on State Bar matters;
(5) serve as the first level of self-governance for the sections;
(6) make recommendations to the sections for improvements in services and benefits to membership
and compliance with the State Bar Act, the State Bar Rules, and this Policy Manual; and
(7) review sections for compliance with the State Bar Act, the State Bar Rules, and this Policy Manual;
and make recommendations to the Board in accordance with the provisions of this Policy Manual.
5.02.07 Appointment. The President shall appoint as members of the Section Representatives to the
Board Committee the persons recommended by the Council of Chairs.
5.02.08 Expense Reimbursement. Notwithstanding other provisions in this Policy Manual, expenses
incurred by the members of the Section Representatives to the Board Committee in the conduct of their
official business shall not be reimbursed by the State Bar. Reasonable expenses in accordance with State
Bar policies will be reimbursed by the sections, with sixty per cent of the expenses to be reimbursed in
equal shares by sections with more than 2,000 members, and forty per cent to be reimbursed in equal
shares by sections having 501 to 2,000 members. The overall annual requests for reimbursement for
committee expenses may not exceed $12,000.
5.03 Council of Chairs
The Council of Chairs, as appointed by the President, shall consist of the chairs of all sections of the State
Bar, the members of the Section Representatives to the Board Committee, and a chair and vice-chair, also
appointed by the President. The chair or vice-chair (whoever is presiding) may only vote to break a tie.
The members of the Section Representatives to the Board Committee are non-voting members. The
Council of Chairs shall meet regularly at least two times annually, in addition to the orientation described
in Subsection 5.01.12 of this Policy Manual, and may meet specially at such times and places as the
President, or the chairs of the Council of Chairs and the Section Representatives to the Board Committee,
in consultation with the President, shall determine. The chair of each section shall attend each meeting
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of the Council of Chairs, or shall send a designated representative. The Council of Chairs will discuss at its
meetings items placed on the agenda by the President, the chair of the Council of Chairs, and/or the chair
of the Section Representatives to the Board Committee, together with all other items of business that
otherwise come before the Council of Chairs.
5.04 Divisions
5.04.01 General
(A) The Board may establish and maintain divisions of lay persons who study law or who are associated
in work with lawyers for the purpose of promoting the purposes and objectives of the State Bar. In
establishing such divisions, the Board may seek recommendations from such committees, sections,
Board committees, or other entities as it deems advisable. The contemplated jurisdiction of a new
division shall not be in substantial conflict, nor substantially overlap, with the jurisdiction of any other
section or division.
(B) Membership in a division is not, and may not be represented as, membership in the State Bar.
5.04.02 Bylaws. Division bylaws, and any amendments thereto, must be approved by the Board. The
bylaws must include the following:
(A) a provision that the division and its members shall not engage in any lobbying or advocacy activities
in the name of the division or of the State Bar without the prior approval of the Board.
(B) a provision that no amendments to the division’s bylaws will be effective unless and until approved
by the Board.
5.04.03 Name Change. All division name changes are subject to Board approval. The Board may approve
a change in the name of a division, provided the new name does not substantially conflict with the name
of any other existing division, nor indicate an expansion of the division’s purview that would conflict with
or overlap the purview of any other existing division. In determining whether a name change is
appropriate, the Board may seek the recommendations of other divisions, the Executive Committee,
Board committees, and standing or special committees, including the Section Representatives to the
Board Committee.
5.04.04 Confidentiality of Member Information. All information concerning any division member that is
deemed confidential by state or federal law, including Tex. Govt. Code Ch. 552 and Tex. Occ. Code Ch. 59,
including email addresses, may be used only for official division business and may not be disclosed to the
public. Divisions must take reasonable, necessary precautions to protect the confidentiality of such
information.
5.04.05 Public Statements and Advocacy Activities
(A) Representation of State Bar. No division, division board, or division member shall purport to
represent the State Bar before any legislative body, administrative agency, in any court, or before any
other tribunal unless expressly authorized to do so in accordance with Board policies and procedures.
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(B) Speaking or Writing. No division, division board, or division member shall at any time, expressly or
impliedly, purport to act, speak, or write on any subject on behalf of the State Bar, unless expressly
authorized to do so in accordance with Board policies and procedures.
(C) State Bar Seal and Letterhead. No division, division board, or division member shall at any time use
the State Bar seal or letterhead for any purpose other than for the division’s official, properly authorized
business.
(D) Advocacy. No positions may be taken by a division, division board, or division member in the name
of the division that advocates or advances a political or social policy position.
(E) Compliance. No division, division board, or division member shall intentionally act in violation of state
or federal law, e.g., Keller v. State Bar of California, 495 U.S. 1 (1990) and its progeny, including McDonald
v. Longley, 4 F.4th 229 (5th Cir. 2021).
5.04.06 Contracts. All contracts for goods or services for a division must be reviewed by State Bar Legal
Counsel and executed by a duly authorized signatory of the State Bar.
5.04.07 Division Annual Reports. By April 1 of each year, the chair of each division will submit to the
Executive Director an annual report for publication in the Texas Bar Journal. A division's annual report
should contain a brief overview of the projects and accomplishments of the division during the year
preceding its submission, along with such other information as may be recommended by the Executive
Director.
5.04.08 Continuance. The Board may periodically review a division’s fiduciary management of dues
income, compliance with this Policy Manual, and membership services to determine whether
continuation of the division is warranted. In connection with such a review, the Board may seek the
recommendations of the Executive Committee or a Board Committee, including the Section
Representatives to the Board Committee.
5.04.09 Dissolution and Merger
(A) The Board may dissolve a division for good cause, including, but not limited to:
(1) intentional violation of state or federal law, court rule, its bylaws, or State Bar policy, including, but
not limited to, those governing public statements, finances, and legislative policy;
(2) substantially declining division membership; or
(3) failure to provide services to its members in accordance with its purposes.
(B) The Board may merge two or more divisions:
(1) if the Board determines that the purposes and jurisdictions of the applicable divisions substantially
overlap and that more than one division in that area is not needed; or
(2) if the divisions involved so request, provided that the membership of each of the divisions has
approved the merger in accordance with the divisions’ bylaws.
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Part VI. DISCIPLINARY SYSTEM
6.01 Policy, Purpose and Application
6.01.01 Purposes. The purposes of the State Bar grievance system are as follows:
(A) to discipline attorneys who have committed professional misconduct as defined by the Texas
Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct and the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure;
(B) to clear the name of an attorney who has not committed professional misconduct; and
(C) to protect the public.
6.01.02 Application. Insofar as any of the provisions of this Part VI. of the Policy Manual may conflict with
the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct or the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Procedure, such
Rules shall apply. Terms used herein shall have the same meaning ascribed to them as in the Texas Rules
of Disciplinary Procedure, unless a different meaning is apparent from the context.
6.02 Commission for Lawyer Discipline Liaisons
The chair of the Discipline/Client Attorney Assistance Committee shall serve as the liaison to the
Commission on behalf of the Board.
6.03 Chief Disciplinary Counsel
6.03.01 Selection and Compensation. The Commission shall select an attorney to act as Chief Disciplinary
Counsel. Subject to §9.01 of this Policy Manual, the compensation of the Chief Disciplinary counsel shall
be authorized and approved by the Commission.
6.03.02 Administration of Disciplinary System. The Office of the Chief Disciplinary Counsel shall
administer the attorney discipline and disability system in accordance with the Texas Rules of Disciplinary
Procedure and as directed by the Commission.
6.03.03 Filing of Complaints. Allegations of professional misconduct against any member of the State Bar
shall be filed with the Office of the Chief Disciplinary Counsel.
6.03.04 Ethics Opinions. The Chief Disciplinary Counsel shall maintain as a service to the members of the
Bar, a toll-free Attorney Ethics Helpline, operated from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday.
The Ethics Helpline is designed to assist members of the State Bar who have questions about their ethical
obligations to clients, courts, and the public under the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct.
The advice shall be given orally to members of the State Bar, but such advice shall not be binding on
grievance committees or the State Bar. No advice may be given to a member of the State Bar if the advice
relates to a matter that is pending in the disciplinary system. No opinions on ethical or unauthorized
practice of law matters shall be given to non-members of the State Bar of Texas.
6.03.05 Grievance Committee Training. The Office of Chief Disciplinary Counsel shall conduct annual
training sessions for all grievance committee members. The training shall include, among other topics,
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structure of the attorney discipline system, grievance procedure, and committee organization, duties and
authority with appropriate references to the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct and the
Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure. In addition, members shall be provided with a procedural guide on
conducting evidentiary hearings.
6.03.06 Grievances Against Attorneys in the Chief Disciplinary Counsel Staff. If a grievance is filed against
any attorney member of the staff of the Chief Disciplinary Counsel, the following procedure shall apply:
(A) The classification of the grievance will be determined in the same manner as any other grievance.
(B) If the grievance is classified as a complaint, or the Board of Disciplinary Appeals reverses the
classification of the grievance as an inquiry, the matter will be sent to a regional office outside the region
where the attorney practices for investigation and determination of Just Cause.
(C) If no Just Cause is determined, a transfer may be requested from the Board of Disciplinary Appeals
for consideration of the matter by a summary disposition panel outside the region where the attorney
practices.
(D) If Just Cause is determined, and the attorney does not elect district court, a transfer may be
requested from the Board of Disciplinary Appeals for the case to be filed with an Evidentiary Panel
outside the region where the attorney practices. The Commission shall appoint a Special Assistant
Disciplinary Counsel to handle the case.
6.03.07 Lawsuits Related to Disciplinary Matters. Notwithstanding any other provisions in the Policy
Manual, the Chief Disciplinary Counsel shall be counsel for the State Bar and such related entities and
individuals in lawsuits arising out of or pertaining to a disciplinary matter. In such cases, the Chief
Disciplinary Counsel shall keep the Executive Director fully informed of all matters relating to such
lawsuits, and shall seek the advice of the Executive Director relating to the retention of outside counsel.
6.04 Grievance Committees
6.04.01 General. All grievance committees shall be duly organized and shall carry out the duties of office
in accordance with the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure and this Policy Manual.
6.04.02 Nomination and Appointment. Each Elected Director of the State Bar shall nominate, and the
President of the State Bar shall appoint, the members of the grievance committees within the District that
coincides with the Director’s district. The Elected Director shall certify that he or she has explained the
importance of the position to each nominee, and that the nominee has agreed in writing to participate
actively in the work of the committee and fulfill the duties of such office. If an Elected Director fails to
make such nominations timely, the President shall proceed to make the required appointments without
such recommendations. The appointment of grievance committee members does not require ratification
by the Board.
(A) Diversity. It is in the best interest of the public and the lawyers of Texas for the racial, ethnic, and
gender makeup of the district grievance committees to fairly represent as closely as reasonably
practicable, the racial, ethnic, and gender makeup of the districts they serve. Directors are encouraged
to make their district grievance committee appointments so as to continue the fulfillment of this goal
and to ensure that lawyer members reflect the various sizes of practice groups.
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(B) Lawyer Members. In making recommendations for appointments of lawyer members to grievance
committees, each Director shall recommend for appointment only those persons who are licensed to
practice law in the State of Texas and members in good standing of the State Bar and who have not been
convicted of a misdemeanor involving theft, a felony, or a crime involving moral turpitude. No person
may serve as a grievance committee member while he or she is a member of the Board or an active
judge subject to Canon 4H of the Code of Judicial Conduct.
(C) Public Members. In making recommendations for appointments of public members to grievance
committees each Director shall recommend for appointment only those persons representative of the
general public who are not licensed to practice law and who do not have other than as consumers a
financial interest in the practice of law, and who have not been convicted of a misdemeanor involving
theft, a felony, or a crime involving moral turpitude. No person may serve as a grievance committee
member while he or she is a member of the Board.
(D) Financial Interest. For purposes of disqualification of a person for recommendation for appointment
as a public member to a grievance committee, the phrase "financial interest in the practice of law" shall
include:
(1) the spouse of a lawyer;
(2) any employee of a lawyer, private law firm, or professional legal corporation;
(3) any person who acquires the majority of his or her annual gross income from or through a lawyer,
law firm, professional legal corporation by way of professional or consultant fees; and
(4) the spouse of any person listed in (2) and (3) above.
(E) Background Check. Each person seeking to serve as a grievance committee member shall, prior to
nomination, submit to the Chief Disciplinary Counsel a written consent to the performance of a criminal
background check as a prerequisite to nomination.
6.04.03 Defense of Grievance Committee Members in Lawsuits Related to Their Service. The State Bar
shall defend, at the expense of the State Bar, the present and former members of its district grievance
committees in civil litigation which has been initiated as the result of the member’s committee service.
The State Bar, by undertaking the defense of a committee member, cannot and does not assume any
obligation to satisfy a judgment rendered against the member or to contribute money toward any
settlement agreed upon by the member or any of the parties to the lawsuit. In defending grievance
committee members in lawsuits related to their service, the following procedures apply:
(A) Grievance Committee Member to Promptly Notify State Bar. Promptly upon receipt of a citation and
petition that alleges conduct on the part of a present or former district grievance committee member
as the basis for a claim, the member shall forward a copy of the petition and citation to the Chief
Disciplinary Counsel’s office in Austin, Texas, together with a request for representation in the matter in
question.
(B) Review. Upon receipt of a copy of a request for representation, the Chief Disciplinary Counsel shall:
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(1) send a copy of the request to the Director or Directors in whose district the grievance committee
member serves or served, the Chair of the Commission, the President, the Executive Director, the
Chair, and the Chair of the Discipline/Client Attorney Assistance Program Committee; and
(2) review the allegations made therein and both the Chief Disciplinary Counsel and the Executive
Director shall make an initial determination as to whether or not the allegations pertaining to the
committee member appear to be within the course and scope of the committee member’s duties.
(C) Determination. If the Chief Disciplinary Counsel and the Executive Director conclude that the
allegations relate to conduct solely within the course and scope of the member’s duties, the Chief
Disciplinary Counsel shall offer to defend such allegations, and shall notify the member of this
determination.
(D) Notification of Partial Inability to Defend. If the Chief Disciplinary Counsel and the Executive Director
conclude that some, but not all, of the allegations made in the petition relate to conduct within the
course and scope of the member’s duties, the Chief Disciplinary Counsel shall offer to defend such
allegations and shall notify the member of the Bar’s inability to defend the case as a whole.
(E) Notification of Total Inability to Defend. If the Chief Disciplinary Counsel and the Executive Director
conclude that none of the allegations relate to conduct within the course and scope of the member’s
duties, the Chief Disciplinary Counsel shall promptly notify the committee member that the State Bar is
prohibited from defending any of the allegations.
6.04.04 Decline of Defense by Member. If the Chief Disciplinary Counsel offers a defense, and the
committee member declines such representation, the committee member shall be solely responsible for
securing legal representation in the matter and the cost thereof.
6.04.05 Notification to Member. In the notification to the member, the Chief Disciplinary Counsel shall
also advise the member of the importance of notifying his or her insurance carrier(s) of the claims being
made, and of the need to seek legal representation with respect to those allegations which the State Bar
is prohibited from defending.
6.04.06 Notification of Bar Leadership. The Chief Disciplinary Counsel shall also send a copy of the
determination to the persons listed in Subsection 6.04.03(B) above.
6.04.07 Review of Determination. If the Director or Directors in whose district the grievance committee
member serves or served, the President, the Chair, or the chair of the Discipline/Client Attorney Assistance
Program Committee disagrees with the determination made by the Chief Disciplinary Counsel and the
Executive Director as to the scope of the defense offered, then any of them may request a review thereof
by the Executive Committee or by the Board. The Executive Committee or the Board may, after
consultation with the Executive Director and Chief Disciplinary Counsel, affirm, reverse or revise such
determination.
6.04.08 New Allegations in the Course of Lawsuit. When allegations in a lawsuit against a committee
member are changed during the course of litigation, the Chief Disciplinary Counsel and the Executive
Director shall follow the same procedure for review, determination and notification as set out above, and
the decision shall be reviewable by the Executive Committee or Board in the same manner as set forth
above.
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6.04.09 Authority of Chair of Committees and Panels. The chair of a grievance committee, the chair of a
panel thereof, or anyone designated to act as a panel chair in the panel chair’s absence by the chair of the
committee or a majority of the panel members in attendance at the hearing, may conduct the evidentiary
panel proceeding or summary disposition docket. In an evidentiary panel proceeding, the presiding panel
chair shall have authority, consistent with the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure, to:
(A) administer oaths and affirmations;
(B) make rulings upon motions and other requests;
(C) rule upon offers of proof, receive relevant evidence, and examine witnesses;
(D) regulate the course of the hearing and ensure that all members have taken the required oath;
(E) hold or provide for the holding of conferences to settle or simplify the issues;
(F) receive and consider oral or written arguments on facts or law;
(G) adopt procedures consistent with the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure and modify them from
time to time as occasion requires for the orderly disposition of proceedings; and
(H) perform acts and take measures, consistent with the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure, as
necessary to promote the efficient and timely conduct of the hearing.
6.04.10 Restrictions. Grievance committee members shall not:
(A) give opinions on ethical or unauthorized practice of law matters while serving on the committee,
other than through the member’s role on the committee;
(B) represent any Complainant or Respondent in any disciplinary matter pending or filed during the
member’s term of service on the grievance committee;
(C) testify in any capacity in connection with any disciplinary matter pending or filed during the
member’s term of service on the grievance committee; or
(D) counsel any Complainant or Respondent or any attorney representing any Complainant or
Respondent in any disciplinary matter pending or filed during the member’s term of service on the
grievance committee.
6.04.11 Removal of Grievance Committee Members. The President may remove, for cause, grievance
committee members, with the concurrence of the Director or the majority of the Directors in whose
District the grievance committee member serves. The President shall remove from a grievance committee
any member who during his or her term of service has been convicted of a misdemeanor involving theft,
a felony, or a crime involving moral turpitude. The Chief Disciplinary Counsel shall keep the Commission,
the President, and the appropriate Director(s) informed as to any problems with either attendance or
performance of grievance committee members.
“Cause” for the purpose of recommending the removal of a grievance committee member shall include:
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(A) when a member has two absences from meetings of the grievance committee or panel thereof within
any twelve-month period;
(B) when a member of a committee neglects or breaches the duties for that office;
(C) when a sanction has been imposed on a lawyer committee member during the term of service;
(D) when it is learned that a member made a material misrepresentation regarding his or her eligibility
to serve;
(E) when it is learned that a member is or has become ineligible to serve;
(F) when a member is charged with or indicted for a misdemeanor involving theft, a felony, or a crime
involving moral turpitude; or
(G) when a member has become incapacitated or is unable to fulfill the duties of committee
membership.
6.04.12 Grievances Against Grievance Committee Members. If a grievance is filed against any grievance
committee member, the following procedure shall apply:
(A) The classification of the grievance will be determined in the same manner as any other grievance. If
the grievance is classified as an inquiry and dismissed, the committee member will continue to serve.
(B) If the grievance is classified as a complaint, or the Board of Disciplinary Appeals reverses the
classification of the grievance as an inquiry, the matter will be sent to a regional office outside the region
where the committee member serves for investigation and determination of Just Cause. The committee
member shall be eligible to continue to serve during the investigation of the grievance.
(C) If no Just Cause is determined, a transfer may be requested from the Board of Disciplinary Appeals
for consideration of the matter by a summary disposition panel outside the region where the committee
member serves.
(D) If Just Cause is determined, and the committee member does not elect district court, a transfer may
be requested from the Board of Disciplinary Appeals for the case to be filed with an Evidentiary Panel
outside the region where the committee member serves. The committee member shall be immediately
placed on leave from further service until resolution of the complaint.
(E) If the complaint is dismissed at any stage, the member will automatically resume committee service
for the remainder of the term.
(F) If any sanction or a referral to the Grievance Referral Program is agreed to or imposed, then the
member may be removed for cause.
6.04.13 Reporting Misconduct. Each grievance committee member has the duty to forward immediately
to the Chief Disciplinary Counsel any information concerning an attorney having been charged with,
indicted for, or convicted of barratry, any felony involving moral turpitude, any misdemeanor involving
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theft, embezzlement, or fraudulent misappropriation of money or other property, or otherwise subject to
the compulsory discipline procedures of the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure.
6.05 Disqualifications
6.05.01 Disqualification of Officer or Board Member as Counsel. No Officer or member of the Board shall
counsel or represent any Complainant or Respondent in any disciplinary proceeding or action, pending or
filed during the term of the affected person’s service as an Officer or member of the Board.
6.05.02 Disqualification of Committee Members. A grievance committee member is disqualified to sit as
a panel member for either a summary disposition hearing or an evidentiary hearing if a district judge
would, under similar circumstances, be disqualified. Further, a grievance committee member may be
recused if the Respondent or Complainant is represented by a member, associate, employee, or
shareholder of the law firm or professional corporation of the Director who nominated the grievance
committee member.
6.06 Notice of Reinstatement Hearings
Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure §11.04 requires that notice of a petition for reinstatement be
published in the Texas Bar Journal. The notice is a condition precedent to the hearing of an application
for reinstatement.
(A) The notice shall be published not less than thirty days before the reinstatement hearing.
(B) The responsibility for requesting the insertion of such notice shall be upon the applicant for
reinstatement.
(C) The notice shall be published in the disciplinary actions section of the Texas Bar Journal at the same
rate as classified ads and the cost thereof paid by the applicant for reinstatement. The notice shall
contain the name and address of the applicant, the date and place of resignation or disbarment, and the
county, court, and cause number of the application.
6.07 Compromise of Claims Arising from Disciplinary Judgments
Notwithstanding any other provision in this Policy Manual, the Executive Director, upon the advice of the
Chief Disciplinary Counsel, shall have full authority to compromise claims that arise in connection with the
collection of awards of attorneys’ fees, court costs and litigation expenses due to the State Bar in lawyer
disciplinary judgments. The Executive Director shall fully and timely report such compromise to the Board
and the Commission.
6.08 Fee Arbitration Committees
The State Bar encourages the formation of fee arbitration committees by every local bar association.
Should a local bar fail to form such a committee, then the Director for the district in which that local bar
is located may appoint one or more fee arbitration committees for the district.
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6.09 Grievance Referral Program
The Grievance Referral Program is established as a diversion program designed to address professionalism
issues in minor misconduct cases. The Office of Chief Disciplinary Counsel shall maintain the Grievance
Referral Program as a component of the attorney discipline system.
6.09.01 Eligibility
The following criteria are to be considered for participation in the program:
(A) Respondent has not been disciplined within the prior 3 years.
(B) Respondent has not been disciplined for similar conduct within the prior 5 years.
(C) Misconduct does not involve misappropriation of funds or breach of fiduciary duties.
(D) Misconduct does not involve dishonesty, fraud, or misrepresentation.
(E) Misconduct did not result in substantial harm or prejudice to client or complainant.
(F) Respondent maintained cooperative attitude toward the proceedings.
(G) Participation is likely to benefit respondent and further the goal of protection of the public.
(H) Misconduct does not constitute a crime which would subject respondent to compulsory discipline
under Part VIII of the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure.
6.09.02 Procedure
(A) The Commission may refer an eligible Respondent to the program in any disciplinary matter that
has reached the Just Cause stage of the process.
(B) The Respondent must agree to meet with the program administrator for an assessment of the
professionalism issues that contributed to the misconduct.
(C) The Respondent must agree in writing to waive any applicable time limits and to complete specific
terms and conditions, including restitution if appropriate, by a date certain and to pay for any costs
associated with the terms and conditions.
(D) If the Respondent agrees to participate and completes the terms in a timely manner, the underlying
grievance will be dismissed.
(E) If the Respondent does not fully complete the terms of the agreement in a timely manner, the
underlying grievance will continue in the ordinary disciplinary process.
(F) Generally, a Respondent is eligible to participate in the program one time.
6.09.03 Reporting. The program administrator will provide periodic reports to the Commission on the
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progress of the program, including the number of cases resolved.
Part VII. PROGRAMS, PROJECTS, SERVICES AND FUNCTIONS
7.01 Delivery of Legal Services
7.01.01 Citizens’ Legal Education. It shall be a policy of the State Bar to establish a special committee that
shall concern itself with developing, implementing, and augmenting programs for the education of the
public in regard to each citizen's legal rights and responsibilities and the roles of the legal profession and
the judiciary in protecting those rights and enforcing those responsibilities.
7.01.02 Lawyer Referral and Information Services. There shall be a standing committee on the Texas
Lawyer Referral and Information Services, which will also assist and coordinate the work of the local
lawyer referral services.
(A) Lawyer referral services are designed to meet the needs of the public for representation by
competent lawyers, as well as to provide public education about the law, the legal profession, and
lawyers.
(B) The State Bar is determined that the people of Texas be served by lawyer referral services that are
operated in accordance with the Occupation Code Title 5, Subtitle B, Chapter 952 and that serve the
public interest effectively by improving performance and emphasizing the obligations to function as a
public service of the bar.
(C) Information made available to the public about local lawyer referral services by the Texas Lawyer
Referral and Information Services and by the State Bar shall be limited to those lawyer referral services
that:
(1) are operated, sponsored, or approved by a bar association representative of the general bar of the
geographical area in which the association exists;
(2) maintain accurate records of calls received from the public, calls referred to lawyers, referrals
actually completed, and responses to the periodic survey and requests for data from the State Bar;
and
(3) are staffed by employees of the local bar association. There shall be no referrals by the Texas Lawyer
Referral and Information Services to, or publicity by the State Bar about, a lawyer referral service
staffed by employees of a commercial telephone answering service or other private business firm.
(D) Referral from the large metropolitan areas where local bar sponsored lawyer referral services exist
shall be referred by the Texas Lawyer Referral and Information Services to or through those services
exclusively. All other referral requests not served by the local bar referral service shall be referred to
those lawyers participating in the Texas Lawyer Referral and Information Services, which participating
lawyers practice in geographical areas of Texas not otherwise served by a local bar referral service
program.
7.01.03 Disaster Response Plan. In an attempt to prevent solicitation of disaster victims and to assure all
citizens equal access to justice, the Board directs State Bar staff to maintain a Disaster Response Plan that
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is reviewed annually and updated as needed.
7.02 Access to Justice Commission
7.02.01 Support. The State Bar, in furtherance of its purpose to ensure access to justice for all Texans,
supports the Texas Access to Justice Commission, created by the Supreme Court of Texas by Order dated
April 26, 2001.
7.02.02 State Bar Appointments to the TATJC. The President, subject to the approval of the Board, shall
appoint seven TATJC members in accordance with the following:
(A) Two Directors shall be appointed, without regard to whether those members are licensed attorneys.
(B) One TATJC member shall be appointed from the general membership of the State Bar.
(C) One TATJC member shall be appointed from the Texas Bar Foundation Board of Directors.
(D) One at-large TATJC member shall be appointed on the basis of demonstrated commitment, and
familiarity with, access to justice issues.
(E) Two TATJC members shall be appointed who are representatives (staff, board or volunteers) of state
or federally-funded legal services programs (reflecting diversity among LSC and non-LSC funded
programs, staff and pro-bono based programs, and general civil legal services and specific services or
client-based programs).
(F) In filling the appointments in all of the foregoing categories, the President shall appoint, after
consultation with the president of the TYLA, at least one TATJC member of the TYLA.
7.02.03 Term and Vacancies. In accordance with TATJC rules, each TATJC member shall be appointed for
a term of three years. Any vacancies of those positions appointed pursuant to the preceding Subsection
occurring during the term of appointment shall be filled by the President, subject to the approval of the
Board. Any such replacement member shall serve for the duration of the term of the vacancy.
7.02.04 Legislative Activities. The Access to Justice Commission’s legislative activities shall be subject to
the State Bar’s review for compliance with Keller v. State Bar of California, 496 U.S. 1 (1990),
and McDonald v. Longley, 4 F.4th 229 (5th Cir. 2021).
7.03 Professional Development
7.03.01 General Policy. To the end that the public may enjoy the highest quality of legal services, the State
Bar shall support educational programs for, and the dissemination of materials to, lawyers for their
continuing education.
7.03.02 License For Electronic Products; Permission To Reprint.
(A) License for Electronic Products. The Executive Director or staff designee may grant a license for the
use in electronic products of continuing legal education materials on which the State Bar holds copyright
for the purposes and under the conditions approved from time to time by the Professional Development
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Subcommittee of the Board.
(B) Permission to Reprint. The Executive Director or staff designee may grant permission to reprint or
use specified portions of continuing legal education materials on which the State Bar holds copyright if,
in the judgment of the Executive Director, the dominant purpose of the reprinting or use is educational
and the distribution of the material or its proposed use will not constitute adverse competition with
programs or publications of the State Bar and will preserve the educational reputation of those programs
and publications.
7.03.03 Videotape Programs. Videotape programs shall be encouraged as a means to facilitate continuing
legal education.
7.03.04 Publication of Books. The publication of all books and similar material by or under the auspices
of the State Bar for use by attorneys is to be approved by the Professional Development (Education)
Subcommittee of the Board on the recommendation of the appropriate substantive committee or the
Continuing Legal Education Committee.
7.03.05 Endorsements. At the request of the publisher or sponsor thereof, a book and other publication
not intended for use by attorneys but dealing with any aspect of the legal profession may be approved or
endorsed by the State Bar through its Board, either with or without restrictions, disclaimers, or limitations
about the substance of and forms contained in the publication.
7.03.06 Judges. Full-time Texas appellate court judges, district court judges, county court at law judges,
municipal court judges, justices of the peace, magistrates, masters, referees, administrative law judges,
hearings examiners, Texas area Federal judges, or attorney court staff may at no charge attend
TexasBarCLE courses in subject areas directly related to the jurisdiction of their tribunals. This nontransferable privilege extends to judges retired under the judicial retirement system; it does not extend
to receivers, trustees, non-attorney court staff, or to persons serving part-time in any judicial or
administrative capacity. Exercise of this privilege is subject to available space after admission of all paid
registrants. Only those who actually attend a course under this policy may pick up free course materials;
no one else may do it for them in their absence.
7.03.07 Complimentary Attendance.
(A) State Bar and TYLA Presidents. In recognition of their service to the State Bar and TYLA, all former
Presidents are extended lifetime complimentary attendance and access privileges to all TexasBarCLE
courses, webcasts, online classes and online CLE articles.
(B) Law Students, Law Faculty and Bar Examinees. Students, faculty and staff members of a Texas ABAaccredited law school and examinees awaiting their Texas bar exam results are extended complimentary
access privileges to TexasBarCLE webcasts, online classes and online CLE articles.
(C) Speakers and Authors. Speakers and authors for TexasBarCLE programs and authors for
TexasBarBooks publications are extended complimentary access privileges to TexasBarCLE webcasts,
online classes and online articles relevant to their service as a speaker or author for the one-year period
following the beginning of their service on the project or until the project has been completed,
whichever is later.
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(D) Other Groups. The following groups are extended complimentary attendance and access privileges
to all TexasBarCLE courses, webcasts, online classes and online CLE articles:
(1) Officers or Directors of the State Bar or of TYLA;
(2) Members of the State Bar CLE Committee;
(3) Members of the Commission for Lawyer Discipline;
(4) Members of the Board of Disciplinary Appeals;
(5) Judges and attorney court staff as defined in section 7.03.06; and
(6) Staff of the State Bar.
7.03.08 Reimbursements.
(A) General Policy. The State Bar will reimburse actual out-of-pocket expenses incurred by attorneys and
other professionals in planning, appearing as a speaker on, and/or preparing written materials for a
State Bar continuing legal education program or product, such expenses to be reasonable according to
the usual cost of products or services for which reimbursement is requested as determined by similar
reimbursement requests of other participants, by practices applicable to other public agencies and
institutions of the State of Texas, by other readily available reference information, and by State Bar staff
experience.
(B) Reasonableness Standard. For purposes of determining allowable expenses, a reasonableness
standard will be applied, taking into account, location, and other circumstances; e.g., expenses are
usually higher at a big city hotel. If anyone affected by this policy anticipates a large or unusual expense,
such person must notify the appropriate State Bar staff person at TexasBarCLE before incurring such an
expense. Sometimes, there may be less expensive ways to meet the need. Discretionary expenses such
as entertainment or bar drinks cannot be reimbursed.
(C) Speakers. Course registrations, written materials, and lunches organized by the State Bar shall be
provided to all speakers at no cost.
(1) Lodging. A speaker will be reimbursed only for one night's lodging for each day that he or she
appears on the program unless:
(a) that speaker's travel schedule requires an extra night; or
(b) there are special circumstances that make it necessary for that speaker to stay longer and same
are approved in advance by the appropriate State Bar staff.
If there is a host hotel for the event, the speaker will be reimbursed for the group rate negotiated with
that hotel.
A hotel room should be booked before the published cutoff date for the group rate (usually four weeks
before the event.) Speakers must avoid booking hotel rooms at off-the-street rates.
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Lodging will not be reimbursed for any speaker residing in or practicing in a county in which the course
is presented. This restriction does not apply to course directors.
(2) Complimentary Facilities. If the State Bar receives free facilities, rooms or other services from a
hotel or restaurant in connection with the holding of a CLE event, those benefits shall be used directly
to reduce other expenses of conducting the seminar. Only State Bar staff may assign these facilities or
benefits to speakers in lieu of paying directly for these benefits
(3) Meals. Maximum $40 meal allowance per day, subject to the reasonableness standard stated in
section 7.03.08(A) and (B).
(4) Transportation. Speakers will be reimbursed transportation expenses at the applicable mileage
reimbursement for travel in a privately owned vehicle, as provided in the travel provisions of the
current General Appropriations Act, airline travel at coach rates, parking fees, taxi and airport bus
charges, and if most economical, rental car. The use of taxis and airport buses is encouraged not only
because they are less expensive but because it relieves the speaker of having to find the destination.
(5) Honoraria. It is the policy of the State Bar not to offer honoraria to speakers who are Texas
attorneys. In extraordinary circumstances, a nominal honorarium not exceeding $1,500 may be offered
to Texas attorneys, out-of-state attorneys, or other experts only if approved in advance by the Director
of the Professional Development Division. An honorarium exceeding $1,500 must be approved in
advance by the Executive Director.
(6) Expenses of Speaker Guests. Expenses for speaker guests shall be paid by the speaker.
(7) Extras. Speakers who bring written materials to the course for distribution, without prior approval
of the State Bar staff attorney assigned to the course, will only be reimbursed at the contract rate
currently paid by the State Bar for duplication services.
(8) Out-of-State Speakers. No out-of-state speaker shall be recruited for any course without prior
written approval from the director of TexasBarCLE. All other policies regarding reimbursement of
reasonable expenses as set out herein shall otherwise be applicable.
(D) Course Directors. Course directors shall have all reasonable expenses paid by the State Bar and shall
be entitled to attend the course and receive all course materials at no charge. No honorarium shall be
presented to course directors.
(E) Coauthors of Articles. Coauthors will receive the registration fee and all course materials at no charge.
No other reimbursement will be made to coauthors who do not speak.
(F) Persons Giving Welcoming Remarks. Any person giving introductory and welcoming remarks will be
entitled to course registration and to all course materials at no charge. No reimbursement will be made
to these persons.
(G) Members of Planning Committees. Those who serve on the planning committee for a seminar are
entitled to course registration and all written materials at no charge. Members of the planning
committee for a seminar will be reimbursed for transportation, meals and lodging expenses reasonably
incurred in attending the planning meeting.
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(H) Variances and Waivers. Variances from these rules that will result in higher expenses must be
requested in writing, signed by the requester and approved by the Executive Director subject to Board
Professional Development (Education) Subcommittee review, with all approved variances reported to
the Board Professional Development (Education) Subcommittee.
7.03.09 Socials and Receptions. All socials and receptions presented at State Bar CLE programs shall be
cash bar events.
7.03.10 Exhibits and Promotions. At State Bar CLE seminars, attorneys or law firms, or anyone acting on
their behalf, may not exhibit, offer, or otherwise promote a law firm or legal services. An attorney or law
firm may donate the cost of breaks, lunches or socials as a sponsor of the seminar in coordination with
the State Bar staff for which the attorney or law firm shall receive a thank you notice in course brochures,
on signs posted at the seminar, and in announcements made during the seminar.
7.04 Board of Legal Specialization
Specialization certification shall be under the general jurisdiction of the Texas Board of Legal
Specialization. Appointments to the Texas Board of Legal Specialization shall be made by the President
with the approval of the Board.
7.05 Texas Bar Journal
7.05.01 General. A monthly journal devoted to legal matters and the affairs of the State Bar and its
members may be published and circulated by the State Bar under the direction of the Board of Editors.
The Texas Bar Journal shall be mailed to each member of the State Bar without expense to the member
in addition to annual dues. The Texas Bar Journal shall also be mailed to subscribers.
7.05.02 Objective Reporting Policy. To help fully inform the members of the State Bar about the activities
of the State Bar and the issues confronting it, the Texas Bar Journal will report those matters objectively.
Various viewpoints on issues having an impact on the State Bar will be provided in Texas Bar Journal news
reports about State Bar meetings, conferences, hearings, and matters of interest and/or concern. The
opinions of people differing with the State Bar and/or Bar leaders may be included in Texas Bar Journal
news and/or feature articles.
7.05.03 Texas Bar Journal Staff and the Bar Journal Board of Editors.
(A) The Executive Director is the ex officio editor-in-chief of the Texas Bar Journal and has the
responsibility for the overall coordination of the various activities that go into publishing the Texas Bar
Journal subject to policy decisions and directives of the Board.
(B) The Board of Editors is appointed by the President of the State Bar and determines editorial and
advertising guidelines, including credit policies, for the Texas Bar Journal.
(C) The managing editor works with the editor-in-chief and is responsible for carrying out the directions
of the editor-in-chief and the Board of Editors, as well as performing the administrative and executive
duties required to publish the Texas Bar Journal.
(D) The Board of Editors includes three State Bar Directors to ensure that the Board of Editors
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understand and comply with all policies of the Board of Directors. The President-elect will appoint an
incoming Director to the Board of Editors for a three-year term. The Board of Editors reviews all
unsolicited legal articles submitted for possible inclusion in the Texas Bar Journal and identifies issues
and authors of import to the legal profession. The Board of Editors also includes one representative
appointed by the TYLA president.
(E) The Board of Editors will include no more than 12 appointees (other than the Board of Directors and
the TYLA representatives). Each President-elect will appoint four people to three-year terms.
(F) Members of the Board of Editors should be highly regarded legal professionals representing diverse
backgrounds, practice areas and geographic areas.
7.05.04 Texas Bar Journal Advertising.
(A) All advertising will be reviewed by the Texas Bar Journal staff under the guidelines set by the Board
of Directors and the Board of Editors. All objectionable or questionable advertising will be submitted to
the Executive Director for final disposition.
(B) Advertising rates are subject to approval by the Board of Directors as part of the State Bar’s annual
budget. All advertising copy will be nondiscriminatory as to race, sex, age, religion, color, physical
disability, age, and national origin.
(C) All advertising in the Texas Bar Journal except that expressly exempted by the Board of Directors
will be sold at the Texas Bar Journal's prevailing rates. Classified advertising rates for members of the
State Bar will be sufficient to cover costs of providing the service.
7.05.05 Texas Bar Journal Article Reprints.
(A) Texas Bar Journal articles may be reprinted if consent of the author and the managing editor is
obtained.
(B) A credit byline will be included on the reprint, designating the issue of the Texas Bar Journal in which
the article first appeared.
7.05.06 TYLA. The TYLA president will have a column in each issue of the Texas Bar Journal. The TYLA
president and his or her representative will work with the Texas Bar Journal staff on special sections
throughout the year to ensure that TYLA programs and projects receive publicity.
7.05.07 Publication of Legal Articles.
(A) All legal articles must follow guidelines created by the Board of Editors (available at
www.texasbar.com/tbj). Acceptability of each article is determined by the Board of Editors in its
discretion.
(B) Every legal article submitted for publication is judged for its quality of writing, scholarship, and
organization. An article’s length, timeliness, and usefulness to a large number of Texas practitioners are
also considered.

100

Case 4:21-cv-02829 Document 12-2 Filed on 01/24/22 in TXSD Page 106 of 130
STATE BAR BOARD POLICY MANUAL – SEPTEMBER 2021

(C) The State Bar’s commitment to diversity in the activities and programs of the State Bar will be
considered by the Board of Editors when selecting articles for publication.
(D) While fair commentary on published opinions by a court may be made in a professional manner, no
article criticizing sitting members of the judiciary by name will be published in the Texas Bar Journal.
7.06 New Programs, Projects, Services and Functions
7.06.01 General Policy. In support of the Board’s authority to consider new programs, projects and
functions, and to determine the level of necessary funding, the Chair shall charge an appropriate standing
committee of the Board to consider applications for funding of new programs, projects and functions and
to report its recommendations to the Executive Committee and the Board pursuant to this Section.
7.06.02 Approval Process. Any section, committee, or other entity of the State Bar originating a program,
project, or function must submit to the designated Board committee chair a written request for funding
that shall, at a minimum, include the following data:
(A) an analysis of the need for the proposed program, project, service and/or function;
(B) the particular segment of the membership of the State Bar that would be involved or interested in
and benefit from the program, project, or function;
(C) the estimated cost to the State Bar of the program, project, or function, supported by a proposed
budget for the current and next two Fiscal Years; and
(D) a realistic projection of the anticipated revenue to be generated by the proposed program for the
current and next budget years.
7.06.03 Board Process. The Board committee so charged will review requests for program or project
funding and submit the requests with the written recommendation to the Executive Committee no later
than the second regularly scheduled meeting of the Executive Committee after the receipt of the request.
When presented to the Board for approval and adoption, a description of the new program, project or
function shall be accompanied by and include all financial information then known and reasonably subject
to estimation relating to the operation of the program, project or function.
7.07 MCLE
7.07.01. Appeals of MCLE Committee Accreditation Decisions. Pursuant to the Minimum Continuing Legal
Education Regulations approved by the Board, an applicant for course accreditation may appeal a decision
by the Minimum Continuing Legal Education Committee denying accreditation to the Board.
(A) Appeals-Grants Review Subcommittee Consideration. If the request for review is filed timely, the
Executive Director shall forward the request for review, the record of the MCLE Committee proceedings,
and the response by the MCLE Committee to the Appeals-Grants Review Subcommittee of the Board.
The Appeals-Grants Review Subcommittee shall review such materials and may hear oral argument from
the applicant and the MCLE Committee or its representatives. The Appeals-Grants Review
Subcommittee shall uphold the decision of the MCLE Committee unless the applicant proves by a
substantial evidence standard that the decision of the MCLE Committee was incorrect. The Appeals101

Case 4:21-cv-02829 Document 12-2 Filed on 01/24/22 in TXSD Page 107 of 130
STATE BAR BOARD POLICY MANUAL – SEPTEMBER 2021

Grants Review Subcommittee may not substitute its judgment for that of the MCLE Committee and may
consider only the record on which the MCLE Committee based its decision. The MCLE Committee's
findings, inferences and conclusions are presumed to be supported by substantial evidence, and the
applicant bears the burden of showing a lack of substantial evidence. Substantial evidence shall mean
more than a scintilla of evidence to support the decision.
(B) Board Consideration. The Appeals-Grants Review Subcommittee shall make its recommendation to
the Board, and the final decision on the appeal shall be made by the Board. Within 15 days after the
Board's determination, the Executive Director shall notify the applicant and the Director of MCLE of the
Board's decision.
7.07.02 MCLE Insert. The State Bar authorizes the MCLE department to insert in its regular mailings to
lawyer members reporting on their MCLE activity an insert sheet listing continuing legal education courses
that have been approved for MCLE credit for the reporting month(s). Those accredited sponsors wishing
to be listed on such sheet shall be charged a uniform fee initially not to exceed $250.00 per listing, per
mailing. All such advertising is to be coordinated and overseen by the Texas Bar Journal.
7.08 Member Benefits
7.08.01 Purpose. In furtherance of the State Bar’s commitment to its members and in keeping with the
provisions of this section, the Executive Director may contract with providers to offer State Bar members,
their staff, families, and household members access to benefit programs and services. In contracting with
member benefits providers, the Executive Director should seek to maintain and promote the State Bar’s
reputation and standing as an agency of the Supreme Court of Texas.
7.08.02 Endorsements. Member benefit providers may not use the official State Bar seal. Member benefit
providers may not use any logo, symbol, or words to suggest or imply an endorsement by the State Bar of
a product, publication, or service without written permission from the State Bar.
7.08.03 Exclusive or Preferred Provider. Member benefit providers may not represent that they are
“exclusive” or “preferred” providers of State Bar member benefits without written permission from the
State Bar.
7.08.04 Responsibility. The State Bar is not responsible for and has no control over the actions, products,
or services of any member benefit provider. If a member of the Board receives any complaint concerning
the actions, products, or services of any member benefit provider, the Board member should not respond,
but instead should forward the complaint to the Executive Director who, where appropriate, will contact
the member benefit provider to attempt to resolve the complaint.
7.08.05 Private Insurance Exchange. The State Bar’s Private Insurance Exchange is a member benefit
offered by the State Bar. The State Bar is not responsible for and has no control over the actions, products,
or services of any insurance company whose product is sold on the exchange. If a member of the Board
receives any complaint concerning the actions, products, or services of any such insurance company or
the administrator of the Private Insurance Exchange, the Board member should not respond, but instead
should forward the complaint to the Executive Director, who will forward it to the administrator of the
Private Insurance Exchange.
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7.09 Codes of Conduct
The Executive Director, in consultation with the Chair, the President, the General Counsel, and the Policy
Manual Subcommittee, shall prepare and promulgate codes of conduct applicable to State Bar staff,
volunteers, participants, and attendees who are attending, participating in, or working at any State Bar
event, meeting, or activity. The purpose of the codes of conduct shall be to provide a professional,
harassment-free environment for everyone involved, regardless or race, sex, color, religion, national
origin, age, military and/or veteran status, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression,
disability, or other characteristic protected by applicable federal, state, or local law.
Part VIII. LEGISLATION
8.01 Legislative Actions
8.01.01 General. Legislative actions to be undertaken by the State Bar shall be strictly limited to those
that conform to State Bar legislative policy and applicable law. No legislative action shall be authorized in
the name of the State Bar that cannot be properly and effectively managed. The terms "legislation" or
"legislative proposal," when used in this Policy Manual, shall be construed to mean any existing or
proposed statute, rule, or regulation of the State of Texas or the United States or of any department or
agency of the United States or the State of Texas. The terms "legislative position" or "legislative action"
shall mean the legislative action taken or proposed to be taken by the Board with respect to legislative
proposals in the name of the State Bar or, pursuant to this policy, by any section of the State Bar.
8.01.02 Support or Opposition by State Bar. The State Bar will neither support nor oppose any proposed
legislation or pending enactment by the Texas Legislature or the United State Congress, or any
department or agency thereof, unless that legislative action has been approved by the Board or by the
Executive Committee acting within the scope of its authority under this Policy Manual.
8.01.03 Criteria. The Board, the Executive Committee, or the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee,
when acting within the scope of its authority under this policy in deciding whether to recommend,
support, remain neutral, or oppose proposed legislation or to initiate any legislative action in either house
of the Texas Legislature, in the United States Congress, or before any department or agency of the United
States or the State of Texas shall, in addition to the policy considerations set forth in this Section,
determine that the proposed legislation or legislative action conforms in all material respects to the
following criteria:
(A) The proposed legislation or legislative action falls within the purposes, expressed or implied, of the
State Bar as provided in the State Bar Act.
(B) Adequate notice and opportunity has been afforded for the presentation of opposing opinions and
views.
(C) The proposed legislation or legislative action does not carry the potential of deep philosophical or
emotional division among a substantial segment of the membership of the bar.
(D) The proposed legislation or legislative action is in the public interest.
(E) The primary purpose of the proposed legislation or legislative action is not to provide economic
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benefit to the members of the State Bar.
(F) The proposed legislation or legislative action is not designed to promote or impede the political
candidacy of any person or party or to promote a partisan political purpose.
(G) The proposed legislation addresses the State Bar, the regulation of lawyers, the functioning of state
or federal courts, or the functioning of the legal system.
Nothing herein shall prohibit the State Bar's support of or opposition to legislation relating to the
selection, tenure, compensation, staffing, equipping, and housing of the federal or state judiciary.
8.01.04 Consideration. No legislative proposal shall be considered by the State Bar unless:
(A) it has been recommended by the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee or proposed by motion of a
Director after review by the Board Legislative Committee; and
(B) it has been approved by majority vote of the Directors present at the meeting or by majority vote of
the Executive Committee during the time when the Texas Legislature is in session, subject to the
limitations applicable to the Executive Committee set forth below.
8.01.05 Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee.
(A) The Chair shall appoint the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee. It shall be composed of nine
Board members, at least three of whom shall be public members.
(B) The Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee will meet as often as necessary to develop
recommendations to the Board for the Board to initiate legislative action in accordance with this policy.
(C) In each case involving a proposed legislative position, the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee
shall, by a majority vote, include in its recommendations to the Board the following:
(1) that the proposed legislation or legislative action conforms to the requirements of §8.01; and
(2) the legislative position the Board should adopt or initiate.
(D) The Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee shall also have the authority to draft and submit to the
Board proposed legislation that it recommends be a part of the State Bar's legislative action program.
8.01.06 Approval Required by Board on Legislative Proposals.
(A) Procedure for Obtaining Approval of the Board for Legislative Action:
(1) Proposals for legislative action shall be submitted to the Executive Director in the form and with
the information specified in this policy at least 45 days before the date of a scheduled meeting of the
Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee.
(2) The Executive Director shall circulate copies of all legislative proposals to the Board Legislative
Policy Subcommittee for review and action in accordance with this policy.
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(3) Legislative proposals not submitted by the time specified in Subsection 8.01.06(A)(1) will not be
considered until the next scheduled meeting of the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee.
(4) The Board may be called on to consider the adoption of a legislative position for the State Bar either
by:
(a) a recommendation of the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee adopted by a majority vote of
its members present; or
(b) a motion of a Director after consideration by the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee in
accordance with this policy.
(5) Consideration of any legislative proposal by the Board shall proceed in the following order:
(a) an affirmative vote of a majority of those present that the proposed legislative action is consistent
with §8.01 of this policy; and
(b) if the vote concerning each of the findings required by §8.01 is affirmative, then a second vote
will be taken to determine the specific legislative position to be adopted. A motion to support,
oppose, or take a neutral position on the legislation shall require a majority vote of the Board
members present.
The fact that any proposed legislation or legislative action is not considered by the Board or, if
considered, did not receive the required majority vote shall not be considered "action" of the Board with
respect to that proposed legislation or legislative action.
(B) The Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee, the Board, and the Executive Committee may allow any
interested person to appear before them in support of or in opposition to any legislative proposal being
considered, subject to reasonable limitations on available time.
(C) Requests that the State Bar take a legislative position shall be accompanied in all cases by a copy of
the legislation proposed or opposed, together with substantially the following information, in the form
prescribed by the Executive Director:
(1) A brief narrative explanation of the legislation.
(2) Identification of, reference to, or copies of similar legislation, if any, proposed to or being
considered by the same legislative or administrative body.
(3) A verification that all sections and committees of the State Bar have been sent the legislation for
comment and the comments received (copy of form letter and copy of return receipt from each
committee and section).
(4) A statement indicating whether the proposed legislation had been introduced in either the House
or Senate during prior legislative sessions, as well as a statement of any amendments proposed to the
proposed legislation during the prior legislative sessions and the status of the proposed legislation.
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(5) A statement of the known position on the legislative proposal taken by any section or committee
of the State Bar that has considered the same proposal, including the principal reasons for support of
or opposition to the proposal.
(6) A detailed statement explaining how the proposed legislation addresses the State Bar, the
regulation of lawyers, the functioning of state or federal courts, or the functioning of the legal system,
such that the State Bar’s taking of a position regarding the proposed legislation will comply with Keller
v. State Bar of California, 496 U.S. 1 (1990), and McDonald v. Longley, 4 F.4th 229 (5th Cir. 2021).
(7) Such other information as the Executive Director may reasonably request from time to time.
(D) All section councils are required to review all legislative proposals not less than fourteen days before
the first meeting of the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee. Sections opposing a legislative proposal
must submit written objections not less than ten days before the first meeting of the Board Legislative
Policy Subcommittee in order to be heard during the meeting. If no comments supporting or objecting
to a legislative proposal are received as provided herein from one or more sections, the Board Legislative
Policy Subcommittee will enter a position of "no objection" concerning the proposal from those sections
not responding.
(E) A legislative position, once adopted by the Board, shall remain the position of the State Bar for the
duration of the legislative session unless the position is later modified in accordance with this policy.
(F) Legislative positions shall be stated to support, oppose, or take a neutral position on legislation.
Failure to receive the necessary majority vote to support or remain neutral on the proposed legislation
shall not be construed as adoption of a position to oppose that legislation. Reconsideration by the Board
of a previous legislative position may be proposed by any Director or of the Executive Committee and
required on a majority vote of those present at a meeting. Legislative positions may be altered,
amended, or withdrawn by a majority vote of the Board present at a meeting.
(G) At the meeting of the Board during which any recommendations of the Board Legislative Policy
Subcommittee will be considered, the chair of the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee or a
representative shall personally appear before the Board to present and explain the committee's
recommendations. Directors who serve as Board advisors to sections recommending proposed
legislation may also advise the Board about the merits and rationale of each proposal.
(H) The Board shall not include a legislative proposal on its agenda for consideration for inclusion in the
State Bar's legislative program unless it appears that the proponent has complied satisfactorily with the
applicable provisions of this policy, including having fully presented the proposal to the Board Legislative
Policy Subcommittee and obtained a recommendation from the committee.
(I) Any proponent whose legislative proposal is not recommended by the Board Legislative Policy
Subcommittee for inclusion in the State Bar's legislative program and who wishes to appeal to the Board
shall give written notice to the Executive Director within ten days after the date of the action. A
representative of the proponent shall appear personally before the Board to present and explain the
legislative proposal. Such an appeal shall not be allowed unless a full presentation has been made to the
Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee.
8.01.07 Role of the Executive Committee.
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(A) The Executive Committee, unless otherwise expressly directed by majority vote of the Board, shall
take no legislative action unless the Executive Committee shall determine by majority vote of those
voting at a meeting that:
(1) the proposed legislative action could not reasonably have been submitted for consideration by the
Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee to the Board in accordance with this policy; or
(2) there has been a material change in circumstances concerning a legislative proposal or legislative
action approved previously by the Board making it necessary that legislative action be taken by the
State Bar; or
(3) prompt legislative action is necessary by the State Bar to address a pending legislative proposal.
(B) When considering proposed legislative action with respect to legislation previously acted on by the
Board, the Executive Committee shall be subject to the following guidelines:
(1) The Executive Committee shall take no action inconsistent with a previous decision for legislative
action made by the Board unless there has been a significant, material change in circumstances
concerning the legislative action since the last meeting of the Board. The failure to receive the required
majority vote of the Board shall be considered a rejection by the Board of the legislation.
(2) Action by the Executive Committee on legislative proposals shall proceed as follows:
(a) It must be affirmatively established by majority vote of those voting at a meeting that the
legislation or legislative action being considered conforms to the criteria of §8.01 of this policy.
(b) If the vote concerning each of the findings required by §8.01 of this policy is affirmative, a second
vote, by majority vote of those voting, will be taken to determine the specific legislative position to
be adopted.
(3) Any action of the Executive Committee to modify a legislative position adopted previously by the
Board or with respect to any legislative action first initiated by the Executive Committee shall be
reported to the Board at its next meeting for ratification.
(C) In the event a majority of the President, the President-Elect, the Chair, the chair of the Legislative
Policy Subcommittee and the Executive Director determine that a legislative matter meeting the
conditions described in Subsections 8.01.07(A)(1), (2) and (3) must be acted upon immediately, and that
there is insufficient time to convene the Executive Committee to act pursuant to Subsection 8.01.07,
they may convene as an Ad-hoc Emergency Legislative Response Committee to take such action as a
majority deems necessary, subject to the guidelines and restrictions set forth in Subsection 8.01.07(B)
above.
8.01.08 Executive Director to Administer Legislative Program.
(A) The Executive Director shall coordinate and administer the legislative programs and activities of the
State Bar and shall, together with the General Counsel and the State Bar Legal Counsel, monitor the
State Bar's legislative program as well as pending legislation that may have an impact on the State Bar.
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(B) The Executive Director shall publish in the Texas Bar Journal or otherwise give to all members of the
State Bar reasonable notice of the time, date, and place that legislative proposals will be considered by
the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee together with a reasonably itemized agenda, which shall
include the caption for each such legislative proposal.
(C) The Executive Director shall distribute annually to the chair of each section of the State Bar a copy of
this policy and the anticipated timetable that the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee will follow.
(D) The Executive Director shall monitor the time frame in which the Bar's legislative program is to be
developed and shall make recommendations concerning the legislative timetable to the Board. The
Board shall consider and adopt, a legislative timetable for publication in the Texas Bar Journal. The
Executive Director shall furnish a copy of the timetable to each Director, and to the chair of each section
and committee.
(E) The Executive Director shall assist and advise all sections and other divisions of the State Bar and the
Board in the development of the State Bar's legislative program.
(F) The Executive Director shall inform the chair of each section recommending proposed legislation of
the action taken by the Board regarding that section's proposed legislation.
(G) The Executive Director shall have a copy of each item of proposed legislation together with the
explanatory material required by this policy, including a written legal opinion by the General Counsel or
the State Bar Legal Counsel regarding the proposed legislation, prepared and forwarded to each member
of the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee not less than fourteen days before its next meeting, notice
of which has been given in accordance with Subsection (B) of this Section.
(H) The Executive Director or designee shall assist the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee in the
submission of its written report or recommendations to the Board. A copy of the Board Legislative Policy
Subcommittee's report shall be forwarded to each Director not less than ten days before the meeting at
which the Board is to consider the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee's report and appeals from
Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee actions. The report shall contain a copy of each legislative
proposal and a brief statement of and reasons for the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee's
recommendation.
8.01.09 Procedure for Proposing Legislation for Inclusion in Bar’s Program.
(A) Sections are authorized to consider proposed legislation within the scope of their respective
purposes and concerns and to make recommendations about it to the Board Legislative Policy
Subcommittee. Proposed legislation shall be submitted in accordance with the legislative timetable
established each year by the Board and published in the Texas Bar Journal.
(B) Committees of the State Bar are specifically not authorized to independently make
recommendations to the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee about proposed legislation.
Committees are encouraged to make their recommendations through a section of the State Bar
cognizant of the type of legislation recommended by the committee.
(C) If the proponent of a legislative proposal that was approved by the Board for inclusion in a previous
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legislative program but not enacted desires its inclusion again in the State Bar's legislative program, the
proposal must again be submitted to the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee in accordance with this
policy.
(D) Legislative proposals and legislative action approved by the Board for inclusion as part of the
legislative program shall be published in the Texas Bar Journal in accordance with the legislative
timetable. Any legislative action that has not been published in the Texas Bar Journal shall be dropped
from the legislative program, except emergency legislative action that could not have been reasonably
anticipated in time to make its publication possible.
(E) Sections supporting legislative proposals for the Texas Legislature that are approved for inclusion in
the legislative program of the State Bar shall submit a suggested list of legislative sponsors for each
proposal. That list shall be submitted to the Executive Director or designee not less than sixty days before
the Texas Legislature convenes in a regular session. The Executive Director shall, in cooperation with
those sections, assist in finding legislative sponsors for each proposal for both houses of the Texas
Legislature.
(F) Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, a legislative proposal may be dropped from the legislative
program and not supported by the Bar if the Executive Director determines that any proposal for the
Texas Legislature, even though previously approved by the Board for inclusion in the legislative program:
(1) as actually drafted, is not in compliance with this policy; or
(2) is not introduced in both houses of the Texas Legislature within the first sixty days of the legislative
session.
The Executive Director shall certify to the Board each legislative proposal dropped from the legislative
program as authorized herein, accompanied by a statement of the reasons therefore.
(G) No section of the State Bar shall support, endorse, or oppose any proposed legislative action except
in accordance with the procedures set out in this policy.
(H) It shall be the responsibility of the section proposing legislation to comply with this policy. It shall
be the responsibility of such sections to have a representative appear before the Texas Legislature to
explain legislative proposals approved by the Board and to conduct such related activities and provide
such additional information as may be required; however, no representative of the State Bar or any
section thereof shall appear before the Legislature or any committee or member of the Legislature in
the pursuit of any legislative action authorized by the Board without complying with all applicable laws
of the State of Texas.
8.01.10 Assertion By Section of its Own Position. No section of the State Bar may assert an independent
position regarding legislative, judicial or executive action unless permission has been first obtained by a
majority vote of the Board after compliance with the applicable sections of this policy. The other
provisions of this policy requiring action by the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee, the Executive
Director, or the Board shall also be followed.
(A) Legislative Matters.
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(1) During the legislative session, the Executive Committee by a majority vote may authorize a section
to assert its own position, subject to the requirements of this policy.
(2) Sections shall be allowed to expend funds in their legislative efforts, but prompt and full disclosure
of collection and expenditure of funds must be made to the Executive Committee.
(3) Any legislative action taken by a section pursuant to this provision shall be clearly identified as the
legislative position of the section and not that of the State Bar. A legislative position statement of a
section to a public, judicial, executive, or legislative body must, as a preamble, contain the following
disclaimer in capital letters and underlined:
THIS POSITION IS BEING PRESENTED ONLY ON BEHALF OF THE __________SECTION OF THE
STATE BAR OF TEXAS. THIS POSITION SHOULD NOT BE CONSTRUED AS REPRESENTING THE
POSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, OR THE GENERAL
MEMBERSHIP OF THE STATE BAR.
THE __________ SECTION, WHICH TAKES THIS POSITION, IS A VOLUNTARY SECTION OF ___
MEMBERS COMPOSED OF LAWYERS PRACTICING IN A SPECIFIED AREA OF LAW.
THIS POSITION IS TAKEN AS A RESULT OF A VOTE OF _________ TO ___________OF THE
COUNCIL OF THE ____________SECTION, WHICH IS THE GOVERNING BODY OF THAT
SECTION. NO APPROVAL OR DISAPPROVAL OF THE GENERAL MEMBERSHIP OF THIS
SECTION HAS BEEN OBTAINED.
This disclaimer shall be filed before the presentation of testimony with the chair of the committee or
subcommittee before which testimony is to be presented. Additionally, the disclaimer must be read
at the beginning of any oral testimony before a committee or subcommittee.
If the general membership of the section has approved the section's position, paragraph 2 of the
disclaimer may be omitted.
(4) No section, division, or other entity of the State Bar may adopt a legislative position as its own
before a public, judicial, executive, or legislative body unless that position was adopted in the following
manner:
(a) A section legislative position must be developed in accordance with the bylaws of the section.
The bylaws of a section must require that a legislative position be adopted by a majority of a quorum
of the council of the section and that the council shall have been elected by a majority of the
members voting after written notice of the nominees for election to the council was sent to the entire
membership of the section not less than thirty days before the date set for the election. Floor
nominations may also be permitted at a section's annual meeting without the thirty-day notice to
the entire section membership.
(b) Notice of the proposed legislative position of a section must be circulated as provided below.
(c) If no objection is raised to a proposed section legislative position, the position shall be cleared by
the Executive Director and shall then be presented to the Board or Executive Committee.
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(d) Generally, it is perceived that a legislative position of a section is given greater weight when it
has been adopted as the position of the State Bar. Consideration should first be given to the
traditional methods for approval and presentation of a legislative position of a section. There are
several situations, however, in which it might be more appropriate for a section to state its own
legislative position. Examples include the following situations:
(i) Technicality - A section may more appropriately present a legislative position when the subject
matter is so technical or so clearly within the special expertise of a section that review by the Board
or Executive Committee would be merely pro forma and other entities of the State Bar would have
little interest or concern.
(ii) Supplemental Views - When the Board has acted generally on a matter, a section may wish to
supplement the legislative position to update it or to accommodate changing circumstances. The
supplemental legislative proposal shall be consistent with the previously adopted position of the
Board.
(B) Approval Procedure.
(1) In order to present its own views, a section must send the completed application form and the
notice form to the President of the State Bar, the Chair, the president of the TYLA, the Executive
Director, the General Counsel, and the chairs of all sections and committees of the State Bar.
(2) The Executive Director shall coordinate review of section requests and shall notify the Board or
the Executive Committee as appropriate. All questions regarding the status of requests should be
directed to the Executive Director.
(3) Objections to proposed requests must be directed to the Executive Director before the deadline
date set forth in the application form. If no objections are received by the deadline, the legislative
proposal shall be presented to the Board at its next meeting, unless time is of the essence or the
Legislature is in session, in which case it shall be presented to the Executive Committee.
(a) Any member, including the ex officio members, of the Executive Committee, may raise objection
to a section's legislative action request if the member is of the opinion that the proposed legislation:
(i) conflicts with an existing policy of the State Bar;
(ii) is not within the primary or special expertise, purpose, or concerns of the section;
(iii) is of such a general interest to the membership of the State Bar or the legal profession or the
public in general that the presentation should be made only by the State Bar; or
(iv) does not comply with this policy.
(b) A chair on behalf of a section of the State Bar or a member of the State Bar may raise objection
to a legislative action proposed by a section within the required time by communicating the
objection by telephone to the Executive Director and to the chair of the proposing section. The
objection shall be confirmed in writing to the Executive Director and the chair of the proposing
section within five days, or the objection shall be waived.
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(c) When a section or member raises an objection to a proposed legislative position of a section,
the Executive Director shall immediately advise the chair of the proposing section who shall
promptly undertake to determine whether the objection can be resolved. If the objection cannot
be resolved, the chair of the proposing section without delay shall advise the Executive Director,
who shall then present the legislative proposal together with the objections to the Board or to the
Executive Committee, as may be appropriate, before the proposed presentation date set forth in
the request. The Board or the Executive Committee shall promptly consider and grant or deny the
request. The party adversely affected by a ruling of the Executive Committee may appeal in writing
within ten days to the Board, which shall forthwith consider and grant or deny the appeal. The vote
of the Board on the appeal may be by mailed ballot. The Executive Director will coordinate all
appeals, will notify the persons or entities involved by telephone, and will confirm in writing, either
by letter or by telegraph, all objections to the legislative action request, so that all interested parties
may have an opportunity to be heard.
(C) Sections As Resources.
(1) A section may provide background information or act as a resource witness for any legislative,
executive, or judicial body ("governmental body") or individual member thereof. In order to be
authorized to act in any such capacity (as a "resource entity"), the section must be requested to
participate by the governmental body or one of its members. A section may not directly or indirectly
solicit appointment as a resource entity. If a section serves as a resource entity for any governmental
body or individual on any proposal, it may take no affirmative action to support or oppose the
proposal (unless authorized by other provisions of this policy) other than to provide advice and
counsel to the body or individual requesting its services. Within ten business days after first being
designated as a resource entity by any governmental body or individual, a section shall inform the
Executive Director in writing of:
(a) the name of the governmental body or individual requesting the section to serve as a resource
entity;
(b) the matter about which the section is serving as a resource entity (including, if applicable, a
copy of the specific legislation or proposal); and
(c) the advice given by the section as a resource entity.
(2) The section shall update in writing the information specified above on or before the tenth business
day after the initial report to the Executive Director and before the expiration of each ten business
days thereafter until the section ceases to serve as a resource entity. The section shall, within twenty
business days after ceasing to be a resource entity for a governmental body or individual, file a final
written report with the Executive Director clearly explaining all advice given by the section as a
resource entity for that body or individual. The Executive Director may, at any time, instruct any
section either not to act as a resource entity or not to render specific advice if in the opinion of the
Executive Director (or in the opinion of the Board or Executive Committee) the advice given:
(a) is contrary to the best interests of the State Bar;
(b) conflicts with an existing policy of the State Bar;
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(c) is not within the primary or special expertise, purpose, or concern of the section; or
(d) does not comply with this policy.
(3) Any advice given by a section as a resource entity shall be accompanied by the disclaimer contained
in this Subsection.
8.01.11 Section Tracking of Legislation. Nothing in this policy shall be construed to prevent a section from
tracking specific legislation through the Legislature and informing its membership about any aspect of
pending legislation. Any of a section’s members may, without complying with any of the provisions of this
policy, advocate any position with respect to any legislative proposal to the membership of the section or
any of its council members.
8.01.12 Members May Present Individual Views. Nothing herein shall preclude individual members of the
State Bar from presenting their individual, personal views on any legislative proposal.
8.01.13 Procedure For Special Legislative Sessions. The legislative program, if any, of the State Bar, to be
presented to any special session of the Texas Legislature shall be adopted under the same procedures as
set forth herein, modified only as reasonably required, and with a legislative timetable adopted by the
Board by majority vote for each special session.
8.01.14 Suspension of this Policy. Any policy provided for herein may be suspended by the Board by a
vote of a majority of the Directors present and voting.
8.01.15 Attachments.
(A) Attachment A - Application Form.
REQUEST FOR AUTHORITY OF SECTION TO ASSERT ITS OWN POSITION
FROM:
RE:
OBJECTION DEADLINE:
PROPOSED PRESENTATION DATE:
The
Section, if permitted by the Board of Directors of the State Bar by the above
presentation date, proposes to submit the attached resolution to _________setting forth its
position concerning _______. The resolution was adopted by the council of the _____Section on
_________. The council of the
Section is composed of
members. A quorum being
present, ____ members voted for and
against the proposed statement.
[Include additional paragraphs covering summary of position, explanation of attachments and
explanation of the reason for requesting authority to assert its own position. If fewer than sixty
days are allowed for objection, a reason why a shorter time is necessary must be given. A
certificate of notice shall conclude the application and shall list all persons to whom the
application has been mailed.]
Enclosure(s)
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cc: President of the State Bar
Chair of the Board of Directors
President of the TYLA
Executive Director
P. O. Box 12487
Capitol Station
Austin, TX 78711
Chairs of all sections and committees [naming them]
(B) Attachment B - Notice Form.
NOTICE BY A SECTION OF A REQUEST FOR AUTHORITY TO ASSERT ITS OWN POSITION
The
Section proposes to submit its own position to
on
_________, if permission to do so is given by the Board of Directors of the State Bar.
This notice is given so that, if you have any objections to this proposed position, you
may make them known by calling the Executive Director of the State Bar at
512/463-1463, or writing to P. O. Box 12487, Capitol Station, Austin, TX 78711.
Objections are to be made on or before
___________. The position this section
proposes to present is set out in "Exhibit A". The effect of the proposed position would
be to _____________________________.
8.02. Amicus Curiae Briefs
8.02.01 Definitions
(A) The “Ad Hoc Submission Committee” consists of the President, the President-Elect, the Chair, the
chair of the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee, and the Executive Director.
(B) “Court means any state or federal court.
(C) References to the “Executive Director” includes any person to whom the Executive Director delegates
any duty required of the Executive Director by this §8.02.
(D) “Position” means any position or positions proposed to be advocated in an amicus curiae brief.
(E) “Request” means a request for approval for the State Bar to file an amicus curiae brief in its own
name, or a request for approval for a State Bar section to file an amicus curiae brief in the section’s
name.
(F) “State Bar sections” includes State Bar divisions
(G) “Subcommittee” means the Board Legislative Policy Subcommittee.
8.02.02 Restrictions.
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(A) No request may be approved unless the position:
(1) falls within the purposes, expressed or implied, of the State Bar as provided in the State Bar Act;
(2) cannot be construed as violating any state or federal law or any applicable case law;
(3) does not carry the potential of deep philosophical or emotional division among a substantial
segment of the membership of the State Bar;
(4) cannot be construed as conflicting with any existing State Bar policy;
(5) addresses the State Bar, the regulation of lawyers, the functioning of state or federal courts, or the
functioning of the legal system; and
(6) in the case of State Bar sections, falls within the primary or special expertise, purpose, or concern
of the section, and has been approved by the section council or board.
(B) The State Bar or any State Bar section may not file an amicus curiae brief in any court unless it is
approved pursuant to this §8.02.
(C) The State Bar may not file an amicus curiae brief in a case if any Voting Board Member represents
any party in that case.
(D) A member of a State Bar section’s council or amicus committee shall abstain from participating in
the request-for-approval process concerning any case in which the member or the member’s firm has
participated, either directly or indirectly.
(E) Neither the State Bar nor any State Bar section may file an amicus curiae brief which purports to
resolve or take a position with regard to factual disputes in a case.
8.02.03 Requests. Requests may only be submitted by an Officer, a Director, or a section of the State Bar,
and must include:
(A) the name and contact information of the person or entity making the request;
(B) the name of the case in which the amicus curiae brief is proposed to be filed;
(C) the court in which the amicus curiae brief is proposed to be filed;
(D) the date by which the amicus curiae brief must be filed;
(E) a description of the facts of the case and the questions presented to the court;
(F) the issue or issues proposed to be addressed by the amicus curiae brief;
(G) a statement of the position and in what way such position satisfies the restrictions provided in
§8.02.02(A) above;
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(H) a draft of the proposed amicus curiae brief, if available at the time of filing the request; and
(I) a disclosure of any personal or professional conflict of interest that any member of the Board or the
section’s council may have in the case.
8.02.04 Procedures for Approval.
(A) Procedure for Obtaining Approval of the Board.
(1) All requests must be received by the Executive Director no later than 30 business days prior to the
next regular meeting of the Board. The Executive Director shall deliver the request to the Ad Hoc
Submission Committee and to the members of the Subcommittee within 3 business days following
receipt.
(2) If a request is received by the Executive Director less than 30 business days prior to the next regular
meeting of the Board, a majority of the Ad Hoc Submission Committee may, in its discretion, waive the
30 business day requirement and establish a revised procedural timeline, provided:
(a) such majority determines that it was not reasonably possible for the request to have been
received by the Executive Director no later than 30 business days prior to the next meeting of the
Board, and
(b) such majority determines that sufficient time remains for the request to proceed for
consideration pursuant to this section.
(3) The Ad Hoc Submission Committee or the Subcommittee may direct the Executive Director to
distribute the request to such State Bar sections as it deems prudent. If a request is distributed to any
or all State Bar sections, the sections must be advised that any objections to the request are to be
received by the Executive Director by a specific date and time set by the Ad Hoc Submission Committee
or the Subcommittee, who may then submit a response to the objection to the Executive Director.
Upon the receipt of any objection, the Executive Director will notify the person or entity making the
request, who may then submit a response to the objection to the Executive Director. Upon the
expiration of the date and time set by the Ad Hoc Submission Committee or the Subcommittee, the
Executive Director will compile and distribute the objections and responses, if any, to the Ad Hoc
Submission Committee and to the Subcommittee.
(4) Within 5 business days of receipt, the Executive Director will distribute the request to all members
of the Board.
(5) The Subcommittee will convene in person or by teleconference to review and take action on the
request no later than 20 business days prior to the next Board meeting. In considering the request, the
Subcommittee may allow any interested person to appear before the Subcommittee in support of, or
in opposition to the request, subject to reasonable limitations on available time.
(6) At the next meeting of the Board, the Subcommittee will deliver its recommendations for or against
approval of the request to the Board for action.
(7) In the event the Board approves the request, it may delegate to the President or to the Executive
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Committee the authority to approve the retention of outside counsel should the President or the
Executive Committee, as the case may be, deem such retention prudent, to oversee the review and, if
necessary, the revision of the amicus curiae brief, and to assure that the brief is timely filed.
(B) Expedited Action by the Executive Committee.
(1) To be considered for expedited action by the Executive Committee,
(a) the request must be received by the Executive Director no later than 15 business days prior to the
date of the next regular meeting of the Executive Committee, and
(b) the deadline for filing the amicus curiae brief is set for a date prior to the date of the next meeting
of the Board; and
(c) a majority of the Ad Hoc Submission Committee determines that the request could not reasonably
have been submitted to the Executive Director pursuant to 8.02.04(A) above.
(2) The Ad Hoc Submission Committee or the Subcommittee may direct the Executive Director to
distribute the request to such State Bar sections as it deems prudent. If a request is distributed to any
or all State Bar sections, the sections must be advised that any objections to the request are to be
received by the Executive Director by a specific date and time set by the Ad Hoc Submission Committee
or the Subcommittee. Upon receipt of any objection, the Executive Director will notify the person or
entity making the request, who may then submit a response to the objection to the Executive Director.
Upon the expiration of the date and time set by the Ad Hoc Submission Committee or the
Subcommittee, the Executive Director will compile and distribute the objections and responses, if any,
to the Ad Hoc Submission Committee and to the Subcommittee.
(3) The Executive Director will deliver the request to the Ad Hoc Submission Committee, to the
Subcommittee, and to all members of the Board within 3 business days of such receipt.
(4) If such a request is received by the Executive Director less than 15 business days prior to the next
meeting of the Executive Committee, a majority of the Ad Hoc Submission Committee may, in its
discretion, waive the 15 business day submission requirement and establish a revised procedural
timeline, provided:
(a) such majority determines that it was not reasonably possible for the request to have been
received by the Executive Director no later than 15 business days prior to the next meeting of the
Executive Committee, and
(b) such majority determines that sufficient time remains for the request to proceed for
consideration pursuant to this section.
(5) The Subcommittee will convene in person or by teleconference to review and take action on the
request no later than 10 business days prior to the next Executive Committee meeting. In considering
the request, the Subcommittee may allow any interested person to appear before the Subcommittee
in support of, or in opposition to the request, subject to reasonable limitations on available time.
(6) At the next meeting of the Executive Committee, the Subcommittee will deliver its
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recommendations for or against approval of the request to the Executive Committee for action
(7) If the Executive Committee approves the request, it may delegate to the President the authority to
approve the retention of outside counsel if the President deems such retention prudent, to oversee
the review and, if necessary, the revision of the amicus curiae brief, and to assure that the brief is
timely filed.
(8) The President will report the action of the Executive Committee and any resulting activities to the
Board at its next meeting for ratification.
(C) Emergency Action
(1) To be considered for emergency action:
(a) the request must be submitted by an Officer or Director;
(b) the request must be received by the Executive Director no later than 10 business days prior to
the deadline for filing the amicus curiae brief; and
(c) the deadline for filing the amicus curiae brief is set for a date prior to the date of the next regular
meeting of the Executive Committee.
(2) If a request is received by the Executive Director less than 10 business days prior to the deadline
for filing the amicus curiae brief, a majority of the Ad Hoc Submission Committee may waive the 10
business day requirement, provided:
(a) such majority determines that it was not reasonably possible for the request to be received by
the Executive Director no later than 10 business days prior to the deadline for filing the amicus curiae
brief, and
(b) such majority determines that sufficient time remains for the request to proceed for
consideration pursuant to this section.
(3) The Executive Director will distribute the request to all members of the Board as soon as practicable
after receipt.
(4) If a request meets the above conditions, the Ad Hoc Submission Committee will consider and take
action on the request as soon as practicable. If the request is approved, the President may approve
the retention of outside counsel if the President deems such retention prudent, will oversee the review
and, if necessary, the revision and filing of the amicus curiae brief, and will assure that the brief is
timely filed.
(5) The President will report the action of the Ad Hoc Submission Committee and any resulting
activities to the Executive Committee at its next meeting for ratification and, on behalf of the Executive
Committee, to the Board at its next meeting for ratification.
8.02.05 Section Statement.
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(A) Any action taken by a section pursuant to this provision will be clearly identified as the position of
the section and not that of the State Bar. A position statement of the section must provide the following
disclaimer in capital letters at a conspicuous location within the document.
THIS AMICUS BRIEF IS BEING PRESENTED ONLY ON BEHALF OF THE _________ SECTION OF
THE STATE BAR. THE SECTION’S POSITION SHOULD NOT BE CONSTRUED AS REPRESENTING
THE POSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, OR THE
GENERAL MEMBERSHIP OF THE STATE BAR. THE ___________ SECTION IS A VOLUNTARY
SECTION OF _____ MEMBERS COMPOSED OF LAWYERS PRACTICING IN A SPECIFIED AREA
OF LAW.
THIS AMICUS BRIEF IS SUBMITTED AS A RESULT OF A VOTE OF (___) TO (___) OF THE COUNCIL
OF THE (_____) SECTION, WHICH IS THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE SECTION. NO APPROVAL
OR DISAPPROVAL OF THE GENERAL MEMBERSHIP OF THE SECTION HAS BEEN OBTAINED.
This disclaimer should state the appropriate votes recorded. For a position statement other than an
amicus brief, the disclaimer should use an appropriate term in place of “amicus brief.”
(B) If the general membership of the section has approved the section’s position, paragraph 2 of the
disclaimer may be omitted.
8.02.06 Other Requests. From time to time, the State Bar or a State Bar section may be requested to
express support or opposition to any position, action or resolution taken or proposed to be taken by any
entity outside of the State Bar. In that event, such request will be treated in a similar manner as a request
for approval to file an amicus brief, and will be subject to the requirements, restrictions and procedures
established in this §8.02.
Part IX. STATE BAR STAFF
9.01 Executive Director
9.01.01 Appointment. The Board shall appoint the Executive Director. Annual compensation for the
Executive Director shall be established by the Board. The Executive Director shall at all times be the highest
paid employee of the State Bar.
9.01.02 Executive Director. The Executive Director is the chief administrative officer who has full
responsibility for the proper administration of the State Bar office and all its facilities and properties, and
is subject to review only by the Board.
(A) Along with the President, the Executive Director is the official spokesperson for the State Bar.
(B) The Executive Director, after considering the advice of the General Counsel and the State Bar Legal
Counsel, has authority to compromise claims by or against the State Bar up to the amount of $50,000.
(C) The Executive Director, upon consultation with the Officers, shall hire the State Bar Legal Counsel.
(D) The Executive Director, upon consultation with the Officers and the General Counsel shall have the
authority to retain outside counsel to represent the State Bar in legal matters.
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9.01.03 Evaluation of Executive Director.
(A) Evaluation. The Executive Director shall be evaluated once every fiscal year. The Executive
Committee will be responsible for coordinating the evaluation process as detailed below. The Executive
Committee shall delegate its initial duties to an Evaluation Subcommittee comprised of the President,
President-elect, Immediate Past President, Chair of the Board, and Chair of the Administration
Committee.
(B) Setting Performance Objectives. At the beginning of each fiscal year, but not later than the first
quarterly Board Meeting, the Evaluation Subcommittee shall meet with the Executive Director and set
performance objectives for that fiscal year, including performance objectives that the Executive Director
will hold division directors and members of the Senior Management Team responsible for
accomplishing. The performance objectives of the Executive Director will be presented to the Executive
Committee for review and final approval
(C) Process. The Evaluation Subcommittee will be responsible for the actual conduct of the evaluation,
including but not limited to, drafting of the appropriate inquiries, seeking input from each Board
member and the tabulation and reporting of same. The responses to the inquiries shall state the nature
and extent of contact with the Executive Director during the evaluation year. In the evaluation process,
each Board member shall be furnished with the performance objectives approved for that evaluation
year, together with the commentary, if any, of the Executive Director setting out how those performance
objectives were completed.
(D) Confidentiality. The evaluation process is to be conducted in a confidential manner, which ensures
the privacy of the Board members’ responses consistent with the Public Information Act, or any
successor act.
(E) Performance Areas. It is anticipated that the evaluation process will include, but is not limited to, at
least the following:
(1) Administration functions and responsibilities;
(2) Financial accountability;
(3) Leadership skills and activities;
(4) External and internal communication including outside entities (such as the judiciary, legislature,
local bar associations, committees, sections, and affiliated entities).
(F) Presentation to Executive Director. The annual evaluation shall be completed before the fourth
quarterly Board meeting. The Evaluation Subcommittee shall meet with the Executive Director to review
the results of the annual evaluation prior to reporting the results to the Board, at the fourth quarterly
Board meeting. The Executive Director, prior to the results being reported to the Board, shall be given
an opportunity to provide input to the Evaluation Subcommittee at which time they may, in their
discretion, amend the report before presenting it to the Board. The final approval of the annual
evaluation is with the Board of Directors.
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9.01.04 Unclassified Employees. The two unclassified employees of the State Bar are the Executive
Director and the Chief Disciplinary Counsel.
9.02 General Counsel
9.02.01 Election. The Board of Directors, by majority vote, shall elect the General Counsel, who shall serve
in that capacity at the pleasure of the Board.
9.02.02 Authority. The General Counsel shall perform the duties consistent with section 81.030 of the
State Bar Act and shall report to the Board of Directors.
9.02.03 Evaluation. The General Counsel shall be evaluated once every fiscal year. The Executive
Committee will be responsible for coordinating the evaluation process. The Executive Committee shall
delegate its initial duties to an Evaluation Subcommittee composed of the President, President-elect,
Immediate Past President, Chair of the Board, and Chair of the Administration Committee.
9.03 Staff Employment and Compensation
9.03.01 Employment. The Executive Director shall hire and fire all State Bar employees, except assistant
disciplinary counsel, investigators and clerical personnel of the Chief Disciplinary Counsel’s office.
9.03.02 Compensation. The Executive Director and the Chief Disciplinary Counsel have authority to
determine the salaries of personnel under their supervision provided that the total salaries do not exceed
the amount budgeted for salaries in each department budget. The Chief Disciplinary Counsel, and
department heads shall consult with the Executive Director before committing any employee for any
increase in compensation. All classified State Bar employees shall be compensated on a merit system,
which shall be based on a system of annual performance evaluations.
9.03.03 Non-Discrimination Policy. It is the policy of the State Bar to comply fully with nondiscrimination
provisions of all state and federal rules, laws, guidelines, regulations, and executive orders by ensuring
that all employees and applicants receive equal opportunity for employment. No person shall be
discriminated against with regard to recruitment, selection, appointment, training, promotion, retention,
termination, or performance review or any other employment action or term or condition of employment
on the grounds of race, religion, color, national origin, sex, disability, military service/veteran status,
sexual orientation, or age.
9.03.04 Staff Vacancies. Whenever a vacancy exists in the staff, the Executive Director or the Chief
Disciplinary Counsel respectively shall have the authority to promote a present employee to fill the
vacancy and to fix the salaries for those promoted. The Executive Director or the Executive Director's
designee shall develop an intra-agency career ladder program. The program shall require intra-agency
postings of all non-entry level positions concurrently with any public posting.
9.03.05 Employee Benefits. Employee benefits are described in the State Bar Employee Handbook. The
State Bar shall comply fully with all relevant provisions of all state and federal rules, laws, guidelines,
regulations, and executive orders with regard to benefits.
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9.04 Records of the State Bar
(A) Officers, members of the Board, and employees must maintain all records created or received in
connection with the transaction of State Bar official business in accordance with the State Bar of Texas
Record Retention Schedule as filed with the Texas State Library State and Local Records Management
Division.
(B) No State Bar Officer, member of the Board, or employee will willfully destroy, mutilate, remove
without permission, or alter records pertaining to the official business of the State Bar except in
accordance with the State Bar Record Retention Schedule.
(C) No State Bar Officer, member of the Board, or employee will disclose or distribute confidential
information.
(D) Each member of the Board shall be issued a State Bar email address accessible for the duration of
the Board member’s tenure on the Board of Directors. The purpose of this email address is to ensure
that State Bar business records and communications comply with the State Bar Record Retention
Schedule and the Texas Public Information Act. Each board member must:
(1) send and receive emails relating to State Bar business through their State Bar email address; and/or
(2) send and receive emails relating to State Bar business through a separate email address, provided
that all sent emails “cc” or “bcc” the board member’s State Bar email address and all received emails
are forwarded to the bar member’s State Bar email address.
9.05 Public Information Act
9.05.01 Generally. Pursuant to Tex. Govt. Code section 81.033, all State Bar records pertaining to the
official business of the State Bar of Texas are subject to the Texas Public Information Act, Tex. Govt. Code
Ch. 552 (the "TPIA"). It is the policy of the State Bar that its Officers, members of the Board, sections,
committees, and employees fully comply with the TPIA. The State Bar will comply with all notice, deadline,
and procedural requirements set forth in the TPIA and the rules or regulations promulgated thereunder.
9.05.02 Public Information Officer. The Executive Director, or designee, is the public information officer.
("PIO").
9.05.03 Public Information.
(A) Public information consists of information written, produced, collected, assembled, or maintained
under a law or ordinance, or in connection with the transaction of official business:
(1) by the State Bar;
(2) for the State Bar and the State Bar:
(a) owns the information;
(b) has a right of access to the information; or
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(c) spends or contributes money for the purpose of writing, producing, collecting, assembling, or
maintaining the information; or
(3) by an individual Officer, members of the Board, or employee of the State Bar in such person's official
capacity and the information pertains to official business of the State Bar.
(B) Information is in connection with the transaction of the official business of the State Bar if the
information is created by, transmitted to, received by, or maintained by an Officer, members of the
Board, or employee of the State Bar in the Officer's, Board member's, or employee's official capacity, or
a person or entity performing official business or a governmental function on behalf of the State Bar,
and the information pertains to the official business of the State Bar.
(C) The general forms in which the media containing public information exist include a book, paper,
letter, document, email, internet posting, text message, instant message, other electronic
communication, printout, photograph, film, tape, microfiche, microfilm, Photostat, sound recording,
map, drawing, and a voice, data, or video representation held in computer memory.
9.05.04 Requests for Public Information.
(A) Requests for public information must be in writing and may be delivered to the State Bar by mail or
by electronic means. Requests by email are not considered requests for public information unless and
until they are delivered or forwarded directly to the PIO.
(B) Upon receipt of a request for public information, the recipient will immediately forward such request
to the PIO. The PIO will review the request to determine whether clarification or narrowing is required
or advisable under the TPIA.
(C) The PIO will timely gather all potentially responsive information in existence at the time of the
request. All Officers, members of the Board, and employees will promptly deliver all information to the
PIO upon request. Upon receipt, the PIO, with the assistance of the State Bar Legal Counsel, will review
all potentially responsive information to determine whether the information is responsive to the
request, and whether the information is confidential or may be withheld pursuant to the TPIA.
(D) If the PIO determines that any information may be confidential or withheld under the TPIA, the PIO,
on consultation with the State Bar Legal Counsel, will take such action as is required or permitted under
the TPIA, including seeking a determination from the Office of the Attorney General as to whether such
information is excepted from disclosure under the TPIA.
(E) The State Bar, its Officers, members of the Board, and employees, are not required to conduct
research, answer questions, or create any record or information in response to a request for public
information.
9.06 Officer and Board Member Requests for Records
9.06.01 Request for Records and Response
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(A) Subject to the provisions in this section, an Officer or Board Member ("Requestor") shall have access
to or production of all State Bar records and/or documents available to the Executive Director by making
a written request to the Executive Director.
(B) The Executive Director shall respond to the Requestor within ten (10) business days of receiving the
request for records. The response shall set forth the decision of the Executive Director to produce the
records, allow access to review the records without production, or deny production or access, and the
date and place where the records will be produced or made available for access without production. If
the Executive Director determines that records may not be produced or that neither access nor
production is appropriate, the response shall set forth the reasoning for such denial.
(C) Additional time may be granted by the Executive Director for any deadlines herein upon request.
9.06.02 Review of Decision
(A) If the Requestor disagrees with the Executive Director's determination, the Executive Director shall
within five (5) business days, forward the request and copies of withheld records/documents to the
General Counsel for review and determination. The Executive Director may comply by providing the
General Counsel with a representative set of documents for initial review. If after initial review, the
General Counsel determines it is necessary to see more documents or the complete set; then the
General Counsel will contact the Executive Director and the Executive Director will produce the
additional documents or the entire set of documents as requested.
(B) Within five (5) business days of receipt, the General Counsel, shall either concur or disagree with the
Executive Director's determination and shall immediately notify the Requestor in writing of such
concurrence or disagreement. If the General Counsel, concurs with the Executive Director’s
determination then such determination shall become final unless, within ten (10) business days from
receipt of the Executive Director’s written notification, the Requestor appeals such determination to the
Board Request Review Subcommittee of the Executive Committee.
(C) If the General Counsel disagrees with the Executive Director then the Executive Director may, within
ten (10) business days, refer the matter to the Board Request Review Subcommittee for decision,
otherwise the records/documents must be produced forthwith.
(D) If the matter is referred by the Executive Director to the Board Request Review Subcommittee for
decision, within five (5) days of the referral, the Executive Director shall provide the Board Request
Review Subcommittee a withheld record/document log that shall specify/identify each document
and/or record withheld as follows:
(1) the bates numbered page(s) for each record/document withheld;
(2) the date such record/document was created;
(3) the author(s) of such record/document(s);
(4) the recipient(s) of such record/document(s)
(5) the general description of such record/document (Email, letter, memo, etc.)
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(6) the basis for withholding disclosure of the record/document to the Requestor.
In case of a request resulting in a voluminous amount of documents as the subject of the withholding, a
summary of the documents by category may be provided in lieu of the detailed log.
(E) Upon request by a member of the Subcommittee for a copy of the records, the Executive Director shall
provide a copy of the records; however, the Executive Director may comply with the request for the
records by providing a representative set of documents for initial review. If after initial review by the
Subcommittee member, the Subcommittee member determines it is necessary to see more documents
or the complete set; then the subcommittee member will contact the Executive Director and the Executive
Director will produce the requested records for review as requested.
(F) The Board Request Review Subcommittee consists of:
(1) the President;
(2) the President-Elect;
(3) the Chair of the Board;
(4) the Immediate Past-President, and
(5) one (1) Public Member of the Executive Committee If there are no Public Members, then one shall
appointed by the President.
(G) The decision of the Board Request Review Subcommittee shall be in writing and made within ten (10)
business days of the receipt of any appeal. The Subcommittee’s decision shall exhaust all administrative
remedies necessary for a Requestor to seek any appropriate judicial remedy in a District Court of Travis
County, Texas with the State Bar of Texas as the defendant.
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF TEXAS

Misc. Docket No. 01-

9065

ORDER ESTABLISHING TEXAS ACCESS TO JUSTICE COMMISSION

1. In 1999, a statewide planning process for legal services to the poor was initiated in Texas.
The Texas planning group consisted of a broad range of individuals representing this Court, the State
Bar of Texas, the Texas Equal Access to Justice Foundation, the Texas Bar Foundation, and the
network of legal-service providers throughout the state.
2. During the statewide planning process, the following problems were identified:
•

many gaps exist in developing a comprehensive, integrated statewide civil legalservices delivery system in Texas;

•

many poor people in Texas are underrepresented, in that they receive limited advice
from a legal-services provider when they would in fact be better served by full
representation on a civil legal matter;

•

inadequate funding and well-intentioned but uncoordinated efforts stand in the way
of a fully integrated civil legal-services delivery system;

•

achieving a committed and active justice community in Texas is essential to the
effective delivery of civil legal services;

e

while many organizations throughout the state share a commitment to improving
access to justice, no single group is widely accepted as having ultimate responsibility
for progress on the issues; and
leadership that is accepted by the various stakeholder organizations committed to
achieving full access, and empowered to take action, is essential to realizing equal
justice for all in Texas.

3. At the conclusion of the statewide planning process, the planning group adopted an action
plan with a broad range of goals and strategies. The cornerstone of the recommendations was that
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an Access to Justice Commission be established by this Court to serve as the umbrella organization
for all efforts to expand access to justice in civil matters in Texas. The organization would serve as
a coordinator to assist all participants in developing strategic alliances to effectively move ideas to
action. The Commission would, report semi-annually on its progress to both the Court and the State
Bar of Texas. The Court, having reviewed the report of the planning group and having received the
endorsement of the Board of Directors of the State Bar of Texas, HEREBY ORDERS:
1. The Texas Access to Justice Commission is created to develop and implement policy
initiatives designed to expand access to and enhance the quality of justice in civil legal matters for
low-income Texas residents.
2. The Texas Access to Justice Commission will:
identify and assess current and future needs for access to justice in civil matters by
low-income Texans;
•

develop and publish a strategic plan for statewide delivery of civil legal services to
low-income Texans;

•

foster the development of a statewide integrated civil legal-services delivery system;

•

work to increase resources and funding for access to justice in civil matters and to
ensure that the resources and funding are applied to the areas of greatest need;

•

work to maximize the wise and efficient use of available resources, including the
development of local, regional, and statewide coordination systems and systems that
encourage the coordination or sharing of resources or funding;
develop and implement initiatives designed to expand civil access to justice;
work to reduce barriers to the justice system by addressing existing and proposed
court rules, procedures, and policies that negatively affect access to justice for lowincome Texans; and
monitor the effectiveness of the statewide system and services provided and
periodically evaluate the progress made by the Commission in fulfilling the civil
legal needs of low-income Texans.

3. The Texas Access to Justice Commission consists of fifteen members appointed by this
Court and by the State Bar of Texas. A member of the Commission serves a three-year term. The
terms of the members are staggered. A member may not be appointed to serve more than two
successive full three-year terms. A member who has served two successive full terms is not eligible
for reappointment until the third anniversary of the date that the member's last full temi on the
Commission expired.
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4. This Court will appoint eight members to the Texas Access to Justice Commission as
follows:
•

a justice of the Supreme Court of Texas;

•

a judge or justice from a county with a population of 650,000 or more;

•

a judge or justice from a county with a population of less than 650,000;

•

a member of the Texas Equal Access to Justice Foundation Board of Directors;
two representatives of a state or federally funded legal-services program; and
two at-large members who have demonstrated a commitment to and familiarity with
access-to-justice issues in Texas.

5. The State Bar of Texas will appoint seven members to the Texas Access to Justice
Commission as follows:
•

two members of the State Bar of Texas Board of Directors;

•

an attorney member of the State Bar of Texas;

•

a member of the Texas Bar Foundation Board of Directors;

•

two representatives of a state or federally funded legal-services program; and

•

an at-large member who has demonstrated a commitment to and familiarity with
access-to-justice issues in Texas.

6. This Court and the State Bar of Texas will coordinate appointments to the Texas Access
to Justice Commission to assure that:
•
•

at least three members of the Commission are nonattorney public representatives;
members of the Commission appointed to represent a state or federally funded legalservices program reflect a diversity among Legal Service Corporation funded
programs and programs funded from other sources, staff and pro bono based
programs, and general civil legal-services programs and specific service- or clientbased programs; and
the members of the Commission reflect the diverse ethnic, gender, legal, and
geographic communities located in Texas.
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7. This Court will designate the presiding officer of the Texas Access to Justice
Commission, after consultation with the President of the State Bar of Texas.
8. The Governor is invited to designate a person to serve as an ex-officio member of the
Commission. The Speaker of the House and the Lieutenant Governor each are invited to designate
one member of that presiding officer's chamber to serve as an ex-officio member of the Texas
Access to Justice Commission. A member appointed by the Governor, Speaker, or Lieutenant
Governor serves at the pleasure of the appointing officer.
9. In making initial appointments to the Texas Access to Justice Commission, this Court will
designate three members as having a one-year telm, three members as having a two-year term, and
two members as having a full three-year term.
10. In making initial appointments to the Texas Access to Justice Commission, the State Bar
of Texas will designate two members as having a one-year team, two members as having a two-year
term, and three members as having a full three-year term.
11. The Texas Access to Justice Commission will submit any strategic plan for statewide
delivery of legal services to low-income Texans to this Court and the Executive Committee of the
State Bar Board for approval.
12. The State Bar of Texas has agreed to provide staff and financial support for the Texas
Access to Justice Commission. Proposed budgets of the Texas Access to Justice Commission will
be subject to the State Bar's annual budgetary process for presentation to the Board of Directors and
ultimate approval by this Court. Supervision of the budget of the Commission is the responsibility
of the State Bar of Texas. The Commission and staff supporting the Commission will comply with
the fiscal policies of the State Bar of Texas.
13. The Texas Access to Justice Commission is subject to sections 81.033 and 81.034 of the
Texas Government Code, and is also subject to other relevant provisions of Chapter 81 of the Texas
Government Code.
14. The Texas Access to Justice Commission may adopt rules as necessary for the
performance of the Commission's duties.
15. The Texas Access to Justice Commission will file, at least every six months, a status
report on the progress of the Commission's duties. The Commission will send a copy of the report
to both this Court and the State Bar of Texas. The initial progress report will be filed not later than
December 1, 2001. The Commission will also provide an oral progress report at each State Bar
board meeting.
BY THE COURT, IN CHAMBERS, this cP6.
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day

of April, 2001.
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STATE BAR RULES
As Amended November 2021
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STATE BAR RULES
As Amended October 2021
PREAMBLE
These Rules are adopted in aid of the Court’s inherent power to regulate the practice of law and nothing
shall be construed as a modification or limitation thereof.
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
The following words shall have the meaning set out below, unless a different meaning is apparent from the
context:
1. “State Bar” means the State Bar of Texas.
2. “Clerk” means the clerk of the Supreme Court of Texas.
3. “Board” means the State Bar board of directors.
4. “Act” means the State Bar Act, Chapter 510, Acts of the 66th Legislature of Texas, Regular Session, 1979,
being also Senate Bill No. 287 as passed by the 66th Legislature of Texas, Regular Session, 1979, and signed
by the Governor on June 11, 1979, currently codified at Title 2, Subtitle G. Chapter 81 of the Texas
Government Code and as it may be amended.
5. “Metropolitan County” includes any of the counties of Bexar, Dallas, Harris, Tarrant and Travis of the
State of Texas, as well as any other county hereafter so designated by the board.
6. “Member in good standing” is a member of the State Bar who is not in default in payment of dues and
who is not under suspension from practice.
7. “Registered address” means the mailing address designated by a member to appear to appear on the State
Bar membership rolls and for receiving communications from the State Bar.
8. “Preferred email address” means the email address designated by a member for receiving electronic
communications from the State Bar.
9. “Electronic service address” means the email address designated by a member for service of documents
through the electronic filing manager established by the Office of Court Administration and for
communications to a member from Texas courts. The State Bar will provide each member’s electronic service
address to the Office of Court Administration. A member’s electronic service address may be different from
the member’s preferred email address.
10. “Court” is the Supreme Court of Texas.
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11. “Ex Officio” means by virtue or because of an office. Unless otherwise provided, one serving as an ex
officio member of a body is entitled to vote.
12. “Rules” means the State Bar Rules.
13. “Member” means a person licensed to practice law in Texas. See TEX. GOV’T CODE § 81.051(a).
14. “Enrollment” means the act of registering with the Clerk as a person licensed to practice law in Texas.
See TEX. GOV’T CODE § 81.051(b).
15. “Texas Young Lawyers Association” means the division of the State Bar of Texas commonly referred
to as its “public service arm” and whose regular membership is comprised of all members of the State Bar
of Texas, irrespective of age, licensed twelve years or less at the beginning of each fiscal year beginning June
1.
ARTICLE II
GENERAL PROVISIONS
Section 1. Official Name
The official name of the State Bar is “State Bar of Texas.”
Section 2. Purposes of the Organization
The purposes of the State Bar are those as set out in the Act.
Section 3. Purposes of These Rules
These Rules are adopted for the operation, maintenance and conduct of the State Bar and for the
disciplining of its members.
Section 4. Seal
The State Bar shall have a seal in the form of a five-pointed star, around the upper portion of which shall be
written in capital letters, “STATE BAR OF TEXAS” and around the lower portion of which shall be
written in capital letters, “CREATED IN 1939.” The seal may be used only for official business of the State
Bar, its sections and committees.
Section 5. Principal Office of the State Bar
The principal office of the State Bar shall be maintained in Austin, Travis County, Texas.
Section 6. Service of Process
Service of citation or other process may be had upon the State Bar by serving either the executive director
or the general counsel.
Section 7. Fiscal Year
The fiscal year of the State Bar shall be as determined by the board.
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Section 8. Organizational Year
The organizational year of the State Bar shall be from time of adjournment of the annual meeting of the
State Bar one year to the time of adjournment of the annual meeting of the State Bar of the next year.
Section 9. Oath of Office
Officers and directors of the State Bar, before entering upon the duties of office, shall take the official oath
or affirmation set out in Art. 16, Sec. 1 of the Constitution of the State of Texas.
Section 10. Elections and Balloting
Except as may otherwise be provided, elections shall be conducted under the supervision of the executive
director.
Section 11. Officers and Directors Holding Over
Each officer and director shall continue to serve and perform the duties of his office until his successor has
qualified.
Section 12. Publication of New Rules and Amendments to Rules
These Rules and any amendments thereto shall be published in a manner directed by the board.
Section 13. Spokesman for the Bar
The president of the State Bar or, in the absence of the president, the president-elect, shall be the public
representative of the State Bar and shall enunciate the policies of the State Bar as promulgated by the board,
except that the Board or the president may delegate such authority under such conditions as the board may
prescribe. The board may authorize sections and committees, and those properly authorized by such
sections and committees, to publicly represent the views of a section or committee. In no event shall a
public representative of the State Bar or its sections or committees purport to speak on behalf of all State
Bar members or to represent that all State Bar members support the message that the representative is
conveying.
Section 14. Procedures for Meetings
A. All proceedings at meetings of the State Bar, of the board, of the executive committee and all other
committees and sections shall be governed by the most recent edition of Robert’s Rules of Order Newly
Revised.
B. Voting by proxy shall not be allowed.
C. The presence of a majority of those persons entitled to vote at all such meetings shall constitute a
quorum, except that:
1. at any meeting of the State Bar, one hundred (100) members shall constitute a quorum for the
transaction of business, and
2. at any meeting of a State Bar section or committee, a quorum may be less than a majority if the
board has determined.
3
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Action shall be taken only upon a majority vote of those entitled to vote, a quorum being present.
ARTICLE III
MEMBERSHIP
Section 1. Members
The members of the State Bar are those persons designated in the Act.
Section 2. Enrollment in the State Bar
Within ten days of being admitted to practice law in Texas, a member must file with the clerk the enrollment
form prescribed by the State Bar and pay all required fees.
Section 3. Member Contact Information; Duty to Keep Updated
A. Each member must provide to the State Bar and keep updated any contact information requested by the
State Bar, including the member’s:
• registered mailing address;
• preferred email address;
• electronic service address; and
• telephone number.
B. If a member fails to designate an electronic service address, the member’s preferred email address will be
deemed to be the member’s electronic service address.
C. A member must update the member’s registered mailing address, preferred email address, and electronic
service address on the State Bar website within 30 days of a change to any address.
D. Service of any notice to a member by the State Bar is deemed to be effective if the notice is sent to the
member’s registered mailing address or preferred email address.
Section 4. Membership Fees
All membership fees are payable at the time of enrollment as a member of the State Bar and annually on
the first day of the State Bar’s fiscal year.
Section 5. Membership Rolls and Membership Cards
Upon enrollment, the clerk will enter that person’s name on the membership rolls and issue the member a
bar card.
Section 6. Default in Payment of Fees or Assessments
If a member is in default of payment of membership fees or any assessment levied by the Court on the 30th
day after the due date, the clerk will promptly notify the member of the default. If the fees and assessments
are not paid within 60 days after the notice of default is mailed, the defaulting member will automatically be
4
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suspended from the practice of law. Practicing law while suspended is professional misconduct and grounds
for discipline.
Section 7. Resignation from Membership Other Than in Face of Pending Disciplinary Action
A. A member may resign from membership by delivering to the State Bar the following materials, addressed
to the clerk:
• the resignation form provided by the State Bar;
• the member’s bar card or, if the card has been lost, a written statement – either sworn to before a
notary or made under penalty of perjury – that the card has been lost and will be returned to the
State Bar if found; and
• a certificate by the chief disciplinary counsel affirming that no disciplinary action is pending against
the member and that the member is not being investigated for professional misconduct.
B. The membership records will be amended to reflect the member’s resignation when the State Bar
receives and verifies the materials required by (A).
Section 8. Waiver of Membership Fees
A. Waiver for Military Service in a Combat Zone
1. The executive director will waive or refund the membership fees of a member of the United
States Armed Forces for any year in which the member serves in a combat zone designated by an
executive order of the President of the United States.
2. To request a waiver or refund under this subsection, a member must remit to the State Bar the
form prescribed by the State Bar and all required documentation before the end of the dues year in
which the member is deployed.
B. Waiver for Undue Hardship
1. The legal services fee mandated by Section 81.054(j), Government Code, may not be waived
under this subsection.
2. The executive director may waive some or all of the remaining membership fees of any member
who demonstrates undue hardship.
3. Undue hardship exists when a member is unable to pay membership fees due to illness, disability,
or other extraordinary circumstances beyond the member’s control.
4. To request a waiver under this subsection, a member must, by August 31 of each year in which a
waiver is requested, remit to the State Bar:
5
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• the form provided by the State Bar;
• a written statement by the member – either sworn to before a notary or made under
penalty of perjury – averring that the circumstances on which the request is based are
beyond the member’s control and the direct cause of the member’s inability to pay
membership fees.; and
• any other documentation required by the State Bar.
5. Approval of a request for a waiver under this subsection is within the sole discretion of the
executive director.
C. Within 30 days after a waiver is granted under this section, the State Bar will report the waiver to the
clerk.
Section 9. One-Time Expunction of an Administrative Suspension for Nonpayment of Membership
Fees
A. This section does not apply to a disciplinary suspension for professional misconduct.
B. A member who meets the following criteria may request a one-time expunction of an administrative
suspension for nonpayment of membership fees:
1. the member has not previously obtained an expunction under this rule;
2. the suspension was for 90 days or less;
3. except for the suspension that is the subject of the expunction request, the member has not
previously been suspended for nonpayment of membership fees;
4. the member is not currently the subject of a disciplinary proceeding or investigation; and
5. the member has no record of disciplinary suspension – whether active or probated – or of prior
disbarment or resignation in lieu of discipline.
C. The member seeking the expunction must make a written request to the State Bar. After verifying that
the member meets the criteria in (B), the State Bar will forward to the clerk the member’s request and a
recommendation that the member’s record of suspension be expunged. The clerk will expunge the
suspension from the member’s record.
D. A suspension expunged under this rule is deemed never to have occurred. The record of an expunction
is confidential and may not be disclosed by the clerk or the State Bar.
Section 10. Return to Former Status
A. When a member who has been suspended for nonpayment of fees or assessments removes the default by
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payment of fees or assessments then owing plus an additional amount equivalent to one-half the
delinquency, the suspension will automatically be lifted and the member restored to former status. Return to
former status is retroactive to inception of suspension, but does not affect any proceeding for discipline of
the member for professional misconduct.
B. A person who has voluntarily resigned from membership must apply to the Board of Law Examiners and
comply with the rules of the Court pertaining to admission to the practice of law before resuming the
practice of law.
C. An inactive member may return to active status upon written application to the clerk and payment of fees
for the current year.
ARTICLE IV
ADMINISTRATION
Section 1. Board of Directors; Duties
A. The State Bar shall be governed by a board which shall enforce the Act and these Rules.
B. The term of office for each elected, public, and at-large director shall be three (3) years. The terms of
elected and public directors shall be staggered with one-third (1/3) of such directors elected or appointed
each year. The terms of at-large directors shall be staggered with as near to one-third (1/3) as possible
appointed each year.
C. The regular term of office of an elected, public, or at-large director shall commence on adjournment of
the annual meeting of the State Bar next following election or appointment and continue until the
adjournment of the third annual meeting next following election or appointment.
D. The board shall take such action and adopt such regulations and policies, consistent with the Act or
these Rules, as shall be necessary and proper for the administration and management of the affairs of the
State Bar, for the protection of the property of the State Bar and for the preservation of good order.
Section 2. Meetings of the Board
A. The board shall meet regularly at least four (4) times annually, and may meet specially, at such times and
places as the board shall determine. All meetings, however, shall be held within the State of Texas.
B. Meetings of the board shall be in person unless:
1. an emergency or public necessity exists within the meaning of Texas Government Code Chapter
551; and
2. the convening at one location of a quorum of the governmental body is difficult or impossible.
Section 3. Composition of the Board
The board shall be composed of the officers of the State Bar, the president, president-elect, and immediate
7
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past president of the Texas Young Lawyers Association, not more than thirty (30) members of the State Bar
elected by the membership from their district as may be determined by the board, six (6) persons who are
not licensed attorneys, known as public directors, who do not have, other than as consumers, a financial
interest in the practice of law, and four (4) at-large directors appointed by the president and confirmed by
the Board The Board may, in its discretion, also include other members who shall be ex officio or nonvoting board members.
Section 4. Chairperson of the Board
The board shall elect annually from its membership, under such procedures as it shall prescribe, a
chairperson to serve for the next succeeding organizational year. Such person shall be elected from the class
of directors then serving the second year of their terms.
Section 5. Qualifications of Officers and Directors
A. Qualifications for Serving as Director. The board is the judge of a candidate's qualifications.
1. All directors. A director must not be an officer, employee, or paid consultant of a Texas trade
association or the spouse of one. Texas trade association is defined in Section 81.028, Government
Code.
2. Attorney directors. A director who is an attorney also:
a. must be an active member in good standing;
b. must never have been disbarred or resigned in lieu of discipline; and
c. if ever suspended for professional misconduct, must have been reinstated at least ten years
before the term as director begins.
3. Elected directors. An elected director also:
a. must have their principal place of practice in the district from which the director is elected;
b. must not have their principal place of practice in the same county as the last director from
the district – but this requirement does not apply to a director from a Metropolitan County
or El Paso County, and the board may disregard the requirement if necessary to rebalance
the board membership under section 8;
c. must not have served one and one-half years or more of the prior director's term; and
d. must not be an elected official paid by the State of Texas.
4. Public directors. A public director also:
a. must not have a financial interest in the practice of law, other than as a consumer; and
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b. must be confirmed by the senate.
5. At-large directors. An at-large director also must not be an elected official paid by the State of Texas.
6. Ex officio directors. An ex officio director also must not be an elected official paid by the State of
Texas.
B. Other requirements. A director must:
1. take the oath of office by the second regularly scheduled board meeting of the first year of the
director's term; and
2. attend at least half of the regularly scheduled board meetings each calendar year – but a majority
of the board may excuse a director's absence.
C. The board must provide a training program for board members that meets the requirements of Section
81.201, Government Code. An elected or appointed director cannot participate at a board meeting or vote
before completing the training program.
Section 6. How Directors Shall Be Elected
Elected directors shall be elected by a majority of the active and emeritus members of the State Bar voting
who have their principal place of practice in the same Bar district as that of the candidate. If no candidate
receives a majority, a run off shall be held at such time as the board shall prescribe between the two
candidates receiving the greatest number of votes.
Section 7. Nominees for Office of Elected Director
A. An active member’s name may be placed in nomination for the office of elected director by a written
petition in form prescribed by the board and signed by the lesser of five percent (5%) of the active members
whose principal place of practice is within the district to be represented by the nominee if elected, or one
hundred (100) of such members, which petition must be received in the office of the executive director on or
before March 1 of the year of the election. A petition signature is invalid if it is not dated or the signer signed
the petition before September 1 of the year before the election. The executive director shall promptly review
the petition to verify the eligibility of the nominee. If from the petition it appears the nominee is eligible, that
person’s name shall be listed upon the ballot. If from the petition the executive director finds the nominee to
be ineligible, that fact shall immediately be communicated to the nominee. Any nominee desiring to appeal
the findings of the executive director shall promptly notify the executive director, who shall promptly convene
the executive committee to hear and determine the matter. The executive committee shall have final authority
to determine questions of eligibility of the nominee and the validity of the nominating petition and shall do
so within ten (10) days of the notice to the executive director.
B. The petitions may be in counterparts, and it shall be sufficient that the signatures on all the counterparts
aggregate the required number of signatures.
C. If no valid petition nominating an eligible person shall have been received by the executive director by
March 1 in respect to a district in the year in which such district is to elect a director, or if all persons who
9
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have been nominated in the foregoing manner shall have died or become disqualified from serving at any
time prior to the printing of the ballot in such election, then the president of the State Bar with the advice of
the person then serving as elected director from that district shall name a qualified person to stand for
election as director from that district.
D. If an elected director fails to qualify, such position shall be deemed vacant.
Section 8. Director Vacancies and How Filled
A. Death of a board member, judgment of incompetency, a board member’s resignation or any failure to
qualify shall create a vacancy. In case of a vacancy as to an elected director, the president, shall appoint a
member whose principal place of practice is within the district within which the vacancy has occurred.
Vacancies in ex officio directorships shall be filled by the person who succeeds to the office in the State Bar
or in the Texas Young Lawyers Association to which such directorship is incident, except that the directorship
incident to the office of immediate past president of the State Bar or Texas Young Lawyers Association or
immediate past chairperson of the board of the State Bar shall be filled by the most recent holder of such
offices respectively who is willing to serve. Vacancies in public and at-large directorships shall be filled in the
same manner and by the same authority designated by statute to fill such positions.
B. Persons filling such vacancies shall meet the same requirements and shall qualify in the same manner as
those assuming the office of director for the full term.
C. The board may adopt appropriate procedures for the purpose of equalizing the size of the classes of the
board of directors. Once such equalization is accomplished, then those appointed to fill a vacancy shall serve
the balance of the term of the particular position vacated.
D. The board of directors may remove a director from the board at any regular meeting by resolution declaring
the director’s position vacant, pursuant to § 81.027(a) of the State Bar Act or Article IV, § 5 of these Rules.
Section 9. Executive Committee
A. The executive committee of the board shall consist of the president, president-elect, the chair of the board,
the immediate past president of the State Bar, president of the Texas Young Lawyers Association and such
other persons as the president may appoint. The president shall be chair, and the board chair shall be the vicechair of the executive committee and shall preside in the chair’s absence.
B. The general purpose of the executive committee shall be to perform between meetings of the board such
functions, consistent with the Act or these Rules, as the board may assign to it from time to time.
C. The general counsel and the executive director of the State Bar shall be ex officio, non-voting members
of the executive committee.
Section 10. Officers
A. The officers of the State Bar shall be the president, the president-elect and the immediate past president.
10
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B. Qualifications of Officers. An officer:
1. must be an active member in good standing;
2. must never have been suspended for professional misconduct, been disbarred, or resigned in lieu
of discipline;
3. must not be an elected official paid by the State of Texas.
C. Other Requirements. An officer must also take the oath of office by the second regularly scheduled
board meeting of the officer's term.
D. The president shall preside at all meetings of the State Bar, be the official representative and
spokesperson for the State Bar in all public matters and have general responsibility for carrying out the
policy of the State Bar.
E. The president-elect shall preside at meetings of the State Bar in the absence of the president and
otherwise assist the president, as the president shall request, in carrying out the responsibilities of the office
of president.
Section 11. President-Elect, Nominations and Elections
A. At its first regularly scheduled quarterly meeting each organizational year, the board of directors shall
nominate two (2) or more members of the State Bar of Texas to stand for election to the office of presidentelect for the ensuing organizational year. Such nomination shall be by majority vote of the board.
B. Any other member of the State Bar of Texas shall also be privileged to stand for election to the office of
president-elect when a written petition in form prescribed by the board of directors, signed by no fewer than
five percent (5%) of the active members of the State Bar of Texas in good standing, is received in the office
of the executive director on or before March 1 of the year of the election. A petition signature is invalid if it
is not dated or the signer signed the petition before September 1 of the year before the election.
C. The petitions may be in counterparts, and it shall be sufficient that the signatures on all the counterparts
aggregate the required number of signatures.
D. The names of all nominees for the office of president-elect shall be published in the Texas Bar Journal and
otherwise publicized by such other practical means as the board shall determine.
E. A geographical rotation governs the office of president-elect. To be eligible for the office, candidates –
whether nominated by the board or by petition as described in Section 11(B) – must have their principal
place of practice in a county that meets the requirements of the election year in the following rotation:
1. in the first year of rotation, a Metropolitan County, which means either Bexar, Dallas, Harris,
Tarrant, or Travis county;
2. in the second year, a county that is not a Metropolitan County;
11
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3. in the third year, any county.
For purposes of this rule, the first year of rotation shall be the election for president-elect for the
organizational year beginning in 2018.
F. The ballot shall be distributed to each member of the State Bar of Texas entitled to vote at the same time
as ballots for the election of elected directors are distributed. A combined ballot for the office of presidentelect and for the office of director may be used in those bar districts in which an election for director is to
be conducted.
G. If no candidate for president-elect receives a majority of the votes, a run-off election shall be held at such
time as the board shall prescribe between the two candidates receiving the greatest number of votes. The
person receiving a majority of the votes in either the general election or the run-off election shall be declared
to be elected to the office of president-elect.
H. The office of president shall be filled by the succession of the president-elect to such office at the expiration
of the term for which such person was elected to serve as president-elect.
Section 12. Term of Office of Officers
The regular term of office for officers of the State Bar shall be from adjournment of the annual meeting for
the year preceding the year of service and shall end with such adjournment the following year.
Section 13. Vacancy in an Office
A. Death of an officer, judgment of incompetency, an officer’s resignation or failure to qualify shall create a
vacancy in the office.
B. If a vacancy occurs in the office of president, it shall be filled by the succession of the president-elect to
the office of president, in which case a special election shall be called by the board to fill the office of presidentelect at such times and under such procedures as are prescribed by the board.
C. If the vacancy occurs in the office of president-elect, a special election shall be held for the office of
president-elect. In such event the procedures for a regular election shall be followed subject to such necessary
changes as shall be required in order to meet the exigencies of the situation.
D. Should the president-elect succeed to the office of president and have less than six months to serve in the
unexpired term, the president-elect will serve the next full term that follows the unexpired term.
E. In the event a simultaneous vacancy exists in the office of the president and president-elect, a special
election shall be held for each office and in the meanwhile the chairperson of the board shall serve as
interim president.
Section 14. Other Executive Positions
The executive director and general counsel shall be elected by the board and shall perform such duties as the
Board may prescribe.
12
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ARTICLE V
FISCAL
Section 1. Budget Committee
There shall be a budget committee, comprised of the president of the State Bar, the president-elect, the
chairperson of the board, and two (2) or more members of the board of directors appointed by the president.
The president or his designee shall be chairperson of this committee.
Section 2. Public Hearing on Budget
A public hearing shall be held each year to consider the State Bar’s proposed budget in accordance with the
Act.
Section 3. Annual Budget
A. The budget committee shall consult with the executive director and the general counsel with respect to the
annual budget for the State Bar for the fiscal year next after the committee’s appointment. The proposed
budget shall be prepared and submitted to the board at its first quarterly meeting each calendar year, and shall
be acted on by the board at such meeting. After adoption by the board, the budget shall be submitted to the
Court for approval.
B. The budget may be amended by majority vote of the board at any regular or special meeting in order to
meet any unforeseen contingency, subject to the Court’s approval.
Section 4. Expenses
The board may provide for the payment of necessary expenses incurred by the officers, directors, committee
members, and employees of the State Bar in the discharge of their duties.
ARTICLE VI
ADOPTING AND AMENDING THE STATE BAR RULES
New rules for the governance of the State Bar, and amendments to these Rules shall be adopted and
promulgated by the Court as provided in the Act.
ARTICLE VII
MEETINGS OF THE STATE BAR OF TEXAS
Section 1. Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of the State Bar shall be held during the month of June or July of each year at a time
and place to be determined by the board.
Section 2. Special Meetings
A. Special meetings of the State Bar shall be called by the president upon two thirds (2/3) vote of the
directors, or upon written petition of at least five hundred (500) members of the State Bar.
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B. The time and place of such meeting shall be in accordance with the call.
C. Prior to any special meeting, the executive director shall mail to each member in good standing a notice
of the time and place of the meeting and purposes for which the meeting is to be held. The notices shall be
mailed sufficiently in advance of such meeting date so as to afford reasonable notice of the meeting.
Section 3. Procedure as to Proposed Resolutions
The board shall adopt a procedure by which resolutions may be proposed for adoption by the State Bar and
for their review as to form in advance of presentation to the general assembly at the annual meeting. A brief
resume of this procedure shall be published in the Texas Bar Journal prior to the annual meeting.
ARTICLE VIII
COMMITTEES, SECTIONS AND DIVISIONS
Section 1. Creation, Membership, Officers; Vacancies
A. The board may create or dissolve from time to time such State Bar and board committees, sections and
divisions as it may deem advisable. Their organizational structure, purpose and bylaws shall be subject to
approval of the board. Membership of committees shall be comprised of presidential appointees. Membership
of sections shall be comprised of members of the State Bar who pay the section dues and are otherwise
qualified under the bylaws of the section. Membership of divisions shall be determined by their respective
bylaws.
B. As soon as practicable after assuming office, and not later than the April board meeting of the calendar
year in which the president-elect will assume the presidency, the president-elect shall prepare and present to
the Board for its advice and consent a proposed roster of State Bar committees, committee chairpersons and
committee members for the president-elect’s term as president. The board at the April meeting shall approve
the list of State Bar committees and the president-elect shall promptly notify the proposed chairpersons and
members of their selection and obtain their consent to serve. Any necessary changes or additions in committee
organization and personnel shall be reported by the president-elect to the retiring board at its June meeting
and shall be finally approved by the incoming board at its first meeting of the new organizational year.
Subsequent creation of special committees by the president and the appointment of the personnel thereof,
shall be subject to approval by the executive committee or by the board at the earliest opportunity.
C. Officers of sections and divisions for the ensuing year shall be elected according to the respective bylaws
at their annual meeting coinciding with the annual meeting of the Bar.
D. Vacancies occurring in membership of State Bar committees shall be filled by the president for the
unexpired term and vacancies occurring in section committees shall be filled by the chairperson of the
section, except that if a vacancy occurs in the position of chairperson and there is no vice-chairperson to
assume the position of chairperson, it shall be filled by a majority vote of the section council. Vacancies in
division committees shall be filled in accordance with the bylaws of the division.
Section 2. Reports
The sections and divisions and State Bar committees shall deliver to the president and executive director at
least sixty (60) days before the annual meeting of the State Bar, annual reports and recommendations. Such
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reports and recommendations may be printed and sent to members of the State Bar before the annual
meeting, but any section, division, or committee may present at the annual meeting any additional report or
recommendation. The president, president-elect, immediate past president and the board may also present
reports and recommendations in the same manner.
ARTICLE IX
TEXAS BAR JOURNAL
A publication, under the name Texas Bar Journal, and devoted to legal matters and the affairs of the State Bar
and its members may be published and circulated under the direction of the board.
ARTICLE X
DISCIPLINE AND SUSPENSION OF MEMBERS

Repealed eff. May 1, 1992

ARTICLE XI
INTEREST EARNED ON CLIENT FUNDS HELD BY ATTORNEYS
Section 1. Short Title
This Article may be referred to as the Texas Equal Access to Justice Program.
Section 2. Findings; Purpose
The Supreme Court of Texas finds that:
A. On certain client funds held by attorneys, interest income cannot reasonably be earned to benefit
individual clients for whom the funds are held;
B. Income can be earned on those client funds pursuant to the program provided for in this Article and that
income should be used to provide additional legal services to the indigent in civil matters;
C. This Court is the proper and appropriate body, through the adoption of rules as set forth in this Article,
to create and administer, or cause to be created and administered, a program to carry out the purposes of
this Article; and
D. This Article is adopted in furtherance of the inherent powers of this Court to regulate the practice of law
in the State of Texas.
Section 3. Rules
This Court shall hereafter promulgate rules, consistent with the provisions of this Article, that are necessary
and appropriate to carry out the purposes of this Article and conform the program created as provided by
this Article to applicable statutes, regulations, and rulings. The rules, which may be amended or revoked by
this Court from time to time as it deems necessary to carry out this Article, shall provide for:
A. The formation of a corporation, incorporated without members under the Texas Non-Profit Corporation
Act (TEX.REV.CIV.STAT.ANN. art. 1396-1.01 et seq.), to be the recipient of and disbursing agent for
interest earned on client funds as provided by this Article;
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B. The operation of the nonprofit corporation and the program created as provided by this Article,
including the provisions to be contained in the articles of incorporation and bylaws of the corporation;
C. The designation of persons to serve as directors of the corporation and their terms of office;
D. Definitions of the client funds subject to Section 5 of this Article;
E. Exemptions from Section 5 of this Article when deemed by the Court to be appropriate;
F. Provisions specifying the types of financial institutions eligible for the deposit of the funds, the types of
organizations and programs eligible to receive funds from the nonprofit corporation, and the persons and
types of matters and cases eligible to receive legal services funded by grants from the nonprofit corporation;
and
G. Provisions relating to recordkeeping, reporting, and audits of the nonprofit corporation and the
organizations and programs receiving funds from the nonprofit corporation.
Section 4. Provisions Relating to the Nonprofit Corporation
A. The nonprofit corporation provided for in this Article shall be organized in such a manner as to be
exempt from federal income taxation under the Internal Revenue Code of 19541 or any subsequent United
States internal revenue law.
B. The exclusive purpose of the nonprofit corporation provided for in this Article shall be to grant funds
received by it, as provided in this Article, to organizations that will use the funds exclusively to provide legal
services to the indigent in civil matters.
C. The nonprofit corporation provided for in this Article shall be governed by a board of directors
consisting of a chairman and twelve members. The chairman and six directors shall be persons appointed by
this Court and the other six directors shall be persons appointed by the president of the State Bar of Texas,
with the approval of the board of directors of the State Bar of Texas. At least two of each group of
appointees to the board of directors, other than the chairman, shall not be attorneys, and shall not have,
other than as consumers, a financial interest in the practice of law.
D. Funds granted by the nonprofit corporation provided for in this Article to organizations to provide legal
services to the indigent in civil matters may not be used for any case or matter that, if undertaken on behalf
of an indigent person by an attorney in private practice, might reasonably be expected to result in payment
of a fee for legal services from an award to a client, from public funds, or from the opposing party. This
subsection does not apply if it is determined, pursuant to rules adopted by this Court, that adequate legal
services would otherwise be unavailable to the indigent person in the case or matter.
E. Neither the nonprofit corporation provided for in this Article nor any organization or program to which
it grants funds may take an action or require an attorney to take an action in violation of the Code of
Professional Responsibility (Article X, Section 9, State Bar Rules) or in violation of any other code of
professional responsibility adopted by this state for attorneys.
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F. No funds shall be granted by the nonprofit corporation to directly or indirectly fund class action suits,
lawsuits against governmental entities, or lobbying for or against any candidate or issue. Provided, however,
that funds may be granted to finance suits against governmental entities on behalf of individuals in order to
secure entitlement to benefits such as, but not limited to, Social Security, Aid to Families with Dependent
Children, and the like.
G. The nonprofit corporation provided for in this Article shall require, as a condition to the granting of
funds to any organization or program, that adequate provision be made, in accordance with rules adopted by
this Court, for reports as to the actual use of funds and for audit of the reports. The violation of any
prohibition contained in Subsection 4(F) of this Article shall render the offending organization or program
ineligible to receive funds from the nonprofit corporation.
H. The records of the nonprofit corporation provided for in this Article, including applications for funds,
whether or not granted, shall be open for public inspection, in accordance with rules this Court may
promulgate.
I. The nonprofit corporation provided for in this Article may expend funds for administrative costs of the
program, including any costs incurred after the adoption of this Article, and may provide a reasonable
reserve for administrative costs.
Section 5. Deposit of Certain Client Funds
A. An attorney, law firm, or professional corporation engaged in the practice of law, receiving in the course
of the practice of law in this state, client funds that are nominal in amount or are reasonably anticipated to
be held for a short period of time, shall establish and maintain a separate interest-bearing demand account at
a financial institution and shall deposit in the account all those client funds. All the client funds may be
deposited in a single unsegregated account. The interest earned on the account shall be paid in accordance
with and used for the purposes set forth in this Article and the rules adopted by this Court. Funds to be
deposited under this article do not include those funds evidenced by a financial institution instrument, such
as a draft, until the instrument is fully credited to the financial institution in which the account is maintained.
B. This Article does not prohibit an attorney, law firm, or professional corporation engaged in the practice
of law from establishing one or more interest-bearing accounts or other investments permitted by the Texas
Code of Professional Responsibility (Article X, Section 9, State Bar Rules) with the interest or dividends
earned on the accounts or investments payable as directed by clients for whom funds are not deposited in
accordance with Subsection (A) of this section.
C. An attorney, law firm, or professional corporation engaged in the practice of law which maintains
accounts provided for in this Section 5 must so advise the nonprofit corporation in writing within thirty (30)
days of the establishment of such account or accounts.
Section 6. Depositories
A. The interest-bearing demand account required by Section 5 of this Article shall be established with any
financial institution meeting the requirements set forth in the rules adopted by this Court.
17

Case 4:21-cv-02829 Document 12-4 Filed on 01/24/22 in TXSD Page 20 of 30

B. The attorney, law firm, or professional corporation establishing the interest-bearing demand account
shall attempt in good faith to obtain a rate of interest payable on the account not less than the rate paid by
the depository institution to other depositors with accounts of similar size. A higher rate offered by the
institution on deposits meeting certain time requirements or minimum amounts, such as those offered in the
form of certificates of deposit, may be obtained if there is no impairment of the right to withdraw or
transfer principal immediately, other than the statutory notification requirements generally applicable to
those accounts, even though interest may be lost because of the withdrawal or transfer.
C. The depository institution shall be directed by the attorney, law firm, or professional corporation
establishing the account:
1. To remit, at least quarterly, interest earned on the average daily balance in the account, less
reasonable service charges, to the nonprofit corporation provided for in this Article;
2. To transmit to the nonprofit corporation provided for in this Article with each remittance a
statement showing the name of the attorney, law firm, or professional corporation with respect to
which the remittance is sent, the rate or rates of interest applied, and the amount of service charges
deducted, if any; and
3. To transmit to the depositing attorney, law firm, or professional corporation at the same time a
report is sent to the nonprofit corporation provided for in this Article, a report showing the amount
paid to the nonprofit corporation for that period, the rate or rates of interest applied, the amount of
service charges deducted, if any, and the average daily account balance for each month of the period
for which the report is made.
Section 7. Attorney Liability
Nothing in this Article affects the obligations of attorneys, law firms, or professional corporations engaged
in the practice of law with respect to client funds other than client funds reasonably determined to be
“nominal in amount” or reasonably anticipated to be held for a “short period of time,” as those terms are
defined by the rules adopted by this Court. An attorney, law firm, or professional corporation is not liable in
determining which funds are nominal in amount or on deposit for a short period of time if the
determination is made in good faith in accordance with the rules.
Section 8. Liability of Nonprofit Corporation
If client funds that are neither nominal in amount nor on deposit for a short period of time are deposited
under Section 5(A) of this Article, the liability of the nonprofit corporation provided in this Article may not
exceed the amount of interest attributable to client funds actually paid by the depository to the nonprofit
corporation.
Section 9. Initial Distribution of Fund
The initial distribution of funds under this Article shall be made at a time when, in the determination of the
board of directors of the nonprofit corporation provided for in this Article, there are sufficient funds to
provide an adequate distribution.
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ARTICLE XII
MINIMUM CONTINUING LEGAL EDUCATION
Section 1. Purpose
The purpose of minimum continuing legal education requirements is to ensure that every active member of
the State Bar of Texas pursues a plan of continuing legal education throughout his or her career in order to
remain current on the law in our rapidly changing society.
Section 2. Definitions
A. “MCLE” means Minimum Continuing Legal Education.
B. “Committee” means the Committee on Minimum Continuing Legal Education.
C. “Committee member” is a member of the Committee on Minimum Continuing Legal Education.
D. “MCLE Department” means the departmental staff of the State Bar of Texas with the responsibility of
administering all aspects of the MCLE program as determined by this Article and any regulations established
pursuant hereto.
E. “The Director” means the Director of the MCLE Department of the State Bar of Texas.
F. “Continuing legal education activity” means any organized legal educational activity accredited by the
Committee.
G. “CLE Credit Hours” means the actual amount of instruction time for an accredited continuing legal
education activity expressed in terms of hours rounded to the nearest one-quarter hour. The number of
CLE credit hours shall be based on sixty (60) minutes of instruction per hour, unless otherwise specified
herein.
H. “Self-study” includes individual viewing or listening to audio, video, or digital media, reading written
material, or attending organized in-office educational programs, or such other activities as may be approved
by the Committee.
I. “Accredited sponsor” means any provider who receives presumptive approval of the Committee to
conduct continuing legal education activities that satisfy the requirements of this Article.
J. “Accredited CLE Activity” means any CLE activity that receives MCLE accreditation under the MCLE
Rules, Regulations, and accreditation criteria adopted by the MCLE Committee.
K. “MCLE compliance record” means the official record of a member’s CLE credit hours earned during
any MCLE compliance year that shall be maintained by the MCLE Department and used to verify a
member’s compliance with the MCLE requirements. It shall be the responsibility of each member to ensure
that his/her MCLE compliance record is accurate and complete.
L. “MCLE compliance year” means the twelve (12) month period that begins each year on the first day of
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an attorney’s birth month and ends on the last day of the month that immediately precedes the attorney’s
birth month in the following year.
M. “MCLE reporting month” means the birth month during which the attorney is required to show
completion of CLE requirements. If an extension has been granted in accordance with this Article (Section
9), the reporting month shall mean the month immediately following the last date of the extension and shall
replace the birth month for that current compliance year.
N. “MCLE Annual Verification Report” means the written report containing a listing of all CLE credit
hours recorded in a member’s MCLE compliance record for an MCLE compliance year. This report shall be
furnished to each member annually by the MCLE Department.
Section 3. Committee on Minimum Continuing Legal Education
A. There is hereby established the Committee which shall be composed of twelve (12) members. Nine (9) of
the members shall be residents of this State who are active members of the State Bar, at least two (2) of
whom shall be under the age of thirty-six (36) years as of June 1 of the year being appointed. Of the nine (9)
attorney members, not more than two (2) shall be judges. The remaining three (3) members of the
Committee shall be residents of this State who are not attorneys. The President-Elect, with the approval of
the Board, shall appoint any Committee members whose terms will begin at the beginning of the bar year
during which he or she will be President. Should a vacancy on the Committee occur during the bar year, the
President, with the approval of the Board, shall appoint a successor to fill the unexpired term. Each member
of the Committee shall continue to serve until his or her successor is appointed and qualified. The
President-Elect shall designate one (1) of the attorney members of the Committee to serve as chairperson
during his or her term as President. The Board may remove a member of the Committee for good cause.
No Committee member shall be appointed for more than two (2) terms. Committee members shall serve
without compensation, but shall be reimbursed for reasonable and necessary expenses incurred in the
performance of their official duties.
B. The State Bar shall employ such staff as may be necessary to perform the record keeping, auditing,
reporting, accreditation, and other functions required by these rules.
C. The Committee, subject to these rules and such regulations as it may propose and may be adopted by the
Board, shall administer the program of minimum continuing legal education established by this Article. It
may propose regulations and prepare forms not inconsistent with this Article pertaining to its function and
modify or amend the same from time to time. All such regulations, forms, modifications or amendments
shall be submitted to the Board for approval, and upon such approval, shall be published in the Texas Bar
Journal.
Section 4. Accreditation
A. The Committee shall develop criteria for the accreditation of continuing legal education activities and
shall designate the number of hours to be earned by participation in such activities, as approved by the
Committee. In order for an activity to be accredited, the subject matter must directly relate to legal subjects
and the legal profession, including professional responsibility, legal ethics, or law practice management. The
Committee may, in appropriate cases, extend accreditation to qualified activities that have already occurred.
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The Committee shall not extend credit to activities completed in the ordinary course of the practice of law,
in the performance of regular employment, as a volunteer service to clients or the general public, as a
volunteer service to government entities, or in a member’s regular duties on a committee, section or division
of any bar related organization. The Committee may extend accredited status, subject to periodic review, to
a qualified sponsor for its overall continuing legal education curriculum. No examinations shall be required.
B. Self-study credit may be given for individual viewing or listening to audio, video, or digital media; reading
written material; attending organized in-office educational programs; or other activities approved by the
Committee. No more than three hours of credit may be given during a compliance year for self-study
activities. Time spent viewing or listening to audio, video, or digital media as part of an organized CLE
activity approved by the Committee counts as conventional continuing legal education and is not subject to
the self-study limitation.
C. Credit may be earned through teaching or participating in an accredited CLE activity. Credit shall be
granted for preparation time and presentation time, including preparation credit for repeated presentations.
D. Credit may be earned through legal research-based writing upon application to the Committee provided
the activity (1) produced material published or to be published in the form of an article, chapter, or book
written, in whole or in part, by the applicant; (2) contributed substantially to the continuing legal education
of the applicant and other attorneys; and (3) is not done in the ordinary course of the practice of law, the
performance of regular employment, or as a service to clients.
E. The Committee may, in appropriate cases, charge a reasonable fee to the sponsor for accrediting CLE
activities.
F. A member who holds a full-time faculty position in any law school which is approved by the American
Bar Association may be credited as fulfilling the requirements of this article, except as to the minimum
requirements for CLE in legal ethics and professional responsibility. A member who holds a part-time
faculty position in any such law school may claim participatory credit for the actual hours of class
instruction time not to exceed 12 hours per compliance year, except as to the minimum requirements for
CLE in legal ethics and professional responsibility.
G. Credit to meet the minimum educational requirement will be extended to attorneys who are members of
the United States Congress or the Texas Legislature for each year in which they serve.
H. No credit shall be given for activities directed primarily to persons preparing for admission to practice
law.
I. Credit, not to exceed 30 hours in any compliance year, may be earned for attending a law school class
after admission to practice in Texas provided (1) that the member officially registered for the class with the
law school; and (2) that the member completed the course as required by the terms of registration. Credit
for approved attendance at law school classes shall be for the actual number of hours of class instruction
time the member is in attendance at the law school course.
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Section 5. Compliance Year
A. Each member’s compliance year shall begin on the first day of the month in which his or her birthday
occurs.
B. The initial compliance year for each member shall be the 24-month period that begins on the first birth
month following the date of admission.
Section 6. Minimum Educational Requirements
A. Every member must complete 15 hours of continuing legal education during each compliance year as
provided by this article. No more than three credit hours may be given for completion of self-study
activities during any compliance year.
B. At least three of the 15 hours must be devoted to legal ethics/professional responsibility subjects. One of
the three legal ethics/professional responsibility hours may be completed through self-study.
C. A person who has elected inactive status, been suspended or disbarred, or resigned, and who desires to
return to active status, must comply with the requirements of (A) and (B). The MCLE regulations may
authorize the MCLE Department to automatically defer these requirements for a member who elects
inactive status during a compliance year.
D. Accredited continuing legal education and self-study completed within a 12-month period immediately
preceding a member’s initial compliance year may be used to meet the educational requirement for the initial
compliance year. Credit for the Justice James A Baker Guide to Ethics and Professionalism in Texas
sponsored by the Texas Center for Legal Ethics, may count toward the MCLE requirements for a member's
initial compliance year if the course is completed during the member's third year of law school or the 12month period preceding the member's initial compliance year.
E. Accredited continuing legal education and self-study completed during any compliance year in excess of
the minimum 15 hour requirement for such period will be applied to the following compliance year’s
requirement. This carryover provision applies to one year only.
Section 7. Credit Computation
A. Credit for attending accredited continuing legal education activities shall be based on net actual
instruction time, which may include organized lecture, panel discussion, audio, video, and digital media
presentations and organized question-and-answer periods. Sponsors are encouraged to calculate the number
of hours of credit that should be given for any activity offered, using the above guide, and indicate the
number on the activity brochure. Fractional hours should be stated as decimals.
B. Credit for viewing or listening to audio, video, or digital media shall be based on the running time of the
recording.
C. Credit for reading approved material or attending in-office educational programs shall be based on actual
time spent.
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Section 8. Compliance
A. Two months before the end of a member’s MCLE compliance year, the Director must send the member
an MCLE Annual Verification Report. Members must review the report for accuracy. If the report is
accurate and shows that the member has completed all MCLE requirements for the MCLE compliance year
or that the member is exempt from MCLE, then no additional action is required by the member. If the
report is inaccurate, the member must correct his or her MCLE compliance record by following the
instructions on the report. To avoid a fine or suspension, all CLE credit hours must be completed, and all
corrections to a member’s MCLE compliance record must be received by the Director, before the end of
the member’s MCLE compliance year.
B. On or about the first day of the birth month, the Director shall make available to the member, a report
of amendments that have been made to the MCLE record for the compliance year that ended immediately
prior to said birth month. The Director shall also notify any member who has not completed MCLE
requirements for the compliance year that ended immediately prior to said birth month. A member, who has
not completed his or her CLE requirements by the first day of the birth month, will receive an automatic
grace period through the last day of the birth month to complete and report any remaining CLE credits.
Members shall not be fined or penalized for completing and reporting CLE credits by the last day of the
birth month (grace period).
C. On or about the 12th day of the month immediately following a member’s birth month, the Director will
notify in writing a member who is in non-compliance for the MCLE compliance year just ended of the
member’s non-compliance status.
D. On or about the first day of the third month immediately following a member’s birth month, the
Director will send a final notice to any member who has not cured the member’s noncompliance status.
E. If by the last business day of the fourth month following the birth month (or reporting month if the
member has been granted an extension in accordance with this article for completion of CLE requirements)
the member has still not cured his or her noncompliance, the member shall be automatically suspended
from the practice of law in Texas as directed by Order of the Supreme Court dated December 23, 2002.
F. Upon the execution of suspension, the Director will send a written notice to each member who is
suspended from practice by the order.
Section 9. Review and Appeal
A. For good cause, a member may request an exemption from, or extension of time to complete, any
requirement of this Article. The request will be determined by the MCLE Department under regulations
promulgated by the Committee.
B. “Good cause” shall exist when a member is unable to comply with this Article because of illness, medical
disability, or other extraordinary hardship or extenuating circumstances that were not willful on the part of
the member and were beyond his or her control.
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C. A member may ask the Committee to review a decision of the MCLE Department by written request
within thirty days of the MCLE Department's decision. The Chair of the Committee may appoint a
subcommittee to review the decision of the MCLE Department and make a recommendation to the
Committee.
D. A member may ask the Board to review the Committee's decision by written request to the Executive
Director within thirty days of the Committee's decision. The Chair of the Board may appoint a
subcommittee to review the decision of the Committee and make a recommendation to the Board.
E. A member may challenge the Board's decision by filing suit against the State Bar in Travis County district
court. The suit must be filed within thirty days of the Board's decision, or the Board's decision will be final.
Trial will be de novo and to the bench. The member has the burden to prove good cause by a
preponderance of the evidence. Either the member or the State Bar may appeal the trial court's judgment.
F. Any suspension of a member under this Article shall be vacated during the administrative review process
and while any suit filed is pending.
Section 10. Return to Former Status
Any member whose license to practice law has been suspended under the terms of this Article who after the
date of suspension files an activity report with the MCLE Director showing compliance and who has paid
all applicable fees associated with non-compliance and suspension, shall be entitled to have such suspension
promptly terminated and be returned to former status. Return to former status shall be retroactive to the
inception of suspension, but shall not affect any proceeding for discipline of the member for professional
misconduct. The MCLE Director shall promptly notify the Clerk that a member formerly suspended under
this Article has now complied with this Article.
Section 11. Exemption of Certain Judges
Judges subject to Supreme Court Order for Judicial Education dated August 21, 1985, Supreme Court
Order for Judicial Education for Retired or Former District Judges dated July 2, 1986, and federal judicial
officers, shall be exempt from these requirements.
Section 12. Confidentiality
A member who reports attendance credits individually to the MCLE Director, without the sponsoring
organization’s knowledge, automatically consents to release of his or her name to the sponsoring
organization for the sole purpose of reconciling attendance records. Otherwise, the files, records and
proceedings of the Committee, as they relate to the compliance or noncompliance of any member with the
requirements of this Article, shall be confidential and shall not be disclosed except upon consent of the
member affected or as directed in the course of judicial proceeding by a court of competent jurisdiction.
ARTICLE XIII
NEW OPPORTUNITIES VOLUNTEER ATTORNEY PRO BONO PROGRAM
Section 1. Definitions
A. "Program" is the New Opportunities Volunteer Attorney Pro Bono Program established by this article.
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B. A "New Opportunities Volunteer Attorney" or "NOVA" is a person of any age who:
1. is an inactive or emeritus member of the State Bar or is licensed to practice law in another U.S.
jurisdiction, even if inactive or retired; and
2. meets the following conditions:
• is in good standing with the State Bar or the entity that governs the practice of law in the
jurisdiction where the attorney is licensed;
• is in good standing with all courts and jurisdictions in which the attorney is admitted to
practice;
• agrees to abide by the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct and to submit to
the disciplinary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Texas and the State Bar;
• provides legal services under the supervision of an approved legal service organization;
• is not compensated for legal services rendered under the Program; and
• complies with the policies and procedures of the Program.
C. An “approved legal assistance organization” must:
1. provide free legal services;
2. maintain malpractice insurance for its NOVAs; and
3. be either:
a. a nonprofit that:
• is funded in part by the Texas Access to Justice Foundation;
• is funded in part by the Legal Services Corporation;
• is a current participant in the State Bar of Texas Malpractice Insurance Network
Exchange; or
• provides at least 50% of its legal services at no cost to Texans living at or below
200% of the federal poverty guidelines published annually by the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services;
b. a clinic or pro bono program of a Texas law school; or
c. a pro bono project or program of the State Bar or of a local or specialty bar association
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within Texas.
Section 2. Scope of Authority
A NOVA may engage in any activity necessary to resolve a legal matter for a client, including giving legal
advice, preparing pleadings or other documents, and appearing before a court or tribunal. A NOVA need
not be admitted pro hac vice to appear before a court while providing legal services under the Program. A
NOVA may not represent himself or herself to be an active member of the State Bar.
Section 3. Compensation and Fees
A. A NOVA may not receive compensation for providing legal services under the Program, but an
approved legal serviced organization may reimburse a NOVA for actual expenses incurred by the attorney.
B. A NOVA is exempt from paying the legal services fee mandated by Section 81.054(j), Government
Code.
C. An approved legal service organization may charge the client for services provided by a NOVA and
collect attorneys' or other fees awarded by a court or tribunal or as a part of a settlement.
Section 4. Administration
The State Bar may develop policies and procedures for the Program and is responsible for its
administration.
Section 5. Discipline
A NOVA may be sanctioned or disciplined by a court or the State Bar in the same manner as an active
member of the State Bar.
Section 6. MCLE Requirement
A NOVA must complete at least three hours of CLE annually.
Section 7. Authority of Approved Legal Service Organizations
An approved legal service organization is not required to:
A. accept any particular NOVA;
B. refer any case, a particular type of case, or a particular number of cases to any NOVA; or
C. take any action inconsistent with the rules, laws, regulations, policies, or procedures governing the
organization's pro bono programs.
ARTICLE XIV
MILITARY SPOUSE TEMPORARY LICENSE
Section 1. Definitions
A “temporary licensee” is an attorney who:
26
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 is the spouse of an active-duty military service member who has been ordered stationed in Texas;
and
 has been issued a three-year temporary license to practice law in Texas by the Court in
accordance with the Rules Governing Admission to the Bar of Texas.
Section 2. Licensure
The Texas Board of Law Examiners is responsible for determining whether an applicant seeking a military
spouse temporary license meets the conditions set by the Court under the Rules Governing Admission to
the Bar of Texas.
Section 3. Rights and Obligations; Discipline
A. A temporary licensee is entitled to all the rights and privileges and subject to all the obligations and
responsibilities of active members of the State Bar that are set forth in the State Bar Act, the State Bar Rules,
the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct, the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure, and any
other Texas laws or rules governing the conduct or discipline of attorneys.
B. A temporary licensee may be sanctioned or disciplined by a court or the State Bar in the same manner as
an active member of the State Bar.
Section 4. Education
A. No later than six months after temporary licensure, a temporary licensee must complete the Justice James
A. Baker Guide to Ethics and Professionalism in Texas course, administered by the Texas Center for Legal Ethics.
B. A temporary licensee is subject to the MCLE requirements in Article XII.
Section 5. Membership Fees
A temporary licensee must pay the State Bar membership fees required of an active member of the State
Bar, unless waived under Article III, Section 8.
Section 6. Renewal Prohibited
A temporary licensee cannot renew a military spouse temporary license.
Section 7. Expiration; Notice
A. A military spouse temporary license expires on the third anniversary of the date of issuance, unless
terminated earlier pursuant to Section 8.
B. No later than 60 days before the expiration of a temporary license, a temporary licensee must:
1. file a notice in each matter pending before any court, tribunal, agency, or commission that the
temporary licensee will no longer be involved in the matter; and
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2. provide written notice to all the temporary licensee’s clients that the temporary licensee will no
longer represent them.
Section 8. Termination; Notice
A. A military spouse temporary license will terminate and a temporary licensee must cease the practice of
law in Texas 31 days after any of the following events:
1. the service member’s separation or retirement from military service;
2. the service member’s permanent relocation to another jurisdiction, unless the service member’s
assignment specifies that dependents are not authorized to accompany the service member;
3. the temporary licensee’s permanent relocation outside of Texas;
4. the temporary licensee’s spousal relationship to the service member ends;
5. the denial by the Texas Board of Law Examiners of the temporary licensee’s application for
regular admission to practice law in Texas;
6. the temporary licensee’s regular admission to practice law in Texas;
7. the imposition of a disciplinary sanction, other than a private reprimand or a referral to the State
Bar’s Grievance Referral Program, in any jurisdiction;
8. the conviction in any jurisdiction of a serious crime or intentional crime as defined in the Texas
Rules of Disciplinary Procedure; or
9. the temporary licensee’s written request filed with the Texas Board of Law Examiners and the
State Bar.
B. Within 30 days after a terminating event in (A), except (A)(6), a temporary licensee must:
1. provide written notice to the Texas Board of Law Examiners and the State Bar;
2. file a notice in each matter pending before any court, tribunal, agency, or commission that the
temporary licensee will no longer be involved in the matter; and
3. provide written notice to all the temporary licensee’s clients that the temporary licensee will no
longer represent them.
C. Upon receipt of a notice required under (B), the State Bar must forward the notice to the Clerk for
revocation of the military spouse temporary license.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
AUSTIN DIVISION
TONY K. MCDONALD, JOSHUA B.
HAMMER, and MARK S. PULLIAM,
Plaintiffs,

Civil Action No. 1:19-cv-00219-LY

v.
RANDALL O. SORRELS, et al.,
Defendants.

STATEMENT OF AMENDMENTS TO STATE BAR RULES AND
STATE BAR OF TEXAS BOARD OF DIRECTORS POLICY MANUAL
APPROVED AT THE SEPTEMBER 24 STATE BAR OF TEXAS BOARD OF
DIRECTORS MEETING
Pursuant to the Court’s directive at the August 30, 2021 status conference, Defendants file
this statement summarizing the State Bar of Texas Board of Directors’ September 24, 2021 action
regarding amendments to the Bar’s rules and policies in response to the U.S. Court of Appeals for
the Fifth Circuit’s decision:
I.

Background
1.

The Fifth Circuit vacated the grant of summary judgment to Defendants, rendered

partial summary judgment for Plaintiffs on liability, rendered a “preliminary injunction preventing
the Bar from requiring the plaintiffs to join or pay dues pending completion of the remedies phase”
before this Court, and remanded to this Court for further proceedings on remedies. McDonald v.
Longley, 4 F.4th 229, 255 (5th Cir. 2021).
2.

The Fifth Circuit stated that the Bar could remedy any violations of Plaintiffs’ First

Amendment rights by not “engaging in non-germane activities,” in accordance with the guidance
provided in the Fifth Circuit’s decision, and by amending its procedures to ensure that Bar
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members receive adequate notice of, and opportunity to object to, potentially non-germane
expenditures. Id. at 252-54.
3.

On August 27, 2021, the Supreme Court of Texas entered an order extending the

deadline for Texas lawyers to pay their 2021 membership fees to October 31, 2021. See FortyFirst Emergency Order Regarding the COVID-19 State of Disaster, Misc. Docket No. 21-9096
(Tex. Aug. 27, 2021), https://bit.ly/3u7TXNw.
4.

On August 30, 2021, this Court directed Defendants to file by September 30 a

statement summarizing the action taken at the September 24 Bar Board meeting.
5.

At its September 24 meeting, the State Bar Board approved amendments to the

State Bar of Texas Board of Directors Policy Manual (“Policy Manual”) in response to the Fifth
Circuit’s decision. See Video of September 24, 2021 Board of Directors Meeting at 4:23:00-:45,
YouTube (Sept. 24, 2021), https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lzVBsNXTZ8w. The Bar Board
also approved proposed amendments to the Texas State Bar Rules in response to the decision.* Id.
The Bar is petitioning the Texas Supreme Court to adopt those amendments to the Rules. (Unlike
the Policy Manual, which the Bar Board can amend directly, see Policy Manual §§ 1.22.01-.02,
the State Bar Rules can only be amended by the Texas Supreme Court, see Tex. Gov’t Code Ann.
§ 81.024; State Bar R. art. VI.)
6.

A copy of the amendments to the relevant State Bar Rules and Policy Manual

provisions approved at the September 24 Bar Board meeting is attached as Exhibit A. A clean
copy of the Policy Manual that includes the amendments approved at the September 24 Bar Board

*

One member of the Board of Directors, Steve Fischer, voted against the proposed amendments
to the Policy Manual and State Bar Rules.
2
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meeting is attached as Exhibit B. A copy of the current State Bar Rules, which were last amended
in March 2020, is attached as Exhibit C and is also available at https://bit.ly/3nRm2aQ.
7.

The Bar is in the process of publicizing the Board’s action at the September 24

meeting via an email to Bar members and through the State Bar’s website, on which a copy of this
filing will be posted.
II.

Proposed Amendments to the State Bar Rules – Count I of Plaintiffs’ Complaint
8.

The Fifth Circuit concluded that mandating Plaintiffs’ membership in the State Bar

“burdens [their] First Amendment right to freedom of association” because “part of [the Bar’s]
expressive message is that its members stand behind its expression.” McDonald, 4 F.4th at 24546. According to the Fifth Circuit, “[c]ompelling membership . . . compels support of [the Bar’s]
message.” Id. at 246.
9.

To address that issue, the State Bar Board approved three proposed amendments to

the State Bar Rules, and the Bar is petitioning the Texas Supreme Court to adopt those
amendments. One amendment would provide: “In no event shall a public representative of the
State Bar or its sections or committees purport to speak on behalf of all State Bar members or to
represent that all State Bar members support the message that the representative is
conveying.” Ex. A at 1 (proposed State Bar R. art. II, § 13). The other two amendments would
clarify that, in accordance with Tex. Gov’t Code Ann. § 81.051, the term “member” of the Bar is
a term of art meaning “a person licensed to practice law in Texas,” and the term “enrollment” in
the Bar is a term of art referring to “the act of registering with the [Texas Supreme Court] Clerk
as a person licensed to practice law in Texas.” Id. (proposed State Bar R. art. I, §§ 13-14).
10.

Consistent with those proposed changes to the State Bar Rules, the State Bar will

post prominently on the “About Texas Bar” page of its website language conveying the following
points: (1) the State Bar of Texas is a public corporation and an administrative agency of the
3
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judicial department of the Texas government; (2) the phrase “member of the Bar” means a person
licensed to practice law in Texas; and (3) the State Bar does not purport to speak on behalf of all
persons licensed to practice law in Texas. See id. at 5-6.
III.

Amendments to Policy Manual §§ 3.02.04(D), 3.14.01, 3.14.05, 4.04.15, 5.01.03(B)(8),
5.01.04(B)(4), 5.01.06, 5.04.05(E) – Counts I and II of Plaintiffs’ Complaint
11.

The Fifth Circuit held that “[c]ompelled membership in a bar association that is

engaged in only germane activities survives [exacting] scrutiny.” McDonald, 4 F.4th at 246. The
court explained that, under the Supreme Court’s decision in Keller v. State Bar of California, 496
U.S. 1 (1990), “[f]or activities to be germane, they must be ‘necessarily or reasonably incurred
for’” the purpose of “regulating the legal profession” or “improving the quality of legal services.”
Id. at 247 (quoting Keller, 496 U.S. at 13-14). The court’s decision provides additional guidance
regarding the proper application of that standard by applying it to the Bar activities Plaintiffs have
challenged in this case. See id. at 247-52.
12.

To ensure that the State Bar “engage[s] in only germane activities” moving forward,

id. at 246, the Bar Board approved an amendment specifically requiring the State Bar Board
Budget Committee to review the items in the Bar’s proposed annual budget “to identify any
expenditures that may be non-chargeable to members” under Keller and McDonald, and to
“remove [non-chargeable] expenditure[s] from the proposed budget.” Ex. A at 2 (Policy Manual
§ 3.02.04(D)). To make clear that the Bar’s future activities must comply with the Fifth Circuit’s
guidance on the Keller standard in McDonald, the Board also approved amendments to the Policy
Manual that add references to the Fifth Circuit’s McDonald decision where there were already
references to Keller. See id. at 2-5 (Policy Manual §§ 3.14.01, 3.14.05, 4.04.15, 5.01.03(B)(8),
5.01.04(B)(4), 5.01.06, 5.04.05(E)).
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IV.

Amendments to Policy Manual §§ 7.02.04, 8.01.03(G), 8.01.06(C)(6), 8.01.11,
8.02.02(A)(5), 8.02.02(C) – Counts I and II of Plaintiffs’ Complaint
13.

The Fifth Circuit held that certain components of the Bar’s 2019 legislative

program, as well as the Bar’s funding of certain prior legislative activities of the Texas Access to
Justice Commission (“AJC”), were non-germane. McDonald, 4 F.4th at 247-49, 251. The Fifth
Circuit, however, explained that the Bar and AJC may take positions on legislative proposals that
relate to “regulating the legal profession or improving the quality of legal services”—including
proposals that relate to “the functioning of the state’s courts,” “the jurisdiction, procedure and
practice of the Federal courts and other Federal tribunals,” “the functioning of the . . . legal system
writ large,” and “laws governing the activities of lawyers qua lawyers.” Id. at 247-48 & n.23
(citation omitted); see also id. at 251 n.35 (upholding as germane the Bar’s financial support of
the AJC’s “lobbying for funding for civil legal services, creating pro bono opportunities for law
students, and providing training for attorneys,” as well as the AJC’s “efforts to help the Supreme
Court of Texas make Texas courts more [accessible] and navigable to low-income Texans” and to
“creat[e] ‘pro se forms and toolkits’”).
14.

Accordingly, the Bar Board approved amendments to the Policy Manual that

strictly limit the types of legislation on which the Bar may take a position and the matters in which
the Bar may file amicus briefs. The amendments limit such Bar legislative and amicus activities
to those that “address[] the State Bar, the regulation of lawyers, the functioning of state or federal
courts, or the functioning of the legal system.” Ex. A at 5 (Policy Manual §§ 8.01.03(G),
8.01.06(C)(6), 8.02.02(A)(5)); see also id. (amending Policy Manual § 8.01.11 to remove language
purporting to authorize “[a] section” to advocate positions to its membership or its council
members “without complying with . . . the provisions of this policy”); id. (deleting Policy Manual
§ 8.02.02(C) in light of the more specific mandate now contained in the new § 8.02.02(A)(5)).
5
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The Bar Board also approved an amendment to the Policy Manual expressly providing that the
AJC’s legislative activities shall be subject to the State Bar’s review for compliance with Keller
and McDonald. See id. (Policy Manual § 7.02.04).
15.

Finally, Defendants have submitted as Exhibit D a Statement of Intent by the AJC.

The AJC states that “all of the Commission’s work, including its legislative program, will fully
comply with the standards announced in Keller and McDonald.” Ex. D. The AJC further states
that in deciding whether to take a position on proposed legislation or initiate any legislative action,
the AJC will apply a standard “consistent with that set forth” in the newly amended Policy Manual
section 8.01.03(G)—i.e., the proposed legislation must “address[] the State Bar, the regulation of
lawyers, the functioning of state or federal courts, or the functioning of the legal system.” Id. The
AJC also acknowledges that its “legislative activities shall be subject to the State Bar’s review for
compliance” with Keller and McDonald. Id.
V. Amendments to Policy Manual §§ 3.02.01-3.02.02 – Count III of Plaintiffs’ Complaint
16.

Regarding Plaintiffs’ Count III claim challenging the Bar’s notice and objection

procedures, the Fifth Circuit concluded that the Bar failed to provide “an adequate explanation of
the basis for the [Bar membership] fee” in accordance with Chicago Teachers Union v. Hudson,
475 U.S. 292, 310 (1986), because the Bar failed to “furnish Texas attorneys with meaningful
notice regarding how their dues will be spent” and a “breakdown of where their fees go.”
McDonald, 4 F.4th at 253-54.
17.

To address that issue, the Bar Board approved amendments to the Policy Manual

that require the Bar Board to approve and publish on the State Bar’s website, in conjunction with
the proposed annual budget: (1) “a notice containing a breakdown of expenditures presented by
major expense category,” and (2) “a notice estimating the amount of membership dues to be
devoted to each major category of expenses.” Ex. A at 1 (Policy Manual §§ 3.02.01-.02). An
6
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example showing the format that the Bar currently plans to use to satisfy both of those requirements
is attached as Exhibit E. For illustration purposes, the example uses figures from the Bar’s 20212022 budget because the 2022-2023 budget has not yet been prepared. The example shows the
amount of membership dues allocated to each major expense category. Going forward, the State
Bar will have its independent financial auditor review the membership dues allocation notice each
year before its publication on the State Bar’s website.
18.

The Policy Manual amendments approved by the Bar Board also call for

“[a]dditional budget category detail [to] be posted on the State Bar website.” Ex. A at 1 (Policy
Manual § 3.02.01). For illustration purposes, an example of the format in which “additional budget
category detail” may be provided—here, for the major expense category of “Chief Disciplinary
Counsel” (see Ex. E at 2)—is attached as Exhibit F.
19.

The amendments further require the Bar to provide notice to Bar members that the

proposed budget, expenditure breakdown, and dues allocation are available on the State Bar’s
website by publishing such notice in the Texas Bar Journal, and by providing such notice to
members in conjunction with the State Bar’s annual membership dues notice. See Ex. A at 1
(Policy Manual § 3.02.02).
VI.

Amendments to Policy Manual §§ 3.14.01-3.14.05 – Count III of Plaintiffs’ Complaint
20.

The Fifth Circuit held that the Bar’s procedures for members to object to potentially

non-germane Bar expenditures and receive a pro rata refund of Bar dues were “constitutionally
inadequate” because the decision whether to furnish a refund was “left to the sole discretion of the
Bar’s Executive Director.” McDonald, 4 F.4th at 254; see also id. at 253 (noting that Hudson
requires “a reasonably prompt opportunity to challenge the amount of the fee before an impartial
decisionmaker” (quoting 475 U.S. at 310)). The Fifth Circuit also held that the Bar had to comply
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with Hudson’s requirement that it provide “an escrow for the amounts reasonably in dispute” while
a member’s objection is pending. Id. at 253 (quoting 475 U.S. at 310).
21.

In response, the State Bar Board approved amendments to the Policy Manual that

provide for an impartial decisionmaker to decide the member’s objection and require the Executive
Director to place the amount of funds reasonably at issue in an escrow account pending the
resolution of the member’s objection by the impartial decisionmaker. See Ex. A at 2-4 (Policy
Manual §§ 3.14.01-.05).
22.

Specifically, the amendments provide that if a Bar member has a “reasonable belief

that any actual or proposed expenditure” is non-chargeable to members, the member may “fil[e] a
written objection with the Executive Director” using a form available on the State Bar’s website.
Ex. A at 2 (Policy Manual §§ 3.14.01-.02). A copy of the “State Bar Fees Objection Form” to be
used by members to file objections is attached as Exhibit G.
23.

Under the amendments, the Executive Director has a limited, 60-day period to

review the objection. Ex. A at 2 (Policy Manual § 3.14.03(A)). During that period, the Executive
Director may attempt to resolve the objection by refunding a pro rata portion of the member’s
dues, plus interest. Id. Alternatively, the Executive Director may reject the objection. Id.
24.

The amendments further provide that an objecting member may contest the

Executive Director’s determination of the objection and have the objection heard by an impartial
decisionmaker who is not affiliated with, or selected by, the Bar. Ex. A at 2-3 (Policy Manual
§ 3.14.03(B)-(E)). Specifically, if the objecting member provides notification within 30 calendar
days that the objecting member contests the Executive Director’s determination, then the
Executive Director shall “submit the member’s objection to the Presiding Judge of the
administrative judicial region covering Travis County, who shall appoint a retired, senior, or
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former judge as the impartial decisionmaker to decide the objection, unless the Executive Director
and the member agree to a different procedure for selecting the impartial decisionmaker.” Ex. A
at 2-3 (Policy Manual § 3.14.03(B)-(C)). The impartial decisionmaker must then “promptly and
efficiently decide the matter,” applying the standards set forth in Keller and McDonald. Id. at 3
(Policy Manual § 3.14.03(D)). If the impartial decisionmaker “determines that the objecting
member is entitled to a refund, the State Bar shall promptly refund the pro rata portion of the
member’s dues that is attributable to the expenditure, plus interest, to the objecting member.” Id.
25.

Finally, the amendments provide that if the objecting member timely contests the

Executive Director’s determination of the objection, the Executive Director shall “determine the
pro rata amount of the objecting member’s dues reasonably at issue,” and place that amount “in
an escrow account . . . pending the resolution of the member’s objection by the impartial
decisionmaker.” Id. (Policy Manual § 3.14.03(C)).
*

*

*

The Bar recognizes that, as it implements the amendments discussed above, further
changes to its rules and policies might prove to be warranted. Defendants thus respectfully request
that the Court provide in any final order in this matter that further amendments to the Policy
Manual or the State Bar Rules may be made in accordance with the then-existing provisions
governing such amendments, provided that the amendments are not inconsistent with the State
Bar’s obligations under Keller v. State Bar of California, 496 U.S. 1 (1990), and its progeny,
including McDonald v. Longley, 4 F.4th 229 (5th Cir. 2021).
Pursuant to the Court’s directions at the August 30 status conference, Defendants will
confer with Plaintiffs on whether the parties can reach an agreement to resolve this case in light of
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the Board’s action. If the parties cannot reach an agreement, they will contact the Court’s clerk to
schedule a telephone conference with the Court.

Dated: September 30, 2021

Respectfully submitted,

Joshua S. Johnson (admitted pro hac vice)
State Bar No. 24070002
Morgan A. Kelley (admitted pro hac vice)
State Bar No. 1617261
VINSON & ELKINS LLP
2200 Pennsylvania Avenue NW
Suite 500 West
Washington, DC 20037
Tel: (202) 639-6623
Fax: (202) 879-8934
joshjohnson@velaw.com
mkelley@velaw.com

/s/ Thomas S. Leatherbury
Thomas S. Leatherbury
State Bar No. 12095275
VINSON & ELKINS LLP
2001 Ross Avenue
Suite 3900
Dallas, TX 75201
Tel: (214) 220-7792
Fax: (214) 999-7792
tleatherbury@velaw.com
Patrick W. Mizell
State Bar No. 14233980
VINSON & ELKINS LLP
1001 Fannin Street
Suite 2500
Houston, TX 77002
Tel: (713) 758-2932
Fax: (713) 615-5912
pmizell@velaw.com

Counsel for Defendants
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I certify that on September 30, 2021, I electronically filed the foregoing statement and
accompanying exhibits with the Clerk of the Court for the U.S. District Court for the Western
District of Texas by using the Court’s CM/ECF system, which will send notification of such filing
to the following:
William S. Consovoy
Jeffrey M. Harris
Cameron T. Norris
Consovoy McCarthy Park PLLC
3033 Wilson Blvd., Suite 700
Arlington, VA 22201
Tel: (703) 243-9423
Fax: (703) 243-9423
will@consovoymccarthy.com
Counsel for Plaintiffs Tony K. McDonald,
Joshua B. Hammer, and Mark S. Pulliam
Cynthia A. Morales
Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 12548, Mail Code 009
Austin, TX 78711
Tel: (512) 936-1414
cynthia.morales@oag.texas.gov
Counsel for Amicus Curiae Texas Attorney
General Ken Paxton
Matthew R. Miller
Goldwater Institute
500 E. Coronado Rd.
Phoenix, AZ 85004-1543
Tel: (602) 462-500
litigation@goldwaterinstitute.org
Counsel for Amicus Curiae Goldwater
Institute

Dated: September 30, 2021

Jason M. Panzer
Lauren B. Ross
Herring & Panzer, LLP
1411 West Avenue, Suite 100
Austin, TX 78701
Tel: (512) 320-0665
Fax: (512) 519-7580
jason@herringpanzer.com
Counsel for Amicus Curiae Texas Legal
Ethics Counsel
Charles “Chad” Baruch
Randy Johnston
Johnston Tobey Baruch, P.C.
P.O. Box 215
Addison, TX 75001
Tel: (214) 741-6260
Fax: (214) 741-6248
chad@jtlaw.com
Counsel for Amici Curiae Former Presidents
of the State Bar of Texas et al. and Amici
Curiae Concerned Lawyers of Color
Macey Reasoner Stokes
J. Mark Little
910 Louisiana Street
Houston, TX 77002
Tel: (713) 229-1369
Fax: (713) 229-7869
macey.stokes@bakerbotts.com
Counsel for Amicus Curiae Texas Access to
Justice Commission
/s/ Thomas S. Leatherbury
Thomas S. Leatherbury
Counsel for Defendants

Case 4:21-cv-02829 Document 12-6 Filed on 01/24/22 in TXSD Page 1 of 4

Exhibit 6

CaseCase
4:21-cv-02829
Document
12-6 Filed
01/24/22
12/02/21
in TXSD
12/02/21
PagePage
1 of 32 of 4
1:19-cv-00219-LY
Document
108onFiled

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
TEXAS
AUSTIN DIVISION
DIVISION
TONY K. MCDONALD, JOSHUA B.
HAMMER, AND MARK S. PULLIAM,
PULLIAM,
PLAiNTIFFS,
PLAINTIFFS,

V.

Pjt:t5
15
21DEC-2
41
DEC -2 Pi
€411;K.
IVESTZ :;

0tItt I
TEXAS

iY 1:1 9-CV-2 1 9-LY
CAUSE NO.
NO. 1:19-CV-219-LY

RANDALL O.
0. SORRELS, LARRY P.
MCDOUGAL, JOE K. LONGLEY,
LAURA GIBSON, BRITNEY E.
HARRISON, ANDRES
ANDRES E. ALMANZAN,
JERRY C. ALEXANDER, KATE BIHM,
REBEKAH STEELY BROOKER, LUIS
M. CARDENAS, ALISON W. COLVIN,
DEREK COOK, ROBERT
ROBERT D. CRAIN,
CHRISTINA DAVIS, ALISTAIR B.
DAWSON, LESLIE DIPPEL,
MICHAEL DOKUPIL, VICTOR
VICTOR FLORES,
JARROD T. FOERSTER, LAURA GIBSON,
JOHN CHARLES GINN, SHARI
GOLDSBERRY, MARC B.
E. GRAVELY,
AUGUST W. HARRIS
HARRIS III, JOE "RICE"
"RICE"
HORKEY, JR., WENDY-ADELE
HUMPHREY, MICHAEL K.
K. HURST,
NEIL D. KELLY, DAVID C. KENT,
ALDO D.
D. LOPEZ, YOLANDA CORTES
MARES, ROBERT E. MCKNIGHT, JR.,
STEPHEN J.
STEPHEN
J. NAYLOR, AMIE S. PEACE,
SALLY PRETORIUS, CARMEN M. ROE,
ADAM T. SCHRAMEK, DAVID K SERGI,
ALAN E.
E. SIMS, DINESH H. SINGHAL,
JASON SMITH, SANTOS VARGAS,
G. MICHAEL VASQUEZ,
VASQUEZ, K.
K. NICOLE
VOYLES, AMY WELBORN, JAMES
WESTER, JAMES C.
C. WOO, AND
DIANE ST. YVES, IN
iN THEIR OFFICIAL
CAPACITIES AS
AS MEMBERS OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE STATE
BAR OF TEXAS,'
DEFENDANTS.

''Defendants
Defendants were sued in their official capacities as members of the Board of Directors of
the State Bar of Texas.
Texas. Pursuant to Federal Rule of
of Civil Procedure 25(d), the successors of
individuals who were previously named as Defendants in this action but who are no longer members
of the Bar's Board of Directors have been automatically substituted
substituted as parties.
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FINAL JUDGMENT
JUDGMENT
This matter is now before the court on remand from the Fifth Circuit, following that
court's decision in McDonald v. Longley, 4 F.4th 229 (5th Cir. 2021).
2021). In light of that decision,
and upon the agreement of the parties:

IT IS
IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that:
IT
that:
1. Judgment is RENDERED in Plaintiffs' favor as specified in McDonald v.
v. Longley, 4
F.4th 229 (5th Cir.
Cir. 2021).
2. The court hereby DECLARES that Defendants violated Plaintiffs'
Plaintiffs' First Amendment
Amendment
rights by compelling them to join the State Bar of Texas while the Bar was engaged in nongermane
germane activities under Keller v.
v. State Bar of Cal
jfornia, 496 U.S.
U.S. 11 (1990).
California,

3. The court further DECLARES that lobbying and legislative
legislative activities seeking
substantive changes
changes to the law unrelated to regulating the legal profession or improving the
quality of legal services are non-germane activities under Keller.
Keller.
4. So long as Plaintiffs are members of the State Bar of Texas, Defendants are permanently

ENJOINED from using Plaintiffs' mandatory dues to support lobbying or legislative activities
(including such activities by the Texas Access to Justice Commission) seeking substantive
changes to Texas law unrelated to regulating the legal profession or improving the quality of
legal services.
services. Plaintiffs and Defendants shall confer in good faith to attempt to resolve any
alleged violations of this paragraph before Plaintiffs may seek any judicial remedies that might
be available for the alleged violations.
violations. Defendants
Defendants reserve all defenses to any effort to enforce
enforce
this
this paragraph, including defenses based on sovereign immunity.

5. Plaintiffs have requested restitution for the dues they paid under protest in 2019, 2020,
2021 while this action was pending. In response, Defendants have invoked sovereign
and 2021
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immunity.
immunity. See,
See, e.g.,
e.g., Liedtke
Liedtke v.v. State
State Bar
Bar of
of Texas,
Texas, 18
18 F.3d
F.3d 315,
315, 318
318 n.12
n. 12 (5th
(5th Cir.
Cir. 1994).
1994).
Plaintiffs'
Plaintiffs' request
request for
for restitution
restitutionof
oftheir
their dues
dues isistherefore
therefore DENIED.
DENIED.
6.6. Except
Except as
as specified
specified above,
above, and
and in
in accordance
accordance with
with McDonald,
McDonald, final
final judgment
judgment isis
RENDERED
RENDEREDfor
forDefendants
Defendantson
onall
all other
otherclaims
claimsand
and requests
requests for
for relief
reliefin
in Plaintiffs'
Plaintiffs' complaint.
complaint.
7.7. On
On November
November 24,
24, 2021,
2021, Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs filed
filed aa petition
petition for
for writ
writ of
of certiorari
certiorari in
in the
the United
United
States
States Supreme
Supreme Court
Court on
on the
the issues
issues on
on which
which they
they did
did not
not prevail
prevail in
in the
the Fifth
Fifth Circuit.
Circuit. The
The
disposition
disposition of
of that
that petition
petition could
could affect
affect Plaintiffs'
Plaintiffs' entitlement
entitlement to
to attorney's
attorney's fees
fees and
and costs.
costs. ItIt isis
accordingly
accordingly hereby
hereby ORDERED
ORDERED that
that Plaintiffs
Plaintiffs shall
shall have
have until
until 60
60 days
days after
after the
the final
final disposition
disposition
of
ofthe
the Supreme
Supreme Court
Court case
case to
to file
file any
any motion
motion for
for attorney's
attorney's fees
fees and
and costs
costs pursuant
pursuant to
to 42
42 U.S.C.
U.S.C.
§1988,
28 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §1920,
and Fed.
Fed. R.
Civ. P.
P. 54(d).
R. Civ.
54(d).
§ 1988, 28
§ 1920, and
SIGNED
SIGNED this
thisOnedayday of
ofDecember,
December, 2021.
2021.

EAKEL
LE
UNITED
DISTRICT JUDGE
UNITED STAES
STA
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UNITED
STATES DISTRICT
DISTRICT COURT
COURT
UNITED STATES
FOR THE
THE SOUTHERN
FOR
SOUTHERN DISTRICT
DISTRICT OF
OF TEXAS
TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION
DIVISION
HOUSTON
ROBERT S.
BENNETT, NACHAEL
NACHAEL
ROBERT
S. BENNETT,
FOSTER,
FOSTER, ANDREW
ANDREW BAYLEY,
BAYLEY, and
and others
others
similarly situated,
situated,
similarly

Civil Action
Action No.
No. 4:21-cv-02829
4:21-cv-02829
Civil

Plaintiffs,
Plaintiffs,

v.
v.
STATE
STATE BAR
BAR OF
OF TEXAS,
TEXAS,
Defendant.
Defendant.
DECLARATION
IN SUPPORT
DECLARATION OF
OF PATRICK
PATRICK W.
W. MIZELL
MIZELL IN
SUPPORT OF
OF DEFENDANT
DEFENDANT STATE
STATE
BAR
BAR OF
OF TEXAS'
TEXAS’ MOTION
MOTION TO
TO DISMISS
DISMISS

Patrick W.
W. Mizell,
Mizell, pursuant
pursuant to
to 28
28 U.S.C.
U.S.C. §
§ 1746,
1746, declares
declares the
the following:
following:
Patrick
1.
1.

I am an
an attorney
attorney at
at the
the law
of Vinson
Vinson &
& Elkins
and counsel
counsel for
Defendant
firm of
lam
law firm
Elkins LLP
LLP and
for Defendant

State
Bar of
of Texas.
State Bar
Texas.
2.
2.

The
following materials
materials filed
as exhibits
exhibits are
are true
true and
and accurate
accurate copies
of
The following
filed herewith
herewith as
copies of

what they
they purport
purport to
to be
be to
to the
the best
best of
of my
my personal
personal knowledge.
what
knowledge.
3.
3.

Exhibit
1 is
is aa document
document titled
titled "State
“State Bar
Bar of
of Texas
(A Component
Component Unit
Unit of
of the
the State
Exhibit 1
Texas (A
State

of Texas)
Texas) Financial
Financial Report
Report May
May 31,
31, 2020"
2020” that
that was
was downloaded
downloaded from
from the
the State
Bar of
of Texas’
of
State Bar
Texas'
website on
on January
19, 2022.
2022.
website
January 19,
4.
4.

Exhibit
2 is
document titled
titled "State
“State Bar
Bar of
of Texas
Texas Board
Board of
of Directors
Directors Policy
Policy
Exhibit 2
is aa document

Manual” and
and dated
dated "September
“September 2021"
2021” that
that was
was downloaded
the State
Bar of
of Texas’
website
Manual"
downloaded from
from the
State Bar
Texas' website
on January
19, 2022.
2022.
on
January 19,
5.
5.

Exhibit
is the
the "Order
“Order Establishing
Access to
to Justice
Commission” that
that the
the
Exhibit 3
3 is
Establishing Texas
Texas Access
Justice Commission"

Supreme
Court of
of Texas
Texas entered
Misc. Docket
Docket No.
No. 01-9065
01-9065 on
on April
April 26,
26, 2001.
2001. It
was
Supreme Court
entered in
in Misc.
It was
downloaded from
from the
the Texas
Texas Access
Access to
to Justice
Commission’s website
website on
on January
19, 2022.
2022.
downloaded
Justice Commission's
January 19,
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6.
6.

Exhibit
4 is
is aa document
document titled
titled "State
“State Bar
Bar Rules
Rules As
As Amended
Amended November
November 2021"
2021” that
that
Exhibit 4

was downloaded
downloaded from
from the
the State
Bar of
of Texas’
website on
on January
19, 2022.
2022.
was
State Bar
Texas' website
January 19,
7.
7.

Exhibit
the "Statement
“Statement of
of Amendments
Amendments to
to State
Bar Rules
Rules and
and State
Bar of
of
Exhibit 5
5 is
is the
State Bar
State Bar

Texas
Board of
of Directors
Directors Policy
Policy Manual
Manual Approved
Approved at
at the
the September
24 State
Bar of
of Texas
Board
Texas Board
September 24
State Bar
Texas Board
of Directors
Directors Meeting"
Meeting” that
that the
the defendants
defendants filed
filed in
McDonald v.
Sorrels, No.
No. 1:19-cv-00219-LY
1:19-cv-00219-LY
of
in McDonald
v. Sorrels,
(W.D. Tex.),
Tex.), on
on September
30, 2021.
2021. It
It was
was downloaded
downloaded from
the PACER
PACER docket
docket in
McDonald
(W.D.
September 30,
from the
in McDonald
on January
19, 2022.
2022.
on
January 19,
8.
8.

Exhibit
is the
the "Final
“Final Judgment”
that the
the district
district court
court entered
entered in
McDonald v.
Exhibit 6
6 is
Judgment" that
in McDonald
v.

Sorrels, No.
No. 1:19-cv-00219-LY
1:19-cv-00219-LY (W.D.
(W.D. Tex.),
Tex.), on
on December
December 2,
2, 2021.
2021. It
was downloaded
downloaded from
the
Sorrels,
It was
from the
PACER
PACER docket
docket in
in McDonald
McDonald on
on January
19, 2022.
2022.
January 19,

II declare
declare under
under penalty
penalty of
of perjury
perjury that
that the
the foregoing
is true
true and
and correct.
foregoing is
correct.
Executed
on January
24, 2022.
2022.
January 24,
Executed on

______________________________
Patrick
11
Patrick W.
W. M
Mizell
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